NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS FOR CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE UK

A REPORT BY THE BRITISH ECOLOGICAL SOCIETY



NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS FOR CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE UK: A REPORT BY THE BRITISH ECOLOGICAL SOCIETY

THE BRITISH Ecological Society

The British Ecological Society is the largest scientific society for ecologists in Europe. We are working towards a world in which nature and people thrive, and we do this by supporting new ideas, increasing the impact of our science and being an inclusive home for everyone in ecology. Our policy work brings together the best ecological evidence available and develops recommendations to aid effective policymaking. Ecology is providing the evidence we need to halt losses in nature and mitigate the effects of climate change. This is crucial for our world and for our wellbeing and prosperity.

This report was edited by:

Rick Stafford, Bethany Chamberlain, Laura Clavey, Phillipa Gillingham, Sarah McKain, Mike Morecroft, Camilla Morrison-Bell and Olly Watts.

The author lists for the report are provided at the start of each chapter and acknowledgements can be found at the end of the report.

Suggested report citation:

Stafford, R., Chamberlain, B., Clavey, L., Gillingham, P.K., McKain, S., Morecroft, M.D., Morrison-Bell, C. and Watts, O. (Eds.) (2021). Nature-based Solutions for Climate Change in the UK: A Report by the British Ecological Society. London, UK. Available at: www. britishecologicalsociety.org/nature-basedsolutions

If citing an individual chapter, please list the chapter authors and contributing authors, chapter title, report title and year, editors, publisher location and page numbers of the chapter.

Contact details:

Email: policy@britishecologicalsociety.org Address: British Ecological Society Policy Team, 42 Wharf Road, London, United Kingdom, N1 7GS

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ British Ecological Society and authors, 2021



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, except where noted on certain images. To view a copy of this licence, visit <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</u>

Cover image: Motion Aptitude Ltd.

FOREWORD

We live in a time of immense environmental challenge and opportunity. There is a pressing need to stabilise our rapidly changing climate within a few decades and also to halt and reverse the precipitous decline of so much of the natural world and its biodiversity, while at the same improving the lives of many who live in deprivation and poverty. Yet there is new and real momentum in attempting to address these challenges at levels ranging from international and national policy through to bottom-up actions by cities, civil society, local communities and landowners. In the UK, as in many other countries, the COVID lockdowns have led to new appreciation of how important local nature is to our individual and collective wellbeing. The desire to "build back better" after the COVID pandemic, together with a radical new rethinking of land use policy and incentives, has led to a burst of interest and creative thinking about how the landscapes and ecosystems of this biodiversity-depleted country can be better managed to facilitate biodiversity recovery and contribute towards addressing climate change, while also providing for the welfare and livelihoods of local communities

The concept of nature-based solutions (NbS) to climate change encapsulates this new opportunity and synergy between the climate change, biodiversity and societal agendas. For this report we employ the definition of NbS as solutions that "work with and enhance nature to mitigate or adapt to climate change while simultaneously providing benefits to biodiversity and people". Nature can be our ally in tackling both climate change mitigation and adaptation, through processes such as carbon sequestration, greenhouse gas emissions reduction, flood risk reduction, ecologically connected landscapes and better urban environments.

This report by the British Ecological Society makes a valuable contribution to this agenda by providing an authoritative review of the potential of NbS in the UK. It examines a range of ecosystems and land uses and also looks at wider considerations of what it would take to deliver nature-based solutions at sufficient scale, including policies and potential trade-offs. It draws on the collective expertise of around 100 contributors with a wide range of expertise, and is a wonderful example of how the broad ecological community of academia, research, civil society and practice can pool its expertise and insights to make an important contribution to this timely and pressing issue. This report was written based on the expertise of the BES membership community; the authors and reviewers are largely academics from the field of ecology, as well as scientists and practitioners from statutory agencies and NGOs.

When thinking of NbS, tree cover and woodland restoration tends the get the limelight, but, importantly, this report shows how an NbS approach can apply to a wide variety of ecosystems ranging from high peatlands to grasslands, heathlands and agricultural and urban environments, through to freshwater, coastal and marine systems. It also highlights that it is important not to focus on carbon sequestration as the only goal, as this can result in negative biodiversity outcomes such as monoculture plantations, or tree planting on species-rich natural grasslands or heathlands. The second part of the report looks at broader issues around the implementation of naturebased solutions in the UK, such as what policy, governance and finance frameworks, as well-as systemic change, are needed to deliver these solutions at sufficient scale while also engaging effectively with local communities and other stakeholders. Nature-based solutions need to deliver for societal and human wellbeing as well for nature and climate. Given the expertise of members of the BES, this report focuses mainly on the biodiversity and climate change aspects, while fully acknowledging the equally important benefits of NbS to people's health and wellbeing.

A big thank you to the all the contributors for their dedication, hard work and insightful contributions, and to the British Ecological Society Policy Team for their convening and production of this report, and skillful navigation and synthesis of the many complex issues that it covers. I truly believe it will be a landmark in setting the agenda and scientific and policy framework for the roll-out of nature-based solutions in the UK, and thereby to our collective aspiration to build a vibrant, resilient and resurgent natural world and stable climate in which our society and communities can thrive.

Professor Yadvinder Malhi CBE FRS President-Elect, British Ecological Society



Yadvinder Malhi, Wytham Woods © Debbie Rowe

NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS FOR CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE UK: A REPORT BY THE BRITISH ECOLOGICAL SOCIETY

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
INTRODUCTION	13
SECTION 1: HABITAT SPECIFIC NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS: A REVIEW OF THE AVAILABLE EVI	DENCE.
CHAPTER 1: WOODLANDS	24
CHAPTER 2: HEATHLANDS	38
CHAPTER 3: PEATLANDS	49
CHAPTER 4: GRASSLANDS	62
CHAPTER 5: ARABLE SYSTEMS	74
CHAPTER 6: FRESHWATER SYSTEMS	89
CHAPTER 7: COASTAL AND MARINE SYSTEMS	107
CHAPTER 8: BUILT ENVIRONMENT	121
SECTION 2: EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION AND DELIVERY OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS.	
CHAPTER 9: EMBEDDING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS IN STRATEGIC SPATIAL PLANNING	135
CHAPTER 10: DELIVERING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS	151
CHAPTER 11: ECONOMIC VALUATION AND INVESTMENT OPTIONS FOR IMPLEMENTING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS	162
APPENDICES	
1. TABLE OF CHAPTER SUMMARIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS	174
2. RESEARCH GAPS IDENTIFIED IN THE REPORT	183
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	191

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

Nature-based solutions (NbS) address societal problems in ways that benefit both people and nature. The main focus of this report is the joint role of NbS for addressing the climate and biodiversity crises we currently face. Natural habitats act as NbS for climate if they sequester carbon (contributing to Net Zero targets) or provide adaptation to climate change effects (for example, reducing flooding, protecting coastline against sea-level rise or creating cool spaces in cities). As well as these climate benefits, they can enhance biodiversity, create improved and more resilient ecosystem functioning, enhance human wellbeing and provide economic benefits, in terms of monetary value and job creation. Despite the huge range of benefits NbS have, they should be seen as complementary to other climate and conservation actions, not as a replacement to them.

This Executive Summary provides five key themes which emerge across the report, across the multiple habitats and multiple NbS studied. Six 'priority' habitats for NbS are given at the end of the summary. However, we emphasise that all habitats covered in the report can act as NbS and all can play a role in addressing the climate and biodiversity crises.

FIVE OVERARCHING THEMES:

1. NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS FOR CLIMATE AND NATURE

NbS enable nature to help resolve the problems of climate change, both in reducing atmospheric greenhouse gas concentration and adapting our infrastructure. They are not a panacea for meeting Net Zero by 2050 and cannot be seen as a substitute for the significant emissions reductions across other sectors that are needed to meet this goal. Some NbS, such as peatland restoration are valuable because they reduce emissions. Other NbS can help to offset emissions that cannot feasibly be reduced by economic, behavioural or technological change. It is essential to implement NbS at a large scale to deliver sufficient benefit for climate change mitigation. NbS can also help us to adapt to climate change, not least in reducing flood risk and protecting coastal communities from rising sea levels and storm surges. Many ecosystems, including rivers, wetlands and woodlands, are themselves vulnerable to climate change, and action will be needed to facilitate their adaptation if they are to provide NbS in return.

Strategic and well-executed NbS will simultaneously provide significant additional public goods. This includes biodiversity benefits that could help drive the delivery of conservation targets and also benefit people's health and wellbeing. Potentially perverse biodiversity outcomes need to be recognised and avoided, including the loss of high-biodiversity, low-carbon habitats (see *theme 4* below).

NbS should seek to maximise outcomes for climate,

biodiversity and people. Any intervention that has an overall negative impact on one of climate, biodiversity or local communities, even if beneficial to other areas, should not be considered a NbS.

Key message: NbS can make an important contribution to Net Zero, biodiversity and climate change adaptation targets, so long as they are not treated as a substitute for widespread emission reductions or wider nature conservation action.

2. NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS FOR HEALTH AND PROSPERITY

In the wake of COVID-19, NbS can be particularly effective in stimulating 'green' employment in the short term and supporting sustainable economic growth in the medium term, forming part of a green approach and investment to economic recovery. Nonetheless, delivering NbS at the scale necessary to make a significant difference will require state investment as well as changes in the legislative and policy architecture to encourage private investment. Clear markets beyond corporate social responsibility need to be identified and developed for which the state will need to maintain an active role. The environmental and financial benefits of private investment also need to be carefully monitored.

Spending time among nature can boost human health and wellbeing, which became particularly apparent during the recent pandemic as more people spent time in nature, benefitting from its restorative effects.

The human health and wellbeing benefits derived from NbS are of additional and widespread value to the benefits delivered for nature and in addressing climate change. However, given the expertise of the majority of British Ecological Society members, human health and wellbeing aspects of NbS have not been evaluated in detail in this report.

Key message: NbS provide human wellbeing and economic benefits. Routes for private investment alongside public finance are emerging but need further development.

3. GETTING THE RIGHT FRAMEWORKS AND POLICIES IN PLACE TO DELIVER NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS AT SCALE: A WINDOW OF OPPORTUNITY

Each nation of the United Kingdom is currently developing many post-European Union policies. This creates a window of opportunity to ensure that cornerstone policies and legislation for the environment, society and economy enable the delivery of effective NbS at scale. Ambitious post-Brexit proposals, combined with long-term targets (e.g. Net Zero for greenhouse gas emissions by 2050) can create a favourable environment for adopting NbS and for stimulating private and public investment.

With foundations in both nature and societal outcomes, NbS require a broad policy and governance scope, and shared knowledge resources. Multiple interests are involved in the governance of NbS across a variety of scales and there are challenges associated with working across different policy areas, as well as generating effective partnerships. We recommend a working group or groups to assess both the opportunities, and the existing policy and governance frameworks, to deliver NbS.

When delivered at scale, NbS actions often have to be coordinated across whole landscapes and have local 'buy-in' for their success. Achieving collaboration requires mechanisms that can build the necessary social capital and help normalise NbS environmental management within the land/ marine management community, and in the local community and societal beneficiaries of NbS. In both these broad sectors, there may be a wide range of attitudes towards biodiversity and its management as well as to the requirements and means of climate change adaptation and mitigation. New and novel NbS projects require knowledge exchange and collaborative ways of working. With a mix of private and public interests, state involvement in governance structures can be vital for the effectiveness of NbS and enforcement of regulations.

An assessment framework is needed for NbS that enables transparent assessments at multiple spatial scales and can be utilised by all key stakeholders. Agreeing clear outcomes and benefits for nature and climate change at the inception of NbS projects is vital to successful monitoring and assessment. Assessment frameworks may need to be a multi-phase process to incorporate assessments at the range of scales required for NbS initiatives. Successfully assessing adaptation may be made difficult by lack of a 'control' situation and by difficulties in attributing impacts to climate change. Existing assessment frameworks, such as the Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations and the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations, should be evaluated and adapted to ensure they are able to assess NbS initiatives. There is also an overarching need to ensure that policies across different sectors work well together across multiple interests and deliver the multiple benefits of NbS.

With the right frameworks in place to underpin NbS, they can make a significant contribution to national and international commitments. Longterm policies, goals and government commitments are necessary however to support long-term investment, research and monitoring of the functionality of NbS, as well as their delivery.

Key message: NbS opportunities and delivery approaches are evolving, and policy, governance and evaluation methods need to develop to encourage uptake and achieve the benefits.

4. GETTING THE RIGHT NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS IN THE RIGHT PLACES

Strategic spatial planning and detailed project plans are necessary to integrate NbS with land use and ensure both biodiversity and climate benefits. It is also essential to address any tradeoffs and avoid perverse outcomes. This requires the right data, diagnostic tools and the capacity and expertise to interpret and find solutions for all objectives and desired outcomes. This will require an increase in present capacity, including in the public sector, both nationally and locally, with many local authorities lacking the resources to employ ecological and environmental specialists. An appropriate multi-stakeholder and multilevel governance framework can help overcome existing resource and skill deficits by combining public and private sector input, but must ensure independence of assessments from narrow sectoral interests.

NbS may involve the substitution of one habitat for another, so it is vital to understand factors such as underlying soil conditions, habitat quality and potential biodiversity losses and gains, to ensure positive outcomes. For instance, woodland creation on some species poor, low productivity grasslands may be a good NbS for climate change mitigation. However, on a species rich grassland it could damage biodiversity and where grassland is found on degraded peat soils, restoration by re-wetting is likely to have better NbS outcomes for biodiversity and greenhouse gas reduction. Good spatial datasets can help with targeting but, in many cases, site specific environmental assessments for NbS initiatives will need to be conducted by suitably qualified experts to ensure the appropriate beneficial outcomes for nature that NbS require.

Effective planning for NbS at appropriate spatial scales can also help to capitalise on the co-benefits that can be delivered by NbS. For example, tree planting is an effective method of carbon sequestration and if strategically planned, tree planting alongside rivers has the potential to sequester carbon, reduce flood risk, stabilise river banks and also cool water temperature for vulnerable species. Currently planning systems in the UK are fragmented with multiple policies and bodies governing different sectors within a geographic area. Existing governance structures do not therefore lend themselves to the strategically designed and cross sectoral approaches that successful NbS delivery often requires.

Cities and urban areas face a multitude of competing interests and challenges and it is particularly important that NbS have clear cobenefits there to attract funding and bring a range of benefits to these environments and their inhabitants. The recent pandemic has reminded us of the importance of access to green space and the wellbeing benefits of nature. This has been particularly pronounced in urban areas and has also shone a light on unequal access to nature. Implementing NbS will benefit from appropriate socio-economic data to ensure, for instance, that NbS are helping to redress both environmental and social inequalities.

A variety of landscape-level planning approaches relevant to NbS exist or are emerging. These include the Ecosystem Approach, Local Plans, Local Natural Capital Plans, Catchment Management Plans, Landscape Enterprise Networks, the Nature Recovery Network and Local Nature Recovery Strategies, Local Nature Partnerships (LNPs), Farmer Clusters and forthcoming environment and green growth strategies across the UK. These participatory, interdisciplinary and evidence-based approaches aim to balance conservation of biodiversity and the sustainable use of natural resources with fair and equitable sharing of the benefits and also the potential to contribute climate change solutions.

Key message: The multiple benefits of NbS require careful spatial and project planning to deliver multi-sectoral benefits.

5. GETTING THE RIGHT EVIDENCE FOR NBS

Knowledge and evidence about the opportunities and effectiveness of different NbS interventions is lacking. For example, techniques for measuring carbon sequestration are well established in a research context, but differ between habitats and, often with a site-specific context, are rarely used for evaluating wider environment management or large-scale monitoring and surveys. This affects our ability to incorporate NbS into project-based carbon accounting – which may hamper the use of carbon credit finance, if site carbon fluxes cannot be measured or accurately estimated.

Key research gaps are summarised in *Appendix 2*. Examples include the relative benefits of natural woodland regeneration versus afforestation as a NbS, and what the appropriate management standards are for the latter. The criteria and standards required for an activity to be deemed as NbS must be clear and strengthened to ensure that projects deliver climate, biodiversity and human benefits. Applied research across disciplines will be key for NbS innovation and evaluation. Whilst this may attract some private funding, strong government funding will be necessary, including to provide assurance of independence from vested interests.

It is also necessary to overcome barriers often experienced in getting scientific research accepted, understood and translated effectively into policy and practice. This includes the use of academic vocabulary by ecologists and conservationists, the promotion of tools and models that are complex and difficult to understand, and failure to capture the inherent value of nature in economic models. Characteristics of scientific assessments that have successfully influenced policymaking include a multi-disciplinary approach, involvement of decision makers and other stakeholders in the assessment process, a clear statement of the implications for human wellbeing and effective communication, both directly and indirectly via the media, for example, with decision makers and the public.

Key message: There are knowledge gaps and uncertainties which hamper the more widespread use of NbS. These knowledge gaps are a barrier to developing the full potential of NbS for climate, nature and people.

EFFECTIVE NBS FOR Delivering biodiversity AND climate change benefits

The following table summarises effective NbS identified in the report where there is a good degree of confidence in the available evidence. A number of other habitats and NbS have been explored in detail and gaps in research have been highlighted, although it should be stressed that all NbS are important and should be considered as part of a broad portfolio of projects. For executive summaries of each chapter, please see *Appendix 1*.

NbS/Habitat	Climate change mitigation potential	Climate change adaptation potential	Biodiversity potential	Specific policy recommendations
Peatlands	Peatlands store around 3 billion tonnes of carbon in the UK but are emitting an estimated 23 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) annually (c. 5% UK emissions) as a result of drainage and degradation. Restoration can reduce and eventually halt these emissions.	Peatland can help slow water flow during storms. Restoration reduces peatland vulnerability to climate change.	Restoration can help re-establish rare species and distinct peatland biodiversity on extensive areas of degraded habitat.	Restore degraded peatlands; drainage should be stopped and reversed. Continue to develop Peatland Code and public financing. End burning on blanket bogs.
Woodlands	The UK's forests currently store around 1.09 billion tonnes of carbon and sequester about 4.6% of the country's total emissions. They currently cover 13% UK land area and there is scope to increase this significantly.	Woodlands can provide adaptation through reducing flood risk, and provide shade and cooling in rural and urban settings.	New native woodland will increase woodland biodiversity and robustness to climate change. Increasing woodland connectivity will also benefit biodiversity.	Successful woodland NbS requires specific spatial and ecological planning. Avoid species rich grasslands, peat and other organic soils. Increase native woodland area, increase connectivity, and encourage natural or assisted regeneration of native species.

NbS/Habitat	Climate change mitigation potential	Climate change adaptation potential	Biodiversity potential	Specific policy recommendations
Saltmarsh	Establishment of saltmarsh habitats will provide sequestration and burial of carbon from local, marine, freshwater and terrestrial sources in saltmarsh sediment.	Saltmarshes provide coastal protection from sea-level rise and storms.	Saltmarsh provides a high biodiversity coastal habitat especially for many bird species.	Establishment of more saltmarsh, as proposed in existing shoreline management plans and Climate Change Committee targets.
Arable Landscapes: Hedgerows and Field Margins	High soil carbon levels are found under and adjacent to hedgerows and in field margins.	These areas improve water infiltration into the soil store storm runoff. They can prevent soil erosion, and capture pollution (e.g. fertilizer).	13 Section 41 bird species use hedgerows as primary habitat. Hedgerows have rich biodiversity, including high levels of plants, fungi and invertebrates, including pollinators. These habitats increase ecological connectivity. The high biodiversity in these habitats enhances pest management of adjacent crops.	Ensure protection and re-establishment of hedgerows. High- priority for future post- CAP environmental payments across the UK.
Arable Landscapes: Agroforestry	Agroforestry provides carbon sequestration and storage with average storage estimated to be up to 63 tonnes of carbon per hectare due to increased presence of trees.	Agroforestry provides adaptation through reduced flood risk, microclimate benefits and prevention of soil erosion.	Agroforestry provides increased biodiversity due to tree cover and hence habitat for many species including invertebrates and birds.	New public and private land management funding should incentivise a significant increase in agroforestry.
Urban Street Trees	Increased carbon sequestration from tree growth and habitat creation (small compared to national carbon budget)	Trees provide a localised cooling effect; estimated to save f22 million in annual energy consumption across inner London for example. Trees enhance recreation and connection to nature.	Increased numbers of trees provide increased biodiversity through enhanced green spaces, and increased connectivity.	Increase urban green space and features across urban policy sectors including planning, amenity, recreation and health, with focus on native species to ensure NbS.

CLOSING STATEMENT

NbS have great potential to tackle the two defining crises of our age. This report provides examples of opportunities for NbS across a range of habitats, as well as discussion of some of the complexities involved in planning for NbS. The report also outlines a detailed analysis of the tools, financial mechanisms and policies required for effective delivery in a UK context. Policy change will be necessary to overcome some of the challenges associated with NbS and to ensure that they fulfil their potential, yet the rewards are vital in meeting national climate change and biodiversity targets.

INTRODUCTION

Authors:

Tiffany Ki^{1,2} Sarah McKain¹ Laura Clavey¹ Rick Stafford⁴ Louise Montgomery³ Camilla Morrison-Bell¹ Bethany Chamberlain¹

- 1 British Ecological Society
- 2 University of East Anglia
- 3 Royal Holloway University of London
- 4 Bournemouth University

1. NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

1.1 DEFINITION

Nature-based solutions (NbS) is an umbrella term that brings together a diverse range of stakeholders and disciplines into collaboration, resulting in transdisciplinary work and a range of differing perspectives^{1,2}. The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) defines nature-based solutions as "actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural and modified ecosystems in ways that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, to provide both human well-being and biodiversity benefits. They are underpinned by benefits that flow from healthy ecosystems and target major challenges like climate change, disaster risk reduction, food and water security, health and are critical to economic development."3

We recognise that NbS is a broad concept and can provide multiple benefits. For the purposes of this report, we have taken a narrow focus on the benefits for biodiversity, climate change mitigation and climate change adaptation. This is due to the objectives of the BES and the expertise of our members. Whilst the exact definition of NbS can vary between organisations and within literature (as shown in Annex 1 to this chapter), at the core of the concept is the multi-functional benefits that can be derived from using nature as a solution to a range of problems.

1.2 MULTIFUNCTIONALITY AND THE CONCEPT OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Over the last decade, policymakers have increasingly recognised the importance of protecting nature not just for its own sake but also for the many benefits it provides for people. It has become clear both that protecting and restoring nature can increase its resilience to anthropogenic changes and help people mitigate and adapt to environmental change⁴.

The approach of utilising nature as a solution is grounded in the relationship between biodiversity

and ecosystem function. Living organisms interact with other each other and the physical environment in ways that maintain ecosystem function and species themselves⁵. Ecological interactions depend on a sufficient number of individuals and their chance of co-occurrence. The loss of these interactions leads to the loss of ecosystem functioning⁶. Change in the physical environment, for example with drainage, can also change what species survive in a place. All of these factors combine to affect ecosystem processes, such as carbon sequestration and water flow.

Greater levels of biodiversity often results in higher levels of ecosystem functioning and greater stability^{7,8}. Of these ecosystem functions, many directly or indirectly benefit humans, and these are termed 'ecosystem services'⁹ e.g. pollination, water cycling and carbon sequestration. The potential of NbS to solve wider societal challenges opens up new opportunities for mainstreaming biodiversity conservation into policy and practice decisions in other sectors and areas of society^{10,11,12}.

NbS are based on the understanding that ecosystems naturally provide ecosystem services. Therefore the protection, sustainable management and restoration of ecosystems can protect and enhance the provision of these services¹³. However, it is important to recognise that NbS alone are not a panacea for climate change and biodiversity loss. They are an essential component of responding to climate change but must be implemented alongside other efforts across society to reduce emissions, adapt to climate change, and reverse the decline in biodiversity^{13,14}.

2. CONTEXT AND RATIONALE

2.1 UK POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

The United Kingdom (UK) has committed to reach net-zero greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 2050¹⁵ and is a signatory to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the Paris Agreement¹⁶. The Net Zero commitment derives from analysis by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), following the signing of the Paris Agreement, which found that achieving the goal of limiting warming to 1.5°C required global net anthropogenic CO2 emissions to decline by about 45% from 2010 levels by 2030 and reach 'net-zero' by around 2050¹⁷. There are a range of other international commitments, including the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), which also commit the UK to tackle both the climate and biodiversity crises. To achieve these targets and to make effective strategic decisions, it is necessary for policymakers across the nations of the UK to have access to relevant and reliable evidence regarding potential solutions that are relevant for their specific contexts and political landscapes. The upcoming UNFCCC 26th Conference of the Parties (COP 26) has added urgency for this information to be available with an additional emphasis on delivering a 'Green Recovery'¹⁸ from COVID-19. Following the UK's exit from the European Union, there are new opportunities to address climate change and biodiversity loss through the implementation of innovative policies. For example, leaving the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) has created an opportunity to move public monetary support for agriculture away from areabased support. This creates additional resources for mechanisms with greater potential to provide multiple benefits to society and the environment, such as NbS. For example the development of new subsidy frameworks for delivering environmental 'public goods' under Environmental Land Management Schemes (ELMs) in England¹⁹. This could provide opportunities for farmers, foresters and other land managers to secure financial reward in return for delivering environmental benefits.

New agri-environment schemes are also being developed by the devolved governments²⁰.

2.2 CLIMATE CHANGE TRENDS

Climate change is a global issue. The atmospheric concentration of GHGs has grown at unprecedented rates since the beginning of the Industrial Era²¹, with dominant causes including fossil fuel burning and land use change, such as deforestation²². Increased GHG concentrations have enhanced the natural greenhouse effect, resulting in the global mean temperature increasing by 1.2°C since pre-industrial times²³.

In the UK, the annual average land temperature in the most recent decade (2009-2018) has been 0.9°C warmer than the 1961-1990 average²⁴, and the frequency of heatwaves has increased²⁵. There are also changes to rainfall patterns, which have led to increased flash flooding and droughts^{26,27,28,29} across different localities. This may result in shortages to water supply³⁰, with downstream implications on human health and agricultural production³¹. Since the start of the 20th century UK sea levels have risen by 16cm.³² It has been estimated that combined, these changes pose substantial risk to the nation as well as to communities^{33,34}, with 1.8 million people across the UK currently living in areas of significant flood risk. There are also 2.6 million people projected to be living in areas projected with risk by the 2050s³⁵. NbS alongside other efforts can play an important role in helping the UK to mitigate and adapt to some of the effects associated with climate change.

2.3 **BIODIVERSITY TRENDS**

The recent Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) report classified 25% of assessed species as threatened³⁶. In the UK, the State of Nature Report described a 13% decline in average abundance of species and a 5% decline in average species' distribution of terrestrial and freshwater species since 1970³⁷. It was also found that the key pressures on biodiversity come from agricultural management, climate change, pollution, urbanisation, woodland management, land use change and invasive species³⁷.There is recognition across UK governments that we need to reduce environmental pressure and put people at the heart of biodiversity conservation^{38,39,40,41}.

Climate change has been identified as a key driver for biodiversity loss^{42,43,44,45}. It has also led some species to change the timing of their seasonal lifecycle patterns, distribution shifts and local population changes^{46,47,48}. Whilst some species can persist or adapt to climate change, others may go $extinct^{49,44,50,51,52}$. Adaptation and building resilience of ecosystems will play an increasingly important role in reducing the loss of UK flora and fauna by helping habitats and species (e.g. Natural England and RSPB 2020)⁵³ to respond to climate change. For example, greater habitat connectivity and/or better-quality habitats can make species more resilient to change, as can the careful restoration of habitats or enhancing biodiversity hotspots⁵⁴. These measures can also facilitate change to new conditions. Actions to protect biodiversity from climate change need to be integrated with NbS, both to ensure NbS are resilient to climate change and maximise benefits to biodiversity.

2.4 EXAMPLES OF HOW TO ADDRESS CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIODIVERSITY LOSS THROUGH NBS^[1]

Climate change mitigation can be achieved via NbS by $^{\rm 55,47,56,57,58}\colon$

- Reducing carbon emissions, e.g. avoiding deforestation and restoring degraded peatland.
- Increasing carbon sequestration in ecosystems, e.g. reforestation, peatland restoration and agroforestry.
- Increasing carbon sequestration in human communities e.g. Urban tree planting (ensuring the careful selection of the site and species of tree and making sure the species is resilient to climate change and other long term effects are considered.)

[1] Not an exhaustive list, examples are based on the specific scope of our report.

Climate change adaptation can be achieved via NbS through a variety of measures including¹³:

- Saltmarsh restoration which provides coastal flooding protection.
- Re-naturalisation of water courses and wetland restoration to provide natural flood management in river systems
- Cooling the urban environment, e.g. green roofs or green spaces.

Benefits to biodiversity can be delivered via NbS through:

- Identifying biodiversity hotspots, e.g. protecting the 2% of species rich biodiverse grassland we have left in the UK.
- Habitat restoration and habitat creation, e.g. peatland restoration, green roofs in urban settings or seagrass and kelp in marine habitats.
- Managing change and building in resilience, e.g. increasing the genetic and species diversity within ecosystems or adopting strategies such as integrated pest management practices.

2.5 HUMAN HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Human health and wellbeing are also benefits that can be derived from NbS. However, given the objectives of the BES and the expertise of the majority of our members, the human health and wellbeing aspects of NbS have not been comprehensively evaluated as part of this report. Nevertheless it is important that NbS are embedded holistically within a wider framework of societal, economic and environmental policies that together will result in multifunctional beneficial outcomes.

It is increasingly recognised that nature is an asset to humans^{59,60}. There is a wealth of research on how observing and engaging with blue surface water (i.e., lakes and coastal waters); and green terrestrial areas (i.e., forests and parks), referred to as Blue Health⁶¹ and Green Health⁶², can benefit the health and wellbeing of all age groups^{63,64,65}. Contact with the natural world allows the synergistic benefits of physical activity and nature contact to buffer poor psychological health by allowing mental recuperation^{66,67,68} whilst promoting low-level activity for good physiological health. Engaging with nature has

been found to provide people with life satisfaction and wellbeing benefits⁶⁹ through reduced mental health illness^{70,71} and improved in social connectedness. A connection to the natural world can provide a sense of belonging and buffers the feeling of ostracism through improving emotional wellbeing^{72,73}. There is growing evidence that people who have the opportunity to care for nature, such as feeding garden birds, felt more relaxed and a sense of oneness due to caring for the welfare of organisms as well as providing opportunities to socialise^{74,75}. Consideration of the quality of the green space, in addition to the quantity, can produce multiple benefits for people and the environment⁷⁶.

3. SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS

3.1 SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This report presents an overview of the best scientific evidence available to assist in the understanding of the delivery potential of NbS for climate change mitigation and adaptation as well as for biodiversity conservation in the UK. Some chapters have also highlighted where further research is required, (for an overview of this please see Appendix 2 of this report). The report focusses on the UK evidence and draws on international evidence that is relevant where UK evidence is limited. This report is intended to inform policy makers, landowners and investors.

The report is divided into ten chapters and two sections. Section 1 has eight habitat chapters. Each chapter contains an executive summary (for an overview of this please see Appendix 1 of this report), definition of the theme, climate mitigation potential, climate adaptation potential, biodiversity value, relevant challenges and tradeoffs. Some chapters demonstrate the benefits for human wellbeing. Section 2 of the report is not habitat specific and covers wider considerations for delivering NbS in the UK such as, policy and finance and the spatial delivery.

3.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE REPORT

We are fortunate that our members have a wealth of expertise in biodiversity and climate change mitigation and adaptation which is what we have drawn on for the purposes of this report primarily. There are nonetheless significant gaps in the underlying evidence which we have identified. We have also focused on presenting the evidence and options rather than advocating specific policies.

4. PROCESS AND METHODS

4.1 PROCESS

The BES Policy team issued a 'call for expertise' to our membership on this topic. This received responses from over 100 interested experts. Lead author(s), contributors and reviewers were found for each chapter based on experience, fields of expertise and relevance to the UK-context.

In order to ensure the chapters were reviewed robustly, those who reviewed the chapter were not involved in any of the stages of writing the chapter. The length and content of each chapter reflects the habitat type and the availability or gaps that are present in the evidence.

4.2 STANDARDISATION OF CARBON SEQUESTRATION FIGURES IN THIS REPORT

Reporting on carbon sequestration is a relatively new process, and standardised methods, measurements and units are not readily available or consistent in the scientific literature. Most commonly reported is a mass of sequestered carbon dioxide, per unit area, per unit of time, and these have been presented as tonnes of carbon, per hectare per year within the report (t.CO₂/ha/ yr). Where alternative measures such as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent have been reported, these have been standardised into t.CO₂/ha/yr for direct comparison.

We have followed the scientific literature carefully, including examining the methods sections of papers to ensure as much consistency as possible, but while comparisons within chapters should be robust, comparisons between chapters and between different habitats may be susceptible to some differences in approach in measuring these values. There is clearly a need for a standardisation of approaches to measuring and reporting carbon sequestration across habitat types, especially if NbS are to form an integral part of carbon accounting.

Nevertheless, the report does clearly illustrate the role many different habitats play in sequestering carbon, providing adaptation mechanisms to climate change and boosting biodiversity. It also illustrates how management, restoration and regeneration can maximise these benefits.

ANNEX 1: OVERVIEW OF DEFINITIONS OF NBS IN THE LITERATURE

Source	Definition
Cohen-Shacham <i>et al.</i> (2016). ³ [IUCN definition]	'actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural or modified ecosystems, that address societal challenges (e.g. climate change, food and water security or natural disasters) effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits'
European Commission (2015). ⁷⁷ [EU definition]	'solutions that are inspired and supported by nature, which are cost effective, simultaneously provide environmental, social and economic benefits and help build resilience'
Nature-based solutions initiative. ⁷⁸ [Oxford University]	'involve working with nature to address societal challenges, providing benefits for both human well-being and biodiversity. Specifically they are actions that involve the protection, restoration or management of natural and semi-natural ecosystems; the sustainable management of aquatic systems and working lands such as croplands or timberlands; or the creation of novel ecosystems in and around cities. They are actions that are underpinned biodiversity and are designed and implemented with the full engagement and consent of local communities and Indigenous Peoples.'
Kabisch <i>et al</i> . (2016). ⁷⁹	'is one of several concepts that promote the maintenance, enhancement, and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems as a means to address multiple concerns simultaneously'
Maes and Jacob (2015). ⁸⁰	'any transition to a use of ecosystem services with decreased input of non- renewable natural capital and increased investment in renewable natural processes'
Van de Bosch and Sang (2017). ⁸¹	'solutions to societal challenges that are inspired and supported by nature which are cost effective, provide simultaneous environmental, social and economic benefits, and help build resilience'
Frantzeskaki (2019). ⁸²	'living solutions underpinned by natural processes and structures that are designed to address various environmental challenges while simultaneously providing multiple benefits to economy, society and ecological systems.'

Albert <i>et al</i> . (2019). ⁸³	'(i) alleviate a well-defined societal challenge, (ii) utilize ecosystem processes of spatial, blue and green infrastructure networks, and (iii) are embedded within viable governance or business models for implementation'
Van der Jagt <i>et al.</i> (2017). ⁸⁴	'multifunctional 'green' interventions delivering upon the social, economic and environmental pillars of sustainable development'
United Nations World Water Assessment Programme (2018). ⁸⁵	'inspired and supported by nature and use, or mimic, natural processes to contribute towards the improved management of water. An NbS can involve conserving or rehabilitating natural ecosystems and/or the enhancement or creation of natural processes in modified or artificial ecosystems'
Zolch <i>et al.</i> (2017). ⁸⁶	'solutions using nature and ecosystem services to provide economic, social as well as environmental benefits and span from natural ecosystems to novel ecosystems that are either intentionally or unintentionally created by humans'
White <i>et al.</i> , (2019). ¹	'when ecosystem services have contributed the large service input into an outcome that has created enough benefit to solve a well-defined problem' (with possible service types being ecosystem, technological and social).'

REFERENCES

- 1 White, C., Collier, M. and Stout, J.A. (2019). A Framework for Identifying Nature-based Solutions. *unpublished data*.
- Olson, M.E., Arroyo-Santos, A. and Vergara-Silva, F. (2019). A User's Guide to Metaphors In Ecology and Evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 34, pp.605-615.
- 3 Cohen-Shacham, E., Walters, G., Janzen, C., and Maginnis, S. (eds.)(2016). Nature-based Solutions to address global societal challenges. [https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/ library/files/documents/2016-036.pdf], [accessed 4th March 2021].
- 4 Mace, G. M. (2014). Whose conservation? Science, 345, pp.1558–1560.
- 5 Traill, L. W., Lim, M. L. M., Sodhi, N. S. and Bradshaw, C. J. A. (2010). Mechanisms driving change: altered species interactions and ecosystem function through global warming. *Journal of Animal* Ecology, 79, pp. 937–947.
- 6 Valiente-Banuet, A., Aizen, M.A., Alcantara, J.M., Arroyo, J., Cocucci, A. Galetti, M., Garcia, M. B. Garcia, D., Gomez, J.M. Jordano, P., Medel, R., Navarro, L., Obeso, J.R., Oviedo, R., Ramirez, N., Rey, P.J., Traveset, A., Verdu, M. and Zamora, R. (2015). Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology*, 29, pp.299–307.
- 7 Tilman, D., Isbell, F. and Cowles, J. M. (2014). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 45, pp.471–493.
- 8 Hector, A. and Bagchi, R. (2007). Biodiversity and ecosystem multifunctionality. *Nature*, 448, pp.188–190.
- 9 Costanza, R. de Groot, R., Braat, L, Kubiszewski, I., Fioramonti, L, Sutton, P., Farber, S. and Grasso, M. (2017). Twenty years of ecosystem services: How far have we come and how far do we still need to go? *Ecosystem Services*, 28, pp.1–16.
- 10 Cohen-Shacham, E., Andrade, A., Dalton, J., Dudley, N., Jones, M., Kumar, C., Maginnis, S., Maynard, S., Nelson, C.R., Renaud, F.G., Welling, R. and Walters, G. (2019). Core principles for successfully implementing and upscaling Nature-based Solutions. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 98, pp.20-29.
- 11 Nesshover, C., Assmuth, T., Irvine, K.N., Rusch, G.M., Waylen, K.A., Delbaere, B., Haase, D., Jones-Walters, L., Keune, H., Kovacs, E., Krauze, K., Kulvivk, M., Freddy, R., van Dijk, J., Vistad, O.I., Wilkinson, M.E. and Wittmer, H. (2017). The science, policy and practice of nature-based solutions: An interdisciplinary perspective. *Science of the Total Environment*, 579, pp. 1215-1227.
- 12 Potschin, M.,Kretsch, C., Haines-Young, R., E. Furman, Berry, P. and Baró, F. (2016). 'Nature-based solutions. In: Potschin, M. and K. Jax (eds): OpenNESS Ecosystem Services Reference Book. EC FP7 Grant Agreement no. 308428. (2016). Available via: www.openness-project.eu/ library/reference-book
- 13 Seddon, N., Chasson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C.A.J., Smith, A., and Turner, B. (2020). Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.*, 375.
- 14 Anderson, K. and Peters, G. (2016). The trouble with negative emissions. *Science*, 354, pp.182-183.
- 15 H.M. Stationery Office. The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019. 2 (Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament, 2019).
- 16 United Nations, Paris Agreement (2015).
- 17 Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan,

R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.) (2018). IPCC. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/download/#full], [accessed 15th January 2021].

- 18 UK Government, The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution [https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution/title], [accessed 2nd February 2020].
- 19 UK Government, The Environmental Land Management scheme: an overview [https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/the-environmental-land-managementscheme-an-overview], [accessed 28th January 2021].
- 20 NatureScot, Agri-Environmental Climate Scheme new round of applications [https://www.nature.scot/agrienvironmental-climate-scheme-new-round-applications], [accessed 28th January 2021].
- 21 IPCC, Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis, [https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg1/], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- Friedlingstein, P. Jones, M.W., O'Sullivan, M., Andrew, 22 R.M., Hauck, J., Peters, G.P. Peters, W., Pongrats, J., Sitch, S., Le Quéré, C., Bakker, D.C.E. Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Anthoni, P., Barbero, L., Bastos, A., Bastrikov, V., Becker, M., Bopp, L., Buitenhuis, E., Chandra, N., Chevallier, F., Chini, L.P., Currie, K.I., Feely, R.A., Gehlen, M., Gilfillan, D., Gkritzalis, T., Goll, D.S, Gruber, N., Gutekunst, S., Harris, I., Haverd, V., Houghton, R.A., Hurtt, G., Ilyina, T., Jain, A.K., Joetzjer, E., Kaplan, J.O., Kato, E., Goldewijk, K.K., Korsbakken, J.I., Landschützer, P., Lauvset, S.K., Lefèvre, N., Lenton, A., Lienert, S., Lombardozzi, D., Marland, G., McGuire, P., Melton, J.R., Metzl, N., Munro, D.R., Nabel, J., Nakaoka, S., Neill, C., Omar, A.M., Ono, T., Peregon, A., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Rehder, G., Resplandy, L., Robertson, E., Rödenbeck, C., Séférian, R., Schwinger, J., Smith, N., Tans, P.P., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., Tubiello, F.N., van der Werf, G.R., Wiltshire, A.J. and Zaehle, S. (2019). Global Carbon Budget 2019. Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 11, pp.1783-1838.
- 23 Berkeley Earth [http://berkeleyearth.org/globaltemperature-report-for-2020/], [accessed 3rd March, 2021].
- 24 Kendon, M., McCarthy, M., Jevrejeva, S., Matthews, A. and Legg, T. (2019). State of the UK climate 2018. *Int. J. Climatol.*, 39, pp.1–55.
- 25 Stott, P. A., Stone, D. A. and Allen, M. R. (2004). Human contribution to the European heatwave of 2003. *Nature*, 432, pp.610–614.
- 26 Kendon, E. J. Roberts, N.M., Fowler, H.J., Roberts, M.J., Chan, S.C., and Senior, C.A. (2014). Heavier summer downpours with climate change revealed by weather forecast resolution model. *Nat. Clim. Change*, 4, pp.570– 576.
- 27 Thompson, V., Dunstone, N.J., Scaife, A.A., Smith, D.M., Slingo, J.M., Brown, S. and Belcher, S.E. (2016). High risk of unprecedented UK rainfall in the current climate. *Nat. Commun.* 8, pp.1–6.
- 28 Rahiz, M. and New, M. (2013). 21st Century Drought Scenarios for the UK. Water Resour. Manag. 27, pp.1039– 1061.
- 29 Skliris, N., Zika, J. D., Nurser, G., Josey, S. A. and Marsh, R. (2016). Global water cycle amplifying at less than the

Clausius-Clapeyron rate. Sci. Rep. 6, pp.1–9

- 30 Brown, I. (2016). UK Climate Change Risk Assessment Evidence Report: Chapter 3, Natural environment and natural assets. [https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2016/07/UK-CCRA-2017-Chapter-3-Naturalenvironment-and-natural-assets.pdf], [accessed 5th February 2021].
- 31 Rial-Lovera, K., Davies, W. P. and Cannon, N. D. (2017). Implications of climate change predictions for UK cropping and prospects for possible mitigation: a review of challenges and potential responses. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 97, pp. 17–32.
- 32 Met Office, Latest Climate Projections. UKCP18 Marine, [https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/ collaboration/ukcp/index], [accessed 3rd March 2021].
- 33 Prime, T., Brown, J. M. and Plater, A. J. (2015). Physical and Economic Impacts of Sea-Level Rise and Low Probability Flooding Events on Coastal Communities. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0117030.
- 34 Climate Change Risk Assessment 2022 [https://www. theccc.org.uk/publications/third-uk-climate-change-riskassessment/], [accessed 3rd March, 2021].
- 35 Kovats, R. S. and Osburn, D. (2016). UK Climate Change Risk Assessment Evidence Report: Chapter 5, People and the built environment. [https://www.theccc.org.uk/ wp-content/uploads/2016/07/UK-CCRA-2017-Chapter-5-People-and-the-built-environment.pdf], [accessed 5th February 2021].
- 36 IPBES (2019): Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- 37 The State of Nature Partnership, The State of Nature 2019. [https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Stateof-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf], [accessed 5th February 2021].
- 38 DEFRA, (2020). Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England's wildlife and ecosystem services [https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversitystrategy-2020-111111.pdf], [accessed 2nd February 2021].
- 39 Scottish Biodiversity Strategy [https://www.nature.scot/ scotlands-biodiversity/scottish-biodiversity-strategy], [accessed 2nd February 2021].
- 40 Welsh Biodiversity Partnership [https://www. biodiversitywales.org.uk/], [accessed 2nd February 2020].
- 41 Biodiversity Strategy for Northern Ireland to 2020 [https:// www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/biodiversity-strategynorthern-ireland-2020-0], [accessed 2nd February 2021].
- 42 Stephens, P.A., Mason, L.R., Green, R.E., Gregory, R.D., Sauer, J.R., Alison, J., Aunins, A., Brotons, L., Butchart, S., Campedelli, T., Chodkiewicz, T., Chylarecki, P., Crowe, O., Elts, J., Escandell, V., Foppen, R., Heldbjerg, H., Herrando, S., Husby, M., Jiguet, F., Lehikoinen, A., Lindström, Å., Noble, D.G., Paquet, J., Reif, J., Sattler, T., Szép, T., Teufelbauer, N., Trautmann, S., van Strien, A., van Turnhout, C.A.M., Vorisek, P. and Willi, S.G. (2016). Consistent response of bird populations to climate change on two continents. *Science* 352, 84–87.
- 43 IPCCC, Working Group II Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability [https://www.ipcc.ch/working-group/wg2/], [accessed 3rd March 2021].
- 44 Natural Environment Research Council, RIDE Forum -Climate change impacts report cards [https://nerc.ukri.org/ research/partnerships/ride/lwec/report-cards/], [accessed 3rd March 2021].
- 45 Climate Change Committee, Climate Change Risk Assessment 2022, [https://www.theccc.org.uk/ publications/third-uk-climate-change-risk-assessment/], [accessed 3rd March 2021].

- 46 Amano, T., Smithers, R. J., Sparks, T. H. and Sutherland, W. J. A (201). 250-year index of first flowering dates and its response to temperature changes. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 277, pp.2451–2457.
- 47 Both, C., Asch, M. V., Bijlsma, R. G., Burg, A. B. V. D. and Visser, M. E. (2009). Climate change and unequal phenological changes across four trophic levels: constraints or adaptations? *J. Anim. Ecol.* 78, pp.73–83.
- 48 Parmesan, C. (2007). Influences of species, latitudes and methodologies on estimates of phenological response to global warming. *Glob. Change Biol.* 13, pp.1860–1872.
- 49 Pearce-Higgins, J.W., Beale, C.M., Oliver, T.H., August, T.A., Carroll, M., Massimino, D., Ockendona, N., Savaged, J., Wheatley, C.J., Ausden, M.A., Bradbury, R.B., Duffield, S.J., Macgregorh, N.A., McClean, C.J., Morecroft, M.D., Thomas, C.D., Watts, O., Beckmann, B.C., Fox, R., Royd, H.E., Sutton Walker, K.J. and Crick, H.O.P., (2017). A national-scale assessment of climate change impacts on species: Assessing the balance of risks and opportunities for multiple taxa. *Biological Conservation*, 213, 124-134.
- 50 Hickling, R., Roy, D. B., Hill, J. K., Fox, R. and Thomas, C. D. (2006). The distributions of a wide range of taxonomic groups are expanding polewards. *Glob. Change Biol.* 12, pp.450–455
- 51 Massimino, D., Johnston, A. and Pearce-Higgins, J. W. (2015). The geographical range of British birds expands during 15 years of warming. *Bird Study* 62, pp.523–534.
- 52 Mason, L.R, Green, R.E., Howard, C.P., Stephens, P.A., Willis, S.G., Aunins, A., Brotons, L., Chodkiewicz, T., Chylarecki, P., Escandell, V., Foppen, R.P.B., Herrando, S., Husby, M., Jiguet, F., Kålås, J., Lindström, A., Massimino, D., Moshøj, C., Nellis, R., Paquet, J.Y., Reif, J., Sirkiä, P.M., Szép, T., Tellini Florenzano, G., Norbert Teufelbauer, N., Trautmann, S., van Strien, A., van Turnhout, C.A.M. Voříšek, P., and Gregory, R.D. (2019). Population responses of bird populations to climate change on two continents vary with species' ecological traits but not with direction of change in climate suitability. *Climate Change*, 157, pp.337–354.
- 53 Natural England, Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751) [http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/ publication/5679197848862720], [accessed 3rd March, 2021].
- 54 Biodiversity and Nature-based Solutions (2020). [https:// www.ecologic.eu/sites/files/publication/2020/naumann-20biodiversity-and-nature-based-solutions.pdf], [accessed 1st February 2021].
- 55 Gregg, R, Adams, J, Alonso, I., Crosher, I., Muto, P., Morecroft, M. (2021) Carbon Storage and Sequestration by Habitat: A Review of the Evidence (Second Edition). Natural England, York
- 56 Anderson, C. M. DeFries, R.S., Litterman, R.S., Matson, P.A, Nepstad, D.C., Pacala, S, Schlesinger, W.H. Shaw, R., Smith, P. and Weber, C. (2019). Natural climate solutions are not enough. *Science* 363, pp.933–934.
- 57 Smith, P. Adams, J., Beerling, D.J., Beringer, T., Calvin, K.V., Fuss, S., Griscom, B., Hagemann, N., Kammann, C., Kraxner, F., Minx, J.C., Popp, A., Renforth, P., Vicente, J.L. and Keesstra, S. (2019). Land-Management Options for Greenhouse Gas Removal and their Impacts on Ecosystem Services and the Sustainable Development Goals. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 44, pp. 255–286.
- 58 Griscom, B. W., Lomax, G., Kroeger, T., Fargione, J.E. Adams, J. Almond, L., Bossio, B., Cook@Patton, S.C, Ellis, P.W., and Kennedy, C.M and Kiesecker, J (2019). We need both natural and energy solutions to stabilize our climate. *Glob. Change Biol.* 25, pp.1889–1890.
- 59 Dearborn, D. C., and Kark, S. (2010). Motivations for Conserving Urban Biodiversity. *Conservation Biology*, 24, pp.432–440.

- 60 Shanahan, D. F., Lin, B. B., Bush, R., Gaston, K. J., Dean, J. H., Barber, E., and Fuller, R. A. (2015). Toward improved public health outcomes from urban nature. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, pp.470–477.
- 61 Grellier, J., White, M. P., Albin, M., Bell, S., Elliott, L. R., Gascón, Gualdi, S., Mancini, L., Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J., Sarigiannis, D.A. van den Bosch, M, Wolf, T, Wuijts, S and Fleming, L.E. (2017). BlueHealth: a study programme protocol for mapping and quantifying the potential benefits to public health and well-being from Europe's blue spaces. *BMJ Open*, 7.
- 62 Roe, J. J., Ward Thompson, C., Aspinall, P. A., Brewer, M. J., Duff, E. I., Miller, D., Mitchell, R and Clow, A. (2013). Green space and stress: Evidence from cortisol measures in deprived urban communities. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10, pp.4086–4103.
- 63 Harvey, D. J., Montgomery, L. N., Harvey, H., Hall, F., Gange, A. C., and Watling, D. (2020). Psychological benefits of a biodiversity-focussed outdoor learning program for primary school children. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 67, pp.101381.
- 64 Gascon, M., Mas, M. T., Martínez, D., Dadvand, P., Forns, J., Plasència, A., and Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2015). Mental health benefits of long-term exposure to residential green and blue spaces: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12, pp.4354–4379.
- 65 Flouri, E., Midouhas, E., and Joshi, H. (2014). The role of urban neighbourhood green space in children's emotional and behavioural resilience. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 40, pp.179–186.
- 66 Han, K.T. (2017). The effect of nature and physical activity on emotions and attention while engaging in green exercise. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 24, pp.5–13.
- 67 Dallimer, M., Irvine, K. N., Skinner, A. M. J., Davies, Z. G., Rouquette, J. R., Maltby, L. L., Warren, P.H., Armsworth, P.R. and Gaston, K.J. (2012). Biodiversity and the Feel-Good Factor: Understanding associations between self-reported human well-being and species richness. *BioScience*, 62, pp.47–55.
- 68 Cox, D. T. C., Hudson, H. L., Shanahan, D. F., Fuller, R. A., and Gaston, K. J. (2017). The rarity of direct experiences of nature in an urban population. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 160, pp.79–84.
- 69 Frumkin, H., Bratman, G. N., Breslow, S. J., Cochran, B., Kahn, P. H., Lawler, J. J., Levin, P.S., Tandon, P.S., Varanasi, U., Wolf, K.L., and Wood, S.A. (2017). Nature contact and human health: A research agenda. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 125.
- 70 Song, C., Ikei, H., Igarashi, M., Takagaki, M., and Miyazaki, Y. (2015). Physiological and psychological effects of a walk in Urban parks in fall. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12, pp.14216– 14228.
- 71 Ward Thompson, C., Aspinall, P., Roe, J., Robertson, L., and Miller, D. (2016). Mitigating stress and supporting health in deprived urban communities: The importance of green space and the social environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13.
- 72 Lovell, R., Wheeler, B.W., Higgins, S.L. and Irvine, K. N. (2014). A systematic review of the health and wellbeing benefits of biodiverse environments. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health.* 17, pp.1-20.
- 73 Poon, K.T., Teng, F., Wong, W.-Y., and Chen, Z. (2016). When nature heals: Nature exposure moderates the relationship between ostracism and aggression. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 48, pp.159–168.
- 74 Cox, D. T. C., and Gaston, K. J. (2016). Urban bird feeding: Connecting people with nature. *PLoS ONE*, 11.

- 75 Puttick, N and Hughes, V. (2012). Summary Report from Good from Woods Partners. [https://www.plymouth. ac.uk/uploads/production/document/path/7/7994/readthe-summary-report-of-the-woodland-trusts-project.pdf], [accessed 1st February 2021].
- 76 Schebella, M., Weber, D., Schultz, L., and Weinstein, P. (2019). The Wellbeing Benefits Associated with Perceived and Measured Biodiversity in Australian Urban Green Spaces. *Sustainability*, 11, pp.802.
- 77 European Commission, Nature-based solutions. (2015). [https://ec.europa.eu/info/research-and-innovation/ research-area/environment/nature-based-solutions_en], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 78 Oxford University, Nature-based Solutions Initiative. [https://www.naturebasedsolutionsinitiative.org/], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 79 Kabisch, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Pauleit, S., Naumann, S., Davis, M., Artmann, M., Haase, D., Knapp, S., Korn, H>, Stadler, J., Zaunberger, K., and Bonn, A. (2016). Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. *Ecology and Society*, 21, pp.1-15.
- 80 Maes, J and Jacobs, S. (2015). Nature-Based Solutions for Europe's Sustainable Development. *Conservation Letters*, 10, pp.121-124.
- van den Bosch, M. and Sang, Å. O. (2017). Urban natural environments as nature-based solutions for improved public health - A systematic review of reviews. *Environ Res*, 158, pp.373-384.
- 82 Frantzeskaki, N. (2019). Seven lessons for planning naturebased solutions in cities. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 93, pp.101-111.
- 83 Albert, C., Schröter, B., Haase, D., Brillinger, M., Henze, J., Herrmann, S., Gottwald, S., Guerrero, P., Nicolas, C. and Matzdorf, B. 2019). Addressing societal challenges through nature-based solutions: How can landscape planning and governance research contribute? *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 182.
- 84 Van der Jagt, A.P.N., Szaraz, L.R., Delshammar, T., Cvejic, R., Santos, A., Goodness, J. and Buijs. A. (2017). Cultivating nature-based solutions: The governance of communal urban gardens in the European Union. *Environmental Research*, 159, pp.264-275.
- 85 The United Nations world water development report 2018: nature-based solutions for water [https://unesdoc.unesco. org/ark:/48223/pf0000261424_eng], [accessed 3rd March 2021].
- 86 Zölch, T., Henze, L., Keilholz, P. and Pauleit, S. (2017). Regulating urban surface runoff through naturebased solutions – An assessment at the micro-scale. *Environmental Research*, 157, pp.135-144.

SECTION 1: HABITAT SPECIFIC **NATURE-BASED** SOLUTIONS: **A REVIEW OF THE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE**

WOODLANDS

Authors: David Coomes¹ Euan Bowditch² Vanessa Burton³ Bethany Chamberlain⁴ Flora Donald^{1,5} Martina Egedusevic⁶ Elisa Fuentes-Montemayor⁷ Jeanette Hall⁸ Alan G. Jones⁹ Emily Lines¹ Bonnie Waring¹⁰ Emily Warner¹¹ Andrew Weatherall¹²

- 1 University of Cambridge.
- 2 Inverness College University of the Highlands and Islands.
- 3 Forest Research.
- 4 British Ecological Society.
- 5 UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.
- 6 Heriot Watt University.
- 7 Scotland's Rural College.
- 8 NatureScot.
- 9 Scion.
- 10 Imperial College London.
- 11 University of Oxford.
- 12 University of Cumbria.

1. KEY POINTS

- The United Kingdom's forests currently store 1.09 billion tonnes of carbon and sequester about 4.6% of the country's total emissions. The UK government's commitment to plant over 30,000 extra hectares of woodland per year by 2025 offers significant opportunities to mitigate climate change through carbon sequestration, although the full benefits will not be felt before 2050. Depending on the choice of site, species and establishment method, these new woodlands could also benefit biodiversity and deliver multiple ecosystem services.
- 2. Large-scale afforestation should avoid peatlands, productive agricultural lands and habitats of high conservation value, focussing instead on poor-quality grazing land of which there is more than enough to fulfil government planting commitments. However, this loss of grasslands would reduce the UK's capacity to produce meat and dairy products (unless other regions were further intensified), which could do more harm than good unless we switch to more vegetable-based diets, if tropical forests were destroyed to create pastures which supply the UK with imported meat.
- 3. Small-scale establishment of native woodlands within agricultural landscapes would provide opportunities to reconnect fragments of ancient woodland, protect wildlife, and better connect people with nature if made accessible. Natural establishment of woodlands should be encouraged, where appropriate.
- 4. Non-native conifer plantations provide timber and other wood products, reducing the UK's international environmental footprint; conifer plantations can be damaging for nature, but careful planning can reduce that impact and even benefit some species. In order for plantations to meet their potential, adaptation of woodlands and forestry to future hazards is essential. This includes ensuring diversity is increased in plantations, pests and diseases are controlled, and creating complex canopy structure.
- 5. Selective harvesting of trees in native woodlands provides a source of fuelwood (i.e. a renewable energy that substitutes for fossil fuels) and other wood products. Some species thrive in selectively-logged woodlands, but felling large, old trees and clearing deadwood is harmful to birds, bats, lichens, invertebrates and fungi that are woodland specialists, so these should be avoided. They are also important carbon stores. The UK would require damaging levels of wood extraction to meet its energy demands through home-grown fuelwood.
- 6. Past grant schemes aiming to support woodland creation have rarely met annual planting targets due to social factors including bureaucracy, traditional perceptions of land management, and financial viability. Local, and regional participatory approaches are needed to negotiate around different objectives and build collective power for brokering public payments for nature-based solutions.

2. INTRODUCTION

The world's woodlands could play a significant part in offsetting greenhouse gas emission (GHGs) in the next 20 years, providing humanity with GHG removal capacity to offset emissions in hard-to-decarbonise sectors^{1,2,3,4}. Woodlands already remove about 25% of anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions from the atmosphere at a global scale^{5,6}. If the international community halted deforestation, restored degraded forests and replaced lost woody cover, then woodlands could provide up to a quarter of the cost-effective climate mitigation required in the coming decade to stabilise warming to below 2 degrees Celsius⁷. The independent UK Committee on Climate Change (CCC) has recommended that tree cover is increased from 13% to at least 17%, existing woodlands are managed more effectively and agroforestry is encouraged⁸. The 25 Year Environment Plan also commits the UK to establish

new woodlands9. Ambitious woodland policies are often met with varying opinions as to the best approach, and in England this is highlighted by responses to the English Tree Strategy consultation. Confor, which represents the views of forestry businesses, urges large-scale commercial planting, facilitated by a simplified planning process¹⁰. In contrast, two environmental charities call for woodland cover to be doubled^{11,12}, while others emphasise that new woodlands could help reconnect nature¹³. This variety of opinions reflects the fact that woodlands can provide naturebased solutions (NbS) to multiple societal needs - including timber production, carbon drawdown, and improved mental health by connecting people with nature - and that various institutions have different priorities, each with varying implications.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

The UK's woodlands store large quantities of carbon (1.09 billion tonnes of carbon (t.C)) and currently sequester about 4.6% of the country's GHGs each year^{14,15}. This regulating service has been valued at £1.96 billion per year¹⁶. However, the forest carbon sink has steadily declined over the past 20 years¹⁴. There are broadly three ways to increase the UK's woodland carbon sink in future (Figure 1, based on¹⁷):

AFFORESTATION

Afforestation of farmland is effective at sequestering carbon in plant material, litter and soil. The UK is committed to planting 30,000 hectares (ha) of woodland per year by 2025, with each of the four countries having their own targets and support schemes. The CCC estimates that these new woodlands will sequester an additional 2 million tonnes of carbon dioxide per year (t.CO₂/

yr) by 2030. Simulation models suggest that planting 23,200 ha of new woodland annually for the next 40 years would eventually sequester an extra 12 million t.CO₂/yr (cf. 19 million t.CO₂/yr at present) but it would take until 2070 to reach that peak (Figure 1). An alternative to planting trees is to allow natural afforestation¹⁸. Diverse naturally established forests can accumulate carbon rapidly once sufficient trees have colonised a site¹⁹. However, the initial phase of woodland establishment is hit-and-miss, depending on the proximity of seed sources, the density of ground vegetation, and herbivory pressure²⁰, potentially delaying carbon drawdown by a decade or more²¹. Unless these issues are resolved (e.g. by assisting seed dispersal¹⁸, scarifying soil²², planting clusters of key trees²², and controlling herbivores²⁰), natural colonisation remains a risky approach to meet 2050 emissions targets.

PROTECTING EXISTING FORESTS

Protecting natural forests from being logged ("proforestation") is recognised internationally as an effective NbS for removing CO₂ from the atmosphere^{3,23,24,25}. Previously logged woodlands become major carbon sinks once protected and allowed to regenerate, and even after maturity can continue to accumulate carbon in dead wood and soils²⁶. However, historical deforestation has left the UK as one of Europe's least wooded countries^{17,27} and, while it is important to protect our remaining native woodlands, more trees need to be established to create a significant carbon sink (Figure 1). Increasing rotation lengths of commercial plantations also leads to carbon sequestration²⁸, but is not sufficient to meet emissions targets (Figure 1). However, there is also uncertainty about the permanence of woodland carbon stores (both native and exotic conifers), given risks of introduced pest and disease²⁹.

INCREASED PRODUCTION OF TIMBER AND OTHER WOOD PRODUCTS

The 6.5 million tonnes of wood that is harvested from UK woodlands annually meets only a small fraction of domestic demand⁸. The CCC has recommended that more native woodlands are brought into sustainable management to meet this demand³⁰. For instance, harvesting trees to produce fuelwood reduces carbon stocks in the woodlands themselves, but the fuelwood substitutes for fossil fuel so reduce emissions overall. A similar principle applies with timber production in commercial plantation: making more buildings from wood could significantly reduce emissions from the construction sector, as concrete production is a major emitter of CO₂³¹, so, maximising wood production can be beneficial for climate even if it comes at the expense of carbon storage in the plantations. Calculating the abatement potential of managed woodlands requires complex carbon accounting that transcends industrial sectors and tracks the persistence of harvested products through time, but these accounts are seldom available³². The simulation model indicates an additional 30% carbon sink once harvested wood is included (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Predicted impacts of different management interventions on the UK woodland carbon sink (adapted from the Read report of 2009¹⁷). The simulation models predicted the additional carbon sink resulting from the management interventions, compared with "business as usual". Three scenarios are presented: enhanced afforestation equating to 23,200 ha of new woodlands each year from 2010 to 2050 (red); reduced harvesting of forests to increase their carbon stocks (light green); and optimising rotations to maximise wood production (dark green). Note that simulations did not include the carbon sink that could arise from protecting naturally established woodlands from deer. Panel (a) gives the woodland sink (i.e. carbon stored in trees, soil and litter) while (b) gives total abatement - the woodland sink plus the carbon stored in harvested wood or consumed in place of fossil fuel. For comparison, the CCC estimates that an additional carbon sink of 17 million t.CO2/yr would be generated by 2050 if its recommendations are adopted.

The mitigation potential of UK forests is affected by three poorly quantified phenomena. First, conifer plantations absorb more solar radiation than deciduous broadleaf forests, and thereby warm the atmosphere³³. The large-scale transformation of Europe's broadleaved forests to conifer plantations over the past three centuries has contributed to global warming, largely counteracting the climate benefits of locking additional carbon in forest biomass and soils^{34,35}. Secondly, tree planting can reduce soil carbon stocks. About 70% of forest carbon is held in the soil³⁶, and site preparation typically releases carbon from stores³⁷, creating an initial "carbon debt" which needs to be repaid before management delivers any climate benefit^{38,39}. Trees also alter the quality of soil organic matter as they grow⁴⁰ with long-term consequences for carbon storage⁴¹. Thirdly, the removal of carbon from forest ecosystems via stream-water transport^{42,43} is poorly quantified. We recommend further research into these factors to refine predictions of carbon drawdown associated with woodland establishment and management.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Woodlands can provide climatic adaptation benefits for people, such as flood and erosion alleviation⁴⁴ (see *Chapter 6: Freshwater Systems* for analysis of tree planting impacts on flooding), but in order to do this, adaptive measures are needed to create forests and woodlands that will be resilient to future risks to continue providing NbS to society^{29,45,46}. Climate change may threaten woodlands by increasing the frequency of disturbance events that kill trees⁴⁷. Unlike other sectors, adaptive measures for forestry need to account for long time lags between tree establishment and maturity.

Three adaptations are key:

- a. Increase diversity (genetic and species): Species-rich ecosystems are typically more resilient to environmental threats because different species respond differently to stressors, thereby buffering the system as a whole⁴⁸. Native tree species are genetically diverse and thus have likely to enable adaptation and resilience to climate change; natural regeneration or locally sourced seed should continue to be a core component of future woodland creation when biodiversity conservation is a key objective⁴⁹. The Forestry Commission recommends including species and provenances with more southerly origins^{29,45,46}.
- **b.** Control pests and diseases: Significant barriers to forest adaptation include widespread tree mortality from pests and diseases, with

risks increasing due to reliance on imported plants²⁹. The UK Plant Health Risk Register currently includes approximately 300 pest and disease species likely to attack trees and pose a greater immediate risk to woodlands than climate change. Resistance strategies, such as integrated pest management practices, raising more planting stock in the UK, using natural establishment where possible, improving biosecurity to prevent the movement of contaminated water and soil, and increasing surveillance to catch outbreaks early, will reduce their likelihood and frequency. Engagement of the plant supply chain in the new Plant Health Management Standard and associated Certification Scheme will be an important mechanism to achieve this.

c. Improve structure: New woodlands, whether forestry plantations or new native woodland can be established with future diverse canopy and forest structure planned from the outset, to increase resilience to hazards⁵⁰. For example, planting in some areas can be delayed, fastgrowing species can be planted in mixtures with slower-growing species, and wider spacings can be used to allow some natural vegetation to establish or thinning regimes can be planned to ensure structural diversity develops with stand age and size⁵¹. It is harder to transform existing forests into continuous cover systems, but work is being done to develop successful techniques⁵².

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

BRINGING NATIVE WOODLANDS BACK INTO ACTIVE MANAGEMENT

The CCC recommends selective harvesting of what they consider to be "neglected" native woodlands to produce fuelwood and other wood products. Limited harvesting of overgrown woodlands creates structurally diverse canopies that favour groundlayer plant and tree regeneration^{53,54,55}. However, old trees and deadwood should be retained in managed woodlands, as they are immensely valuable for woodland specialist species^{53,54,55} and are nationally uncommon⁵⁶. Ancient woodlands are particularly valuable sites for veteran trees, deadwood and woodland specialists but occupy just 2.2% of the UK⁵⁷. Harvesting any veteran trees should be avoided as it takes many decades to accumulate woodland specialists in secondary woodlands^{58,59,60}. Other forms of sustainable management that can deliver benefits for nature include: harvesting nonnative conifers that were planted in 39% of ancient woodland sites in the twentieth century, creating opportunities for nature to recolonise; reducing or eliminating populations of deer and uncontrolled livestock which browse on seedlings and prevent regeneration from occurring, recognising that UK woodlands lack the predators that would have once kept these herbivores in check; clearing of invasive species, including Rhododendron ponticum, to enable natural regeneration processes to resume, and ground flora and epiphytes to re-cover^{53,54,55}.



INCREASING THE COVER OF NATIVE WOODLANDS

New woodland planting provides opportunities to create "more, bigger, better and joined" nature reserves⁶¹. In particular, there are opportunities to increase the resilience of the UK's network of 42,000 ancient woodlands (at least 250 years in Scotland or 400 years in other UK nations), which are predominantly less than five hectares in size and highly fragmented^{53,55,62}. Natural or assisted establishment is most appropriate when expanding native woodland for biodiversity conservation, as it produces a more diverse structure, with better matching of species to soil and topography, provided relevant species have seed sources in the area. Culling of deer in areas of the Scottish Highlands has led to the gradual return of pine and birch woodlands²⁰ and several "rewilding" projects have led to the return of open woody habitats once grazing pressure from domestic livestock is reduced, and, sometimes, wild pigs reintroduced to disturb the soil⁶³. Rewilding projects that return woody cover to agricultural landscapes have had some notable successes at restoring rare wildlife⁶³. Planting native woodlands on species-poor farmland increases local biodiversity over time^{49,53,54,64} and improves the connectivity of fragments⁶⁰. Woodlands imperil wildlife if allowed to establish on open habitats of high conservation value ("priority habitats"), such as lowland heathlands and species-rich grasslands⁶⁵, so these should be avoided. Local populations of native species are genetically diverse and locally sourced seed should usually be a core component of future tree planting when biodiversity conservation is a key objective⁴⁹, although there may be opportunities to diversify impoverished floras and expand the range of rare species by introducing species from further afield.

Photo 1: Natural establishment adjacent to remnant Caledonian Pine forest in a deer exclosure in Glen Affric, Scotland © Emily Warner

INCREASING THE COVER OF FORESTRY PLANTATIONS

Forestry plantations negatively impact biodiversity if planted into species-rich habitats^{66,67,68}. However, when planted into degraded agricultural land, they can benefit some organisms^{69,70}. Spatial planning

can reduce negative impacts⁷¹. For instance, protecting native woodland and herbaceous habitats near stream courses and retaining patches of old trees within the landscape can enhance opportunities for nature without compromising productivity and is a requirement under the UK Forestry Standard.

6. TRADE-OFFS where to plant trees

Afforesting high-quality arable land (i.e., Grade 1, 2 and 3a agricultural land) should be avoided, as it reduces the UK's capacity to produce food, leading to an even greater reliance on food imports which are linked to deforestation in the tropics, releasing CO₂ from those forests and destroying biodiversity hotspots72. Additionally, planting trees on productive land presents a major opportunity cost⁷³. However, there may be opportunities to establish groves of trees on steep, inaccessible or unproductive pockets within arable landscapes, and also in agroforestry, hedgerows, field margins and stream sides, without compromising food production⁷⁴. (see *Chapter 5: Arable Systems* for detailed discussion). Peri-urban woodlands also provide natural places for people to enjoy nature, and have a social value that outweighs any loss of arable land⁷³.

Establishing woodlands on low-biodiversity grasslands (Grades 3b or 4 agricultural land) offers the best prospect for large-scale afforestation. The Forestry Commission has identified five million ha of "low risk" land³⁰, while the Friends of the Earth's figure is 1.4 million ha, having screened out species-rich grassland and priority habitat for conservation¹¹. Even if further areas of priority habitats are discovered⁶⁵, there appears to be enough "rough grazing land" to double woodland cover. However, afforestation of these grasslands will not deliver climate benefits unless it is accompanied by a shift in diet away from meat and dairy products and/or greater productivity on the remaining land¹¹. This shift is necessary because without it, we would need to import additional meat and dairy products from overseas, with

knock-on consequences for land use change in other regions of the world (i.e., telecoupling⁷⁵). Afforestation of peatlands and organic-rich soils should be avoided. Afforestation requires improved drainage to achieve strong tree growth⁷⁶, but aeration accelerates microbial decomposition of the peat, releasing $\mathrm{CO}_{_{\! 2}}$ and generating a major initial carbon "debt" that takes years to repay through tree growth⁷⁷. Planting on peat that is deeper than 50 cm is now outlawed under the UK Forestry Standard, but planting on shallow peat continues, supported by evidence that these plantations can sequester carbon over the production cycle if the productivity is high enough. However, modelling suggests that peats should be avoided altogether to avoid damaging the soil, and that new plantations should be created in low-grade agricultural land instead⁷⁸. In one study, native birches and pines planted on organic soils were found to result in carbon loss from the soil which offsets carbon accumulation within living biomass, leaving no climate benefit of afforestation after 12 and 39 years⁴¹. Policies regarding the establishment of woodlands on carbon-rich soils (including moorlands and heathlands) may need refinement if further evidence emerges of adverse effects on the large stocks of carbon held belowground.

WHICH SPECIES TO PLANT

Successive governments have subsidised afforestation with non-native conifers, recognising that Sitka spruce and a handful of other conifers can deliver much greater volumes of merchantable timber than native woodlands^{71,79}. This has created a rural industry that employs 43,000 people in forest management and primary wood processing, providing timber and other wood products to a country heavily reliant on imports. However, several native broadleaf species store more carbon than introduced conifers across the drier and warmer parts of the UK^{19,28} [Morecroft, pers. comm.]; mixed-species planting that leads to oaks dominance through succession also results in more durable carbon stores than achievable by conifer plantations⁸⁰. There is currently little incentive for landowners to plant broadleaf woodlands, because carbon storage remains a public good, but the value of this service far exceeds the market value of timber¹⁶, and if that were reflected in government incentive schemes, then more broadleaf woodlands might be planted. The UK Forestry Standard provides a framework for more sustainable forestry, discouraging geometric plantings of single species in large even-aged blocks in favour of mixed systems including native species (at least five per cent)⁸¹. Broadleaved woodlands store about 29% of the carbon in UK forest biomass and could sequester significantly more if established over sufficient scales²⁸. Based on studies in Europe^{82,83,84}, mixed-species forests sequester carbon more rapidly than monocultures⁸⁵ and are more climate resilient⁴⁸, particularly in regions where climate imposes a strong limitation on wood production⁸⁶. We argue that any government subsidies intended for biodiversity conservation should be directed to native woodland creation and management, under the public money for public good principle.

RENEWABLE ENERGY VS. FOREST CARBON

Wood can be used to heat buildings and fuel electrical turbines, offering a substitute for fossil fuels⁸⁷. The UK would require afforestation on an unrealisable scale to meet the demands of its existing wood-powered stations domestically, let alone expand power production and large-scale afforestation with non-native species for energy production would be environmentally damaging or compete for land with food production^{88,89}. However, small-scale use of wood can potentially be environmentally sustainable, particularly if using thinnings and other waste products from forestry, native woodland and hedgerow management⁸⁷, and might be considered as NbS in some limited circumstances.

PAYING TO PROTECT TROPICAL Forests VS. Afforestation

Protecting natural tropical forests could deliver immediate climate benefits at a fraction of the cost of other climate mitigation activities⁹⁰, and benefit some of the billion people who rely on forests for their livelihoods⁸⁸, if governance and social justice issues can be resolved⁸⁹. However, international commitments to create new plantations in developing countries risk harming natural ecosystems and livelihood, without delivering climate benefits, if hastily implemented without due diligence²³.

7. HUMAN WELLBEING VALUE

Woodlands provide multiple services in addition to climate and biodiversity benefits, including timber and fibre production, water quality and green space for human wellbeing⁹¹. Natural capital accounts show that the non-market benefits of woodlands are about 12 times more valuable than the market benefits of wood production¹⁶. This calculation does not place a monetary value on biodiversity, but biodiversity underpins most natural capital elements.

CASE STUDY 1

Thetford Forest is a large commercial forest on the Norfolk/Suffolk border mostly planted with conifers between the 1920s and 1960s in an area of low-productivity sandy soil supporting arable fields, grasslands and heathlands. An analysis of a wide range of management options and ecosystem services has clarified the nuances between the trade-offs and synergies associated with different management techniques⁹². This led to recommendations for a landscape design that balances and maximises overall ecosystem service delivery, including some restoration of ecologically important heathland, rather than focus on a single benefit such as timber production⁹³.



Photo 2: Heathland in Thetford forest © Nick Macneill (<u>cc-by-sa/2.0</u>)

8. IMPLEMENTATION OF WOODLAND NBS

The prevailing political and policy context in the UK provides scope to turn the potential for NbS into practical action. With a focus on 'public money for public goods' and the need to replace the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP)⁹⁴, there are new opportunities to develop market-based approaches to catalyse change, recognising that woodland planting and ongoing management activities need to be commercially attractive.

There would be strong financial incentives to buffer ancient woodlands and 'integrate' large scale woodland projects into suitable upland landscapes if the social cost of the interlinked climate and biodiversity crises was reflected in the subsidies governments were willing to pay landowners for establishing and managing woodlands. This would have to be carried out as part of a managed transition away from existing farming practices. The total social value of carbon sequestered by UK woodland has been valued at £239/ha/yr, which is greater than the expected returns from timber production²⁷. Incentives to establish woodlands for carbon sequestration are currently too small to drive change on the scale required: only 266 projects have registered for the Woodland Carbon Code - a voluntary standard by which verified carbon credit can be produced

- since 2011, and these are predicted to sequester about 6.2 million t.CO₂ in total over their 100-years lifetime⁹⁵. This is relatively small given that the UK's emissions are currently 351 million t.CO₂ per year¹⁵. The government-backed Woodland Carbon Guarantee makes steps towards addressing this issue, offering landowners the chance to bid for guaranteed carbon payments to make tree planting a financially viable option.

It is widely recognised that research, policy, and practice must pay more attention to socio-ecological considerations to reconcile different objectives⁹⁶ which must be taken into consideration when planning woodland NbS. Past grant schemes aiming to support woodland creation have rarely met annual planting targets due to social factors including bureaucracy and traditional perceptions of land management, and because they have struggled to compete financially with other options. Research, as well as emerging partnerships in practice, support the development of local, landscape-scale, or regional participatory approaches. These partnerships enable negotiation around different objectives, collaboration across land ownership boundaries, and build collective power for brokering public payments for NbS, marketing of local products, and maintaining longterm monitoring. There is a need to support locally led partnerships which can identify the NbS of importance to their region, and how these should be delivered⁹⁷. Woods and forests can deliver considerable ecosystem services, including carbon sequestration, if carefully thought through, located and implemented.

REFERENCES

- Baccini, A., Goetz, S.J., Walker, W.S., Laporte, N.T., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J. Beck, P.S.A., Dubayah, R., Friedl, M.A., Samanta, S. and Houghton, R.A. (2012) Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature Climate Change*, 2, 182–185.
- Harris, N.L., Brown, S., Hagen, S.C., Saatchi, S.S., Petrova, S., Salas, W., Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V. and Lotsch, A. (2012). Baseline Map of Carbon Emissions from Deforestation in Tropical Regions. *Science*, 336, 1573– 1576.
- 3 Houghton, R.A., Byers, B. and Nassikas, A.A. (2015). A role for tropical forests in stabilizing atmospheric CO2. *Nature Climate Change*, 5, 1022–1023.
- 4 Werf, G., Morton, D.C., DeFries, R.S., Olivier, J.G.J., Kasibhatla, P.S., Jackson, R.B., Collatz, G.J. and Randerson, J.T. (2009). CO2 emissions from forest loss. *Nature Geoscience*, 2, 737–738.
- 5 FAO (2020) Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020 Key Findings. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8753en
- 6 Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P.E., Kurz, W.A., Phillips, O.L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S.L., Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Pacala, S.W., McGuire, A.D., Piao, S., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S. and Hayes, D. (2011). A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests. *Science*, 333, 988–994.
- 7 Griscom, B.W., Adams, J., Ellis, P.W., Houghton, R.A., Lomax, G., Miteva, D.A., Schlesinger, W.H., Shoch, D., Siikamäki, J.V., Smith, P., Woodbury, P., Zganjar, C., Blackman, A., Campari, J., Conant, R.T., Delgado, C., Elias, P., Gopalakrishna, T., Hamsik, M.R., Herrero, M., Kiesecker, J., Landis, E., Laestadius, L., Leavitt, S.M., Minnemeyer, S., Polasky, S., Potapov, P., Putz, F.E., Sanderman, J., Silvius, M., Wollenberg, E. and Fargione, J. (2017). Natural climate solutions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114, 11645–11650.
- 8 Committee on Climate Change (2019) Land use: Reducing emissions and preparing for climate change. UK Government; [online] Available at: https://www.theccc. org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducingemissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018-1. pdf [accessed: 12/03/21].
- 9 DEFRA (2018). A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment. [online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-yearenvironment-plan [accessed: 10/12/20].
- 10 Confor (2020). Action needed now to increase tree planting in England. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.confor.org.uk/news/latest-news/action-needed-now-to-increase-tree-planting-in-england/</u> [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 11 Friends of the Earth (n.d.). *Finding land to double tree cover*. [online] Available at: https://policy. friendsoftheearth.uk/insight/finding-land-double-tree-cover [accessed: 20/09/20].
- 12 Rewilding Britain (2020). *Rewilding and climate* breakdown: how restoring nature can help decarbonise the UK. [online] Available at: https://www. rewildingbritain.org.uk [accessed: 20/09/20].
- 13 Marsh, S. (2020). England Tree Strategy must deliver for climate, nature and people. Woodland Trust. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/</u> press-centre/2020/06/england-tree-strategy/ [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 14 Thomson, A., Buys, G., Moxley, J., Malcolm, H., Henshall, P. and Broadmeadow, M. (2017). *Projections of emissions*

and removals from the LULUCF sector to 2050. Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Bush Estate, Penicuik, Midlothian.

- 15 Committee on Climate Change (2019) Net Zero The UK's contribution to stopping global warming. UK Government. [online] Available at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Net-Zero-The-UKs-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming.pdf [accessed: 20/09/20].
- 16 UK Office of National Statistics (2020). Woodland natural capital accounts, UK: 2020. Office of National Statistics. [online] Available at: https://www.ons. gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/ woodlandnaturalcapitalaccountsuk/2020/previous/v1 [accessed: 20/09/20].
- 17 Read, D.J., Freer-Smith, P.H., Morison, J.I.L., Hanley, N., West, C.C. and Snowdon, P. (eds). (2009). Combating climate change – a role for UK forests. An assessment of the potential of the UK's trees and woodlands to mitigate and adapt to climate change. The synthesis report. Edinburgh: The Stationary Office. [online] Available at: https://woodforgood.com/assets/Downloads/ Combating%20Climate%20Change%20-%20a%20role%20 for%20UK%20forests.pdf [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 18 García, C., Espelta, J.M. and Hampe, A. (2020). Managing forest regeneration and expansion at a time of unprecedented global change. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 57, 2310–2315.
- 19 Cook-Patton, S.C., Leavitt, S.M., Gibbs, D., Harris, N.L., Lister, K., Anderson-Teixeira, K.J., Briggs, R.D., Chazdon, R.L. Crowther, T.W. Ellis, P.W., Griscom, H.P., Herrmann, V., Holl, K.D., Houghton, R.A., Larrosa, C., Lomax, G., Lucas, R., Madsen, P., Malhi, Y., Paquette, A., Parker, J.D., Paul, K., Routh, D., Roxburgh, S., Saatchi, S., van den Hoogen, J., Walker, W.S., Wheeler, C.E., Wood, S.A., Xu, L. and Griscom, B.W. (2020). Mapping carbon accumulation potential from global natural forest regrowth. *Nature*, 585, 545–550.
- 20 Tanentzap, A.J., Zou, J. and Coomes, D.A. (2013). Getting the biggest birch for the bang: restoring and expanding upland birchwoods in the Scottish Highlands by managing red deer. *Ecology and Evolution*, 3, 1890–1901.
- 21 Lamb, A., Green, R., Bateman, I., Broadmeadow, M., Bruce, T., Burney, J., Carey, P., Chadwick, D., Crane, E., Field, R., Goulding, K., Griffiths, H., Hastings, A., Kasoar, T., Kindred, D., Phalan, B., Pickett, J., Smith, P., Wall, E., zu Ermgassen, E.K.H.J. and Balmford, A. (2016). The potential for land sparing to offset greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture. *Nature Climate Change*, 6, 488–492.
- 22 Saha, S., Kuehne, C. and Bauhus, J. (2017) Lessons learned from oak cluster planting trials in central Europe. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 47, 139–148.
- 23 Lewis, S.L., Wheeler, C.E., Mitchard, E.T.A. and Koch, A. (2019) Restoring natural forests is the best way to remove atmospheric carbon. *Nature*, 568, 25–28.
- Mackey, B., Kormos, C.F., Keith, H., Moomaw, W.R., Houghton, R.A., Mittermeier, R.A., Hole, D. and Hugh, S. (2020). Understanding the importance of primary tropical forest protection as a mitigation strategy. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 25, 763-787.
- 25 Moomaw, W.R., Masino, S.A. and Faison, E.K. (2019). Intact Forests in the United States: Proforestation Mitigates Climate Change and Serves the Greatest Good. Frontiers in Forests and Global Change, 2, 182.
- 26 Luyssaert, S., Schulze, E-D., Börner, A., Knohl, A., Hessenmöller, D., Law, B.E., Ciais, P. and Grace, J. (2008).

Old-growth forests as global carbon sinks. Nature, 455, 213–215.

- 27 The Woodland Trust (2011). *The State of the UK's Forests, Woods and Trees: Perspectives from the sector.* [online] Available at: https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/ media/1827/state-of-uk-forests.pdf [accessed: 12/03/21].
- 28 Morison, J., Matthews, R., Miller, G., Perks, M., Randle, T., Vanguelova, E., White, M. and Yamulki, S. (2012). Understanding the carbon and greenhouse gas balance of forests in Britain. Forestry Commission Research Report. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh. i-vi, Pages 1-149. [online] Available at: https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/ research/understanding-the-carbon-and-greenhouse-gasbalance-of-forests-in-britain/ [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 29 DEFRA (2014). *Tree Health Management Plan*. [online] Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/307299/pb14167-tree-health-management-plan.pdf [accessed: 20/09/20].
- 30 Committee on Climate Change (2019). Net Zero Technical report. UK Government [online] Available at: https:// www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-technical-report/ [accessed: 10/03/21].
- Churkina, G., Organschi, A., Reyer, C.P.O., Ruff, A., Vinke, K., Liu, Z., Reck, B.K., Graedel, T.E. and Schellnhuber, H.J. (2020). Buildings as a global carbon sink. *Nature Sustainability*, 3, 269–276.
- 32 Hudiburg, T.W., Law, B.E., Moomaw, W.R., Harmon, M.E. and Stenzel, J.E. (2019). Meeting GHG reduction targets requires accounting for all forest sector emissions. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14, 095005.
- 33 Mykleby, P.M., Snyder, P.K. and Twine, T.E. (2017). Ouantifying the trade-off between carbon sequestration and albedo in midlatitude and high-latitude North American forests. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 44, 2493–2501.
- 34 Luyssaert, S., Marie, G., Valade, A., Chen, Y-Y., Njakou Djomo, S., Ryder, J., Otto, J., Naudts, K., Lansø, A.S., Ghattas, J. and McGrath, M.J. (2018). Trade-offs in using European forests to meet climate objectives. *Nature*, 562, 259–262.
- 35 Naudts, K., Chen, Y., McGrath, M.J., Ryder, J., Valade, A., Otto, J. and Luyssaert, S. (2016). Europe's forest management did not mitigate climate warming. *Science*, 351, 597–600.
- 36 Vanguelova, E.I., Nisbet, T.R., Moffat, A.J., Broadmeadow, S., Sanders, T.G.M. and Morison, J.I.L. (2013). A new evaluation of carbon stocks in British forest soils. *Soil Use* and *Management*, 29, 169–181.
- 37 Guo, L.B. and Gifford, R.M. (2002). Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 8, 345–360.
- 38 Fargione, J., Hill, J., Tilman, D., Polasky, S. and Hawthorne, P. (2008). Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. *Science*, 319, 1235–1238.
- 39 Paul, K.I., Polglase, P.J., Nyakuengama, J.G. and Khanna, P.K. (2002). Change in soil carbon following afforestation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 168, 241–257.
- 40 Cotrufo, M.F., Wallenstein, M.D., Boot, C.M., Denef, K. and Paul, E. (2013). The Microbial Efficiency-Matrix Stabilization (MEMS) framework integrates plant litter decomposition with soil organic matter stabilization: do labile plant inputs form stable soil organic matter? *Global Change Biology*, 19, 988–995.
- 41 Friggens, N.L., Hester, A.J., Mitchell, R.J., Parker, T.C., Subke, J-A. and Wookey, P.A. (2020). Tree planting in organic soils does not result in net carbon sequestration on decadal timescales. *Global Change Biology*, doi:10.1111/gcb.15229
- 42 Drake, T.W., Raymond, P.A. and Spencer, R.G.M. (2018).

Terrestrial carbon inputs to inland waters: A current synthesis of estimates and uncertainty. *Limnolology and Oceanography Letters*, 3, 132–142.

- 43 Chi, J., Nilsson, M.B., Laudon, H., Lindroth, A., Wallerman, J., Fransson, J.E.S., Klijun, N., Lundmark, T., Löfvenius, M.O. and Peichl, M. (2020). The Net Landscape Carbon Balance-Integrating terrestrial and aquatic carbon fluxes in a managed boreal forest landscape in Sweden. *Global Change Biology*, doi:10.1111/gcb.14983
- 44 Brown, I. (2020). Challenges in delivering climate change policy through land use targets for afforestation and peatland restoration. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 107, 36–45.
- 45 Natural England and RSPB (2019). *Climate Change Adaptation Manual - Evidence to support nature conservation in a changing climate.* 2nd Edition. York: Natural England.
- 46 Ray, D., Morison, J. and Broadmeadow, M. (2010). Climate change: impacts and adaptation in England's woodlands. Forest Research, Forestry Commission Research Note. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/</u> <u>documents/947/FCRN201.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].
- 47 IPCC (2019). Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In press. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/#</u> [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 48 Jucker, T., Bouriaud, O., Avacaritei, D. and Coomes, D.A. (2014). Stabilizing effects of diversity on aboveground wood production in forest ecosystems: linking patterns and processes. *Ecology Letters*, 17, 1560–1569.
- 49 Ennos, R., Cottrell, J., Hall, J. and O'Brien D. (2019). Is the introduction of novel exotic forest tree species a rational response to rapid environmental change? – A British perspective. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 432, 718–728.
- 50 LaRue, E.A., Hardiman, B.S., Elliott, J.M. and Fei, S. (2019). Structural diversity as a predictor of ecosystem function. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14, 114011.
- 51 Dieler, J., Uhl, E., Biber, P., Müller, J., Rötzer, T. and Pretzsch, H. (2017). Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe. *European Journal of Forest Research*, 136, 739–766.
- 52 Brang, P., Spathelf, P., Larsen, J.B., Bauhus, J., Boncčina, A., Chauvin, C., Drössler, L., García-Güemes, Heiri, C., Kerr, G., Lexer, M.J., Mason, B., Mohren, F., Mühlethaler, U.,Nocentini, S. and Svoboda, M. (2014). Suitability of close-to-nature silviculture for adapting temperate European forests to climate change. *Forestry*, 87, 492–503.
- 53 Kirby, K.J., Buckley, G.P. and Mills, J. (2017). Biodiversity implications of coppice decline, transformations to high forest and coppice restoration in British woodland. *Folia Geobotanica*. 52, 5–13.
- 54 Peterken, G. and Mountford E. (2017) *Woodland Development: A Long-term Study of Lady Park Wood.* CABI.
- 55 The Woodland Trust (2018). The current state of ancient woodland restoration. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/2018/07/current-stateof-ancient-woodland-restoration/</u> [accessed: 12/03/21].
- 56 Forest Research. (2021). What our woodlands, and tree cover outside woodlands, are like today; NFI inventory reports and woodland map reports. [online] Available at:

https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/ national-forest-inventory/what-our-woodlands-andtree-cover-outside-woodlands-are-like-today-8211-nfiinventory-reports-and-woodland-map-reports/ [accessed: 13/03/21].

- 57 Rackham O. (2020). The History of the Countryside: The Classic History of Britain's Landscape, Flora and Fauna. Phoenix Press.
- 58 Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Watts, K., Macgregor, N.A., Lopez-Gallego, Z. and Park, K.J. (2017). Species mobility and landscape context determine the importance of local and landscape-level attributes. *Ecological Applications*, 27, 1541–1554.
- 59 Fuller, L., Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Watts, K., Macgregor, N.A., Bitenc, K. and Park, K.J. (2018). Local-scale attributes determine the suitability of woodland creation sites for Diptera. Müller, J., editor. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55, 1173–1184.
- 60 Whytock, R.C., Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Watts, K., Barbosa De Andrade, P., Whytock, R.T., French, P., Macgregor, N.A. and Park, K.J. (2018). Bird-community responses to habitat creation in a long-term, largescale natural experiment: Birds and Habitat Creation. *Conservation Biology*, 32, 345–354.
- 61 Lawton, J.H., Brotherton, P.N.M., Brown, V.K., Elphick, C., Fitter, A.H., Forshaw, J., Haddow, R.W., Hilborne, S., Leafe, R.N., Mace, G.M., Southgate, M.P., Sutherland, W.J., Tew, T.E., Varley, J., and Wynne, G.R. (2010). *Making Space for Nature: a review of England's wildlife sites and ecological network*. Report to Defra.
- 62 Spencer, J.W. and Kirby, K.J. (1992). An inventory of ancient woodland for England and Wales. *Biological Conservation*, 62, 77–93.
- 63 Tree, I. (2018). *Wilding: The Return of Nature to a British Farm*. Pan Macmillan.
- 64 Burton, V., Moseley, D., Brown, C., Metzger, M.J. and Bellamy, P. (2018). Reviewing the evidence base for the effects of woodland expansion on biodiversity and ecosystem services in the United Kingdom. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 430, 366–379.
- 65 Field, R.H., Buchanan, G.M., Hughes, A., Smith, P. and Bradbury, R.B. (2020). The value of habitats of conservation importance to climate change mitigation in the UK. *Biological Conservation*. 248, 108619.
- 66 Brockerhoff, E.G., Jactel, H., Parrotta, J.A., Quine, C.P. and Sayer, J. (2008). Plantation forests and biodiversity: oxymoron or opportunity? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17, 925–951.
- 67 Carnus, J-M., Parrotta, J., Brockerhoff, E., Arbez, M., Jactel, H., Kremer, A. Lamb, D., O'Hara, K. and Walters, B. (2006). Planted Forests and Biodiversity. *Journal of Forestry*, 104, 65–77.
- 68 Stephens, S.S. and Wagner, M.R. (2007) Forest Plantations and Biodiversity: A Fresh Perspective. *Journal of Forestry*, 105, 307–313.
- 69 Crane, E. (2020). Woodlands for climate and nature: A review of woodland planting and management approaches in the UK for climate change mitigation and biodiversity conservation. Report to the RSPB. [online] Available at: <u>http://ww2.rspb.org.uk/Images/Forestry</u> and climate change report Feb 2020_tcm9-478449.pdf [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 70 Øyen, B-H. and Nygaard, P.H. (2020). Impact of Sitka spruce on biodiversity in NW Europe with a special focus on Norway – evidence, perceptions and regulations. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 35, 117–133.
- 71 Paquette, A. and Messier C. (2009) The role of plantations in managing the world's forests in the Anthropocene. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8, 27–34.
- 72 Cuypers, D., Peters, G., Prieler, S., Geerken, T.,

Karstensen, J., Fisher, G., Gorissen, L., Hizsnyik, E., Lust, A. and Van Velthuizen, H. (2013). *The impact of EU consumption on deforestation: Comprehensive analysis of the impact of EU consumption on deforestation*. European Commission. Report No.: Technical Report - 2013 - 063. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/ forests/pdf/1.%20Report%20analysis%20of%20impact.pdf [accessed: 13/03/21].

- 73 Bateman, I.J., Harwood, A.R., Mace, G.M., Watson, R.T., Abson, D.J., Andrews, B., Binner, A., Crowe, A., Day, B.H., Dugdale, S., Fezzi, C., Foden, J., Hadley, D., Haines-Young, R., Hulme, M., Kontoleon, A., Lovett, A.A., Munday, P., Pascual, U., Paterson, J., Perino, G., Sen, A., Siriwardena, G., van Soest, D. and Termansen, M. (2013). Bringing ecosystem services into economic decision-making: land use in the United Kingdom. *Science*, 341, 45–50.
- 74 Woodland Trust (2020). *Emergency Tree Plan for the UK. How to increase tree cover and address the nature and climate emergency*. [online] Available at: https://www. woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/47692/emergency-tree-plan. pdf [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 75 Liu, J., Hull, V., Batistella, M., DeFries, R., Dietz, T., Fu, F., Hertel, T.W., Izaurralde, R.C., Lambin, E.F., Li, S., Martinelli, L.A., McConnell, W.J., Moran, E.F., Naylor, R., Ouyang, Z., Polenske, K.R., Reenberg, A., de Miranda Rocha, G., Simmons, C.S., Verburg, P.H., Vitousek, P.M., Zhang, F. and Zhu, C. (2013) Framing Sustainability in a Telecoupled World. *Ecology and Society*, 18, doi:10.5751/ ES-05873-180226
- 76 Linderholm, H.W. and Leine, M. (2004). An assessment of twentieth century tree-cover changes on a southern Swedish peatland combining dendrochronoloy and aerial photograph analysis. *Wetlands*, 24, 357–364.
- 77 Vanguelova, E., Chapman, S., Perks, M., Yamulki, S., Randle, T., Ashwood, F. and Morison, J. (2018). Afforestation and restocking on peaty soils – new evidence assessment. Report to ClimateXChange, Scotland. [online] Available at: <u>https://www. climatexchange.org.uk/media/3137/afforestation-andrestocking-on-peaty-soils.pdf</u> [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 78 Matthews, K.B., Wardell-Johnson, D., Miller, D., Fitton, N., Jones, E., Bathgate, S., Randle, T., Matthews, R., Smith, P. and Perks, M. (2020). Not seeing the carbon for the trees? Why area-based targets for establishing new woodlands can limit or underplay their climate change mitigation benefits. *Land Use Policy*, 97, 104690.
- 79 Sing, L., Metzger, M.J., Paterson, J.S. and Ray, D. (2018). A review of the effects of forest management intensity on ecosystem services for northern European temperate forests with a focus on the UK. *Forestry*, 91, 151–164.
- 80 Körner C. (2017). A matter of tree longevity. Science. 355, 130–131.
- 81 Forestry Commission (2017). *The UK Forestry Standard*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>publications/the-uk-forestry-standard</u> [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 82 Baeten, L., Bruelheide, H. and van der Plas, F. (2019). Identifying the tree species compositions that maximize ecosystem functioning in European forests. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56, 733-744
- 83 van der Plas, F., Ratcliffe, S., Ruiz-Benito, P., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C. *et al.* (2018). Continental mapping of forest ecosystem functions reveals a high but unrealised potential for forest multifunctionality. *Ecology Letters*, 21, 31–42.
- 84 Jonsson, M., Bengtsson, J., Gamfeldt, L., Moen, J. and Snäll, T. (2019) Levels of forest ecosystem services depend on specific mixtures of commercial tree species. *Nature Plants*, 5, 141–147.
- 85 Vilà, M., Carrillo-Gavilán, A., Vayreda, J., Bugmann,
H., Fridman, J., Grodzki, W., Haasem J., Kunstler, G., Schelhaas, M. and Trasobares, A. (2013). Disentangling biodiversity and climatic determinants of wood production. *PLoS One*, 8, e53530.

- 86 Jucker, T., Avăcăritei, D., Bărnoaiea, I., Duduman, G., Bouriaud, O. and Coomes, D.A.A. (2016). Climate modulates the effects of tree diversity on forest productivity. *Journal of Ecology*, 104, 388–398.
- 87 Sathre, R. and O'Connor, J. (2010). Meta-analysis of greenhouse gas displacement factors of wood product substitution. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 13, 104–114.
- 88 Vira, B., Wildburger, C., Mansourian, S. (2015). Forests and Food: Addressing Hunger and Nutrition Across Sustainable Landscapes. Cambridge: Open Book Publishers.
- 89 Seymour F. (2020). Seeing the Forests as well as the (Trillion) Trees in Corporate Climate Strategies. One Earth, 2, 390–393
- 90 Stern, N. (2007). *The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 91 Bateman, I.J., Perino, G., Harwood, A., Hulme, M., Kontoleon, A., Munday, P., Pascual, U., Paterson, J., Sen, A., Siriwardena, G., Termansen, M., Abson, D., Andrews, B., Crowe, A., Dugdale, S., Fezzi, C., Foden, J., Hadley, D. and Haines-Young, R. (2014). The UK National Ecosystem Assessment: Valuing Changes in Ecosystem Services 1. In: Helm, D. and Hepburn, C., eds., *Nature in the Balance: The Economics of Biodiversity*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, Pages 79–97. doi:10.1093/ acprof:oso/9780199676880.003.0005
- 92 Tew, E.R., Simmons, B.I. and Sutherland, W.J. (2019). Ouantifying cultural ecosystem services: Disentangling the effects of management from landscape features. *People and Nature*, 1, 70–86.
- 93 Tew, E.R. (2019). Forests of the future: ecosystem services in a forest landscape facing significant changes. PhD. University of Cambridge. doi:10.17863/CAM.45285
- 94 Hardaker A. (2018). Is forestry really more profitable than upland farming? A historic and present day farm level economic comparison of upland sheep farming and forestry in the UK. *Land Use Policy*, 71, 98–120.
- 95 Forest Research (2020). Provisional Woodland Statistics 2019. [online] Available at: https://www.forestresearch. gov.uk/documents/7212/PWS_2019.pdf [accessed: 13/03/21].
- 96 Mori, A.S., Lertzman, K.P and Gustafsson, L. (2017). Biodiversity and ecosystem services in forest ecosystems: a research agenda for applied forest ecology. Cadotte, M., editor. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54, 12–27.
- 97 Grove, J.M. and Pickett, S.T.A. (2019). From transdisciplinary projects to platforms: expanding capacity and impact of land systems knowledge and decision making. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 38, 7–13.

HEATHLANDS

Authors: Isabel Alonso¹ Bethany Chamberlain² Jaime Fagúndez³ David Glaves¹ Mike Smedley⁴

- 1 Natural England.
- 2 British Ecological Society.
- 3 University of A Coruña.
- 4 NatureScot.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Heathlands are successional habitats that store high levels of carbon, mainly in the soil.
- 2. Most types of heathlands require regular management to maintain their structure, function and characteristic assemblage of species which can conflict with climate mitigation initiatives (e.g. planting trees or allowing natural succession).
- 3. Any active climate mitigation initiatives need to consider the resulting changes in biodiversity, including losses of heathland specialists and other open ground species.
- 4. Soil disturbance as a result of management actions can increase carbon emissions from the soil stock, thus soil conservation and minimal disturbance is the best mitigation tool against carbon emissions from the ecosystem.
- 5. Heathlands undergoing shrub or tree encroachment may release carbon into the atmosphere from the soil, which will not be offset by the growing shrubs or trees for decades.
- 6. Removing conifers from afforested heathland may result in some carbon emissions but will benefit the soil carbon stores and heathland biodiversity in the long term.
- 7. Creating heathland from ex-arable land will result in increased carbon sequestration in soils and vegetation.
- 8. Some grazing can have a positive effect on habitat quality, but it can increase greenhouse gas emissions depending on the species and breeds.
- 9. Restoring degraded heathland (e.g. overgrazed and transformed into grassland), will also result in increased carbon sequestration in soils and vegetation.
- 10. In the uplands a reduction in grazing levels on heathlands and more careful targeting of habitats suitable for burning would result in increased carbon sequestration.

2. INTRODUCTION

In the United Kingdom heathlands characterised by heathers (shrubs of the Ericaceae family) are found in the lowlands and uplands. They may also contain bare ground, grassy patches, bryophytes and lichens and generally have a limited cover of trees and bracken^{1,2}. Heather-dominated vegetation on deep peat, in coastal situations or on mountain tops, including blanket bog, alpine heath and moss heath³, are beyond the scope of this chapter. Further information on the potential for naturebased solutions (NbS) in peatlands can be found in *Chapter 3*.

Heathlands occur in mostly acidic and nutrientpoor soils and show transitions from dry to wet types on a variety of substrates from mineral soils to shallow peat^[1]. In the UK, although ecologically they are a continuum, there is a management-based division between upland and lowland heathlands and these face different threats respectively, for example, under-management in the lowlands and livestock overgrazing and overburning in the uplands¹⁰.

Although the post-glacial wildwood would have had heathy areas, heathlands expanded and were exploited by people over centuries^{4,5}. The area covered by heathland in the UK has declined significantly, particularly since 1945; the areas that remain have suffered declines in habitat quality and species losses⁶. Despite the need for regular management to maintain the characteristic openness of this habitat, people often see them as natural or even wild places, particularly in the uplands.



Figure 1: (Left) Lowland Heathland (Dersingham Bog NNR, Norfolk ©Isabel Alonso, NE); (right) Upland heathland (Stanage Edge, Derbyshire ©David Glaves, NE)

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

Most of the carbon in heathland ecosystems is in the soil (ONS 2020⁷: 98% in soils versus 2% in vegetation). Organic soils (soils with greater than 60% organic matter⁸) contain the largest amount of carbon^{9,10} but mineral soils can also be as important carbon stores^{11,12}. Thus, soil conservation and minimal disturbance is the best mitigation tool against carbon emissions from the ecosystem.

The main studies looking at soil carbon content in the UK group together "moor and heath"^{13,9}. These studies include a variety of soil types with a wide range of carbon content, likely including degraded blanket bog with a high cover of heathers which falls outside the definition of "heathlands".

[1] Sites with deep peat (at least 0.3 m in England or over 0.5 m in Scotland), are considered blanket bog, even if the aboveground vegetation is dominated by heathers⁵⁸. Blanket bog will be considered in the *Chapter 3*.

However, the values for carbon stocks in heathland soil from the literature that we do have are similar and range from 82 to 103 tonnes of carbon per hectare (t.C/ha)^{13,7}. Figures for carbon content of the heathland vegetation component are more variable (from 0.5 to 49 t.C/ha), probably reflecting the varied conditions of the experimental sites. The higher figure is for an uncommon situation: an upland site fenced and unmanaged for 25 years¹⁴. As a result, it is currently difficult to extrapolate the impact of management on the carbon stores of particular soils. Further studies comparing mineral and organic soils, across a range of geographical locations, in the uplands and lowlands, would fill a significant evidence gap.

MANAGEMENT IMPACTS AND CARBON SEQUESTRATION

3.1 TREE AND SCRUB MANAGEMENT ON HEATHLANDS

Evidence indicates that trees growing on heathlands do not necessarily lead to significant gains in carbon stocks^{27,34}. One study indicated that natural afforestation in the uplands only resulted in an additional 3 tonnes of carbon dioxide per hectare per year (t.CO₂/ha/yr) ³⁴(Figure 2). Further, research demonstrated that planting trees in upland heath reduced carbon sequestration and increased emissions due to changes in the soil and biodiversity losses^{15,16}. Tree planting in East Anglian heaths also reduced soil carbon by approximately 0.6 t.CO₂/ha/yr in 21 years¹⁴ (Figure 2).

Trees growing on wetter heathland soils, either planted or regenerating naturally, can increase carbon emissions from the soils, not compensated by the increase in the carbon stored in wood¹⁷. A study has shown that that planting trees on 2000 ha of coastal heath in Norway could result in 1.5 t.CO₂ sequestered in 50 years, but these heaths already have 0.9 t.CO₂ in the soil now and, for comparison, the Norwegian national emissions just from oil extraction are 51.3-55.0 t.CO₂¹⁸. Therefore, on balance trees will only sequester a proportionally small amount of carbon but would damage the biodiversity of an existing habitat with important carbon stores in the soil. Further research also indicates that the carbon storage of open habitats (grasslands, heathlands and wetlands) has traditionally been underestimated and tree planting may not render the carbon sequestration results expected¹⁹. See *Chapter 1*: Woodlands for further discussion.

Reconnecting heathland patches by removing

conifer plantations can result in carbon emissions²⁰, as does removing scrub and trees from neglected heathlands^{20,34} but both interventions benefit heathland specialist species²¹. Furthermore, halting the natural growth of trees on most heathlands to maintain or enhance condition and cater for species characteristic of open heathland involves grazing, removing vegetation regularly and/or creating bare ground, which involves trade-offs with carbon fluxes.

In summary, there may be trade-offs between achieving the conservation objectives for heathlands and their characteristic species, and achieving climate mitigation objectives through afforestation³⁴. Soil disturbance as a result of management actions can increase carbon emissions from the soil stock and should be minimised. The widespread natural growth of trees and scrub on heathlands should be controlled to help retain existing heathland soil carbon stocks and cater for heathland species characteristic of open and diverse vegetation structure. Open habitats, including grasslands and heathlands, particularly those in a degraded state, will be lost if tree planting is not carefully planned²². This highlights the need to conduct detailed environmental assessments at sites ahead of implementing potential NbS in order to minimise the risk of adverse outcomes.

3.2 RESTORATION FROM GRASSLAND

Heathlands that have changed into poor-quality grasslands as a result of increases in nutrient availability or inappropriate management^{23,24} should be restored as they can store more carbon with an ericaceous cover^{25,26,27}.

Restoring upland heathlands can be achieved by adjusting grazing pressure, reducing inappropriate burning and clearing bracken²⁸. Lowland heathland restoration, from degraded grassland or former agricultural grasslands, can include methods such as topsoil removal to reduce nutrient loads or chemically amending the soil to reduce the pH (for example through the addition of sulphur) to help establish ericaceous cover²⁹. However, there may be unintended consequences after these drastic interventions, such as soil or archaeological damage³⁰ or increased availability of toxic elements such as aluminium³¹ or impacts on invertebrates³², which needs a site-specific restoration plan. Adding seeds³³ or plant plugs to the soil can sometimes be necessary too.

For example, one study²⁵ found that degraded upland heathland that changed into grassland had slightly larger vegetation carbon stocks (1.8 t.C/ ha more) but much smaller soil carbon stocks (13.8 t.C/ha less) than the target heathland habitat (12 and 102 t.C/ha respectively) so overall, the system had lost carbon by being in poor condition. On the other hand, restored heathland had similar vegetation carbon content to the target heathland (only 0.1 t.C/ha less) and the soil carbon stock was only slightly smaller (1.9 t.C/ha less).

Overall, where heathlands are degraded and change into grasslands, their soil carbon stocks are significantly lower than good quality heathland habitats. Therefore, where possible, management practises should aim to restore heathlands to their target heathland habitat condition to improve carbon stocks.

2.3 BURNING

Burning has been traditionally used to manage heathland vegetation but heathlands change from carbon sinks to sources when burned due to reduced photosynthesis^{34,35} and increased emissions, especially if the fire takes place in summer (Figure 2). However, it is possible that controlled fires on upland heathland that do not damage the organic soil layer and do not have an underlying peat layer could be carbon neutral³⁶, though this depends on burn intensity, severity and rotation length³⁷. Longer burning cycles, smaller proportions burnt annually, avoiding peat soils (for further information, see *Chapter 3*: *Peatlands*) and burning under appropriate burning conditions based on good practice can help to reduce carbon emissions from burning heaths^{38,39,40}. Less frequent burning and on smaller areas can also help improve the habitat condition, by producing a more diverse vegetation structure².

Careful controlled burning of heathland can be carried out to achieve biodiversity objectives, but needs to follow good practice (Heather and Grass Burning and Muirburn Codes).



Figure 2: Summary of the impacts of typical heathland interventions on **C fluxes (t.CO₂/ha/yr)**. After ⁽¹⁾Ouin et al. (2015), ⁽²⁾Sozanska-Stanton et al. (2016), ⁽³⁾Carey et al. (2016), ⁽⁴⁾Morison et al (2012). V= vegetation; S= soil; DSH= Dwarf Shrub Heath (general data for both upland and lowland, or unspecified). Maintenance here means light grazing by livestock and deer, no burning²⁶. Background emissions (e.g. through bacterial oxidation) were calculated from field studies following IPCC methods for sites across Wales and Scotland³⁴.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Both lowland and upland heathlands have been described as having a "Medium" sensitivity to climate change⁴¹. Heathlands are sensitive to changes in hydrology and the potential increase in the extent and frequency of fires due to projected higher temperatures and more frequent severe droughts. Also, heather beetle outbreaks could potentially increase in numbers in response to warmer winters⁴². These factors coupled with increased nutrient availability (e.g. through atmospheric nitrogen deposition from fossil fuel burning and intensive farming) could result in unpredicted and unwanted changes in the vegetation composition and structure (e.g. increased biomass^{43,44}) which could affect the current biodiversity of the habitat. Increased nitrogen deposition does however lead to increased carbon sequestration in the litter and organic horizons until a point of saturation⁴⁴ and managing the heather to maintain it at a young growth stage (building phase) maximises carbon sequestration⁴⁴.

Both upland and lowland heathlands are likely to suffer a deterioration in condition and change into other habitat types as a result of changes in climate. In the lowlands, this is likely to involve a change from lowland heathland to acid grassland. Meanwhile, upland heath vegetation is expected to become more similar to that of lowland heath³⁹. Drought can result in increased CO_2 emissions in wet heaths: carbon in soils decreased 60% with experimentally induced drought in just two months^{45,39}.

Enabling heaths to adapt to climate change will be necessary to enable them to continue to act as a NbS. Reducing other pressures such as recreational disturbance and atmospheric nitrogen deposition and continuing appropriate management may help heathland sites adapt to climate change⁴¹. Tree cover, particularly native broadleaves (e.g. birch or pedunculate oak) and in Scotland, native Caledonian pine, could be allowed to grow in some areas, particularly ecotones, to provide some heterogeneity in the landscape. However, to reduce the loss of heathland species and maintain favourable condition, tree cover should be kept below 15% in lowland heathlands¹ and below 20% (scattered native trees and scrub) in upland heathlands².

In a changing climate, appropriate management of heathlands can help to: conserve soil, especially organic soil which accumulates carbon; reduce the impact of flooding and wildfires; increase biodiversity, especially of characteristic heathland species (e.g. solitary bees and wasps); and provide connections with nature which can be enjoyed by all^{1,2,40,46}.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

Historically, heathlands have been home to a wide range of species. Today in England alone, lowland heathlands are home to 133 priority species and upland heathland to 35, most of which require bare ground and short vegetation (Figure 3), which can only be provided by active management²¹. Conversely, less than a third of these species require scrub or wood-edge. Therefore, neglect or afforestation would benefit very few heathland species and would be detrimental to the majority. It has been suggested that "dynamic scrub" (i.e. scrub developing in some areas for a few years before being controlled), in particular including birch, willow, gorse and hawthorn, without becoming dominant or developing into large blocks should be encouraged²¹.

Large-scale habitat mosaics could potentially support more priority species⁴⁷ although some priority species require very specific conditions or management (e.g. heavy grazing and soil disturbance and/or ungrazed nectar sources and/or scrub). On the other hand, reductions in intensity of management, especially grazing, and mixed grazing with cattle or ponies can contribute to restoration and reduce fragmentation of upland heathland and associated large-scale habitat mosaics⁴⁸ (see Case Study 1 below) to the benefit of some scarce and declining upland species^{49,50}.

Figure 3: Percentage of UK priority species that occupy particular niches/habitats in lowland heathlands 21 \odot Isabel Alonso.

6. TRADE-OFFS

There may be a temptation to try and address the climate emergency by proposing potentially quick fixes, such as planting trees extensively, or allowing natural succession towards woodland, including on heathlands. However, as shown above, open habitats are important for specialised biodiversity and, in the case of heathlands, important carbon stores. As mentioned previously, tree planting without due environmental assessments, as happened last century and still happens today, can not only damage or destroy valuable wildlife habitats on heathlands, but also result in the opposite of the intended outcome: carbon emissions when planting on organic, wet



soils. Carbon sequestration in wood may take years to compensate for these emissions³⁴.

No single land use management practice will result in significant carbon sequestration on heathlands, but various management approaches have other considerable benefits, for example positive impacts on heathland biodiversity⁵¹ or maintaining soil carbon stocks⁵². Research by Thomas *et al.* (2013) has found that "strategies focussed solely on protecting carbon stores were largely inadequate for protecting biodiversity, but when carbon and biodiversity value were given joint priorities, up to 90% of both could be protected"⁵³.

7. ASSESSMENT OF THE QUALITY OF THE EVIDENCE

There has been some research in the last two decades on the impact of management on the carbon fluxes of dwarf shrub heath habitats. However, the information available is still limited. Studies show a large range of results, a reflection of the heterogeneity of the habitat as a result of climate, geography, history, management and conservation status.

Although the above information can be used to assess the likely impact of management interventions in terms of carbon emissions or sequestration, it is difficult to apply directly to specific sites. More studies are needed covering the range of the geographical distribution of heathlands, particularly more experimental studies looking at vegetation on different soil types.

8. CONCLUSION

In summary, NbS in heathland habitats should primarily aim to retain as much carbon *in situ* as possible, and at the same time benefit the heathlands' biodiversity. This should include appropriate heathland management that:

- Control the widespread natural growth of trees and scrub on heathlands to help retain the existing heathland soil carbon stocks and cater for heathland species characteristic of open and diverse vegetation structure. Any removal of trees must be conducted in a way that least disturbs the soils to preserve soil carbon stocks.
- Restore heathlands that have changed into poor-quality grasslands to target heathland habitat condition to help sequester more carbon and enhance heathland biodiversity.
- Strictly follow good practice (e.g. Heather and Grass Burning and Muirburn Codes) with regards to burning of heathland and avoids burning that could damage organic soil layers beneath vegetation.

Simultaneously, NbS can also facilitate the adaptation of heathlands to future climate scenarios. To capitalise on this, alongside the recommended management practices above, management of heathlands should also include:

- Blocking artificial drainage present to increase water retention in heathlands and avoid wet heaths drying out and releasing more carbon³⁵. This has the added public benefit of reducing the risk of flooding downstream.
- Increasing the area, and especially width, of firebreaks to reduce the risk of catastrophic wildfires under drought conditions. On sandy soils, these bare and sparsely-vegetated open areas will also provide valuable habitat for many invertebrates²¹ and notable vertebrate species such as sand lizards⁵⁴
- Promoting the use by wild or semi-wild herbivores in heathland areas to prevent woodland encroachment and biomass accumulation.

Overall, heathland habitats are important for specialised biodiversity and, act as important carbon stores with the potential to facilitate adaptation to climate change. Therefore, heathlands should be managed in order to maximise these co-benefits and to function effectively as a NbS.

CASE STUDY 1: UPLAND HEATH RESTORATION UNDER AGRI-ENVIRONMENT AGREEMENTS AT WINSFORD ALLOTMENT, EXMOOR

The site is a moorland allotment covering 108 ha in South Exmoor Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Prior to 1993, it was the subject of an overgrazing investigation due to year-round sheep grazing and out-wintered cattle. This resulted in high mean stocking rates (SR) (0.33 Livestock Units (LU)/ha in summer and 0.68 LU/ha in winter) and a short 'grass-moor' sward (Photo 1).



Photo 1: Aerial photograph of 'grass-moor'dominated Winsford Allotment, June 1992 (ADAS, © Crown copyright⁵⁵).

It entered an Environmentally Sensitive Area (ESA) agreement in 1993 under a moorland restoration tier. Grazing was reduced to summer only sheep (0.10 LU/ha) with none in winter. In 2010, it entered a Higher Level Stewardship agreement with a revised summer only mixed sheep and cattle SR range of 0.09–0.15 LU/ha. The restorable heath area was restricted to *c*.45 ha on the plateau, with acid grassland, bracken and scrub grading to woodland on the slopes. The ESA agreement resulted in restoration of the plateau to heather-dominated dry and wet heath over ten years⁵⁵ (Photo 2) with recovery continuing in 2014^{56} .





Photo 2: Restored heath on Winsford Allotment plateau, September 2003 (© David Glaves).

This was reflected in a rapid decline in the mean percentage of grazed heather shoots (88% in 1993 to 10% in 1996) and a more gradual overall increase in heather cover (overall cover from 5% in 1993 to 35% in 2014 and from 10% to 60% in quadrats with heather present, Figure 4). Mean dwarf-shrub height also increased from 5 cm in 1993 to 23 cm by 2003 and 48 cm by 2014. There were also corresponding increases in bracken and scrub on the slopes, and in breeding skylark and linnet numbers. The heath met all dry heath condition assessment targets in 2014 (in \geq 90 of samples), apart from for number of indicator species, probably attributable to slow recovery from the historically high grazing levels.

Figure 4: Change in percentage of heather shoots grazed and heather cover at Winsford Allotment plateau 1993–2014. Data from Darlaston & Glaves (2004) and ADAS & Natural England (2017).

Other moorland restoration work, including rewetting of wet heath, more widely across Exmoor has resulted in wider ecosystem service benefits including reduced storm water flow and improved water quality in watercourses draining moorland catchments⁵⁷. Information regarding the restoration of peatlands, which is outside the scope of this chapter, can be found in *Chapter 3*.

REFERENCES

- JNCC (2009a) Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Lowland Heathland, Version February 2009, Peterborough: JNCC. ISSN 1743-8160 [online]. Available at: <u>https://data.jncc.gov.uk/data/cea45297-15af-46b7-8bf4-935d88b0a30a/CSM-LowlandHeathland-2009.pdf</u> [accessed: 09/03/2021].
- 2 JNCC (2009b) Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Upland Habitats, Version July 2009, Peterborough: JNCC. ISSN 1743-8160 [online]. Available at: <u>https://data.</u> jncc.gov.uk/data/78aaef0b-00ef-461d-ba71-cf81a8c28fe3/ <u>CSM-UplandHabitats-2009.pdf</u> [accessed:09/03/21].
- 3 Gimingham, C.H. (1972). *Ecology of heathlands*. London: Chapman and Hall.
- 4 Webb, N. (1986) *Heathlands: A natural history of Britain's lowland heaths.* London: Collins, Page 223.
- 5 Fuller, R.J., Williamson, T., Barnes, G. and Dolman, P.M. (2017). Human activities and biodiversity opportunities in pre@industrial cultural landscapes: relevance to conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54, 459-469.
- 6 Van der Wal, R., Bonn, A., Monteith, D., Reed, M., Blackstock, K., Hanley, N., Thompson, D., Evans, M. and Alonso, I. (2011). *Chapter 5: Mountains, Moorlands and Heaths, in: UK National Ecosystem Assessment: Technical Report.* Cambridge: UNEP-WCMC.
- 7 Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2016). UK Natural Capital: Experimental carbon stock accounts, preliminary estimates. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/</u> environmentalaccounts/bulletins/uknaturalcapital/ experimentalcarbonstockaccountspreliminaryestimates [accessed: 11/03/21].
- 8 The James Hutton Institute. *Organic Soils*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.hutton.ac.uk/learning/</u> <u>exploringscotland/soils/organicsoils</u> [accessed: 05/01/21].
- 9 Cantarello, E., Newton, A.C. and Hill, R.A. (2011). Potential effects of future land-use change on regional carbon stocks in the UK. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 14, 40-52.
- 10 Alonso, I., Weston, K., Gregg, R., Morecroft, M. (2012) Carbon storage by habitat - Review of the evidence of the impacts of management decisions and condition on carbon stores and sources. Natural England Research Reports, Number NERR043. Natural England.
- 11 De Vos, B., Cools, N., Ilvesniemi, H., Vesterdal, L., Vanguelova, E. and Carnicelli, S. (2015). Benchmark values for forest soil carbon stocks in Europe: Results from a large scale forest soil survey. *Geoderma*, 251-252, 33-46.
- 12 Aitkenhead, M.J. and Coull, M.C. (2016). Mapping soil carbon stocks across Scotland using a neural network model. *Geoderma*, 262, 187–198.
- 13 CS2007 Countryside Survey: England Results from 2007 (published September 2009). NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Natural England, 119pp. (CEH Project Number: C03259).
- 14 Morison, J., Matthews, R., Miller, G., Perks, M., Randle, T., Vanguelova, E., White, M. and Yamulki, S. (2012). Understanding the carbon and greenhouse gas balance of forests in Britain. Edinburgh: Forestry Commission Research Report.
- 15 Mitchell, R.J., Campbell, C.D., Chapman, S.J., Osler, G.H.R., Vanbergen, A.J., Ross, L.C., Cameron, C.M. and Cole, L. (2007). The cascading effects of birch on heather moorland: a test for the top-down control of an ecosystem

engineer. Journal of Ecology, 95, 540-554.

- 16 Friggens, N.L., Hester, A.J., Mitchell, R.J., Parker, T.C., Subke, J.-A. and Wookey, P.A. (2020). Tree planting in organic soils does not result in net carbon sequestration on decadal timescales. *Global Change Biology*, 26, 5178-5188.
- 17 Brown, I. (2020). Challenges in delivering climate change policy through land use targets for afforestation and peatland restoration. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 107, 36–45.
- 18 Lee, H., Guri Velle, L., Althuizen, I., Haugum, S. and Vandvik, V. (2019). Soil carbon storage of coastal heathlands in Norway under different management practices. 16th European Heathland Workshop.
- 19 Bartlett, J., Rusch, G.M., Kyrkjeeide, M.O., Sandvik, H. and Nordén, J. (2020). Carbon storage in Norwegian ecosystems. NINA Report 1774. Trondheim: Norwegian Institute for Nature Research.
- 20 Warner, D., Tzilivakis, J. and Lewis, K. (2008). *Research into the current and potential climate change mitigation impacts of environmental stewardship (BD2302)*. Report to Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra).
- 21 Webb, J.R.; Drewitt, A.L.; Measures, G.H. (2010) Managing for species: integrating the needs of England's priority species into habitat management. Natural England Research Reports, Number NERR024, Natural England.
- 22 Natural Capital Committee (NCC) (2020). Advice on using nature based interventions to reach net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. London: Defra.
- 23 Alonso, I., Hartley, S.E. and Thurlow, M. (2001). Competition between heather and grasses on Scottish moorlands: interacting effects of nutrient enrichment and grazing regime. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 12, 249–60.
- 24 Condliffe, I. (2009). Policy change in the uplands. In: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubaceck, K & Stewart, J (Eds) *Drivers of environmental change in uplands*. London: Routledge, Pages 59–89.
- 25 Quin, S.L.O., Artz, R.R.E., Coupar, A.M., Littlewood, N.A. and Woodin, S.J. (2014). Restoration of upland heath from a graminoid- to a Calluna vulgaris-dominated community provides a carbon benefit. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 185, 133-143.
- 26 Quin, S.L.O., Artz, R.R.E., Coupar, A.M. and Woodin, S.J. (2015). Calluna vulgaris-dominated upland heathland sequesters more CO2 annually than grass-dominated upland heathland. *Science of the Total Environment*, 505, 740–747.
- 27 Thomas, A., Cosby, B.J., Henrys, P., Emmett, B. (2020) Patterns and trends of topsoil carbon in the UK: Complex interactions of land use change, climate and pollution. *Science of the Total Environment*, 729, 138330.
- 28 Maskell, L., Jarvis, S., Jones, L., Garbutt, A. and Dickie, I. (2014). *Restoration of natural capital: review of evidence*. Report to Natural Capital Committee.
- 29 A., Green, I. and Evans, D. (2011). Heathland Restoration Techniques: Ecological Consequences for Plant-Soil and Plant-Animal Interactions, *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2011, 8 pages.
- 30 Hawley, G., Anderson, P., Gash, M., Smith, P., Higham, N., Alonso, I., Ede, J. and Holloway, J. (2008). Impact of heathland restoration and re-creation techniques on soil characteristics and the historic environment. Natural England Research Reports, Number NERR010. Natural

England.

- 31 Tibbett, M., Gil-Martínez, M., Fraser, T., Green, I.D., Duddigan, S., De Oliveira, V.H., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Sizmur, T. and Diaz, A. (2019). Long-term acidification of pH neutral grasslands affects soil biodiversity, fertility and function in a heathland restoration, *CATENA*, 180, Pages 401-415.
- 32 Vogels, J.J., Verberk, W.C.E.P., Lamers, L.P.M. and Siepel, H. (2017). Can changes in soil biochemistry and plant stoichiometry explain loss of animal diversity of heathlands?, *Biological Conservation*, 212, Part B, Pages 432-447.
- 33 Shellswell, C.H., Chant J.J., Alonso, I., Le Bas, B., Edwards, J. and Parton, C. (2016). Rehabilitation of existing lowland heathland - timescales to achieve favourable condition. Salisbury: Plantlife Technical Report.
- 34 Sozanska-Stanton, M., Carey, P.D., Griffiths, G.H., Vogiatzakis, I.N., Treweek, J., Butcher, B., Charlton, M.B., Keenleyside, C., Arnell, N.W., Tucker, G. and Smith, P. (2016). Balancing conservation and climate change – a methodology using existing data demonstrated for twelve UK priority habitats. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 30, 76–89.
- 35 Grau-Andrés, R., Gray, A., Davies, G.M., Scott, E.M. and Waldron, S. (2019). Burning increases post-fire carbon emissions in a heathland and a raised bog, but experimental manipulation of fire severity has no effect. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 233, 321-328.
- 36 Legg, C. and Davies, M. (2009). What determines fire occurrence, fire behaviour and fire effects in heathlands? In: Alonso, I. (ed.) Proceedings of the 10th National Heathland Conference – Managing Heathlands in the Face of Climate Change, 9-11 September 2008, York, UK. Natural England Commissioned Report 014. Pages 45-55.
- 37 Glaves, D.J., Morecroft, M., Fitzgibbon, C., Leppitt, P., Owen, M. and Phillips, S. (2013). The effects of managed burning on upland peatland biodiversity, carbon and water. Natural England Evidence Review, NEER004. Sheffield: Natural England.
- 38 Douglas, D.J.T., Buchanan, G.M., Thompson, P., Amar, A., Fielding, D.A., Redpath, S.M. and Wilson, J.D. (2015). Vegetation burning for game management in the UK uplands is increasing and overlaps spatially with soil carbon and protected areas. *Biological Conservation*, 191, 243-250.
- 39 Carey, P.D., Griffiths, G.H., Vogiatzakis, I.N., Butcher, B., Treweek, J., Charlton, M.B., Arnell, N.W., Sozanska-Stanton, M., Smith, P. and Tucker, G. (2016). *Priority Habitats, Protected Sites and Climate Change: Three Investigations to Inform Policy and Management for Adaptation and Mitigation.* DEFRA CR0439.
- 40 Grau-Andrés, R., Davies, G.M., Gray, A., Scott, E.M. and Waldron, S. (2018). Fire severity is more sensitive to low fuel moisture content on Calluna heathlands than on peat bogs. *Science of the Total Environment*, 616-617, 1261-1269.
- 41 Natural England and RSPB (2020). *Climate Change Adaptation Manual - Evidence to support nature conservation in a changing climate*, 2nd Edition. [online] Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u> <u>file/5805611654840320</u> [accessed: 09/03/21].
- Gillingham, P., Diaz, A., Stillman, R. and Pinder, A.C.
 (2015). A desk review of the ecology of heather beetle. Natural England Evidence Review, Number 008.
- Britton, A. J., Pakeman, R. J., Carey, P. D. and Marrs, R. H. (2001). Impacts of climate, management and nitrogen deposition on the dynamics of lowland heathland. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 12, 797–806.
- 44 Field, C.D., Evans, C.D., Dise, N.B., Hall, J.R. and Caporn,

S.J.M. (2017). Long-term nitrogen deposition increases heathland carbon sequestration. *Science of the Total Environment*, 592, 426–435.

- Gorissen, A., Tietema, A., Joosten, N.N., Estiarte, M., Peñuelas, J., Sowerby, A., Emmett, B.A. and Beier, C. (2004). Climate Change Affects Carbon Allocation to the Soil in Shrublands. *Ecosystems*, 7, 650-661.
- 46 Glaves, D.J., Crowle, A.J.W., Bruemmer, C. and Lenaghan, S.A. (2020). The causes and prevention of wildfire on heathlands and peatlands in England. Natural England Evidence Review NEER014. Peterborough: Natural England.
- 47 Dolman, P.M., Panter, C.J. and Mossman, H.L. (2012). The biodiversity audit approach challenges regional priorities and identifies a mismatch in conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 49, 986–997.
- 48 Garnett, S., Selvidge, J., Westerberg, S., Ausden, M. and Thompson, P. (2019). RSPB Geltsdale – a case study of upland management. *British Wildlife*, August 2019, 409–417.
- 49 Calladine J., Baines D. and Warren P. (2002). Effects of reduced grazing on population density and breeding success of black grouse in northern England. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 39, 772–780.
- 50 MacDonald B. (2020) *Rebirding: Rewilding Britain and its Birds.* Pelagic Monographs.
- 51 Fagúndez, J. (2013). Heathlands confronting global change: drivers of biodiversity loss from past to future scenarios. *Annals of Botany*, 111,151-172.
- 52 Post, W.M., Izaurralde, R.C., West, T.O., Liebig, M.A. and King, A.W. (2012). Management opportunities for enhancing terrestrial carbon dioxide sinks. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 10, 554–61.
- 53 Thomas, C.D., Anderson, B.J., Moilanen, A., Eigenbrod, F., Heinemeyer, A., Quaife, T., Roy, D.B., Gillings, S., Armsworth, P.R. and Gaston, K.J. (2013). Reconciling biodiversity and carbon conservation. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 39–47.
- 54 Edgar, P. and Bird, D. R. (2006). Action Plan for the Conservation of the Sand Lizard (Lacerta agilis) in Northwest Europe. Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats.
- 55 Darlaston, M. and Glaves, D.J. (2004). Effects of Exmoor ESA Moorland Restoration Tier on heather condition and extent at Winsford Allotment, 1993–2003. Defra Rural Development Service, Starcross.
- 56 ADAS and Natural England (2017). Moorland habitat monitoring: A resurvey of selected moorland agrienvironment agreement sites. Site reports: 19 Winsford Allotment. Natural England.
- 57 Grand-Clement, E., Anderson, K., Smith, D.M., Luscombe, D., Gatis, N., Ross, M. and Brazier R.E. (2013). Evaluating ecosystem goods and services after restoration of marginal Upland peatlands in south-west England. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50, 324-334.
- 58 Joosten, H., Tanneberger, F. and Moen, A. (2017). Mires and peatlands of Europe: Status, distribution and conservation. Stuttgart: Schweizerbart Science Publishers, Page 779.

PEATLANDS

Authors:

Christian Dunn¹ Annette Burden² Bethany Chamberlain³ Sid Danek¹ Chris Evans² Chris Freeman¹ Rachel Harvey⁴ Sarah Proctor⁵ Jonathan Walker⁶

- 1 Bangor University.
- 2 UK Centre for Ecology and Hydrology.
- 3 British Ecological Society.
- 4 Snowdonia National Park Authority.
- 5 International Union for Conservation of Nature, UK Peatland Programme.
- 6 Swansea University.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Peatlands are the most carbon-dense terrestrial systems globally; they are home to rare species and support a highly distinctive biodiversity.
- 2. Many birds, mammals, invertebrates and plants found in peatlands are specialised to some degree, and therefore dependent on the existence of these habitats.
- 3. The United Kingdom's peatlands contain around 3,000 million tonnes of carbon. However, much of the UK's 2.6 million hectares of peatland is no longer actively sequestering carbon and estimates suggest that UK peatlands could be emitting 23 million tonnes of CO₂e annually.
- 4. It is possible to return a proportion of these degraded areas to peat-accumulating habitats, through restoration processes, which involves rewetting and revegetation. Improvement of peatlands in this way is a permitted practice for reducing greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) in any national GHG accounting systems, agreed by the International Panel on Climate Change.
- 5. Restoration and revegetation can slow the flow of water during some storm events and regulate catchment water flows during dry periods. Peatlands can also act as a nature-based solution for improved drinking water quality.
- 6. Trade-offs need negotiating between current land-uses and re-establishing and maintaining peatland ecosystems.

2. INTRODUCTION

Peatland ecosystems are wetland habitats with a substrate of semi-decomposed organic matter, or peat. More specifically an area is often considered to be a peatland if the substrate consists of over 30% organic matter to a depth of greater than 30 cm^{1,2,[1]}. Covering almost three million hectares (ha), existing peatlands make-up around 10% of the UK land area^{3,4,5,6} and consist of three main types: blanket bog, raised bog and fens⁶. They are the most carbon-dense terrestrial systems on the planet; they are home to rare species and support a highly distinctive biodiversity. In certain situations, they can help prevent the flooding of conurbations⁷ they influence water quality⁸, and have important historical and social connections⁹.

There is scope for the UK's peatlands to be used more widely as nature-based solutions (NbS) to mitigate and adapt to our changing climate and help biodiversity to recover. Fundamentally, it is clear that for the UK's bogs and fens to be utilised in such environmentally beneficial ways they must be kept in, or returned to, a healthy ecological state. They need to be kept wet - because peat only accumulates and stores carbon in the longterm because the organic matter is waterlogged - with appropriate vegetation growing on them, and the peat they contain must not be lost through erosion or anthropogenic removal. Although all peatlands have the potential to be a NbS, the location of the ecosystem, type, ecological quality or level of degradation and many other factors will determine the extent of each benefit and solution.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

Globally, northern peatlands (north of 45° North¹¹) have been estimated to store between 600 and 1,055 billion tonnes^{10,11} of carbon. This is twice the amount of carbon stored in the biomass of all the world's vegetation combined (including forests) despite only covering a tenth of the global forested area¹².

The UK's peatlands contain approximately 3,000 million tonnes of carbon $(t.C)^{13,14}$. However, much of the UK's 2.6 million hectares (ha) of peatland is no longer actively sequestering carbon^{5,15} and first estimates suggest that UK peatlands could be emitting 23 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent $(t.CO_2e)$ each year¹⁵. Not only is this equivalent to approximately half the amount released through the nation's agricultural sector^{[2]16}, but emissions from the extensive areas of peat soil subject to lowland arable agriculture currently make one of, if not the greatest, contributions to UK land-use carbon emission¹⁵.

This switch from a carbon sink to a source is mainly due to current and historic damage inflicted on peatlands through drainage, air pollution, fire, overgrazing, peat extraction for fuel and horticulture, and other land-use pressures^{17,5,18,19,20,21}. Indeed, only 20% of the UK's peatlands are considered in a "near-natural" state²². The remaining 80% have been modified as a result of past and present management^{18,5}, with some practices leading to loss or degradation of the peat ecosystem.

It is possible to return most of these degraded areas to peat-accumulating habitats through restoration processes, which involves rewetting and revegetating. Improvement of peatlands in this way is a permitted practice for reducing greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) in all national GHG accounting systems agreed by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in 2006, and methods for reporting peatland emissions and removals were described in detail

It is worth noting that there are a range of definitions of what constitute peatlands and 'deep peat' depending on the context.
 Based on total UK agricultural GHG emissions of approximately 45 million t.CO2e (Hopkins and Lobley, 2009).

in the IPCC 2013 Wetland Supplement²³. It has been estimated that peatland restoration can save between two and 19 t.C/ha/yr depending on the quality the peatland is restored to²⁴. The ability of peatlands to sequester carbon for millennial timeperiods has led to suggestions that they could be at the forefront of so-called "carbon farming" projects or new opportunities for sustainable farming on peat soils – termed 'paludiculture'^{25,26,27,28,29}.

Despite the consistent and rational desire for more long-term, wide-reaching and interdisciplinary research on peatland ecology, it is clear the management of peatlands offer a significant NbS to tackle rising GHGs. This is both in terms of minimising their current emissions of high levels of GHGs, and increasing their carbon sequestration potential, which although often combined, are two separate factors.

Programmes such as the Peatland Code (voluntary certification standard operating in a similar way to the established Woodland Carbon Code) and methods for active GHG removal could be utilised to maximise peatlands' role. However, financial and training support is needed to enable agencies and partnerships to develop projects and create management plans for validation under the Peatland Code to make them market ready.

In 2020 the Scottish Government announced a £250 million ten-year funding package to support the restoration of 250,000 ha of degraded peat by 2030³⁰. This is a positive step as, to ensure investment in peatland restoration is not undermined, land managers need to see policy reinforcing the view of peatlands as valuable assets to society. Future public funds (e.g. the £640 million Nature for Climate Fund and subsequently the Environmental Land Management schemes in England) should also be made available to support recovering and healthy peatlands, and contradictory initiatives that damage peatlands, such as expanding UK tree cover across peatland landscapes, should be avoided. See Chapter 10: Delivering Nature-based Solutions and Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment Options for Implementing Nature-based Solutions for further discussion.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Alongside acting as a major UK carbon store, peatlands can act as NbS to help adapt to a changing climate by acting as Natural Flood Management (NFM) systems. Although more research needs to be conducted to evaluate the full potential of peatlands across different catchments, it is clear that restoring (including the blocking of drainage ditches) and revegetating (through the re-introduction of Sphagnum moss) can slow the flow of water during some storm events^{6,7,31}. Areas of lowland wetland that are designed to flood during high river flows ('washlands') have formed part of the hydrological management of areas such as the East Anglian Fens for hundreds of years, helping to protect urban areas and farmland from flooding. The expansion of these areas, for example as part of restoration or paludiculture projects^[3], could increase resilience to more extreme flood events in future²⁹.

Peatland ecosystems that are in good condition are undoubtedly more resilient to climatic changes because they possess a number of responsive feedback processes, ranging from alteration of the peat-forming species composition³² to physical alteration of the peat body^{33,34}. This helps buffer many species of peatland wildlife against short- to medium-term changes. Waterlogged peatlands dominated by Sphagnum mosses could be a NbS for reducing damaging and GHG-producing wildfires, as they are potentially at lower risk of, and see lower severity and impact from, wildfires than both damaged, non-vegetated peatlands, and drier peatlands with a greater vegetative fuel load. Lower water levels lead to drying out of surface peat soils, a fuel in itself, and increasing domination by shrubby vegetation that has much greater amounts of flammable woody biomass³⁵.

[3] Biomass production on wet peatlands (Tan, Z.D., Lupascu, M. and Wijedasa, L.S. (2021) Paludiculture as a sustainable land use alternative for tropical peatlands: A review. Science of the Total Environment. 753). Some peat-climate models predict that a changing climate could reduce the climatic resilience of certain peatland types across the UK¹⁹. However, the presence of similar types much further south in Europe³⁶ suggests that such scenarios are unlikely in the foreseeable future, although the models do highlight the urgent need to restore UK peatlands to good ecological condition in order to ensure that the necessary mechanisms of resilience are in place.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

Peatlands are highly valued for their biodiversity, both at a national level as well as internationally. Some plant assemblages are better represented in UK peatlands than anywhere else worldwide³⁷. The UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP) lists upland flushes, fens and swamps, lowland raised bogs, blanket bog and lowland fens as Priority Habitats, due to their extent, and their lack of fragmentation^{37,38}.

The highly distinctive conditions created by most UK peatlands (water-logged, acidic, low nutrient^{39,40}) mean many species of birds (e.g. the golden plover and hen harrier), mammals, invertebrates and plants found in them are specialised to some degree, and therefore dependent on the existence of these habitats³⁷. Some of these species are regionally or nationally rare, such as the large heath butterfly and the swallowtail butterfly, which feeds on milk parsley and is restricted to the peatlands of the Norfolk Broads. Meanwhile peatlands form the main centre of distributions for all our carnivorous plants –

6. TRADE-OFFS

typically available from peat soils – the sundews (*Drosera* sp.) in particular being a source of considerable fascination for Charles Darwin⁴¹. Active bog is characterised in part by an abundance of bog moss – *Sphagnum*³⁷ which has a role in climate change mitigation and adaptation potential and is extensive across UK peatlands. *Sphagnum* is vital to the functioning of active peatlands and plays a large role in carbon sequestration, as well as helping moderate water flow³⁷. *Sphagnum*-dominated vegetation also suppresses methane release more effectively than vegetation dominated by vascular plants^{37,42} and therefore, *Sphagnum*-rich natural peatlands are likely to be beneficial in tackling climate change.

an adaptation driven by the low nutrient levels

There is therefore scope for the UK's peatlands to be used as a NbS to not only prevent the decline of rare and specialised species, but also to enhance biodiversity through improving or expanding peatland habitats.

The pressures facing upland bogs, raised bogs and lowland fens are different, but all currently have significant issues requiring agreement over the trade-off between current land-uses and reestablishing and maintaining peatland ecosystems.

For instance, the desire to expand the country's forest cover to meet Net Zero targets means some shallow upland peats could be targeted for treeplanting or forest management, schemes. Planting on peat that is deeper than 50 cm is now outlawed under the UK Forestry Standard, but planting on shallow peat continues, supported by evidence that these plantations can sequester carbon over the production cycle if the productivity is high enough. However, modelling suggests that peats should be avoided altogether to avoid damaging the soil, and that new plantations should be created in low-grade agricultural land instead⁴³ (see *Chapter 1: Woodlands* for further detail). Aside from potential tree planting initiatives, there are further pressures on these landscapes as our upland bog landscapes are targeted for windfarm developments, whilst sheep farming and grouse shooting practices can also alter their NbS capabilities.

There is discussion on the full effects of burning as a management practice on some peatlands, in particular upland bogs. Factors such as burn intensity, frequency, area covered, vegetation structure, time of year, and the degradation status of the peatland all play a part in the resulting changes to biodiversity and carbon sequestering ability of the peat following a burning programme. More studies, taking into account these aspects, need to be conducted to further understand the impacts of fire on a range of peatland habitats. However, the balance of evidence suggests that burnmanagement has a negative impact on peat carbon accumulation, and on this basis burning should be avoided on peatlands such as blanket bogs.

In the lowlands, the majority of the peatland area has been converted to agriculture, and while these areas are large sources of GHGs – and in some areas now below sea-level as a result of peat wastage - they also comprise some of the more important agricultural land in the UK. For example, the East Anglian Fens hold 50% of the Grade 1 agricultural land in England, contribute an annual £3 billion to the UK economy and 33% of England's fresh vegetables are grown there⁴⁴. Developing these highly productive areas from drained to sustainably managed, wetland peat soils will have major implications for their economic uses with a shift to wetland agriculture. This will change their contribution to national food supply, which needs to be factored into wider agricultural planning. Addressing this acute trade-off represents a major challenge for future UK peatland management

and is the focus of Defra's Lowland Agricultural Peatland Task Force in England.

There are issues in the lowland fens regarding the expansion of housing and general infrastructure, leading to disruption of catchment hydrologies for fen systems. Pressure from groundwater abstraction schemes leads to loss of groundwater for fen systems, and nutrient run-off from farming and urban activities is also a threat.

The realisation of the variety and impact of NbS provided by healthy peatland ecosystems - in particular carbon sequestration – will hopefully support their implementation, potentially with the aid of initiatives such as the Peatland Code (discussed further in Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment Options for Implementing Nature-based Solutions) and upcoming changes to agricultural payment schemes. Unfortunately, restoration and management practices of peatlands are often not as visible to the public as activities such as tree planting or river restoration, and some of the NbS provided by peats, such as removal and storage of GHGs, are not immediately obvious. Providing policymakers with a robust evidence-base and helping raise public awareness of the importance of peatlands is therefore essential if rational decisions on the necessary trade-offs are to be made.

7. HUMAN WELLBEING VALUE

Peatlands dominate the majority of the UK's National Parks and they are an integral – though often largely overlooked - part of the British countryside - being considered by many as one of the nation's few truly "wild" habitats. Indeed there are around 90 million visits a year to sites rich in peatlands, with people visiting for a variety of recreational activities, from the sedate to the extreme³⁷. Expansive peatland landscapes allow access to comparative wilderness which can boost physical and mental wellbeing⁶.

From a human health perspective, another benefit to having healthy peatlands is their ability to act as a NbS for improved drinking water quality. Around 70% of the UK's drinking water originates from upland catchments, many of which include peatland habitat^{45,46,47}. Peatlands do naturally produce water with a high concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), which requires treatment to remove. However, water from peatlands in good condition is often low in most other solutes, including nutrients, as well as inorganic sediments and particulate organic carbon (POC)⁴⁸. Draining of peatlands tends to further increase DOC and POC^{49,50}, as well as leading to the acidification of catchment waters, and mobilisation of toxic metals formerly locked within the peat^{51,52,53,54}. Water companies must then invest significant resources and energy in removing contaminants before the public drinks it⁵⁵ (see Case Study 3). Nevertheless, compared to many other water sources, water derived from good condition

peatlands requires relatively little treatment before it is deemed potable. Correct management of peatlands can therefore be beneficial for raw water quality and treatability⁴⁸ alongside other human benefits, such as natural flood management, which will be increasingly important under a changing climate.

Aside from this, our peatlands are windows to our past; both environmentally and culturally. The low decomposition rates found in peat mean that grains of pollen, remains of plants and invertebrates, and even – to a certain degree – DNA, are preserved, allowing a profiling of ecological conditions over thousands of years. The same preserving qualities ensure that peatlands are a treasure trove of archaeological finds from timbers and pottery, to fabrics and even human bodies. Our bogs and fens have also been an inspiration for countless artists and scholars throughout the centuries. Peatlands feature regularly throughout written, spoken and visual media, albeit often not in a positive light – think of Tolkien's Dead Marshes in Lord of the Rings or the Great Grimpen Mire (an actual place, albeit with a different name) in Conan Doyle's Hound of the Baskervilles. Indeed, peatlands have infiltrated our very language, again very often with negative connotations, "she's swamped with work", "I'm bogged down with this", yet these places were once highly revered, with objects of great beauty and value being placed within the peat as votive offerings until as late as the Iron Age.

CASE STUDY 1: WELSH PEATLAND SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PROJECT

Peatland covers approximately 21% of Wales⁶ and stores an estimated 196 million tonnes of carbon⁵⁶. Most of this peat is classed as shallow peat, but >90,000 ha (4.3% of the total land area) is deep peat (>40cm)⁵⁷. Over 70% of Welsh peatlands are negatively impacted by one or more land-use activity, and in their current condition are estimated to emit around 510 thousand t.CO₂e/yr. Most of these emissions (approximately 67%) are from peatland habitats converted to extensive or intensive grassland¹⁵, with a further 17% approximately emitted from peatlands converted to woodlands and approximately 15% from peatlands in a seminatural condition (Figure 1).

The Welsh Peatland Sustainable Management Scheme (SMS) project^[4] (2017-2021) aimed to reduce emissions from peatlands across Wales through over 670ha of peatland restoration. This project worked on a range of peatland types and condition categories, including >165ha of afforested peat and >500ha of grass-dominated peatlands across 14 sites in Wales through works including conifer plantation felling and invasive scrub removal, erosion gully and drainage channel blocking; reprofiling bare peat 'haggs' (see Figure 3) plus sustainable management of sites through introduction of appropriate grazing management and addressing conifer re-generation.

Funding is a limiting factor and whilst it is sometimes available for initial restoration works, further funding is required to maintain the recovery trajectories initiated by restoration and improved delivery of societal benefits that peatlands in good condition can provide. Funding for such ongoing management can be generated through payment for ecosystem services or carbon finance schemes such as the Peatland Code, a voluntary certification standard to market the climate benefits of peatland restoration. Through 'validating' the reduced carbon emissions at a site over a minimum of 30 years, the carbon that would otherwise have been lost (had the site not been restored) can be sold on the voluntary carbon market and funding generated put towards site maintenance and management to ensure good quality, wellfunctioning peatlands for decades to come. The Welsh Peatland SMS pioneered and innovated the use of the Peatland Code in Wales with five sites 'validated'.

[4] Welsh Peatland SMS is a £1 million Wales-wide partnership project funded by the Welsh Government and European Union to help achieve the Ministerial ambition of bringing all of Wales' peatlands into sustainable management by 2030.



Figure 1: Summary of peatland condition in Wales and relative greenhouse gas emissions (CO2, NH4, and N2O) from each condition state. 'Near-natural condition' includes peatlands in poor condition with the National Peatland Action Programme stating "it is estimated that no more than 10% by area of the near-natural and modified peatland resource is likely to be in favourable condition"⁵⁸.



Figure 2: Distribution of deep peat soils in Wales (>40cm, purple) and location of Welsh Peatland SMS Project restoration sites (stars): one is lowland raised bog site and the remainder upland blanket bogs sites, including four afforested sites. © Welsh Peatlands SMS Project



Figure 3: Reprofiling of bare and eroding peat 'Haggs' to enable vegetation establishment of these bare peat 'faces' and provide protection of the carbon store. Images: © Welsh Peatlands SMS Project

CASE STUDY 2: NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT BENEFITS OF PEATLAND RESTORATION

The expansive areas of bare peat covering the headwater catchment areas in the South Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation (SAC) have long been associated with increased overland flow and flashy response to rain events. There was a dearth of strong evidence but a long history of flooding. In 2009 Moors for the Future Partnership, in collaboration with the Universities of Manchester, Leeds and Durham, established a project to test the Natural Flood Management (NFM) benefits of the ecological restoration of bare and eroding blanket bog habitat in the South Pennine Moors SAC. The ecological restoration method included blocking deep erosion gullies using timber and stone dams and the revegetation of bare peat with a grass crop that provided temporary stabilisation of the peat mass and subsequent diversification

to a community typical of blanket bogs, supported through planting *Sphagnum* mosses, sedges and species of dwarf shrub (see Figure 4).

Four years after the restoration intervention, re-vegetation resulted in a 106% increase in the time from peak storm rainfall on the peatland headwater catchment to peak water flows leaving the same catchment relative to the control, and a 27% reduction in the peak flows from the catchment relative to the control⁶. These effects persisted in the most extreme rainfall conditions within the available dataset, albeit at a reduced level. There was also no change in the proportion of rainfall leaving the catchment in a storm associated with the restoration, indicating that the post-restoration reductions in peak flow and associated hydrograph changes are not attributable to increased catchment storage, but slowing of water flows.

Water flow velocities are slower through *Sphagnum* than through grass/sedge vegetation⁷. As *Sphagnum* becomes established, additional benefits are likely to be realised and will be evidenced. Research is ongoing with funding in place to continue until 2021, nine years post stabilisation and six years after *Sphagnum* application. Links:

Moors for the Future Partnership: Making Space for Water
 Project

https://www.moorsforthefuture.org.uk/our-work/ourprojects/making-space-for-water

- University of Manchester: NERC Protect Project <u>https://protectnfm.com/about/</u>
- Environment Agency: Working with natural processes to reduce flood risk https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workingwith-natural-processes-to-reduce-flood-risk
- Working with Natural Processes Evidence Directory [See: Headwater drainage management – link to a Moors for Future Partnership case study] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681411/ Working_with_natural_processes_evidence_directory.pdf
- IUCN UK Peatland Programme Commission of Enquiry: Peatlands and Natural Flood Management <u>https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/</u> default/files/header-images/Resources/COI%20 Catchments%20briefing.pdf



Figure 4: Before, and short-term recovery; After initial restoration works on blanket bog on the Pennine hills above Greater Manchester. Revegetating bare peat significantly slows the flow of surface water across, and from, peatland in this condition, helping to reduce downstream flood risk from storm events. Images: © Moors for the Future Partnership.

CASE STUDY 3: PEATLANDS IN NORTHERN IRELAND: GARRON PLATEAU

Approximately 12% of the land area of Northern Ireland is covered by peatland⁵⁹. However, even within designated sites, much of Northern Ireland's peatlands are in unfavourable condition⁵⁹ and only as little as 1% has been restored in the past 30 years⁶⁰.

The Garron Plateau in County Antrim is the largest area of blanket bog in Northern Ireland at 4,650 hectares⁵⁹ and supports a number of rare and notable plant and animal species⁶¹, including priority species like hen harriers and merlins⁵⁹. It is designated as a Special Area of Conservation and an Area of Special Scientific Interest (ASSI)^{59,61} due to the presence of blanket bog, lakes and fens among other features. Additionally, this landscape also provides drinking water for almost 12,000 homes and businesses in the local vicinity⁵⁹.

Historically this bog was drained and overgrazed which led to a fall in the water table, drying of the peatlands and erosion⁵⁹. Among other problems,

Northern Ireland Water (NIW) have since invested in restoring the site condition. Through the Cooperation Across Biodiversity Borders project, NIW have worked in partnership with the Northern Ireland Environment Agency and RSPB NI to undertake a variety of restoration activities to improve the site condition for nature, sequester carbon and improve water quality.

This work included reducing grazing densities⁶² and installing over 1,000 peat, wooden and stone dams to block drains at the Garron Plateau. The project has helped restore natural hydrological conditions and promote the colonisation by *Sphagnum* moss⁶², a core component of a functioning bog, and as the habitat is restored, a range of other plants and animals will benefit⁵⁹. Furthermore, as a result of this project, emissions of 1,992 tonnes of CO_2e annually will be avoided⁶⁰. There has also been an improvement in the raw water quality coming



Image 1: Garron Plateau. Image: © Darren Houston.

REFERENCES

- Lindsay R. and Andersen R. (2016). Peat. In: Finlayson C., Milton G., Prentice R. and Davidson N. (eds) *The Wetland Book*. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Joosten, H., Couwenberg, J., Moen, A. and Tanneberger, F. (2017a) Mire and peatland terms and definitions in Europe. In: Joosten, H., Tanneberger, F. and Moen, A. (eds) Mires and Peatlands of Europe – Status, Distribution and Conservation. Stuttgart: Schweitzerbart Science Publishers, 65–96.
- 3 Ellis, C.J. and Tallis, J.H. (2001). Climatic control of peat erosion in a North Wales blanket mire. *New Phytologist*, 152, 313-324.
- 4 Holden, J., Chapman, P.J. and Labadz, J.C. (2004). Artificial drainage of peatlands: hydrological and hydrochemical process and wetland restoration. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 28, 95-123.
- 5 Lindsay, R.A. and Clough, J. (2017). United Kingdom. In: Joosten, H., Tanneberger, F. and Moen, A. (eds.) *Mires and peatlands of Europe – Status, distribution and conservation*. Stuttgart: Schweitzerbart Science Publishers, 705-720.
- 6 International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Peatland Programme (2018). IUCN UK Peatland Strategy 2018-2040. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/default/files/2019-07/2018_UK%20Peatland%20Strategy_DIGITAL_6.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21]
- 7 Holden, J., Kirkby, M.J., Lane, S.N., Milledge, D.G., Brookes, C.J., Holden, V. and McDonald, A.T. (2008). Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands. *Water Resources Research*, 44, W06415.
- 8 Holden, J., Chapman, P.J., Palmer, S., Grayson, R. and Kay, P. (2012). The impacts of prescribed moorland burning on water colour and dissolved organic carbon: a critical synthesis. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 101, 92-103.
- 9 Rawlins, A. and Morris, J (2010). Social and economic aspects of peatland management in Northern Europe, with particular reference to the English case. *Geoderma*, 154, 242-251
- 10 Nichols, J.E. and Peteet, D.M. (2019). Rapid expansion of northern peatlands and doubled estimate of carbon storage. *Nature Geoscience*, 12, 917-921.
- 11 Alexandrov, G.A., Brovkin, V., Kleinen, T. and Yu, Z. (2020). The capacity of northern peatlands for long-term carbon sequestration. *Biogeosciences*, 17, 47-54.
- 12 Scharlemann, J.P.W., Tanner, E.V.J., Hiederer, R. and Kapos, V. (2014). Global soil carbon: understanding and managing the largest terrestrial carbon pool. *Carbon Management*, 5, 81-91.
- 13 Worrall, F., Chapman, P., Holden, J., Evans, C., Artz, A., Smith, P. and Grayson, R. (2010). *Peatlands and Climate Change*. Report to IUCN UK Peatland Programme, Edinburgh. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/default/files/Review%20 Peatlands%20and%20Climate%20Change%2C%20 June%202011%20Final.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].
- 14 RSPB (n.d.). *Repairing Nature's Carbon Store*. [online] Available at: <u>https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/</u> <u>fe3455a345bf45ce9b72d70ae75f933b</u> [accessed: 01/03/21].
- 15 Evans, C., Artz, R., Moxley, J., Smyth, M-A., Taylor, E., Archer, N., Burden, A., Williamson, J., Donnelly, D., Thomson, A., Buys, G., Malcolm, H., Wilson, D., Renou-Wilson, F. and Potts J. (2017). Implementation of an emission inventory for UK peatlands. Report to the

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Bangor. Page 88.

- 16 Hopkins, A. and Lobley, M. (2009). A Scientific Review of the Impact of UK Ruminant Livestock on Greenhouse Gas Emissions. A report for the NFU. [online] Available at: <u>https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/ handle/10036/65855/ReviewofimpactofUKlivestock. pdf?sequence=2</u> [accessed: 12/03/21]
- 17 Swindles, G.T., Morris, P.J., Mullan, D.J., Payne, R.J., Roland, T.P., Amesbury, M.J. et al. (2019). Widespread drying of European peatlands in recent centuries. *Nature Geoscience*, 12, 922–928.
- 18 Joint Nature Conservation Committee (2011). Towards an assessment of the state of UK peatlands. Peterborough: JNCC report no.445. [online] Available at: <u>http://jncc.</u> <u>defra.gov.uk/page-5861</u> [accessed: 08/03/21].
- Gallego-Sala, A.V., Clark, J.M., House, J.I., Orr, H.G., Prentice, I.C., Smith, P., Farewell, T. and Chapman, S.J. (2010). Bioclimatic envelope model of climate change impacts on blanket peatland distribution in Great Britain. *Climate Research*, 45, 151-162.
- 20 Moore P.D. (2002). The future of cool temperate bogs. Environmental Conservation, 29, 3–20.
- 21 Evans, C., Morrison, R., Burden, A., Williamson, J., Baird, A., Brown, E., Callaghan, N., Chapman, P., Cumming, A., Dean, H., Dixon, S., Dooling, G., Evans, J., Gauci, V., Grayson, R., Haddaway, N., He, Y., Heppell, K., Holden, J., Hughes, S., Kaduk, J., Jones, D., Matthews, R., Menichino, N., Misselbrook, T., Page, S., Pan, G., Peacock, M., Rayment, M., Ridley, L., Robinson, I., Rylett, D., Scowen, M., Stanley, K. and Worrall, F. (2017). Lowland peatland systems in England and Wales – evaluating greenhouse gas fluxes and carbon balances. Project code: Defra SP1210. [online] Available from: <u>http://tiny.cc/SP1210</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].
- 22 Bain, C.G., Bonn, A., Stoneman, R., Chapman, S., Coupar, A., Evans, M., Gearey, B., Howat, M., Joosten, H., Keenleyside, C. and Labadz, J. (2011). *IUCN UK Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands*. Edinburgh IUCN UK Peatland Programme.
- IPCC (2014), 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands, Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M. and Troxler, T.G. (eds). Switzerland: IPCC.
- 24 Organic Farmers and Growers (n.d.). *Peatland Code*. [online] <u>https://ofgorganic.org/certification/peatland-code</u> [last accessed: 12/01/21].
- 25 Freeman, C., Fenner, N., and Shirsat, A.H. (2012). Peatland geoengineering: an alternative approach to terrestrial carbon sequestration. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* A, 370, 4404–4421
- 26 Joosten H., Gaudig G., Tanneberger F., Wichmann S.A., Wichtmann W.E. (2016). Paludiculture: sustainable productive use of wet and rewetted peatlands. In: Bonn, A., Allott, T., Evans, M., Joosten, H. and Stoneman, R. (eds) *Peatland restoration and ecosystem services: science, policy and practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, British Ecological Society. Pages 339-357.
- Wichtmann, W., Schroder, C. and Joosten, H. (eds) (2016).
 Paludiculture productive use of wet peatlands: Climate protection – biodiversity – regional economic benefits.
 Schweizerbart Science Publishers, Stuttgart, Germany.
 (ISBN: 9783510652839)
- 28 Gaudig, G., Krebs, M., Prager, A., Wichmann, S., Barney, M., Caporn, S.J.M., Emmel, M., Fritz, C., Graf, M., Grobe,

A., Gutierrez Pacheco, S., Hogue-Hugron, S., Holzträger, S., Irrgang, S., Kämäräinen, A., Karofeld, E., Koch G., Koebbing, J.F., Kumar, S., Matchutadze, I., Oberpaur, C., Oestmann, J., Raabe, P., Rammes, D., Rochefort, L., Schmilewksi, G., Sendžikaitė, J., Smolders, A., St-Hilaire, B., van de Riet, B., Wright, B., Wright, N., Zoch, L. and Joosten, H. (2018). Sphagnum farming from species selection to the production of growing media: a review. *Mires and Peat*, 20, 1–30.

- 29 Mulholland, B., Abdel-Aziz, I., Lindsay, R., McNamara, N., Keith, A., Page, S., Clough, J., Freeman, B. and Evans, C. (2020). Literature Review: Defra project SP1218: An assessment of the potential for paludiculture in England and Wales. UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.
- 30 Scottish Government (2020). Securing a green recovery on a path to net zero: climate change plan 2018–2032 – update. Section 3.6.13. [online] Available at: <u>https://www. gov.scot/publications/securing-green-recovery-path-netzero-update-climate-change-plan-20182032/pages/12/ [accessed: 11/03/21]</u>
- 31 Shuttleworth, E.L., Evans, M.G., Pilkington, M., Spencer, T., Walker, J., Milledge, D. and Allott, T.E.H. (2019). Restoration of blanket peat moorland delays stormflow from hillslopes and reduces peak discharge. *Journal of Hydrology* X 2, 100006.
- 32 Barber, K.E. (1981). *Peat Stratigraphy and Climate Change: A palaeoecological test of the theory of cyclic peat bog vegetation.* Rotterdam: A.A.Balkema.
- 33 Morris, P.J., Belyea, L.R. and Baird, A.J. (2011). Ecohydrological feedbacks in peatland development: a theoretical modelling study. *Journal of Ecology*, 99, 1190-1201.
- 34 Bragg, O.M. (1995). Towards an Ecohydrological Basis for Raised Mire Restoration. In: B.D. Wheeler, S.C. Shaw, W. Fojt and R.A. Robertson (eds.). Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Pages 305-314.
- 35 McMorrow, J., Lindley, S., Aylen, J., Cavan, G., Albertson, K. and Boys, D. (2009). Moorland wildfire risk, visitors and climate change: patterns, prevention and policy. In: Bonn, A. (ed.), Allott, T.E.H. (ed.), Hubacek, K. (ed.) and Stewart, J. (ed.) *Drivers of Change in Upland Environments*. 1st ed., Abingdon: Routledge, Pages 404-431.
- 36 Chico, G., Clutterbuck, B., Clough, J., Lindsay, R., Midgley, N. G. and Labadz, J. C. (2020). Geo-Hydromorphological Assessment of Europe's Southernmost Blanket Bogs. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*. doi:10.1002/ esp.4927
- 37 Littlewood, N., Anderson, P., Artz, R., Bragg, O., Lunt, P. and Marrs, R., (2010). *Peatland biodiversity*. IUCN UK Peatland Programme, Edinburgh. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/Review%20Peatland%20Biodiversity%2C%20</u> <u>June%202011%20Final_1.pdf</u> [accessed: 11/03/21].
- 38 RSPB. Peatlands. [online] Available at: <u>https://www. rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-casework/ourpositions/agriculture-and-land-use/farming-land-use-andnature/peatlands</u>/ [accessed: 02/03/21]
- 39 Gorham, E., Lehman, C., Dyke, A., Janssens, J. and Dyke, L. (2007). Temporal and spatial aspects of peatland initiation following deglaciation in North America. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 26, 300-311.
- 40 Andersen, R., Chapman, S. J., and Artz, R. R. E. (2013). Microbial Communities in Natural and Disturbed Peatlands: A Review. Soil Biology and Biogeochemistry, 57, 979-994
- 41 Darwin, C. (1875) *Insectivorous Plants*. London: John Murray. 2009 ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 42 Lindsay, R. (2010) *Peatbogs and carbon: a critical* synthesis to inform policy development in oceanic peat bog conservation and restoration in the context of climate

change. London: University of East London.

- 43 Matthews, K.B., Wardell-Johnson, D., Miller, D., Fitton, N., Jones, E., Bathgate, S., Randle, T., Matthews, R., Smith, P. and Perks, M. (2020). Not seeing the carbon for the trees? Why area-based targets for establishing new woodlands can limit or underplay their climate change mitigation benefits. *Land Use Policy*, 97, 104690.
- 44 NFU (2019). *Delivering for Britain: Food and Farming in the Fens*. [online] Available from: <u>http://tiny.cc/NFU_DfB</u> [accessed:10/03/21].
- 45 Xu, J., Morris, P.J., Liu, J. and Holden, J. (2018). Hotspots of peatland-derived potable water use identified by global analysis. *Nature Sustainability*, 1, 246–253.
- 46 Van der Wal, R., Bonn, A., Monteith, D., Reed, M., Blackstock, K., Hanley, N., Thompson, D., Evans, M., Alonso, I, Allott, T., Armitage, H., Beharry, N., Glass, J., Johnson, S., McMorrow, J., Ross, L., Pakeman, R., Perry, S., Tinch, D. (2011). *Mountains, Moorlands and Heaths.* UK National Ecosystem Assessment. The UK National Ecosystem Assessment Technical Report. Cambridge: UNEP-WCMN, Pages 105–159.
- 47 Natural England (2010). England's Peatlands Carbon storage and greenhouse gases. [online] Available from: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u><u>file/6394909851910144</u> [accessed: 11/03/21].
- 48 Ritson, J.P., Bell, M., Brazier, R.E., Grand-Clement, E., Graham, N.J.D., Freeman, C., Smith, D., Templeton, M.R. and Clark, J.M. (2016). Managing peatland vegetation for drinking water treatment. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 36751.
- 49 Evans, C.D., Renou-Wilson, F. and Strack, M. (2016). The role of waterborne carbon in the greenhouse gas balance of drained and re-wetted peatlands. *Aquatic Sciences*. 78, 573–590
- 50 Brown, S.L., Goulsbra, C.S. and Evans, M.G. (2019). Controls on fluvial carbon efflux from eroding peatland catchments. *Hydrological Processes*, 33, 361-371.
- 51 Clark, J.M., Chapman, P.J., Adamson, J.K. and Lane, S.N. (2005). Influence of drought-induced acidification on the mobility of dissolved organic carbon in peat soils. *Global Change Biology*, 11, 791-809.
- 52 Daniels, S.M., Evans, M.G., Agnew, C.T. and Allott, T.E.H., (2008). Sulphur leaching from headwater catchments in an eroded peatland, South Pennines, UK. *Science of the Total Environment*, 407, 481-496.
- 53 Rothwell, J.J., Taylor, K.G., Chenery, S.R., Cundy, A.B., Evans, M.G. and Allott, T.E. (2010). Storage and behavior of As, Sb, Pb, and Cu in ombrotrophic peat bogs under contrasting water table conditions. *Environmental Science* & *Technology*, 44, 8497-8502.
- 54 Daniels, S.M., Evans, M.G., Agnew, C.T. and Allott, T.E.H. (2012). Ammonium release from a blanket peatland into headwater stream systems. *Environmental Pollution*, 163, 261-272.
- Martin-Ortega, J., Allott, T.E., Glenk, K. and Schaafsma, M. (2014). Valuing water quality improvements from peatland restoration: Evidence and challenges. *Ecosystem Services*, 9, 34-43.
- 56 Smith, P., Smith, J., Flynn, H., Killham, K., Rangel-Castro, I., Bente, F. et al. (2007). ECOSSE: Estimating Carbon in Organic Soils - Sequestration and Emissions: Final Report. Scottish Executive Environment and Rural Affairs Department. [online] Available at: <u>http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/</u> id/eprint/2233/1/Ecosse_published_final_report.pdf [accessed: 10/03/20].
- 57 Evans, C., Rawlins, B., Grebby, S., Scholefield, P. and Jones, P. (2015). *Glastir Monitoring & Evaluation Programme. Mapping the extent and condition of Welsh peat.* Welsh Government (Contract reference: C147/2010/11). NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (CEH Project: NEC04780)

- 58 Natural Resources Wales (2020). *National Peatland Action Programme*, 2020-2025. [online] Page 20. Available at: <u>https://cdn.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/media/692545/national-</u> <u>peatlands-action-programme.pdf</u> [accessed: 08/03/21]
- 59 Houston, D. Repairing Nature's Carbon Store; Case Study: Northern Ireland, Garron Plateau. [online] RSPB. Available at: <u>https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/ fe3455a345bf45ce9b72d70ae75f933b</u> [accessed: 01/03/21].
- 60 Campbell, B. (2020). Peatland restoration is vital if Northern Ireland is serious about a green recovery. [online] RSPB. Available at: <u>https://www.rspb.org.uk/</u> about-the-rspb/about-us/media-centre/press-releases/ peatland-restoration-is-vital-if-northern-ireland-is-seriousabout-a-green-recovery/ [accessed: 01/03/21]
- 61 Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs. *Garron Plateau ASSI*. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/protected-areas/garronplateau-assi#:~:text=The%20Garron%20Plateau%20 is%20the,enveloping%20blanket%20bog%20peat%20 mantle. [accessed: 01/03/21]</u>
- 62 Northern Ireland Water. *Garron Plateau Bog Restoration Project.* [online] Available at: <u>https://www.niwater.</u> <u>com/garron-plateau-bog-restoration-project/</u> [accessed: 01/03/21]

GRASSLANDS

Authors: Lisa Norton¹ Sarah McKain² Ruth Gregg³

Contributors:

Oliva Nelson⁴

- 1 UK Centre for Ecology and Hydrology
- 2 British Ecological Society
- 3 Natural England
- 4 Floodplain Meadows Partnership

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Over 40% of land cover in the United Kingdom (UK) is grassland. Currently, only 2% of the UK's grassland cover comprises of biodiverse carbon rich semi-natural grassland. Protecting this grassland is of high importance for biodiversity and avoided emissions.
- 2. Acid grasslands, predominantly found in the uplands, contain around 30% more soil carbon per unit area than other grassland types. Neutral (semi-improved) grasslands, richer in species than improved grasslands also contain marginally more soil carbon in the top 15cm of soil. Maintaining and improving species diversity in neutral grassland is critical for mitigating greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and increasing wider biodiversity.
- 3. Restoring permanent grassland via reversion from improved grassland or arable land, including the restoration of wet or chalk grasslands as part of a varied mosaic style landscape, can positively impact biodiversity and reduce GHG emissions. For example, figures from the UK Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) GHG inventory indicate that conversion of arable land to grassland has the potential for removing 8.72 million tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO_2) per hectare per year (t. CO_2 /ha/yr) across the UK.¹ In contrast, conversion of grassland to arable land can result in net emissions of 14.29 megatons (Mt. $CO_2e/ha/yr$)¹.
- 4. Further research is needed to identify optimal sward composition, structure and associated grazing practices for GHG mitigation and enhanced grassland biodiversity which fit with production needs on intensively managed grassland. Continuous set stocking may result in reduced carbon sequestration and biodiversity and associated impacts on ecosystem services, including water-holding capacity.
- 5. Some types of grassland may be suitable for carefully selected tree planting with native species, e.g. for agroforestry or wood pasture. Agroforestry has the potential to mitigate climate change through increased carbon sequestration in vegetation and soils, storing up to 63 tonnes of carbon per hectare in temperate regions.² However, a good understanding of site characteristics including vegetation communities, soil carbon at depth and hydrology is essential to avoid perverse outcomes.
- 6. As well as decreasing animal numbers overall, grazing by a diverse range of animals (e.g. sheep, cattle, horse, goats, alpaca) on the same pastures can also have positive effects on grassland sward diversity and resultant GHG emissions³. Shifts in grazing patterns, for example the adoption of rotational or mixed grazing, can also reduce emissions compared to continuous grazing⁴.

2. INTRODUCTION

Effectively managed healthy grassland ecosystems can provide vital environmental, social, cultural and economic benefits^{5,6,7}. Grassland covers almost 40% of the UK land area^{8,9} and is generally classified into lowland (below 350m) and upland types¹. The lowlands tend to be drier and less exposed than the generally wetter and cooler uplands¹⁰. Grasslands vary from intensively managed agriculturally improved grasslands and arable leys in lowland agricultural areas, through a range of semi-improved grasslands (usually ploughed and sown at some stage) to semi-natural grasslands on neutral, acidic and calcareous soils. Grazing pastures tend to be significant for both food production and the ecosystem functions and services which they provide, whilst meadows are primarily associated with production of the latter^{11,12}. Grasslands that are not cultivated and re-sown within five to seven years or more are generally defined as permanent grassland; those that are cultivated within this period are classified as temporary grassland^{13,14}.

Grasslands in the UK are almost entirely under agricultural management. Therefore the future design of Environmental Land Management Schemes (ELMS) (as currently being tested and trialled in England) and other devolved nations agri-environment schemes^{15,16}, which will replace the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) will play a crucial role in deciding the extent to which grasslands can fulfil their potential as nature-based solutions (NbS).

The future provision of ecosystem services⁵ and public goods from grasslands needs to be addressed through appropriate management interventions. Where possible this will create winwins for both food production and the provision of wider public goods. The following sections focus on human wellbeing, the biodiversity value of grasslands and practices that can help to address issues affecting climate change mitigation and adaptation, whilst ensuring effective management and maintaining food production.

3. HUMAN WELLBEING VALUE

Semi-natural grasslands are of significant cultural importance for the UK¹⁷. They cover such a large extent of our landscape, including areas of key importance for human access such as our National Parks¹². Twenty eight percent of UK National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) consist of semi-natural grasslands¹⁸. For example, the North Pennines in England which contain 40% of the UKs upland hay meadows. Grassland can deliver cultural, biodiversity and climate benefits for a region. For example, County Fermanagh in Northern Ireland has semi-natural, species rich wet grassland concentrated in the area, but is not designated as an AONB or National Park^{19,20}.

Grassland characterises many UK landscapes. For example, UNESCO world heritage sites and extensive areas of the Lake District²¹. National Parks are rated as important for human wellbeing by the UK public²². However, they are often criticised for failing biodiversity. This can be due to high visitor numbers and management practices and policies that focus on cultural landscape value^{23,24}. Despite sometimes damaging practices, like sheep overgrazing²⁵, grasslands remain important habitats for biodiversity. For example, they provide breeding sites for wading birds, such as Curlews which are in decline across the UK^{26,27}.



Diagram 1: Human wellbeing derived from nature-based solutions and the ecosystem services provided by grassland systems.²⁸

4. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

There was an estimated 97% loss of enclosed seminatural grasslands in England and Wales between 1930 and 1984, with only 2% of the remaining UK's current grassland area considered to have a high diversity¹². In lowland meadows and pastures up to 35 or more plant species may occur in a 2m x 2m sample, including a range of grasses and herbs, e.g., Knapweed (*Centaurea nigra*) and Bird's-foot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*) and in some meadows, rarer species like Snake's Head Fritillary (*Fritillaria meleagris*)^{18,29}. Well established lowland meadows provide excellent habitat for invertebrates, such as butterflies and other pollinating species, which has a direct value for food security³⁰.

Grasslands also provide important habitats for many British fungi that provide decomposition

benefits for the soil^{31,32}. Many species of fungi thrive in nutrient poor semi-natural grasslands. The UK's Waxcap mushroom species are dependent on grasslands in Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland in particular^{33,34,32}. Many of these high value semi-natural grasslands are now under protection from conservation charities or within national nature reserves where they may be managed by conservation grazing under agrienvironment schemes. There are also 122 endemic vascular plant species in Britain that rely on grasslands for their habitat³⁵.

Disease (plant, animal human)

Semi-improved and improved grasslands tend to be less biodiverse than semi-natural grassland, largely due to management influences including ploughing and sowing with productive species, the use of fertilisers (organic and mineral) and intensive grazing management^{36,37}. However, their extent means that they remain important habitats for many of our common species. For example, they provide crucial feeding areas for wintering birds such as Fieldfare (*Turdus pilaris*), Redwing (*T. iliacus*) and other farmland birds^{18,27}.

While the UK's 'landscape designations' (such as National Parks and AONBs) contain a significant proportion of the UK's upland grasslands, many are not designated specifically for nature conservation and do not necessarily contain high amounts of biodiversity. They do remain important for carbon storage a high percentage of UK carbon stock is located within our soils⁷. Designated landscapes may include high concentrations of sites designated for nature within them, such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or Areas of Special Scientific Interest (ASSI). However, these are often in poorer condition, in terms of biodiversity, than SSSIs in the countryside outside of designated landscapes^{38,23}. For grasslands this has in many cases been attributed to overgrazing.

5. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

5.1 RETAINING PERMANENT GRASSLAND IN SITU

Grasslands store carbon below ground and due to their large coverage they hold a considerable proportion of the UK carbon stock. Acid grasslands, predominantly found in the uplands, contain almost four times as much soil carbon in the top 15cm of soil than other grassland types. However they are considerably less dense than either neutral (semi-improved), or improved grasslands resulting in stocks of soil carbon being around 30% higher in acid grassland. Neutral or semi-improved grasslands contain around 15-20%more soil carbon than improved grasslands in the top 15cm. However they are also less dense leading to only marginally higher soil carbon per unit area on neutral grasslands⁸. The UK Land Cover Change product for 1990-2015 shows losses of 7668km² of grassland across the UK over that time period.³⁹ Whilst the definition used to assess this change is broad (due to use of satellite data), this loss of grassland is of concern, particularly where grassland is being lost to less carbon rich arable or urban areas.

Whilst we still do not fully understand the processes involved in carbon storage and sequestration at depth, we know that habitat loss can lead to GHG emissions. For example, protecting permanent grassland from conversion to croplands strongly mitigates against the loss of soil carbon⁴⁰. Similarly, reducing the incidences and/or frequency of ploughing-tilling and reseeding on improved grasslands could impact significantly on soil carbon stocks and overall GHG emissions.⁴¹ In contrast, the conversion of croplands to more permanent grasslands can enhance soil carbon sequestration⁴².

Different estimates of habitat loss across the period from 1930 to 2016 indicate that up to 97% of seminatural grassland has been lost⁴³, that it remains in significant decline in some areas¹ and is highly fragmented everywhere. Habitat losses for seminatural grassland are considered to be more likely to be significant for diminishing carbon stocks than management factors^{1,44}. A small proportion of semi-natural grasslands may now be owned and managed for conservation, e.g Chinnor Hill owned and managed by the Wildlife Trusts, and maintenance and protection of these biodiverse, carbon-storing habitats continues to be of key importance. Similarly, grasslands that have a high carbon stock (but may not necessarily be species rich), including acid grassland in upland areas on peat soils, should also be protected (or where appropriate, restored to former bog habitat) and soil disturbance minimised.

Traditional management of semi-improved/ improved grassland, including ploughing and re-seeding every five to eight years with simple species mixes (and more frequently than that for leys on arable land), results in net losses of soil carbon^{13,7} Shallow rooting depths of sown species (e.g. annual ryegrass (Lolium perenne) and white clover (*Trifolium repens*))^{45,46} constrain soil carbon¹⁴ and have low levels of species diversity. This management model was targeted primarily at increasing productivity, with grass (usually Lolium perenne) as the main crop species. They are often enhanced by nutrient inputs, which themselves affect GHG mitigation through N₂0 emissions, the fertiliser manufacturing process and their application. This management model also reduces the diversity of species that are present.⁴⁷ Organic inputs like slurry and mineral fertilisers and, to a lesser extent, farmyard manure (FYM), can significantly increase soil CO_2 and N_2O emissions (although FYM may also constitute a significant carbon input). The effect is highly dependent on the fertiliser used and the timing and type of application. Increasing soil pH through liming can reduce N_2O production, as production is higher in acidic grassland soils generally⁴⁸. In addition to emissions of GHG pollutants from agricultural grasslands, losses of phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N) due to fertiliser application and, for P in particular, nutrient rich animal waste, remain a key source of diffuse pollution in UK water bodies⁴⁹. A shift away from traditional ploughing and reseeding practices and associated nutrient management practices, towards practices using more diverse permanent pastures which require lower levels of nutrients, would better enable grasslands to fulfil their potential as an NbS for climate mitigation and biodiversity enhancement. It is however, very important to establish whether there would be a the trade-off between food production and a focus on public goods that would result from such a management change. An additional pressure on grassland is tree planting. The UK Land Cover Change product for 1990-2015 indicated that whilst open grassland habitats decreased over that time period, woodland increased⁵⁰. Going forward, most of the land identified as suitable for tree planting in

the UK is grassland^{51,52}. Tree planting may have significant impacts on all grassland types from improved grassland to grassland habitats protected by law for their ecological, scientific, scenic, or cultural value⁵¹. Some evidence suggests that

planting trees on grassland can have temporary negative impacts on soil carbon⁵³. This is because site preparation for planting trees releases carbon from the soil⁵⁴. This initially creates a "carbon debt" which may be small, but needs to be repaid before it can deliver any climate benefit⁵⁵. Whilst afforestation is effective at sequestering carbon, impacts are likely to be complex and dependent on a range of interacting factors including soil type, grassland type and management. It can also be dependent on how the trees are planted and what species they are. Similarly, tree planting for climate change mitigation may have positive or negative impacts on biodiversity depending on the above factors and habitat context. While the introduction of trees into pastureland (silvopasture) is likely to be positive for biodiversity⁵⁶, outcomes are highly dependent on the starting point of the pasture, with tree planting on species rich semi-natural grasslands likely to be highly damaging to the biodiversity of this now uncommon habitat.

5.2 GRAZING MANAGEMENT

Grazing ruminants on grassland contribute to GHG through the production of methane (CH₄) emissions, primarily from belching (as a result of enteric fermentation) and excreta as well as through the management of the grassland on which they graze⁵⁷. Semi-natural grasslands are generally associated with lower methane and nitrous oxide emissions than agriculturally improved grasslands due to lower stocking densities and inputs.

Appropriate management of grazing animals and the grasslands on which they graze can help to maximise the climate change mitigation potential of UK grasslands. As well as reducing the incidences and/or frequency of ploughing-tilling, reseeding and fertilizer use (above), reductions in the numbers of animals and grazing pressure may help to reduce overall GHG emissions from grasslands⁵⁸. As well as decreasing animal numbers overall, grazing by a diverse range of animals (e.g. sheep, cattle, horse, goats, alpaca) on the same pastures can also have positive effects on grassland sward diversity and resultant GHG emissions³. Shifts in grazing patterns, for example the adoption of rotational or mixed grazing, can also reduce emissions compared to continuous grazing⁴.

'Mob grazing', is a type of grazing management that is attracting a lot of attention in some farming circles, for example, one of the Innovative Farmers groups currently being run by the Soil Association is focused on it. Whilst it is used across a variety of approaches (often with other descriptors), it generally refers to short term, high density grazing which may or may not occur on tall grass but always includes a long recovery time for the pasture to re-grow (both above and below ground) and may result in some trampling of the pasture. Its use is based on adopting grazing patterns that mimic herd grazing patterns in nature. It has been used under various conditions and on both arable land and rangeland, with evidence from some parts of the world indicating positive benefits for soil health, soil carbon, and plant diversity as well as animal productivity^{59,60}. Despite this evidence, as it is a relatively novel practice in the UK, our data set is limited, particularly in terms of understanding potential additional long-term benefits for soil carbon (C) and soil health in comparison to current UK grazing management practices. Hence, more research in this area is required.

6. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Grassland soils absorb and filter water, cycle nutrients and store carbon on a large scale^{13,61} making them a potentially valuable NbS for climate mitigation and adaptation lower density extensive grazing can increase water infiltration rates and reduce flood risks by avoiding soil compaction^{62,63}. Grasslands can provide resilience to extreme weather events. For example, chalk grassland can act as a natural buffer to reduce the likely impact of flooding. Grassland can also provide naturally functioning floodplains that can evolve into new wetland habitats and allow for greater water storage⁶⁴. There is evidence that land use change from grassland to wetland can result in sequestration of 2.39 to 14.30 t.CO₂/ha/yr¹.

Ecological restoration of grassland sward plant diversity could offer a valuable means to increase the adaptive capacity of UK grasslands to a changing climate^{74,7}. The introduction of native species mixtures that include legumes has also been shown to benefit soil carbon sequestration^{71,72,73} and to reduce the need for synthetic nitrogen fertilisers. However, the capacity of UK grasslands to naturally adapt to climate change through increasing in species diversity is severely limited by the presence and connectivity of habitats including suitable species in the wider landscape.

Although the variety of grasslands across the UK provides some resilience to environmental drivers, some grassland types, may be more sensitive than others, e.g. hay meadows in the uplands, which may be particularly sensitive to climatic change^{74,7}. These meadows may adapt to climate change by transitioning to less notable habitats, but even as wetter grassland they will remain important for carbon and water storage.

7. CHALLENGES

Only 2% of the biodiverse and carbon rich seminatural grassland that was present in the UK a century ago remains; protecting this grassland is a key priority. Two thirds of UK grassland is intensively managed for agricultural use⁸. Going forward, one of the challenges will be rethinking grassland management practices for the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity, carbon storage and sequestration, alongside food production. This will include consideration of management practices which affect the production, maintenance and long-term use (grazing, hay, silage) of a productive biodiverse grass sward whilst avoiding excess carbon loss (e.g., ploughing,

CASE STUDY 1: FLOODPLAIN MEADOWS DELIVERING NBS^{65,66},

Floodplain meadows are a beautiful and ancient agricultural system that has evolved over many hundreds of years through an annual hay cut followed by aftermath grazing. The result of such management has been the development of communities of grasses and herbs that thrive with the flood and drought cycles on floodplains than against it. Floodplain meadows hold one of the UK's most diverse plant communities, with up to 40 plant species m^2 . The Natural Capital of Floodplains (2018)⁶⁷ argues that the value of the benefits provided by seasonally inundated floodplain meadows far outweigh those provided by land in intensive agriculture.



From left to right: Floodplain meadows at work © Irina Tatarenko, Belted galloways Clattinger Farm © Mike Dodd and Yarnton meadow Oxfordshire, species rich grassland © Mike Dodd

Floodplain meadows regulate flood events by providing space outside the river channel for floodwater to occupy. They capture sediment, absorb nutrients and filter water, whilst also delivering sustainable agricultural production with minimal inputs, and constituting a rich cultural resource. Their alluvial soils are particularly important for carbon sequestration because they grow deeper with each flood event⁶⁸. In this respect they are probably second only to peat soils in the UK in their ability to store carbon. Organic carbon within the top 10 cm of soil at North Meadow Cricklade (a species-rich floodplain meadow) was observed to be 0.11 tC/ yr⁶⁹ values much higher than those previously reported for neutral grassland and extensively managed grasslands in a survey of grassland soil carbon^{8.44}. The deep rooting strategies and diversity of plants and roots are the keys for carbon storage. Recently published research Tilman 2019⁷⁰ comparing carbon storage between species poor swards and species-rich grasslands restored from species- poor swards show that higher species-richness increases the rate of carbon sequestration in grassland communities.

seeding, inputs).

Another challenge for grassland management is the research needed to assist in transforming grassland management. Lack of understanding about the processes leading to carbon storage at depth, its relationship with biodiversity above and below ground and how it is affected by field management practices needs to be addressed. Gaining a better understanding of these processes and how they relate to food production (both quantity and quality⁷⁵), preferably alongside farmers, will help to determine appropriate land management practices in relation to mitigating or reversing biodiversity loss and climate change impacts. For grassland in areas of particular cultural interest (e.g., for tourism, recreation and inspiration), such as the National Parks and AONB's, there is a challenge around how to enhance biodiversity and carbon storage whilst continuing to maintain and enhance these cultural ecosystem services which result in vital income for many of these areas, e.g., maintaining profitable livestock enterprises.

Common sense would suggest that grassland with low carbon stocks and biodiversity both above and below ground is the best land on which to plant trees. Some research on approaches to planting trees on or around grassland for maximising grassland and biodiversity, whilst enhancing or minimising agricultural outputs, is already available⁷⁶. However, to mainstream these and other practices it is likely to be important to work with land managers to gather further evidence across a range of approaches and locations and to understand how to encourage and motivate farmers to take up novel practices. Tree planting on carbon and biodiversity rich grassland or on ecologically important wetlands should be avoided to avoid carbon and biodiversity loss; an understanding of site history and ecology is therefore crucial.

REFERENCES

- Alonso, I., Weston, K., Gregg., R. and Morecroft, M. (2012). Carbon storage by habitat: Review of the evidence of the impacts of management decisions and condition of carbon stores and sources. Natural England. [http://publications. naturalengland.org.uk/publication/1412347], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 2 Schroeder, P. (1994). Carbon storage benefits of agroforestry systems. *Agroforestry Systems*, 27, pp. 89-97.
- 3 Ward, S.E., Smart, S.M, Ouirk, H., Tallowin, J.R.B., Mortimer, S.R., Shiel, R.S., Wilby, A. and Bardgett, R.D.(2016). Legacy effects of grassland management on soil carbon to depth. *Global Change Biology*, 22, pp.2929-2938.
- 4 Saggar, S., Giltrap, D.L., Li, C. and Tate, K.R. (2007). Modelling nitrous oxide emissions from grazed grasslands in New Zealand. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* 199, pp.205-216.
- Viketoft, M., Bengtsson, J., Sohlenius, B., Berg, M.P., Petchey, O., Palmborg, C. and Huss-Danell, K. (2009).
 Long@term effects of plant diversity and composition on soil nematode communities in model grasslands. *Ecology*, 90, pp.90-99.
- 6 Schaub, S., Finger, R., Leiber, F., Probst, S., Kreuzer, M., Weigelt, A., Buchmann, N., and Scherer-Lorenzen, M. (2020).Plant diversity effects on forage quality, yield and revenues of semi-natural grasslands. *Nature Communications*, 11, pp.1-11.
- 7 Ostle, N.J., Levy, P.E., Evans, C.D., and Smith, P. (2009). UK land use and soil carbon sequestration. *Land Use Policy*, 26, pp.274-283.
- 8 Carey, P.D., Wallis, S., Emmett, B.A., Maskell, L.C., Murphy, J., Norton, L.R., Simpson, I.C. and Smart, S.M. (2007). Countryside Survey: UK Headline Messages from 2007. *NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology*. [http://nora.nerc. ac.uk/id/eprint/4986/], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 9 UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, LCM2019, LCM2018 and LCM2017 [https://www.ceh.ac.uk/services/lcm2019lcm2018-and-lcm2017], [accessed 16th November 2020].
- 10 Maddock, A. (ed) (2008). UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Habitat Descriptions (updated 2011). JNCC. [https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/2728792c-c8c6-4b8c-9ccda908cb0f1432], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 11 Peeters, A., Beaufoy, G., Canals, R.M., De Vliegher, A., Huyghe, Ch., Isselstein, J., Jones, G., Kessler, W., Kirilov, A., Mosquera-Losada M.R., Nilsdotter-Linde N., Parente G., Peyraud J.-L., Pickert J., Plantureux S., Porqueddu C., Rataj, D., Stypinski, P., Tonn, B., van den Pol – van Dasselaar, A., Vintu, V. & Wilkins, R. (2014). Grassland term definitions and classifications adapted to the diversity of European grassland-based systems. *RHEA Research Centre*.
- 12 Bullock, J.M., Jefferson, R.G., Blackstock, T.H., Pakeman, R.J., Emmett, B.A., Pywell, R.J., Grime, P and Silvertown, J.(2011). Chapter 6. UK National Ecosystem Assessment Technical Report: Semi-natural Grasslands. UK NEA.
- 13 Dawson, J.J.C and Smith, P. (2007). Carbon losses from soil and its consequences for land-use management. *Science of the Total Environment*, 282, pp.165-190.
- Humphreys, M., Doonan, J.H. Boyle, R.D., Camargo, A., Marley, C.L., Williams, K., Farrell, M. Brook, J., Gasior, D. Loka, D. Collins, R., Marshall, A. Allen, D. Yadav, R., Dungait, J. Murray, P. and Harper, J. (2018). Root imaging showing comparisons in root distribution and ontogeny in novel Festulolium populations and closely related perennial ryegrass varieties. *Food and Energy Security*, 7, pp.1-10.

- 15 UK Government, The Environmental Land Management scheme: an overview [https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-environmental-land-management-scheme-an-overview], [accessed 28th January 2021].
- 16 NatureScot, Agri-Environmental Climate Scheme new round of applications [https://www.nature.scot/agri-environmental-climate-scheme-new-round-applications], [accessed 28th January 2021].
- 17 Fish, R., Church, A., Willis, C., Winter, M., Tratalos, J.A, Haines-Young, R. and Potschin, M. (2016). Making space for cultural ecosystem services: Insights from a study of the UK nature improvement initiative. *Ecosystem Services*, 21, pp.329-343.
- 18 Natural England, State of the Natural Environment 2008, (2008). [http://nepubprod.appspot.com/file/60043], [accessed 16th November 2020].
- 19 Cooper, A. and McCann T. (2002). Technical report of the Norther Ireland Countryside Survey 2000. University of Ulster. [https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/ habitat-change-northern-ireland-countryside-technical-report-northern-ireland-countryside-survey], [accessed 4th March 2021].
- 20 Save our Magnificent Meadows, Wildflower meadows and grasslands in Northern Ireland are important for biodiversity at a European and national scale and are unique due to the country's biogeography, climate and culture. [http://www.magnificentmeadows.org.uk/conserve-restore/county-fermanagh5], [accessed 18 January 2021].
- 21 UNESCO, World Heritage List, [https://whc.unesco.org/ en/list/&order=country#alphaU], [accessed 16th November 2020].
- 22 Church, A., Fish, R., Haines-Young, R., Mourato, S., Tratalos, J., Stapleton, L., Willis, C., Coates, P., Gibbons, S., Leyshon, C., Potschin, M., Ravenscroft, N., Sanchis-Guarner, R., Winter, M., & Kenter, J. (2014) UK National Ecosystem Assessment Follow-on. Work Package Report 5: Cultural ecosystem services and indicators. UNEP-WCMC, LWEC, UK.
- 23 Campaign for National Parks, Raising the bar: improving nature in National Parks, [https://www.cnp.org.uk/news/ raising-the-bar], [accessed 17th November, 2020].
- 24 Ecologist, Are national parks in crisis? [https://theecologist.org/2019/mar/07/are-national-parks-crisis], [accessed 17th November 2020].
- 25 Marrrs, R.H., McAllister, H.A., Cho, K., Rose, R.J., O'Reilly, J., Furness, M. and Hyohyemi, L. (2020). Effects of Long-Term Removal of Sheep Grazing on the Seedbanks of High-Level Grasslands and Blanket Bogs. *Proceedings of National Institute of Ecology*, 1, pp.22-30.
- 26 British Trust for Ornithology, Bird Trends, Curlew. [https://app.bto.org/birdtrends/species.jsp?year=2019&s=curle], [accessed 18th January 2021].
- 27 Vickery, J.A., Tallowin, J.R., Feber, R.E., Asteraki, E.J. Atkinson, P.W., Fuller, R.J. and Brown, V.K. (2001). The management of lowland neutral grasslands in Britain: effects of agricultural practices on birds and their food resources. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 38, pp.647-644.
- 28 Diagram adapted from, Zhao, Y., Liu, Z. and Wu, J., (2020). Grassland ecosystem services: a systematic review of research advances and future directions. *Landscape Ecology*, 35, pp.793-814
- 29 UK Terrestrial & Freshwater Habitat Types: Lowland Grassland Habitat Description, [https://data.jncc.gov. uk/data/b0b5e833-7300-4234-8ae5-bdbf326e854c/habitat-types-lowland-grassland.pdf], [accessed 17th Novem-

ber 2020].

- 30 Burkle, L.A., Delphia, C.M. and O'Neil K.M. (2017). A dual role for farmlands: food security and pollinator conservation. *Journal of Ecology*, 105. pp.890-899.
- 31 Deacon, L.J., Pryce-Miller, E.J., Frankland, J.C. Bainbridge, B.W. Moore, P.D. and Robinson, C.H. Diversity and function of decomposer fungi from a grassland soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38, pp.7-20.
- 32 Mitchel, D., McHugh, R., Anderson, R. and Wright, M.A. (2001). The fungi of Irish Grasslands and their value for nature conservation. *Biology & Environment Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy*, 101B, pp.225-242.
- 33 Plant Life. (2014). Waxcaps and grassland fungi A guide to identification and management [https://www.plantlife. org.uk/application/files/6915/0460/9899/Waxcap_ID_ guide_low_res_website.pdf], [accessed 2nd December 2020].
- 34 Griffith, G.W. Gamarra, J.G.P., Holden, E.M. and Mitchell, D., Graham, A., Evans, D.A., Evans. S., Aron, C., Noordeloos, M.,Kirk, P., Smith, S., Woods, R., Hale, A., Easton, G., Ratkowsky, D., Stevens, D. and Halbwachs, H. (2013). The international conservation importance of Welsh 'waxcap' grasslands. *Mycosphere*, 4, pp.969-984.
- 35 Clubbe, C., Ainsworth, A.M, Bárrios, S., Bensusan, K., Brodie, J., Cannon, P., Chapman, T., Copeland, A.I., Corcoran, M., Sanchez, M., David, J.C., Dines, T., Gardiner, L.M., Hamilton, M.A., Heller, T., Hollingsworth, P.M., Hutchinson, N, Llewelyn, T., Forrest, L., McGinn, K.J., Miles, S., O'Donnell, K., Woodfield@Pascoe, N., Rich, T., Rumsey, F., Sim, J., Smith, S.R., Spence, N., Stanworth, A., Stroh, P., Taylor, I., Trivedi, C., Twyford, A.D., Viruel, J., Walker, K., Wilbraham, J., Woodman, J. and Fay, M. (2020). Current knowledge, status, and future for plant and fungal diversity in Great Britain and the UK Overseas Territories. *Plants People Planet*, 2, pp.557-572.
- 36 Plantureux, S, Peeters, A. and McCracken. D. (2005). Biodiversity in intensive grasslands: Effect of Management improvement and challenges. *Agronomy Research*, 3, pp.153-164.
- 37 Marriot, C.A., Fothergill, M., Jeangros, B., Scotton, M. and Louault, F. (2004). Long-term impacts of extensification of grassland management on biodiversity and productivity in upland areas. A review. *Agronomie*, 24, pp.447-462.
- 38 British Wildlife, National Parks or Natural Parks: how can we have both? [https://www.britishwildlife.com/article/ volume-30-number-2-page-87-95], [accessed 17th November 2020].
- 39 UKCEH Land Cover Maps [https://www.ceh.ac.uk/ukcehland-cover-maps], [accessed 8th January 2021].
- 40 Ghosh, P.K and Mahanta, S.K. (2014). Carbon sequestration in grassland systems. *Range Mgmt. & Agroforestry*, 35, pp.173-181.
- 41 Powlson, D.S. Bhogal, A., Chambers, B.J, Coleman, K., Macdonald, A.J., Goulding, K.T.W. and Whitmore, A.P (2012). The potential to increase soil carbon stocks through reduced tillage or organic material additions in England and Wales: A case study. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 146 pp.23-33.
- 42 Wang, S., Wilkes, A., Zhang, Z., Chang, X., Lang, R., Wang, Y and Niu, H., (2011). Management and land use change effects on soil carbon in northern China's grasslands: a synthesis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 142, pp.329-340.
- 43 ONS and DEFRA. (2018). UK natural capital: developing semi-natural grassland ecosystem accounts.[https://www. ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/methodologies/uknaturalcapitaldevelopingseminaturalgrasslandecosystemaccounts], [accessed 8th January 2021].
- 44 Chamberlain, P.M., Emmett, B.A., Scott, W.A., Black, H.I.J., Hornung, M. and Frogbrook, Z.L., (2010). No change in

topsoil carbon levels of Great Britain, 1978–2007. *Biogeosciences*, 7, pp.2267–2311.

- 45 Crush, J.R., Waller, J.E. and Care, D.A. (2005). Root distribution and nitrate interception in eleven temperate forage grasses. *Grass and Forage Science*, 60, pp.385-392.
- 46 Bolinder, M. A., Angers, D. A., Bélanger, G., Michaud, R. and Laverdière. M. R. (2002). Root biomass and shoot to root ratios of perennial forage crops in eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 82, pp.731-737.
- Kidd, J., Manning, P., Simkin, J., Peacock, S., Stockdale,
 E. (2017). Impacts of 120 years of fertilizer addition on a temperate grassland ecosystem. PLoS One, 12.
- 48 Yamulki, S., Harrison, R.M., Goulding, K.W.T. and Webster, C.P. (1997). N²O, NO and NO² fluxes from a grassland: Effect of soil pH. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29, pp.1199-1208.
- 49 Rothwell, S.A., Doody, D.G., Johnston, C., Forber, K.J., Cencic, O., Rechberger., H. and Withers, P.J.A. (2020). Phosphorus stocks and flows in an intensive livestock dominated food system. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 163.
- 50 UKCEH, Land Cover Maps [https://www.ceh.ac.uk/ukcehland-cover-maps], [accessed 8th January 2021].
- 51 Wilkes, M.A., Bennett J., Burbi S., Charlesworth S., Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Rayns, F., Schmutz, U., Smith, B., Tilzey, M., Trenchard, L., and Van De Wiel, M. (2020). Making Way for Trees? Changes in Land-Use, Habitats and Protected Areas in Great Britain under "Global Tree Restoration Potential. *Sustainability*, 12, pp.1-10.
- 52 World Resources Institute, Atlas of Forest and Landscape Restoration Opportunities, [https://www.wri.org/resources/maps/atlas-forest-and-landscape-restoration-opportunities], [accessed 16th November 2020].
- 53 Upson, M.A., Burgess, P.J. and Morison J.I.L. (2016). Soil carbon changes after establishing woodland and agroforestry trees in a grazed pasture. *Geoderma*, 283, p.10-20.
- 54 Guo, L.B. and Gifford, R.M. (2002). Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. *Glob. Chang. Biol.*, 8, pp.345–360.
- 55 Fargione, J., Hill, J., Tilman, D., Polasky, S. and Hawthorne, P. (2008). Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. *Science*, 319, pp.1235–1238.
- 56 Paiva, I.G., Auad, A.M., Veríssimo, B.A. and Silveira, L.C.P. (2020). Differences in the insect fauna associated to a monocultural pasture and a silvopasture in Southeastern Brazil. *Scientific Reports* 10.
- 57 University of Oxford. (2017). Grazed and Confused Report. [https://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/publications/grazedand-confused/], [accessed 18th January 2021].
- 58 Flechard, C., Ambus, P., Skiba, U., Rees, R.M., Hensen, A., van Amstel, van den Pol-van Dasselaarg, A., Soussanah, J.F., Jones, M. Clifton-Brown, J., Raschi A., Horvath, L., Neftel, A., Jocher, M., Ammann, C., Leifeld, J., Fuhrer, J., Calanca, P., Thalman, E., Pilegaard, K., Di Marco, C., Campbell, C., Nemitz, E., Hargreaves, K.J., Levy, P.E., Ball, B.C., Jones, S.K., van de Bulke, W.C.M., Groot, T., Blom, M., Domingues, R., Kasperg, G., Allard, V., Ceschiah, E., Cellier, P., Laville, P., Henault, C., Bizouard, F., Abdalla., M., Williams, M., Barontim, S., Berretti, F., and Grosz, B. (2007). Effects of climate and management intensity on nitrous oxide emissions in grassland systems across Europe. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 121, pp.135-152.
- 59 Teague, R. and Kreuter, U. (2020). Managing Grazing to Restore Soil Health, Ecosystem Function, and Ecosystem Services. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst*, 4.
- 60 Leach, K., Palomo G., Waterfield, W., Zaralis, K., and Padel, S. (2014). Diverse swards and mob grazing for dairy farm productivity: A UK case study. *Organic World Congress*.
- 61 Hewins, D.B., Lyseng, M.P., Schoderbek, D.F., Alexander, M., Willms, W.D, Carlyle, C.N, Chang, S.X. and Bork, E.W. (2018). Grazing and climate effects on soil organic carbon concentration and particle-size association in northern grasslands. *Scientific Reports*, 8, pp.1-9.
- 62 Meyles, E.W., Williams, A.G., Ternan, J.L., Anderson, J.M., and Dowd, J.F. (2006). The influence of grazing on vegetation, soil properties and stream discharge in a small Dartmoor catchment, southwest England, UK. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 31, pp.622-631.
- 63 Allard, V., Soussana, J.F., Falcimagne, R., Berbigier, P., Bonnefond, J.M., Ceschia, E., D'hour, P., Hénault, C., Lavillee, P., Martin, C., and Pinarès-Patino, C.(2007). The role of grazing management for the net biome productivity and greenhouse gas budget (CO₂, N₂O and CH₄) of semi-natural grassland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Envi*ronment, 121, pp.47-58.
- 64 Natural Environment Adapting to Climate Change: A Strategic Approach (2010). *DEFRA*. [https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/69271/pb13323-natural-environment-adaptation-100326.pdf], [accessed 4th February 2021].
- 65 Rothero, E., Tatarenko, I. and Gowing, D. (2020). Recovering lost hay meadows: An overview of floodplain-meadow restoration projects in England and Wales. Journal for Nature Conservation, 58, 125925.
- 66 Rothero, E., Lake, S. and Gowing, D. (eds) (2016). Floodplain Meadows - A technical handbook, (2016).[http:// www.floodplainmeadows.org.uk/floodplain-meadow-technical-handbook], [accessed 5th February 2020].
- 67 Lawson, C., Rothero, E., Gowing, D., Nisbet, T., Barsoum N., Broadmeadow, S., Skinner, A., (2018) The natural capital of floodplains: management, protection and restoration to deliver greater benefits. Valuing Nature Natural Capital Synthesis Report VNP09.
- 68 D'Elia, A.H., Liles, G.C., Viers, J.H. and Smart, D.R (2017). Deep carbon storage potential of buried floodplain soils. *Scientific Reports*, 7, pp.1-7.
- 69 Lawson & Gowing, unpublished data.
- 70 Yang, Y., Tilman, D., Furey, G. and Lehman, C. (2019). Soil carbon sequestration accelerated by restoration of grassland biodiversity. *Nature Communications*, 10.
- 71 Barneze, A.S., Whitaker, J., McNamara, N.P. and Ostle, N.J. (2019). Legumes increase grassland productivity with no effect on nitrous oxide emissions. *Plant and Soil*, 446, pp.163–177.
- 72 Deyn, G.B., Quirk, H., Oakley, S., Ostle, N. and Bardgett, R.D. (2011). Rapid transfer of photosynthetic carbon through the plant-soil system in differently managed species-rich grasslands. *Biogeosciences*, 8, pp.1131–1139.
- 73 Schmeer, M., Loges, R., Dittert, K., Senbayram, M., Horn, R. and Taube, F. (2014). Legume-based forage production systems reduce nitrous oxide emissions. *Soil & Tillage Research*, 143, p.17-25.
- 74 Mitchell, R. J., Morecroft, M. D., Acreman, M., Crick, H. O. P., Frost, M., Harley, M., Maclean, I. D. M., Mountford, O., Piper, J., Pontier, H., Rehfisch, M. M., Ross, L. C., Smithers, R. J., Stott, A., Walmsley, C. A., Watts, O. and Wilson, E. (2007). England Biodiversity Strategy - towards adaptation to climate change. [http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/id/ eprint/915/], [accessed 4th March, 2021].
- 75 Butler, G., Ali, A.M., Oladokun, Wang, J. and Davis, H. (2021). Forage-fed cattle point the way forward for beef? *Future Foods*, 3, pp.1-7.
- 76 James Hutton Institute. (2019). Farm Woodland Forum: New UK Agroforestry Handbook Launched [https://www. agroforestry.ac.uk/news/new-uk-agroforestry-handbook-launched], [accessed 18th January 2021].

ARABLE SYSTEMS

Authors:

- Christopher Collins¹ Bethany Chamberlain² Lynn Dicks³ Alfred Gathorne-Hardy⁴ Gareth Morgan⁵ Lisa Norton⁶ Jenny Phelps⁷ Nicola Randall⁸ Jennifer Rowntree<u>9</u> **Contributors:** Laura Clavey²
- 1 University of Reading.
- 2 British Ecological Society.
- 3 University of Cambridge.
- 4 University of Edinburgh.
- 5 Soil Association.
- 6 UK Centre for Ecology and Hydrology.
- 7 Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group South West Limited.
- 8 Harper Adams University.
- 9 Manchester Metropolitan University.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Arable land is under very active management and therefore it offers many opportunities to introduce nature-based solutions (NbS) that enhance natural capital. The UK is at a pivotal moment in the future design of our agricultural systems, as new agricultural policies will have to be designed outside the EU Common Agricultural Policy.
- 2. Hedgerows are already a very important NbS in arable landscapes, with current estimated stocks of up to 100 tonnes of carbon per hectare (t.C/ha) in established hedge networks. Planting of hedges and hedgerow trees along with rejuvenation of hedges through placing them back in management cycles are a low trade-off option for addressing climate change and enhancing biodiversity in arable systems.
- 3. **Field margins** that are taken out of production benefit wildlife, leading to increased numbers of many wild species, including those that deliver important ecosystem services such as pollination and pest regulation. Soil carbon is 37% higher in soil beneath a grass margin than beneath an annual crop. Field margins can also prevent erosion and water pollution.
- 4. **Conservation biological control**, or natural pest regulation, has the potential to reduce the need for pesticide use, which could help reduce the approximate 8,300 tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent $(CO_2e)^{[1]}$ involved in the manufacturing of pesticides.
- 5. **Agroforestry** has the potential to mitigate climate change through increased carbon sequestration in vegetation and soils (up to 63 t.C/ha in temperate regions). It can also improve the climate change resilience of arable landscapes whilst increasing biodiversity and wider landscape diversity.
- 6. Further research is required to fully understand the benefits of conservation biological control, cover crops and intercropping in terms of climate mitigation and biodiversity.

2. INTRODUCTION

Arable farming accounts for 26% of the 19 million hectares (ha) of agricultural land in the United Kingdom (cereals 17%, other arable 8%, horticulture 1%)¹. Changing diets as a consequence of increased environmental and animal welfare awareness will require expansion of cropland if we want to increase UK production and avoid offshoring greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs)².

Arable land is under very active management, and therefore it offers many opportunities to introduce solutions that enhance natural capital and provide public goods whilst maintaining food production. Across the UK we are at a pivotal moment in the future design of our agricultural policies (e.g. through the Environmental Land Management (ELMs) scheme in England, GLASTIR in Wales, The Agricultural Transformation Programme in Scotland and Northern Ireland's Environmental Farming Scheme (EFS)) as the government channels agricultural subsidies of the EU Common Agricultural Policy away from an area managed approach towards supporting increased environmental benefits.

Whilst there is a range of research on the economic costs and benefits of enhancing degraded agricultural land for wildlife, the results are varied and generalisable information that can be scaled up is not readily available. The present value of the overall benefits expected from agri-environment measures in lowland England was estimated to be £12 billion over 50 years, based on the costs of reducing livestock on grassland, improving former hedgerows and creating pollinator strips³.

Most recent studies indicate that arable agriculture is responsible for significant GHGs both on and off farm. For example, GHGs are released due to arable soil management which include nitrous oxide (N_2O) from fertiliser use and, methane (CH_4) from ruminant livestock and manure used in mixed arable systems, as well as carbon released due to draining waterlogged soils such as lowland fens^{4,5,6}. This needs to be balanced against the potential to close nutrient loops in mixed systems. Biodiversity is profoundly impacted by arable farming with significant reductions in farmland birds, insects and wildflowers⁷. For example, the UK Farmland Bird Indicator has decreased by 48% since 1970⁸ and declines in insects have been linked to agricultural practices and land use changes⁹. However, some studies (e.g. Macgregor et al., 2019¹⁰) do indicate a more variability than a steady decline in biomass so this is an area which needs further investigation.

The following sections highlight nature-based solutions (NbS) that have capacity to sequester and store carbon, increase resilience of agricultural systems to climate change and improve biodiversity, whilst maintaining food production.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

This section describes the potential for NbS in arable landscapes to contribute to climate change mitigation through either directly sequestering and storing carbon or indirectly reducing the need for practices that generate GHGs (e.g. pesticide manufacturing).

3.1 HEDGEROWS

Hedgerows are an important NbS, which play a key role in carbon sequestration and storage in arable landscapes^{11,12,13}. Above ground, uncut shrubby hedges may accumulate around 1.8 tonnes of carbon dioxide per hectare per year (t.CO₂/ha/yr), while tree lines may accumulate more than 11 t.CO₂/ha/yr¹⁴. For established hedge networks, evidence from Britain, Germany and France suggests that hedges may store roughly 100 t.C/ha, although this will vary considerably according to hedge structure, woody species and age¹⁵. Below ground, both shrubby hedges and tree lines may sequester $1.8 \text{ t.CO}_2/\text{ha/yr}^{16}$. A metaanalysis of data from 60 studies found that soil carbon stocks are 22% higher under hedgerows and 6% higher next to the hedgerow than in fields without hedgerows¹⁷. The re-establishment and maintenance of hedgerows was estimated to cost £7,000 per kilometre and have a present value of up to £1 billion³.

3.2. HERBACEOUS FIELD MARGINS

Field margins are usually two to six metres wide and can be implemented for a variety of reasons including for soil and water conservation and support for pollinators, or general biodiversity support¹⁸. They can be managed in many ways, including as annually cut grass margins, margins sown with perennial flowering plants, or simply left to naturally regenerate. Margins may also be sown with annual flowering plants or be cultivated annually, but these are not discussed here. It is important to note that field margins should be managed as permanent features to retain their sequestered carbon, unless a no-till approach is followed which avoids disturbing the soil.

Grassy field margins alongside annual crops have 37% higher soil carbon in the upper 30 cm soil layer, compared to arable fields without a grass margin¹⁷. This effect is partly due to increased plant cover and diversity. Studies in temperate grassland show that increasing plant species diversity increases soil organic matter^{19,20,21,22}. Deep rooting herbaceous plants such as tall herbs reduce carbon loss from deeper soils²¹ and carbon accumulation increases over time both near the surface and deeper in the soil profile during grassland restoration²².

Perennial vegetative strips, such as riparian buffer strips or strips alongside other water courses, can reduce soil erosion by filtering sediment and stabilising soils²³. This may contribute to climate change mitigation directly through carbon sequestration, and indirectly by regulating water flows within and around arable fields, as well as by influencing nitrogen and phosphorus movement.

Minimising soil cultivation in field margins can improve the diversity of soil macrofauna²⁴ and thereby potentially enhance soil resilience. The balance of the soil community is also important with regards to the climate mitigation potential of field margins, as soil biota are both involved with decomposition processes and the release of GHGs, as well as with the formation of soil organic matter and carbon sequestration²⁵. The overall impact of biota on GHGs cannot yet be quantified, and therefore further research is needed to establish their effectiveness to act as a NbS for climate change mitigation.

3.3. CONSERVATION BIOLOGICAL CONTROL

Pesticides, along with plant breeding, are the main methods of pest and pathogen control in the UK arable sector. Pesticides have allowed farms to create simplified landscapes which would otherwise be too vulnerable to pests and pathogens. Unfortunately, while easier to manage when optimising for labour inputs per hectare, these simplified landscapes miss the benefits associated with diverse landscapes through the application of conservation biological control (control of agricultural pests, including insects, plant pathogens and weeds, using naturallyoccurring organisms in the agricultural ecosystem). Potential benefits of conservation biological control can include yield gains^{72,76} and a reduced requirement for pesticides⁷⁵, indirectly reducing the GHGs associated with pesticide manufacturing (approximately 8,300 tonnes CO₂e^[2]) which are about 9% of the total associated with UK arable crop production²⁶. However, these benefits are not found in every circumstance and more research is needed.

3.4. AGROFORESTRY

Agroforestry is a NbS which integrates trees and shrubs into agricultural systems. It is not widely practiced in the UK. Farm woodlands

^[2] Calculation based on: 0.493 kg CO2 emissions to air from average pesticide manufacture (Ecoinvent 3.6 dataset documentation) and the 16,900t of pesticide used in 2016 (https://secure.fera.defra.gov.uk/pusstats/myresults.cfm) against total 45.4 MtCO2e for UK Agriculture in 2018 (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/862887/2018_Final_greenhouse_gas_emissions_statistical_release.pdf)

outside of the cropped area are more common than systems where trees are integrated into the arable land, although there are notable pioneering examples of agroforestry such as at Whitehall Farm in Cambridgeshire and Parkhill Farm in Fife. Integrated agroforestry systems generally comprise parallel rows of trees or shrubs, with strips of varying width of arable land in between. The choice of trees and crops depends on the local environment. Trees are selected for their economic value, particularly provided by fruits and timber. Crucially, trees also bring value to the arable land through protection against soil erosion, effective utilisation of nutrients via roots and leaf fall and microclimate benefits²⁷.

The mitigation benefits accrue from the carbon sequestration by the tree component of the system, along with factors like better soil conservation and increased soil organic matter leading to greater carbon storage. Although much of the research evidence for agroforestry derived carbon benefits relate to non-temperate systems, in temperate regions it has been shown that soil carbon in arable land increases with the presence of rows of trees, likely due to the input of tree litter²⁸. The average carbon storage by agroforestry systems has been estimated at up to 63 t.C/ha in temperate regions²⁹. Trees alongside water courses, can have similar benefits to herbaceous riparian buffer strips preventing erosion and pesticide run off³⁰.

3.5. COVER CROPPING, INTERCROPPING AND LEGUMES

A reasonable amount of evidence exists about the impact of cover crops usage in agriculture on GHGs. The data available for intercropping is more equivocal and less certain.

For cover crops there is good agreement among studies that cover crops (crops that are planted to improve soil health between harvests) increase soil organic carbon sequestration^{31,32,33,34}. For example, Abdalla *et al.* (2019) showed that cover crops (both leguminous and non-leguminous species) increased soil carbon storage³³. However, there is more variation on the effect of cover crops on the direct emission of GHGs, especially carbon dioxide (CO₂) and N₂O, and further research is needed to increase understanding. A review of cover crop impacts on GHGs reported they could sequester 1 to $1.5 \text{ t.CO}_2\text{e/ha/yr}$, which is higher than mitigation from transitioning to no-till. The surface albedo change due to cover cropping may mitigate a further 0.12 to 0.46 t.CO₂e/ha/yr³⁵.

Other potentially important considerations are the management of cover crop residues, tillage regime, water status and input, species used, biome and soil type^{33,34,31}. Furthermore, shortterm legume fallows (for two to three years) can be used to reduce soil carbon losses and reduce pesticide use in following crops, so have the potential to indirectly reduce GHGs via reducing the requirement for pesticide manufacturing³⁶.

The limited amount of data available for intercropping (cultivating two or more crops on the same field at the same time) show mixed results regarding GHGs.

Whilst the majority of information on cover crops comes from annual cash crops, information on intercropping derives from both agroforestry systems and from annual cash crops. There is some evidence that the benefits of intercropping come from improved nitrogen use efficiency, especially when legumes and non-legumes are mixed³⁷, and the potential for reduced fertiliser inputs if legumes are used³⁸. However more evidence is required across globally distributed sites to draw clear conclusions.

In summary, the use of cover crops and intercropping as a NbS could deliver benefits in terms of climate change mitigation but further research is required to understand best practice to optimise these agricultural methods.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

NbS can be adopted in arable landscapes to increase our resilience to the impacts of climate change (e.g. increased likelihood of flooding events) and help future-proof our agricultural systems. This section outlines some of the key NbS to help deliver adaptation benefits.

4.1. HEDGEROWS

As well as storing organic carbon, soils under hedgerows also promote water infiltration and storing of runoff water, which is important for both mitigating the impacts of flooding and improving water storage in soil in a changing climate³⁹. Hedgerows also prevent pollution and soil erosion, intercepting nitrogen from the surface and subsurface water flow, and phosphorus and soil sediment from the surface water flow¹⁷.

Hedgerows may provide landscape connectivity which enables dispersal opportunities for species across the landscape at a local to national level in response to a changing climate, although the effectiveness of these corridors is not yet established⁴⁰. It is important that when planting or restocking hedgerows, there is an aim to diversify the range of species and select hedgerow species and provenances adapted to a wider range of climatic conditions⁴¹ to ensure climatic resilience.

4.2. HERBACEOUS FIELD MARGINS

Similarly to hedgerows, grass margins alongside agricultural crops also prevent pollution and soil erosion¹⁷. Field margins also allow some species to move within a landscape and find new locations, either locally or as part of larger-scale species migrations⁴², potentially enabling biological communities to better adapt to a changing climate.

4.3. AGROFORESTRY

Agroforestry can help to make arable cropping more resilient in the face of climate change, with benefits accruing from the integration of trees and shrubs into the agricultural system. This offers protection against wind and associated soil erosion, water conservation through reduced evapotranspiration, and a beneficial microclimate in the fields^{43,44}. Observed microclimate benefits include a reduction of wind speed, more moderate temperatures due to lower radiation intensities and higher air and soil moisture²⁷. All of these microclimatic changes can provide benefits for cultivated agricultural crops and have bearings on crop yield and yield stability²⁷. Trees alongside watercourses offer similar benefits to herbaceous buffer strips and can also protect watercourses from temperature extremes through shading⁴⁵.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

Many NbS are known to enhance and support biodiversity enabling land managers to address biodiversity decline. This section provides examples of NbS that protect and enhance biodiversity in agricultural systems.

5.1. HEDGEROWS

Hedgerows are protected from removal e.g. through the Hedgerow Regulations (1997) in England and Wales, and have become a key target of agri-environmental schemes across the UK due to their importance. Their linear and continuous structure is important for landscape connectivity, particularly for the migration, dispersal and genetic exchange of wild species. Hedges also contribute to the natural landscape character and provide cultural service delivery, including wellbeing⁴⁶.

Hedgerows are considered vital for the survival of many farmland plants and animals, especially in intensive agricultural systems⁴⁷. Studies have shown that the majority of the biodiversity on a farm can be conserved by appropriately managing uncultivated habitats such as hedgerows despite their small area relative to productive land⁴⁸,⁴⁹. Hedgerow plant species provide important pollen and nectar resources for a substantial proportion of wild pollinator species⁵⁰. A single hedgerow can support high numbers of species of fungi, plants and animals^{51,52}, depending on key attributes, such as provision of flowers and size. One study recorded 2,070 species of animals, plants and fungi in a single hedgerow in Devon over a two-year period⁵³.

In England, at least 21 of the 49 Section 41 bird species are associated with hedgerows and for 13 of these hedgerows are a primary habitat. Similarly, as many as 16 out of the 19 birds used by UK government to assess the state of farmland wildlife are associated with hedgerows, with 10 using them as a primary habitat.

Woody species richness has a positive effect on bird species richness⁵⁴, and invertebrate numbers⁵⁰. Three times as many movements of woodland birds have been recorded along hedgerows as across open fields⁵⁵. Similarly, butterflies⁵⁶, moths⁵⁷ and bumblebees⁵⁸ preferentially fly along them, while both bats⁵⁹ and hazel dormice⁶⁰ find gaps in hedgerow networks can limit day to day movements. The maintenance intensity of hedgerows is an important consideration as, intensively managed, low diversity hedgerows lack dormice⁶¹.

One study showed that hedgerow trees may be especially important for enabling macro-moths to move across an agricultural landscape⁶². Wood mouse density is also increased by the presence of hedgerow trees, potentially due to increased seed availability⁶³. Hedgerows can be an important source of decaying wood at a landscape scale, which is essential for large numbers of fungi and invertebrates, including many threatened and scarce species⁶⁴. Soil biodiversity is also enhanced by hedge presence in arable landscapes³⁹.

5.2. FIELD MARGINS

Margins taken out of production at the edge of arable fields are supported under agrienvironmental policy for their many proven benefits to biodiversity⁶⁵. For example, grassy field margins host more species and higher numbers of insects, spiders, wild plants, birds and mammals, compared to control cropped field edges. Margins sown with wild flowers or specific varieties of nectar-rich plants for pollinators are particularly beneficial for flower-feeding insects such as bees, butterflies and flies, although the types of insects that benefit depend on the specific plants sown.

Specific conservation-focussed management of arable field margins can also help support scarce and declining farmland birds, such as the turtle dove⁶⁶ and are valuable in supporting rare flora such as shepherd's needle⁶⁷. The provision of grass tussocks and beetle banks in field margins also provide year-round habitat for a number of invertebrate species⁶⁸. Vegetated field margins have also been shown to increase pollination services, pest regulation (see next section), nutrient cycling in the soil and off-site soil erosion⁶⁹.

5.3. CONSERVATION BIOLOGICAL CONTROL

Conservation biological control, or natural pest control, is the control of agricultural pests, including insects, plant pathogens and weeds, by naturally-occurring organisms in the agricultural ecosystem. Conservation biological control is a central element of Integrated Pest Management (IPM)^{70,71} and especially important in organic farming, where it is linked to increased crop production⁷², and could be responsible for up to 20% of cereal yields⁷³.

Conservation biological control can be enhanced through a range of management approaches, with carefully engineered solutions such as combining trap and repellent plants, and using attractant plants or chemicals such as pheromones to bring in natural enemies of pests, being among the most effective⁷⁴. Well-designed flower strips alongside arable fields also enhance natural pest control and can therefore reduce the need for insecticides^{75,76}, thereby reducing the direct and indirect adverse impacts of pesticides on biodiversity 77,78 .

Furthermore, relying on natural pest regulation enhances biodiversity, because it involves increasing the densities of wild species such as birds, insects, bats and spiders. Increasing the diversity and abundance of these species has been shown to increase pest regulation across a range of studies⁷². This can be achieved by diversifying agroecosystems at crop, field, and landscape levels, increasing the number of crop and non-crop plant types across wider areas over time, thereby enhancing floral and habitat diversity.

5.4. AGROFORESTRY

The inclusion of tree rows into agricultural systems can provide habitat akin to well managed hedgerows, with increases in agronomically

6. TRADE-OFFS

The implementation of NbS in agricultural systems needs careful consideration and management to balance the need to maintain agricultural productivity with the objective of reducing environmental degradation and mitigating climate change. This final section explores some of the trade-offs that may be associated with certain NbS.

6.1. YIELDS AND PRODUCTIVITY

6.1.1. HEDGEROWS AND FIELD MARGINS

Hedges deliver multiple ecosystem services (at field and landscape scales), with trade-offs being primarily in terms of taking up areas of potential production land and minor impacts on crops due to shade and water use (in dry conditions). Hedgerows may reduce yield in land adjacent to the hedge, through shading, with arable yields reduced by an average of 29% up to a distance of twice the hedge height away¹⁷.

However, almost certainly these disbenefits are outweighed by positive impacts on cropping including prevention of soil erosion, water retention, provision of habitats and food sources for pollinators and crop pests¹⁵. beneficial species such as spiders and ground carabid beetles in a manner similar to "beetle banks". These species may afford some benefits for pest control within the arable crop⁷⁹. However, non-beneficial fauna can also have an impact, for example lower crop yields linked to slug damage emanating from the tree rows⁸⁰.

A wide-ranging review found that the overall impacts were considered positive⁸¹, while a metaanalysis reported increases in natural enemy abundance (+24%) and decreases in arthropod herbivore/pest abundance $(-25\%)^{82}$. Agroforestry can also enhance biodiversity through acting as a keystone structure due to the high ecological value they can introduce into modified landscapes and they can also play an important role in facilitating climate change adaptation through the provision of ecological connectivity⁸³.

One important study has shown that the yield benefits from enhanced pollination and/or natural pest regulation balance out the lost yield when up to 8% of land is taken out of production and managed carefully as flower-rich habitat⁸⁴. Another study has shown that in soft fruit cropping systems (blueberry), flower strips more than pay for themselves in yield increases after four years⁸⁵. However, a recent large meta-analysis of data from 529 sites around the world indicates that the effect is not always found⁷⁵.

Flower strips and hedgerows can enhance natural pest regulation and pollination, especially at the field edges near the strips, but they do not consistently lead to yield increases. Yield benefits may take time to accrue and habitat measures must be carefully designed for specific systems to avoid a trade-off.

6.1.2. AGROFORESTRY

Although agroforestry in tropical and dryland systems have been shown to increase crop yields⁸⁶, there is limited evidence of these benefits in temperate regions. A study did find increased wheat yields in an agroforestry system relative to wheat in an open field and explained them with a reduction in evapotranspiration rate in the alleys⁸⁷. In some cases though, agroforestry may lead to a decrease in yields. This is particularly the case where arable crops are intercropped with mature trees⁸⁸. However, it is worth noting that reduction in crop yields may be more than compensated for when factoring in both the crop and tree components of the agroforestry system (for example through harvesting fruit), but better models are needed to elucidate the full effects of agroforestry on arable productivity⁸⁹. Furthermore,

when intercropped trees are less mature, yield may be improved in some situations⁸⁸.

More importantly for the farmer, and depending on the choice of trees, agroforestry can be as, or more, profitable than monoculture systems. Although the farm business becomes more complex, the diversification of income streams brings benefits, alongside wider opportunities for the local economy⁹⁰.

7. CONCLUSION

This chapter describes and assesses specific interventions that can enable arable farming to mitigate and adapt to climate change in ways that are beneficial for nature.

There is good evidence to indicate that hedgerows and taking field margins out of production for wildlife benefits are effective NbS in arable landscapes, catering for biodiversity and storing carbon. Agroforestry also has the potential as a NbS to increase carbon sequestration as well as enhancing climate change resilience through services such as providing a better microclimate. Conservation biological control is also considered a NbS that should be pursued because it can reduce the need for pesticide manufacturing (and therefore the associated GHGs), while enhancing biodiversity.

Arable cultivation is inherently a highly modified ecological system that does not traditionally lend itself to supporting nature and therefore many agri-environment interventions, including those to benefit the climate, can involve a reduction of arable activity and such trade-offs must be considered. It is therefore of high importance that the application of NbS in agricultural landscapes are researched further in order to establish both the direct and indirect impacts, positive and negative, of such interventions. Given the current opportunities to shape the re-design of UK farming systems, it is important to note that policies will be required to encourage and incentivise changes to intensive farming practices to deliver NbS at the scale desired - this will require careful design, implementation and crucially, rigorous monitoring once implemented.

CASE STUDY 1: ASSESSING AGRICULTURAL NBS FOR CLIMATE AND NATURE

One attempt to assess agricultural NbS has been undertaken by the Institut du Development Durable et des Relations Internationales (IDDRI) which modelled the application of agroecological practices at the European level to assess some of the potential climate, production, dietary and biodiversity consequences of such a shift at scale⁹¹. The key finding suggests the shift could secure approaching a 40% reduction in the GHG "footprint" of European farming compared to the 2010 level, before factoring in potential soil carbon sequestration⁹¹. Concomitant benefits to nature would come from the reductions in pesticides, creation of the "ecological infrastructure" and retention of high value grassland⁹¹. Crucially, the food produced would provide an adequate, but different, healthy diet for the European population.

Compared to other more ambitious scenarios of "net-zero" agriculture, the 40% GHGs reduction may appear rather modest. Such scenarios tend to rely on "sparing" farmland for uses such as forestry that sequester carbon and can benefit nature, but they need to be tested for their assumptions about the impacts of the required intensification to produce more food from less land. Offshored climate and nature impacts of feed imports would also need to be factored in. Moving forward the discussion of NbS in the agricultural sector needs a comprehensive analysis of the impacts in terms of food production, dietary changes, off-shored impacts, GHGs and environmental impacts of different scenarios to enable like-for-like comparisons to be made.

BOX 1: HEDGEROWS

Hedges are a NbS that has become part of our cultural landscape. They connect seminatural habitats in our intensively managed landscapes. They provide habitat, food, shelter and navigation routes for numerous species, reduce wind and water erosion, store carbon in soils and in biomass, increase water uptake and reduce pollution in both water and air.



Image 1: Hedgerows, Great Torrington, Devon © Robert Wolton

CASE STUDY 2: FARMER GUARDIANS OF THE UPPER THAMES INTEGRATED LOCAL DELIVERY ENVIRONMENTAL LAND MANAGEMENT SCHEME (ELMS) TRIAL

This partnership case study sets out a methodology for how farmers and communities can become resilient by working (supported by an adviser) as part of integrated partnerships in shared problem-solving. ELMS has the ability to be the conduit for such an opportunity, where the land is mapped with UK Habitat Mapping, and attributed ecosystem function to habitat type and management, then payments for public goods could underpin sustainable food production which can be invested from multiple sources. This process could be societally transformative. enabling and embedding re-localisation of food supply chains, building dynamic procurement systems underpinned by regenerative farming practice that deliver environmental duties and the potential to solve food inequality.

Aims of the trial:

- 1. To develop an effective natural capital survey methodology with farmers and partners from which public goods and ecosystem services could flow.
- 2. To assess the role and cost-benefit of a local adviser who can efficiently bring together different stakeholders to deliver multiple environmental outcomes at a local level.

Key outcomes and recommendations:

- UK Habitat Mapping recognised as the optimum platform for natural capital mapping as it is hierarchical and includes management codes that could be attributed to proxy measures around ecosystem function.
- Adviser provides a single point of contact for funders and landowners to maximise opportunities in natural capital investment from multiple sources.
- Landowners submit a verified natural capital map of their land that contributes to Local Nature Recovery Strategies, to help evidence the delivery of Net Gain and other duties such as flooding, air quality, biodiversity and climate emergencies.
- Government-funded advisers (1,000 nationally) to support and facilitate groups of farmers and communities working together across landscapes and catchments.
- Spatial analysis on the submitted maps can help inform local decisions for natural capital recovery and investment to the local economy from public, private and third sectors.

REFERENCES

- 1 Office of National Statistics (2019). Farming statistics provisional arable crop areas as at 1 June 2019, England. Results for arable crop areas from the June surveys of agriculture and horticulture. [https://www.gov.uk/ government/statistics/farming-statistics-provisionalarable-crop-areas-as-at-1-june-2019-england], [accessed 10th August 2020].
- 2 The Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering (2018). Greenhouse gas removal. [<u>https://royalsociety.org/-/media/policy/projects/greenhouse-gas-removal/</u>royal-society-greenhouse-gas-removal-report-2018.pdf], [accessed 23rd December 2020].
- 3 Eftec (2015). The Economic Case for Investment in Natural: Land Use Appendix. Natural Capital Committee. [https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/517008/nccresearch-invest-natural-capital-land-use-appendix.pdf], [accessed 10th September 2020].
- 4 Office of National Statistics (2020). 2018 UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Final figures. [https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/862887/2018 Final_greenhouse_gas_ emissions_statistical_release.pdf], [accessed 11th August 2020].
- 5 Land, D. and Johnson, S. (2019). Productive lowland peatlands. [<u>https://www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.</u> org/sites/default/files/2019-11/COIFens_ <u>ProductiveLowlandPeatland.pdf</u>], [accessed 10th June 2020].
- 6 Evans, C., Artz, R., Moxley, J., Smyth, M-A., Taylor, E., Archer, N., Burden, A., Williamson, J., Donnelly, D., Thomson, A., Buys, G., Malcolm, H., Wilson, D., Renou-Wilson, F. and Potts, J. (2017). Implementation of an emission inventory for UK peatlands. [online] Bangor: Report to the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Bangor.pp.88. Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/ library/reports?report_id=980 [accessed 10th November 2020].
- 7 The National Biodiversity Network. (2019). State of Nature 2019 Report [<u>https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf</u>], [accessed 10th Jan 2021].
- 8 Massimino, D., Woodward, I.D., Hammond, M.J., Harris, S.J., Leech, D.I., Noble, D.G., Walker, R., Barimore, C., Dadam, D., Eglington, S.M., Marchant, J.H., Sullivan, M., Baillie, S.R., and Robinson, R.A. (2019). BirdTrends 2019: trends in numbers, breeding success and survival for UK breeding birds. [https://www.bto.org/our-science/ publications/birdtrends/2019], [accessed 10th August 2020].
- Powney, G. D., Carvell, C., Edwards, E., Morris, R.K., Roy, H.E., Woodcock, B.A. and Isaac, N. (2019)
 Widespread losses of pollinating insects in Britain. *Nature Communications*, 10.
- 10 Macgregor, C. J., Williams, J.H., Bell, J. and Thomas, C.D. (2019). Moth biomass increases and decreases over 50 years in Britain. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 3, pp.1645-1649.
- Borin, M., Passoni, M., Thiene, M. and Tempesta, T.
 2010. Multiple functions of buffer strips in farming areas. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 32, pp.103-111.
- 12 D'Acunto, L., Semmartin, M. and Ghersa, C. M. (2014). Uncropped field margins to mitigate soil carbon losses in agricultural landscapes. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 183, pp.60-68.

- 13 Peichl, M., Thevathasan, N., Gordon, A., Huss, J. and Abohassan, R. (2006). Carbon Sequestration Potentials in Temperate Tree-Based Intercropping Systems, Southern Ontario, Canada. *Agroforestry Systems*, 66, pp.243-257.
- 14 Falloon, P., Powlson, D. and Smith, P. (2004). Managing field margins for biodiversity and carbon sequestration: a Great Britain case study. *Soil Use and Management*, 20, pp.240-247.
- 15 Wolton, R., Pollard, K., Goodwin, A. and Norton, L. (2014) Regulatory services delivered by hedges: The evidence base. LM0106 Report for Defra and Natural England. [http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Default. aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=None&Completed=0&ProjectID=19237], [accessed 17th August 2020].
- 16 Robertson, H., Marshall, D., Slingsby, E. and Newman, G. (2012). Economic, biodiversity, resource protection and social values of orchards: a study of six orchards by the Herefordshire Orchards Community Evaluation Project. Natural England Commissioned Report, Number 90. [http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/ publication/1289011], [accessed 10th August 2020].
- 17 Van Vooren, L., Bert, R., Steven, B., Pieter, D., Victoria, N., Paul, P. and Kris, V. (2017). Ecosystem service delivery of agri-environment measures: A synthesis for hedgerows and grass strips on arable land. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, 244, pp.32-51.
- 18 Haddaway, N.R., Brown, C., Eales, J., Eggers, S., Josefsson, J., Kronvang, B., Randall, N.P. and Uusi-Kämppä, J. (2018). The multifunctional roles of vegetated strips around and within agricultural fields. *Environmental Evidence*, 7, pp.14.
- 19 De Deyn, G.B., Shiel, R.S., Ostle, N.J., McNamara, N.P., Oakley, S., Young, I., Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Quirk, H. and Bardgett, R.D. (2011). Additional carbon sequestration benefits of grassland biodiversity restoration. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48, pp.600-608.
- 20 Fornara, D. D. and Tilman, D. (2008). Plant functional composition influences rates of soil carbon and nitrogen accumulation. *Journal of Ecology*, 96, pp.314-322.
- 21 Steinbeiss, S., Beßler, H., Engels, C., Temperton, V.M., Buchmann, N., Roscher, C., Kreutzinger, Y., Baade, J., Habekost, M. and Gleixer, G. (2008). Plant diversity positively affects short-term soil carbon storage in experimental grasslands. *Global Change Biology*, 14, pp.2937-2949.
- 22 Yang, Y. Tilman, D., Fuery, G. and Lehman, C. (2019). Soil carbon sequestrstion accelerated by restoration of grassland biodiversity. *Nature Communications*, 10.
- 23 Stutter, M.I., Chardon, W.J. and Kronvang, B., (2012). Riparian buffer strips as a multifunctional management tool in agricultural landscapes: introduction. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 41, pp.297-303.
- 24 Smith, J., Potts, S.G., Woodcock, B.A. and Eggleton, P. (2008). Can arable field margins be managed to enhance their biodiversity, conservation and functional value for soil macrofauna? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45, pp.269-278.
- de Vries, F.T., Thébault, E., Liiri, M., Birkhofer, K., Tsiafouli, M.A., Bjørnlund, L., Jørgensen, H., Brady, V.M., Christensen, S., de Ruiter, P.C., d'Hertefeldt, T., Frouz, J., Hedlund, Hemerik,L., Hol, W., Hotes, S., Mortimer, S.R., Setälä, H., Sgardelis, S.P., Uteseny, K., van der Putten, W.H., Wolters, V. and Bardgett, R.D. (2013) Soil food web properties explain ecosystem services across European land use systems. PNAS. 110:14296-14301.
- 26 Audsley, E., Stacey, K., Parsons D.J. and Williams, A.G.

(2009). Estimation of the greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural pesticide manufacture and use. Report prepared for crop protection association. Cranfield University.

- 27 Quinkenstein, A., Wöllecke, J., Böhm, C., Grünewald, H., Freese, D., Schneider, B. U. and Hüttl, R.F. (2009) Ecological benefits of the alley cropping agroforestry system in sensitive regions of Europe, *Environmental Science & Policy*, 12, 8, pp.1112-1121.
- 28 Pardon, P., Reubens, B., Reheul, D., Mertens, J., De Frenne, P., Coussement, T., Janssens, P. and Verheyen, K., 2017. Trees increase soil organic carbon and nutrient availability in temperate agroforestry systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 247, pp.98-111.
- 29 Schroeder, P. (1994). Carbon storage benefits of agroforestry systems. Agroforestry Systems, 27, pp.89-97.
- 30 Stutter, M. I., Chardon, W. J. and Kronvang, B. (2012). Riparian Buffer Strips as a Multifunctional Management Tool in Agricultural Landscapes: Introduction. *J. Environ. Qual.*, 41, pp.297-303.
- 31 Poeplau, C. and Don, A. (2015). Carbon sequestration in agricultural soils via cultivation of cover crops – a meta analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 200, pp.33-41.
- 32 Daryanto, S., Fu, B., Wang, L., Jacinthe, P-A. and Zhao, W. (2018). Quantitative synthesis of the ecosystem services of cover crops. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 185, pp.357-373.
- 33 Abdalla, M., Hastings, A., Cheng, K., Yue, O., Chadwick, D., Espenberg, M., Truu, J., Rees, R.M. and Smith, P. (2019). A critical review of the impacts of cover crops on nitrogen leaching, net greenhouse gas balance and crop productivity. *Global Change Biology*, 25, pp.2530-2543.
- 34 Mahammad, I., Sainju, U.M., Zhao, F., Khan, A., Ghimire, R., Fu, X. and Wang, J. (2019). Regulation of soil CO2 and N2O emissions by cover crops: a meta-analysis. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 192, pp.103-112.
- 35 Kaye, J. P. and Ouemada, M. (2017). Using cover crops to mitigate and adapt to climate change. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 37.
- 36 Wagner, M., Bullock, J.M., Hooftman, D.A.P., Nowakowski, M., Hulmes, S., Hulmes and Pywell, R.F. (2017). Assessing environmental tools for the management of blackgrass populations and enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services.
- Chen, P., Song, C., Liu, X-m., Zhou, L., Yang, H., Zhang X., Zhou Y., Du O., Pang, T., Fu, Z-d., Wang, X-c., Liu, W-g., Shu, K., Du, J., Liu, J., Yang, W., Yong T. (2019). Yield advantage and nitrogen fate in an additive maize-soybean relay intercropping system. *Science of the Total Environment*, 657, pp.987-999.
- 38 Anglade, J.,Billen, G. and Garnier, J. (2015). Relationships for estimating N2 fixation in legumes: incidence for N balance of legume-based cropping systems in Europe. *Ecosphere*, 6, pp.1-24.
- 39 Holden, J., Grayson, R.P., Berdeni, D., Bird, S., Chapman, P.J., Edmondson, J.L., Firbank, L.G., Helgason, T., Hodson, M.E., Hunt, S.F.P., Jones, D.T., Lappage, M.G., Marshall-Harries, E., Nelson, M., Prendergast-Miller, M., Shaw, H., Wade, R.N. and Leake, J.R. (2019). The role of hedgerows in soil functioning within agricultural landscapes. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, 273, pp.1–12.
- 40 Davies, Z.G. and Pullin, A.S. (2007). Are hedgerows effective corridors between fragments of woodland habitat? An evidence-based approach. *Landscape Ecology*, 22, pp. 333-351.
- 41 Natural England (2020a). Climate Change Adaptation Manual (NE751), Chapter 8: Arable Field Margins. pp.98-102. [http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/ file/6692597664055296], [accessed 10th March 2021].
- 42 Natural England (2020b). Climate Change Adaptation

Manual (NE751), Chapter 9: Arable Field Margins. pp.104-108. [http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/ file/6261134980284416], [accessed 10th March 2021].

- 43 Uthappa, A.R., Sangram, C., Handa, A.K., Newaj, R., Kumar, D., & Sridhar, K.B. and Chaturvedi, O.P. (2017). Agroforestry- A Sustainable Solution to Address Climate Change Challenges. ICAR-Central Agroforestry Research Institute, Jhansi, Uttar Pradesh.
- Muschler R.G. (2015). Agroforestry: Essential for Sustainable and Climate-Smart Land Use?. In: Pancel L., Köhl M. (eds) Tropical Forestry Handbook. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- 45 Stutter, M., Kronvang, B., Huallacháin, D. and Joachim, J. (2019). Current insights into the effectiveness of riparian management, attainment of multiple benefits, and potential technical enhancements. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 48, pp.236–247
- 46 The Research Box, Land Use Consultants and Minter, R. (2009). Defra Report NECR024, Experiencing Landscapes; Capturing the 'Cultural Services' and 'Experiential Oualities' of Landscape. [online]. Available at: <u>http:// publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/48001,</u> [accessed 11th March 2021].
- 47 Dover, J.W. (2019). Introduction to hedgerows and field margins. In: *The Ecology of Hedgerows and Field Margins.* Dover, J.W. (ed.). pp.1-34. Routledge, Abingdon, UK.
- 48 Evans, D.M., Pocock, M.J.O, Brooks, J. and Memmott, J. (2011). Seeds in farmland food-webs: Resource importance, distribution and the impacts of farm management. *Biological Conservation*, 144, pp.2941-2950.
- 49 Evans, D.M., Pocock, M.J.O, Brooks, J. and Memmott, J. (2013). The robustness of a network of ecological networks to habitat loss. *Ecology Letters*, 16, pp.844-852.
- 50 Garratt, M.P.D., Senapathi, D., Coston, D.J., Mortimer, S.R. and Potts, S.G. (2017). The benefits of hedgerows for pollinators and natural enemies depends on hedge quality and landscape context. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 247, pp.363-370.
- 51 Coppins, A.M. (2001). Wayside trees, hedgerows and shrubs. In: A. Fletcher, ed. Lichen Habitat Management. London: British Lichen Society.
- 52 Bosanquet, S.D.S., Ainsworth, A.M., Cooch, S.P., Genney, D.R, and Wilkins, T.C. (2018). Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Part 2: Detailed Guidelines for Habitats and Species Groups. Chapter 14 Nonlichenised Fungi. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.
- 53 Wolton, R.J. (2015). Life in a Hedge. *British Wildlife*, 26, pp.306-316.
- 54 Arnold, G. 1983. The influence of ditch and hedgerow structure, length of hedgerow and area of woodland and garden on bird numbers on farmland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 20, pp.731-750.
- 55 Bellamy, P. E. and Hinsley, S. A. (2005). The role of hedgerows in linking woodland bird populations. In: Planning, people and practice: the landscape ecology of sustainable landscapes. Proceedings of the 13th Annual IALE (UK) Conference. pp. 99-106.
- 56 Dover, J. and Sparks, T. (2000). A review of the ecology of butterflies in British hedgerows. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 60, pp.51-63.
- 57 Coulthard, E.J. (2012). Do moths use hedgerows as flight paths? An investigation of the use of linear boundary features by macro moths in intensive agricultural landscapes. pp 91-97. In: Hedgerow Futures: Proceedings of the first International Hedgelink Conference, Dover, J.W. (Ed.), Stoke-on-Trent.
- 58 Cranmer, L., McCollin, D. and Ollerton, J. (2012). Landscape structure influences pollinator movements and

directly affects plant reproductive success. Oikos, 121, pp.562-568.

- 59 Cowan, A. and Crompton, R.M. (2004). Bats in the United Kingdom, a landscape scale perspective: considering the importance of habitat connectivity and the threats posed by fragmentation. pp 301-306. In Smithers, R. (Ed). Landscape Ecology of Trees and Forests: proceedings of the twelfth annual IALE (UK) conference, held at the Royal Agricultural College, Cirencester, 21st-24th June 2004.
- 60 Bright, P.W. (1998). Behaviour of specialist species in habitat corridors: Arboreal dormice avoid corridor gaps. *Animal Behaviour*, 56, pp.1485-1490.
- 61 Bright, P.W. and MacPherson, D. (2002). Hedgerow management, dormice and biodiversity. English Nature Research Report 454. Natural England, Peterborough. [online]. Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/128028</u> [accessed 11th March 2021].
- 62 Slade, E.M., Merckx, T., Riutta, T., Bebber, D.P., Redhead, D., Riordan, P. and Macdonald, D.W. (2013). Life-history traits and landscape characteristics predict macro-moth responses to forest fragmentation. *Ecology*, 94, pp.1519-1530.
- 63 Gelling, M., Macdonald, D.W. and Mathews, F. (2007). Are hedgerows the route to increased farmland small mammal density? Use of hedgerows in British pastoral habitats. *Landscape Ecology*, 22, 019-1032.
- 64 Alexander, K.N.A., Bengtsson, B.J., Jansson, N. and J.P. and Smith, J.P. (2016). The role of trees outside woodlands in providing habitat and ecological networks for saproxylic invertebrates. Natural England Commissioned Report NECR225a. [online]. UK. Available at: <u>http://publications. naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4828234842112000,</u> [accessed 11thMarch, 2021].
- 65 Dicks, L.V., Ashpole, J.E., Danhardt, J., James, K., Jönsson, A., Randall, N., Showler, D.A., Smith, R.K., Turpie, S., Williams, D. and Sutherland, W.J. (2014). Farmland conservation: evidence for the effects of interventions in northern and western Europe. Pelagic Publishing.
- 66 Browne, S.J. and Aebischer, N.J. (2004). *Temporal changes in the breeding ecology of European Turtle Doves Streptopelia turtur in Britain, and implications for conservation*. Ibis, 146, pp.125-137.
- Wilson, P. and Plantlife. (2006). Scandix pecten-veneris

 UK Biodiversity Action Plan. [https://www.plantlife. org.uk/application/files/2414/7913/4088/Scandix_pectenveneris_dossier.pdf], [accessed 23rd December 2020].
- 68 MacLeod, A., Wratten, S.D., Sotherton, N.W. and Thomas, M.B. (2004). Beetle banks' as refuges for beneficial arthropods in farmland: long-term changes in predator communities and habitat. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 6, pp.147-154.
- 69 Mkenda, P.A., Ndakidemi, P.A., Mbega, E., Stevenson, P.C., Arnold, S.E.J., Gurr, G.M. and Belmain, S.R. (2019). Multiple ecosystem services from field margin vegetation for ecological sustainability in agriculture: scientific evidence and knowledge gaps. Peerj, 7.
- 70 Creissen, H.E., Jones, P.J., Tranter, R.B., Girling, R.D., Jess, S., Burnett, F.J., Gaffney, M., Thorne, F.S. and Kildea, S., (2019). Measuring the unmeasurable? A method to quantify adoption of integrated pest management practices in temperate arable farming systems. *Pest Management Science*, 75, pp.3144-3152.
- 71 Egan, P.A., Dicks, L.V., Hokkanen, H.M.T. and Stenberg, J.A. (2020). Delivering Integrated Pest and Pollinator Management (IPPM). *Trends in Plant Science*, 25, pp.577-589.
- 72 Dainese, M., Martin, E.A., Aizen, M.A., Albrecht, M., Bartomeus, I., Bommarco, R., Carvalheiro, L.G., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Gagic, V., Garibaldi, L.A., Ghazoul, J., Grab, H.,

Jonsson, M., Karp, D.S., Kennedy, C.M., Kleijn, D., Kremen, C., Landis, D.A., Letourneau, D.K., Marini, L., Poveda, K., Rader, R., Smith, H.G., Tscharntke, T, Andersson, G., Badenhausser, I., Baensch, S., Bezerra, A., Bianchi, F., Boreux, V., Bretagnolle, V., Berta Caballero-Lopez, B., Cavigliasso, P., Ćetković, A., Chacoff, N.P., Classen, A., Cusser, S., da Silva, F.D., de Groot, G., Dudenhöffer, J.H., Ekroos, J., Fijen, T., Franck, P., Freitas, B.M., Garratt, M., Gratton, C., Hipólito, J., Holzschuh, A., Hunt, L., Iverson, A.L., Keasar, T., Kim, T.N., Kishinevsky, M., Klatt, B.K., Klein, A., Krewenka, K.M., Krishnan, S., Larsen, A.E., Lavigne, C., Liere, H., Maas, B., Mallinger, R.E., Martinez, R., Martínez-Salinas, A., Meehan, T.D., Mitchell, M., Molina, G., Nesper, M., Nilsson, L., O'Rourke, M.E., Peters, M.K., Plećaš, M., Potts, S.G., Ramos, D., Rosenheim, J., Rundlöf, M., Rusch, A., Sáez, A., Scheper, J., Schleuning, M., Schmack, J.M., Sciligo, A.R., Seymour, C., Stanley, D.A., Stewart, R., Stout, J.C., Sutter, J., Takada, M., Taki, H., Tamburini, G., Tschumi, M., Viana, B.F., Westphal, C., Willcox, B.K., Wratten, S.D., Yoshioka, A., Zaragoza-Trello, C., Zhang, W., Zou, Y.and Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2019). A global synthesis reveals biodiversity-mediated benefits for crop production. Science Advances, 5, eaax0121.

- 73 Bengtsson, J.A.N. (2015). Biological control as an ecosystem service: partitioning contributions of nature and human inputs to yield. *Ecological Entomology*, 40, pp.45-55.
- 74 Dicks, L. V., H. L. Wright, Ashpole, J.E., Hutchison, J., McCormack, C.G., Livoreil, B., Zulka, K.P. and Sutherland, W.J. (2016). What works in conservation? Using expert assessment of summarised evidence to identify practices that enhance natural pest control in agriculture. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 25, pp.1383-1399.
- 75 Albrecht, M., Kleijn, D., Williams, N., Tschumi, M., Blaau, B., Bommarco, R., Campbell, A., Dainese, M., Drummond, F., Entling, M., Ganser, D., De Groot, A., Goulson, D., Grab, H., Hamilton, H., Herzog, F., Isaacs, R., Jacot, K., Jeanneret, P., Jonsson, M., Knop, E., Kremen, C., Landis, D., Loeb, G., Marini, L., McKerchar, M., Morandin, L., Pfister, S., Potts, S., Rundlof, M., Sardinas, H., Sciligo, A., Thies, C., Tscharntke, T., Venturini, E., Veromann, E., Vollhardt, I., Wackers, F., Ward, K., Wilby, A., Woltz, M., Wratten, S., and Sutter, L. (2020) Global synthesis of the effectiveness of flower strips and hedgerows on pest control, pollination services and crop yield. *Ecology Letters*. ISSN 1461-023X, pp.1-21.
- 76 Tschumi, M., Albrecht, M., Entling, M.H. and Jacot, K. (2015). High effectiveness of tailored flower strips in reducing pests and crop plant damage. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* B, 282.
- 77 Dudley, N., Attwood, S.J., Goulson, D., Jarvis, D., Bharucha, Z.P. and Pretty, J. (2017). How should conservationists respond to pesticides as a driver of biodiversity loss in agroecosystems? *Biol. Conserv.*, 209, pp.449-453.
- 78 Beketov, M.A., Kefford, B.J., Schäfer, R.B. and Liess, M. (2013). Pesticides reduce regional biodiversity of stream invertebrates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 110, pp.11039–11043.
- 79 Burgess, P.J., Incoll, L.D., Hart, B.J., Beaton, A., Piper, R.W., Seymour, I., Reynolds, F.H., Wright, C., Pilbeam, D. and Graves, A.R. (2003). The Impact of Silvoarable Agroforestry with Poplar on Farm Profitability and Biological Diversity. Final Report to DEFRA. [http:// sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&-Module=More&Location=None&Completed=0&ProjectID=8967], [accessed 11th March 2021].
- 80 Griffith, J., Phillips, D.S., Compton, S.G., Wright, C. and Incoll, L.D. (1998). Slug number and slug damage in a silvoarable agroforestry landscape. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 35, pp.252–260.
- 81 Marsden, C., Martin-Chave, A., Cortet, J., Hedde, M. and Capowiez, Y. (2019).How agroforestry systems influence

soil fauna and their functions—A review. *Plant Soil*, 453, pp.29-44.

- 82 Staton, T., Walters, R.J., Smith, J. and Girling, R. (2019). Evaluating the effects of integrating trees into temperate arable systems on pest control and pollination. Agric. Syst., 176, 102676.
- 83 Manning, A.D., Gibbons, P. and Lindenmayer, D.B. (2009). Scattered trees: a complementary strategy for facilitating adaptive responses to climate change in modified landscapes? J. Appl. Ecol., 46, pp.915–919.
- 84 Pywell, R.F., Heard, M.S., Woodcock, B.A., Hinsley, S., Ridding, L., Nowakowski, M. and Bullock, J.M. (2015). Wildlife-friendly farming increases crop yield: evidence for ecological intensification. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: *Biological Sciences*, 282, pp.1-8.
- 85 Blaauw, B.R. and Isaacs, R. (2014). Flower plantings increase wild bee abundance and the pollination services provided to a pollination-dependent crop. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51, pp.890-898.
- Kuyah, S., Whitney, C.W., Jonsson, M., Sileshi, G.W.,
 Öborn, I., Muthuri, C.W. and Luedeling, E. (2019).
 Agroforestry delivers a win-win solution for ecosystem services in sub-Saharan Africa. A meta-analysis.
 Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 39, pp.1-18.
- 87 Kanzler, M., Böhm, C., Mirck, J., Schmitt, D. and Veste M. (2018). Microclimate effects on evaporation and winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) yield within a temperate agroforestry system. *Agroforestry Systems*, 93, pp.1821– 1841.
- 88 Pardon, P., Reubens, B., Mertens, J., Verheyen, K., De Frenne, P., De Smet, G., Van Waes, C. and Reheul, D., (2018). Effects of temperate agroforestry on yield and quality of different arable intercrops. Agricultural systems. *Agricultural Systems*, 166, pp.135-151.
- 89 Werf, W.v.d., Keesman, K., Burgess, P., Graves, A., Pilbeam, D., Incoll, L. D., Metselaar, K., Mayus, M., Stappers, R., Keulen, H.v., Palmaf, J., and Dupraz, C. (2007). Yield-SAFE: A parameter-sparse, process-based dynamic model for predicting resource capture, growth, and production in agroforestry systems. *Ecol. Eng.* 29, pp.419–433.
- 90 Lehmann, L.M., Smith, J., Westaway, S., Pisanelli, A., Russo, G., Borek, R., Sandor, M., Gliga, A., Smith, L. and Ghaley, B.B. (2020). Productivity and Economic Evaluation of Agroforestry Systems for Sustainable Production of Food and Non-Food Products. Sustainability, 12, 5429.
- 91 Poux, X. and Aubert, P. (2018). An agroecological Europe in 2050: multifunctional agriculture for healthy eating. Findings from the Ten Years For Agroecology (TYFA) modelling exercise [online]. Paris. IDDRI-AScA,pp.3-57. Available at: <u>https://www.iddri.org/en/publications-andevents/study/agroecological-europe-2050-multifunctionalagriculture-healthy-eating</u> [11th March 2021].

FRESHWATER Systems

Authors:

Chris Spray¹ Edward Maltby² Laura Clavey³

Contributors:

N John Anderson⁴ Andrew Black¹ Catherine Duigan⁵ Michael Jeffries⁶ Alex Lumsdon⁷ Julia Newth⁸

- 1 University of Dundee.
- 2 University of Liverpool.
- 3 British Ecological Society.
- 4 Loughborough University.
- 5 Joint Nature Conservation Committee.
- 6 Northumbria University.
- 7 Independent.
- 8 Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Freshwater ecosystems hold high biodiversity. They will be particularly affected by climate change, with changing rainfall patterns increasing the risk of flooding and drought, and rising water temperatures impacting biodiversity. Along with improved water resource management, creating habitat resilience to climate change is a high priority and requires a "wholescape" approach of linked natural environmental and socio-economic systems from uplands to the sea.
- 2. Freshwater habitats play a critical role in the carbon cycle through high rates of respiration and sequestration. This is a complex area that requires further research to determine how the mitigation potential can be optimised through NbS. With the correct management, ponds are demonstrated effective carbon sinks, and should be an investment priority as they can be easily implemented across a wide scale in the UK.
- 3. Planting trees to shade and cool rivers can help to protect biodiversity, and the extension of riparian forests into headwater streams can create thermal refuges and moderate temperature changes.
- 4. NbS can be combined in a catchment-wide approach to manage flood risk, including tree planting, installation of log structures, creation of temporary storage ponds, removal of flood embankments and re-meandering. The current evidence base indicates solutions are effective, however most research has focused on small catchments and relied on modelling for upscaling. There is a need for consistent, large-scale empirical research in this area.
- 5. Cost-benefit analyses of the use of NbS to reduce flood risk have shown potential for high net positive returns. Many of these result from complementary ecosystem services rather than avoided costs of flood damage alone. Therefore, project appraisals should consider the multiple ecosystem services provided by NbS.
- 6. Changing floodplain connectivity results in potentially conflicting impacts, with some ecosystem services being synergistic whilst others conflict, and tree planting at scale may result in displacing other land uses and disturbing existing carbon stocks.
- 7. As NbS are best and most effectively delivered by local-based partnerships, the role of 'Trusted Intermediaries' is vital to facilitate local support, attract resources, and foster engagement of local communities and facilitate Citizen Scien**ce**.

2. INTRODUCTION

United Kingdom (UK) freshwater environments support a diverse range of habitats and species with over 40,000 lakes, 500,000 ponds and 400,000 kilometres (km) of rivers, in addition to streams, wetlands and groundwater¹. Freshwater systems and their associated habitats are already impacted by climate change both directly and in association with other drivers (see Figure 1). They will be increasingly impacted due to their sensitivity to stressors, including increased rainfall, rising temperatures and decreased number of days of lying snow, and because they support a disproportionately high proportion of our biodiversity². While attention has focussed on the direct impact of changes to precipitation patterns and temperature, increased water usage and changes in resource management³ may also result in widespread impacts which reduce the resilience of freshwater ecosystems to climate change. The result will be far-reaching impacts on biodiversity, socio-ecological systems and the human economy⁴. Therefore, enhancing the resilience of these systems, including response to projected increases in extreme drought⁵, is a high priority, yet freshwater systems also offer effective naturebased solutions (NbS) to deal with the challenges of climate change.



Figure 1. Evidence for changes to freshwater systems resulting from climate change (2016). Adapted from an original by Vasily Merkushev. Reference: LWEC Report $Card^4$

A "wholescape" approach that links natural environmental and socio-economic systems from catchment to coast is essential for the management of freshwaters, not only to maintain the ecological connectivity underpinning the wide range of ecosystem services they provide but also their ability to counteract the effects of climate change⁶. This requires the development of governance structures that can deliver an integrated policy framework able to address these issues in freshwater systems, including evaluation of trade-offs between freshwater services, other habitats including coastal and marine, and the needs of diverse stakeholders, including the environment itself.

NbS within freshwater systems can lead to the delivery of synergistic benefits. For example, maintaining wet conditions maintains biodiversity, attracts tourists, protects archaeological artefacts and reduces CO_2 emissions. However, other

services potentially conflict; higher water levels may reduce potential flood water storage and increase other greenhouse gas emissions. The identification and resolution of trade-offs between different policy areas and ecosystem services requires verifiable evidence to underpin integrated management¹. It should be recognised that the most effective solutions may be a combination of NbS and engineering options, rather than one or the other, and it is important to be clear that where NbS are implemented there may be trade-offs, for example large scale tree planting may reduce water resource quantity downstream^{7.8}.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

The mitigation potential of freshwater habitats is a complex area. Despite covering less than 4% of the earth's surface^{9,10}, evidence suggests that freshwater systems play an important role in the carbon cycle^{11,12,13}. Whilst the limited data available indicates large mitigation potential, there is uncertainty. Further research is required to understand the full effects and how these can be optimised through the use of NbS. Uncertainties surround such issues as:

- The interplay between a warming climate and its impact on methane formation;
- The increasing burial of carbon due to land use changes, including intensification of agriculture and the impact of related nutrients¹³; and
- Hydrological impacts leading to runoff-related increases in nutrients and soil erosion.

3.1. PONDS

Limited UK evidence indicates that the carbon burial and storage potential of ponds is promising when appropriate management practices are applied. One study reports an average carbon burial rate in typical lowland UK ponds (over 18-20 years) of 5.21 tonnes of carbon dioxide per hectare per year (t.CO₂/ha/yr) (range 2.90–9.06) once the pond is over 2-3 years old and vegetated¹⁴, but it is unclear how long such rates may be sustained, particularly at the landscape scale with shallow ponds subject to a range of pressures. Mature ponds with higher rates of vegetation are more effective at sequestering carbon.

Recent evidence shows UK pond sediments store relatively high levels of organic carbon, for

example a block of sediment one ha in area and 10 centimetre (cm) deep holds between 30 and 60 tonnes of carbon (t.C)¹⁵. Diverse vegetation appears to be the main factor driving higher storage, whilst surrounding land use is less important, suggesting that ponds could be effective across many different landscapes. There is limited evidence that the precise plant mix may be important, with common pond plants such as species of *Ranunculus* and *Sparganium* beneficial¹⁵. Newly created ponds may take three years before plant colonisation is sufficient to drive substantial carbon burial¹⁴ suggesting planting can be useful.

Under certain conditions, there is evidence to suggest that ponds can release greenhouse gases (CO₂) and methane) and this potential increases with warming and age. There are multiple examples from boreal/tundra ponds (see Holgerson and Raymond 2016¹⁶) and more limited examples of disruption to carbon sequestration by ponds dug out in saltmarsh (see Powell et al 2020¹⁷). Ponds can switch between being sources or sinks of CO₂ rapidly if they dry, although, diverse vegetation appears to reduce this. Therefore, maintaining the effectiveness of ponds over time as carbon sinks and as biodiversity hot spots poses a challenge for optimum site management. Furthermore, it is important to understand the lifespan of ponds, which is potentially limited by changing agricultural practices and natural infilling, and the impact this may have on their long-term potential as NbS.

Although ponds occupy a very small proportion of the landscape compared to other habitats, they are widespread throughout the UK in both rural and urban landscapes. Small ponds are relatively easy to create, and can be fitted in amongst diverse land uses, providing benefits such as slowing rainfall run-off into rivers, as well as being biodiversity hotspots, disproportionately rich in freshwater species, especially rare taxa¹⁸ and with benefits to terrestrial wildlife such as pollinators¹⁹ and farmland birds²⁰. Ponds are therefore particularly promising as solution that tackles biodiversity and climate change simultaneously.

Promotion of ponds and other small-scale NbS that deliver natural flood management, pollination and biodiversity gains requires a shift in land management support policies to encourage neighbouring land managers to implement multiple small measures in a joined-up manner so that cumulatively they add up to a wholescape impact.

3.2. RIVERS AND STREAMS

Inland rivers and streams play a significant role in the carbon cycle through moving carbon from the land to the ocean¹¹, where it can be absorbed, buried in sediments or released back into the atmosphere (see Chapter 7). However, rivers and streams are also a source of carbon²¹. This process is an important part of the carbon cycle which requires further research on how it can be optimised through NbS. Expansion of riparian woodland leading to absorption and storage of more CO_2 from the atmosphere can provide mitigation and is discussed further in Chapter 1.

3.3. LAKES

Research indicates that UK lakes may be both significant sources and sinks within the global carbon cycle²². Lakes have significant potential to sequester carbon either derived from terrestrial¹² or aquatic sources, or drawn down from the atmosphere²³, with a recent study finding that globally lakes bury 440 million t.CO₂/yr¹³. which has tripled over the last 100 years. Lakes are also sites of long-term sequestration, less likely to be impacted by infilling, land management strategies or infilling than ponds.

Over time, lowland lakes across Europe have experienced eutrophication, meaning they contain excess nitrogen and phosphorus as a result of land-cover change and agricultural intensification²³.

Research suggests eutrophication has increased the carbon burial potential of lakes ^{23,24,25}, with the highest burial rates being found in small, eutrophic lakes²⁶. A study of 90 European lakes, of which 60% were eutrophic, found an average organic carbon accumulation rate of 2.20 t.CO₂/ha/yr, which rose to \sim 3.67 t.CO₂/ha/yr for lakes that contained over 100 micrograms of phosphorus per litre, with a strong relationship being found between burial rates and phosphorous²³. Therefore, enhanced carbon burial by lakes may be a positive side-effect of the otherwise negative impacts of eutrophication, which include increased water treatment costs, biodiversity loss, ecological change and loss of amenity value lakes^{23,27,28}. However, eutrophication also results in increased emissions of other greenhouse gases (e.g. methane²⁹), therefore further research is required to determine whether restoration of lakes to clear water would result in them being a source or sink overall, as well as the impact on other ecosystem services of lakes. It should also be noted that a large proportion of UK lakes, the majority of which are in Scotland, are deep (> several metres), rather than being shallow or lowland in nature.

To a lesser extent than changes in nutrient balances, the net carbon uptake and burial efficiency may also depend on climate³⁰, the timing and strength of seasons³⁰ and the carbon source²³. Increasing depth has a negative impact on the sequestration potential although further research is required to determine why this is ^{31,23}. Although further research is required, evidence suggests lake sediments may switch between being a carbon source and sink³⁰ and, given the significance and scale of these fluxes^{32,30}, understanding this is essential to assessing the ultimate net effect of carbon processing and how this can be optimised through management^{12,33}.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

The importance of restoring riparian and wetland habitats (see Case Studies 1 and 2) to help adapt to the effects of climate change has been well documented³⁴, including the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) National Committee UK (NCUK) River Restoration and Biodiversity Programme³⁵.

4.1. CHANGING PRECIPITATION PATTERNS AND NATURE-BASED FLOOD RISK REDUCTION

As a response to climate change, it is predicted that patterns of precipitation will continue to change absolutely, seasonally and geographically, alongside increases in the frequency and severity of extreme events³⁶. UK Research has mainly focussed on the use of NbS for addressing these changes, often referred to as 'natural flood risk management' (NFM). This includes a variety of measures embedded in a catchment-wide 'wholescape' approach, including:

- Reducing rapid runoff generation in the uplands;
- Reducing flood conveyance along hillslopes and in river channels; and
- Temporarily storing floodwater on the floodplain, in ponds and other receptor areas, including sustainable drainage systems³⁷.

Several reviews have explored this in detail, as well as assessing confidence in the results^{37,38,39}, including the Environment Agency (EA)'s Working with Natural Processes (WWNP) Evidence Directory⁴⁰. Alongside traditional engineering, NFM can be utilised to help reduce flood risk and deliver a range of co-benefits³⁸, for example, land-based NFM can play a significant role in the protection of coastal habitats and fisheries⁶. However, despite growing interest both in policy⁴¹ and practice⁴⁰, there is a lack of consistent evidence for their

effectiveness. Whilst downstream reductions in flood flows have been predicted in several cases, almost all are from small catchments over short timescales³⁷ or relied heavily on modelling³⁸. In larger catchments, the ability to detect the impact of NFM is complicated by simultaneous catchmentwide responses to land use management changes, as well as environmental variability⁴². Partly as a result of these uncertainties and other socioeconomic barriers, uptake at meaningful scales has been constrained. This highlights the need for long-term empirical studies, combined with further evaluation of multiple benefits, and the integration of NFM into standard Flood Scheme Option appraisal policy and processes. To support this, policy changes would be beneficial, including updated business case guidance and the requirement for full assessment of the multiple benefits delivered by NbS⁴³, as well as reinforcement of policies to ensure no building in the floodplain.

4.1.1. COST-EFFECTIVENESS

The costs of flooding in the UK were estimated to be £340 million per annum in 2016 and are forecast to rise to £428 million with a two degree temperature rise scenario⁴⁴. The total economic damages for England from the 2015-2016 winter floods were estimated to be around £1.6 billion⁴⁵. Flood mitigation services provided by nature can reduce these costs and NFM measures are increasingly proposed as cost-effective ways to assist the provision of flood regulation, especially when considering the additional ecosystem services provided⁴⁶. There is an estimated willingness to pay of £653/household/yr for houses at risk of flooding to avoid intangible flood impacts⁴⁷. In Cambridgeshire, the flood protection benefits for farmers and homeowners from restoring the wetland in terms of avoided damage to crops and property were estimated to be £17,750/yr or £37/ha/yr⁴⁸. Data on wetland restoration show that in some circumstances,

costs can outweigh benefits⁴⁹. However, positive returns can be obtained from investment in sites with an average size of 100 ha, located in areas where economic returns are likely to be highest (such as in close proximity to large populations)⁴⁹, with benefit-cost ratios between 1.3 and 9⁵⁰. As noted in the Eddleston study (see Case Study 1) and elsewhere, the high positive net present value benefits of NFM are in many instances delivered by the multiple other benefits.

4.2. TREE PLANTING

Widespread woodland creation (by planting or natural colonisation) in the uplands and headwater gathering grounds can help to reduce runoff generation, though direct evidence shows an uncertain overall impact on flood flows⁵¹. It is however important to avoid planting of peat soils which would not naturally be forested and often required artificial drainage (see Chapters 1 and 3). Increasing tree cover has a small effect on reducing channel peak discharge⁵¹ and influencing fluvial flood peaks⁵². Woodland planted in the floodplain can slow overland flood flows, through increasing surface roughness⁵¹. Other studies show the importance of woodland, especially old broadleaved trees, in increasing the infiltration of precipitation into groundwater (5-6 times higher than in adjacent grassland), thus reducing the amount contributing to rapid overland flow and surface flooding⁵³.

Tree planting at the scale at which it would be needed to make an impact on flood risk creates trade-offs as it would displace other land uses⁵⁴, including peatlands (see Section 4.2) and agricultural production, as well as produce changes in carbon stocks. However, it can also benefit biodiversity and other ecosystem services^{55,56}. Negotiating the challenges that tree planting as a NbS will create with competing land uses will require an overarching policy framework such as illustrated in the Scottish Land Use Strategy pilot in the Scottish Borders⁵⁷ and more recently with the Welsh Government's Natural Resources Policy⁵⁸, and the Woodland Trust's recommendations⁵⁹.

CASE STUDY 1 – USING NATURAL-FLOOD MANAGEMENT MEASURES TO REDUCE FLOOD RISK AND IMPROVE HABITATS AT A CATCHMENT SCALE

Started in 2010, the Eddleston Water project is the Scottish Government's study on the effects of NFM on reducing flood risk and improving habitats at a time of rapid climate change. Working with 20 farmers, the project has re-meandered three km of river, installed 116 highflow log structures, created 28 storage ponds and planted over 330,000 native trees. These are designed to provide temporary storage of runoff in channel, floodplain or subsurface stores, thus delaying and reducing downstream flood peaks. Key findings include:

 Headwater catchments up to 26 km² provided with leaky wood dams, on-line ponds and riparian planting show increases in flood

peak lag time from 2.6-7.3 hours. The lag time increases with event magnitude.

 The flood peak in the upper catchment has reduced by c.30% post-implementation of measures, whilst the high flow frequency (at a one-year return period) has decreased by 50%. Even the downstream 69 $\rm km^2$ catchment gauge shows a 29% decrease in high flow frequency.

- Modelling landscape-scale tree planting under different climate change scenarios shows up to 40% reduction in peak flows, and flood peaks delayed by 45 minutes.
- Infiltration of rainfall into soil and groundwater beneath mature broadleaf woodland is between five and six times that under adjacent grazed pasture, which experiences greater surface water runoff.

NFM also provided additional ecosystem services benefits:

 Re-meandering the channel increased the area and diversity of habitats, with overall species richness increasing as habitat diversity increased. Aquatic invertebrates rapidly recolinised the new channels, which also had increased areas of habitat suitable for spawning salmon and parr.

- Using a 100-year appraisal period, the ecosystem services associated with NFM features already implemented is estimated at £4.2 million net present value (NPV) on top of £950,000 flood damages avoided, and at £17.7 million for an additional modelled NFM scenario, on top of £2.85 million flood damages avoided.
- Cost-benefit analysis of the modelled impact of extensive catchment afforestation on peak river flows under different climate change projections also show positive results.
 Benefits derived from climate regulation, aesthetic appeal, recreation and improved water quality contribute to a high positive NPV.



Figure 2: Eddleston Water Project Natural-Flood Management Measures (left, aerial photo © Tweed Forum; right, log jam © Chris Spray)

References: 60,61,62,55,63

4.3. RUNOFF ATTENUATION FEATURES AND TEMPORARY STORAGE PONDS

Runoff attenuation features 'slow and filter' surface water runoff in the landscape; for example, placing engineered log structures in headwater stream channels has been shown to potentially decrease flooding downstream⁶⁴. Empirical results from the Eddleston study (see Case study 1)⁶¹ show the impact of in-stream log structures and temporary storage ponds in delaying the rise in peak flood waters for a catchment of at least 25 km¹ Along with the creation of soil, wood or stone barriers across flow paths, and the removal of river embankments to enable water to spill onto the floodplain, these NbS can be effective for small one in two year events⁶⁵ in small catchments¹. However, there remain issues of how realistic modelling approaches are for upscaling this 66,67

and there is currently limited empirical evidence to support this for greater flood events or across larger catchments⁶⁸. However, research is emerging to show that small-scale micro catchment measurements slowing peak flow reductions can be combined with whole catchment modelling to demonstrate the implications of this at larger catchment scales⁶¹.

4.4. RE-INTRODUCTIONS AND SPECIES MANAGEMENT

The re-introduction of Eurasian Beavers to the UK has the potential to improve habitats and adapt to climate change, particularly by addressing catchment flood risk. Evidence for their effectiveness largely comes from the Scottish⁶⁹ and Devon's river Otter⁷⁰ studies. The creation of dams and ponds and other beaver activities was shown to attenuate flood flows, reducing peak discharge by 30%, total discharge by 34% and increasing lag times by 29%⁷¹. Beavers' impact on wetland vegetation is well studied^{70,72}, with evidence also for reduced sediment, nitrogen and phosphate^{71.} In plot trials, mean plant species richness increased by 46%, cumulative number of species by 148% and there were corresponding increases of 71% in heterogeneity⁷².

However, the reintroduction of beavers has raised significant issues around trade-offs, with clashes between sectoral views of the damage caused to angling and farming interests, as well as observations that beaver ponds are significant sources of methane and nitrous oxide emissions⁷³. Beavers received protected species status in Scotland in May 2019, but between then and 31st December, SNH licenced the shooting of 87 beavers, as well as approving dam removal/ manipulation to prevent serious damage to prime agriculture land⁷⁴.

4.5. INCREASING TEMPERATURES AND NATURE-BASED ADAPTATION RESPONSES

Evidence at the UK scale⁷⁵ and on the Dee in Scotland⁷⁶ show long-term warming trends of river temperature mostly related to increasing air temperature, but at the same time the contribution of snow melt in spring is declining⁷⁶. Water temperature can significantly impact the distribution, health and survival of aquatic wildlife, with species such as salmonids ceasing to feed at temperatures above 20 degrees Celsius (°C) and water temperatures above 30°C possibly being lethal to sensitive species. Given the pace of temperature changes, it is unlikely that freshwater species can adapt to upper temperature limits for survival, feeding and growth through evolution^{77,78,79,80}. Hence, it is likely that the longterm distribution of species will be driven by the availability of habitat which is thermally suitable. Summer 2018 saw unusually high air temperatures and low river discharges, with 69% of Scottish rivers reaching temperatures that cause thermal stress to salmon on one or more days⁸¹, on top of which increases in extreme drought are projected in the next few decades⁵.

4.5.1. SHADE TREES

The extension of riparian forests into headwater streams can moderate temperature changes, especially in temperature-sensitive zones of the stream network⁸². Modelling has shown that woodland planting would be most effective where channel widths are relatively narrow, the gradient is low (maximising water retention time) and, within the UK, a predominately southerly distribution of bankside trees to maximise shading. Spatio-temporal statistical models of river temperature can help inform management of Scottish salmon rivers, in particular riparian tree planting⁸³. Bankside cover as low as 30% can be effective in creating cold water refugia⁸². Empirical evidence shows that tree shade can reduce temperatures in small rivers on average by 2-4°C compared to unshaded streams⁸⁴. Extending riparian tree planting into headwater streams, whilst avoiding deep peat in upland areas is a high priority policy recommendation.

4.5.2. THERMAL REFUGES

River reaches which receive groundwater inputs will be least sensitive to air temperature rise and may allow species to survive heat waves⁸⁵. These thermal refugia are generally >2°C cooler than the surrounding ambient water temperature⁸⁶. They are typically created by riparian or landscape shading, higher altitudes, deep pools, or from the input of groundwater springs or cool water tributary inputs. During periods of heat stress trout and salmon thermoregulate by finding thermal refuges^{87,88}, hence these areas will have increasing importance as heat waves become more frequent.

Practitioners can use thermal refuges as a NbS by:

- 1. Ensuring potential thermal refuges are accessible, including prioritising fish passes and weir removals in areas which contain thermal refuges.
- 2. Protecting thermal refuges from pollution and abstraction.
- 3. Enhancing thermal refuges to ensure habitat is suitable and offer refuge from predation.

4.5.3. STANDING WATERS

Long-term studies on lake systems have shown significant temperature increases⁸⁹ particularly in areas of shallow water during the summer, when flows are low. Whilst further work is required to assess the impact of catchment land use change (e.g. afforestation) on standing waters and this mostly applies to shallow, smaller waters, it is clear that creating and maintaining thermal refuges by, for example selectively increasing depth and introducing shading is an important response to temperature changes.

Actions taken elsewhere in the catchment upstream, such as preventing channels from becoming wider, shallower and warmer, and by controlling bankside erosion and maintaining deep pools will all indirectly assist in managing rising water temperatures in the receiving standing waters themselves by restricting temperature rises in their inflows.

4.6. OTHER AREAS FOR ACTION

Replacing greenhouse gas-emitting fossil fuels with cleaner, renewable energies raises the potential for expansion of run-of-river hydropower schemes, but also of trade-offs with damage to biodiversity and riverine connectivity, notably in Scotland to salmonids, freshwater pearl mussels, bryophytes and other species⁹⁰. Other areas for potential action, noted by the UK's National Adaptation Programme⁹¹, include working towards reducing water leakage and addressing other pressures on water resources caused by behavioural changes in consumption, as well as the expansion into new areas of water-intensive crops.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

In the UK, freshwater habitats occupy a wide environmental gradient from clear, acid, nutrient poor waters in the uplands to more neutral, nutrient rich and biologically diverse systems in the lowlands⁹². Due to their dynamic nature, they support a rich diversity of biological communities, but the isolated nature of some populations makes them particularly vulnerable to climate change and other pressures. Freshwater habitats are essential to the lifecycle of both freshwater specialist species and species which move between fresh water and other adjacent habitats, including the sea. Within the UK, around 4,000 invertebrate species live in freshwater, including around 300 threatened freshwater species⁹³. There are 42 native freshwater fish in England of which eight species are of European importance and 15 are included on the UK Biodiversity Plan priority list⁹³. Lakes, ponds, rivers and streams are represented in the suite of sites designated as protected areas

of local, national and international conservation importance. Some habitats are nationally rare, such as tufa depositing streams, turloughs and marl lakes⁹⁴. Ecological connectivity is often highly important in the functioning of freshwater habitats, both within the habitats themselves and with the wider ecological landscape, where they can form part of broader mosaics of wetland habitat⁹⁵, thus reinforcing the need for a 'wholescape' approach to management.

Focusing on small wetlands within an agricultural landscape is very effective for conservation, as they are disproportionately rich in freshwater species, especially rare taxa, and with benefits to terrestrial wildlife such as pollinators and farmland birds. The importance of including runoff and flood storage ponds as NFM measures to reduce flood risk can be key to significant gains in freshwater plant biodiversity at both the site and whole catchment scale. The extent to which adding such adaptation measures to the full range of different small habitat patches across agricultural landscapes has been very effectively demonstrated⁹⁶, reinforcing the importance of taking an integrated catchment approach within the wholescape framework to NbS. This aligns both with the earlier policy recommendation for support of small-scale NbS connected across the catchment landscape and, at the international scale, with the UK being a signatory to the Ramsar Convention which requires the wise use of all wetlands.

Water birds are very well monitored and changes in the populations of many wetland species can be closely linked to hydrological changes. The breeding water and wetland bird indicator for the UK fell by 6% between 1975 and 2017⁹⁷. Where increases in wetland bird populations have been seen, it is in those species associated with areas of new reedbeds, flooded gravel pits and other restoration habitats, suggesting that this may represent excellent opportunities for NbS. There is also continuing concern about the general status of aquatic macroinvertebrates, including the impacts of agricultural run-off, as well as the localised impacts of pollution events. However, the UK State of Nature Report reports some recovery⁹⁷, of which improvements in water quality, hydrological management to restore rivers, and the creation of specific local-scale habitat features are likely to have played an important role, enhancing the potential for biodiversity gains from NbS. As demonstrated in Case Study 2 below, there is also a need to link freshwater policies to those covering estuarine, coastal and inshore environments (see Chapter 7).

CASE STUDY 2 – HABITAT CREATION AND NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT: WWT STEART MARSHES

The EA partnered with the Wildfowl & Wetland Trust (WWT) to design and create an extensive new wetland complex encompassing 450 ha of freshwater, brackish and saline habitats on the Steart peninsula near Bridgwater, Somerset. The project was completed in 2014, creating 300 ha of intertidal habitat, 75 ha of grazing marsh, 39 ponds and scrapes, and 5.5 km of new watercourses controlled by 20 water-level structures, plus the planting of almost 50,000 native trees and wetland plants.

Both the intertidal and freshwater wetlands provide natural flood management. The freshwater ditch network was redesigned to reduce local flood risk and, in doing so, the freshwater Stockland Marshes were created that attenuate and store floodwaters. Sensitive grazing and water-level management has led to the biodiversity value increasing with many species of wintering waterfowl now found in nationally important numbers. The recent colonisation of avocet has led to the establishment of the largest breeding population within the southwest UK and in 2020 black-winged stilt bred and successfully reared three chicks. A recent Odonata survey indicates the site now exceeds national thresholds for some species.

The 300 ha of intertidal habitat were designed to compensate for saltmarsh habitat lost through coastal squeeze, and the colonisation of saltmarsh plants and accretion of silt has been rapid. WWT has actively engaged with the scientific community to encourage research at the site. The research being conducted at the site may provide a model for evaluating the multiple benefits of future coastal realignment schemes and advance understanding in the blue carbon value of saltmarsh creation. Additionally, an Ecosystem Service Assessment has determined a significant overall monetary benefit of the scheme.

The main findings are:

- 300 ha of created intertidal habitat comprising of 250 ha from an open breach and 50 ha through a regulated tidal exchange.
- An estimated accumulation rate of 92 t.CO₂/ ha/yr has been calculated.
- 17 saltmarsh species including sea lavender, sea plantain and sea arrowgrass have colonised within five years.
- Wintering populations of avocet, black-tailed godwit, dunlin, greenshank, lapwing, little egret, redshank, shelduck, shoveler, teal, pochard and sanderling exceed nationally important thresholds.
- Visitor numbers have increased from approximately 11,000 in 2010 to >49,792 in 2019.
- A net annual ecosystem service benefit of between £491,155 to £913,752 has been estimated.

WWT Steart Marshes became an exemplar in working with natural processes on a landscape scale, creating extensive wetland habitat, reducing flood risk to local communities, storing carbon and providing an amenity for thousands of visitors to experience the multiple benefits of wetlands. As well as providing a vital home for wildlife, intertidal and freshwater wetlands, Steart Marshes provide a natural flood protection mechanism, averting the inundation of homes and fields.



Figure 3: WWT Steart Marshes Habitat Creation and Natural Flood Management $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ WWT References: 98,99,100,101,102,103

6. HUMAN WELLBEING AND Socio-Economic Value

As well as flood prevention, freshwater habitats provide socio-economic benefits including provision of water, improvement in water quality, recreation and education. In a UK based survey, the main benefits people received from visiting freshwater blue space were psychological, social interaction and exercise¹⁰⁴, and the presence of freshwater bodies in neighbourhoods has been associated with better mental health¹⁰⁵.

Studies of NbS catchment interventions provide extensive evidence for the benefits to society they provide⁷³. Whilst some lead to the delivery of synergistic benefits, including maintaining biodiversity, attracting tourists and protecting archaeological artefacts, other services potentially conflict; higher water levels may reduce potential flood water storage and increases in methane and nitrous oxide emissions may enhance atmospheric warming. Therefore, careful consideration of trade-offs is required. In this context, policy recommendations need not only to reinforce planning presumptions against development on current and historic floodplains, but also to promote active consideration of 'retreat' from locations at risk of flooding now or under future climate scenarios, with the land re-purposed for appropriate NbS to deliver flood risk reduction and biodiversity gain.

7. ASSESSMENT OF THE QUALITY OF THE EVIDENCE

The effectiveness of NbS at addressing climate change and providing biodiversity benefits is variable between measures and across scale¹⁰⁶. It is an area where further research and evaluation is needed.

The EA Evidence Directory⁴⁰ classed Floodplain restoration measures as low/medium confidence (reflecting a lack of empirical data and small scale); the planting of catchment woodland as high/ medium confidence (but recognising time lags for some of this impact) and Landscape storage as medium confidence (and, as adaptation measures relying on ongoing maintenance). Some measures, such as in-channel wood structures or beaver activity can produce quick direct responses; others such as tree planting may have extended time lags. The evidence for effectiveness of the whole suite of NbS measures to reduce flood risk is high for small catchments, for small scale flood events and over short time periods^{38,37}. However, upscaling the results produces much greater uncertainty and relies heavily on modelling³⁷. In this context,

empirical proof of significant delays in time to peak floods from BACI studies in the Eddleston is encouraging⁶⁰, as is work to extend this through detailed model development to larger catchments⁶¹.

At larger scales, influences acting across the wholescape such as differences in land use and land management, and in geology and connectivity to groundwater will further complicate simple cause and effect of NbS to influence temperature and hydrology^{107,108}.

BOX 1: THE IMPORTANCE OF TRUSTED INTERMEDIARIES IN FACILITATING DELIVERY OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

As NbS are best and most effectively delivered by local-based partnerships, experience shows the role of 'Trusted Intermediaries' is key to facilitating local support and getting the buy in of affected communities. They are also able to attract resources, including new sources of funding for delivery of multiple benefits, and support from local business and landowners⁴³, as well as fostering engagement by local communities and facilitating potential enhancements through Citizen Science. Whilst there is no specific mechanism or single governance structure for multi-level collaboration, organisations such as Tweed Forum and Westcountry Rivers Trust have demonstrated the advantages for delivery of NbS by their positioning between community, business and government interests^{57,109}. This approach is seen as key to successful NbS implementation, especially in comparison to traditional, top-down infrastructure solutions and approaches to climate change adaptation.

There is a policy need to establish a requirement for Partnership working at a catchment/ landscape scale (as e.g. legally required in the Flood Risk Management (Scotland) Act 2009); and for active support for the maintenance of catchment/landscape-based organisations acting as Trusted Intermediaries to deliver NbS.

REFERENCES

- Maltby, E., Ormerod, S., Acreman, M., Blackwell, M., Durance, I., Everard, M., Morris, J. and Spray, C. (2011). Freshwaters: openwaters, wetlands and floodplains. In: ed., *The UK National Ecosystem Assessment: technical report, Cambridge*: UNEP-WCMC, 295-360.
- 2 Garcia Moreno, J., Harrison, I., Dudgeon, D., Clausnitzer, V., Darwall, W., Farrell, T., Savy, C., Tockner, K. and Tubbs, N. (2014). Sustaining Freshwater Biodiversity in the Anthropocene. In: Bhaduri, A., Bogardi, J., Leentvaar, J. and Marx, S. eds., *The Global Water System in the Anthropocene. Switzerland:* Springer International Publishing, 247-270.
- 3 Rivington, M., Akoumianaki, I. and Coull, M. (2020). Private Water Supplies and Climate Change The likely impacts of climate change (amount, frequency and distribution of precipitation), and the resilience of private water supplies. CRW2018_05. Scotland's Centre of Expertise for Waters.
- 4 NERC. (2016). Water Climate Change Impacts Report Card. [Online] Living with Environmental Change. Available at: <u>https://nerc.ukri.org/research/partnerships/</u> <u>ride/lwec/report-cards</u>/ [Accessed 10 Jan 2021].
- 5 Kirkpatrick Baird, F., Stubbs Partridge, J. and Spray, D. (2021). Anticipating and mitigating projected climatedriven increases in extreme drought in Scotland, 2021-2040. NatureScot. Research Report No. 1228.
- 6 Maltby, E., Acreman, M., Maltby, A., Bryson, P. and Bradshaw, J. (2019). Wholescape thinking: towards integrating the management of catchments, coast and the sea through partnerships – a guidance note. [Online] Natural Capital Initiative. Available at: <u>http://goto.rsb.org.</u> <u>uk/rsbocly7</u> [Accessed 10 Jan 2021].
- 7 Afzal, M. and Ragab, R. (2019). Drought Risk under Climate and Land Use Changes: Implication to Water Resource Availability at Catchment Scale. *Water*, 11, pp.1790.
- 8 Hester, N., Rose, S., Hammond, G. and Worrall, P. (n.d.). Case Study 20. From Source to Sea: the Holnicote Experience. [online] The River Restoration Centre. Available at: <u>https://www.therrc.co.uk/sites/default/files/projects/20_holnicote.pdf</u> [accessed 22 Mar 2021].
- 9 Downing, J. (2010). Emerging global role of small lakes and ponds: Little things mean a lot. *Limnetica*, 29, pp.9–24.
- 10 Verpoorter, C., Kutser, T., Seekell, D. and Tranvik, L. (2014). A global inventory of lakes based on highresolution satellite imagery. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 41, pp.6396–6402
- Cole, J., Cole, J., Prairie, Y., Caraco, N., McDowell, W., Tranvik, L., Striegl, R., Duarte, C., Kortelainen, P., Downing, J., Middelburg. J. and Melack, J. (2007). Plumbing the global carbon cycle: Integrating inland waters into the terrestrial carbon budget. *Ecosystems*, 10, pp.172–185.
- 12 Tranvik, L., Downing, J., Cotner, J., Loiselle, S., Striegl, R., Ballatore, T., Dillon, P., Finlay, K., Fortino, K., Knoll, L., Kortelainen, P., Kutser, T., Larsen, S., Laurion, I., Leech, D., McCallister, S., McKnight, D., Melack, J., Overholt, E., Porter, J., Prairie, Y., Renwick, W., Roland, F., Sherman, B., Schindler, D., Sobek, S., Tremblay, A., Vanni, M., Verschoor, A., Wachenfeldt, E. and Weyhenmeyera, G. (2009). Lakes and reservoirs as regulators of carbon cycling and climate. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 54. Pp.2298-2314.
- 13 Anderson, N., Heathcote, A., Engstrom, D. and Globocarb data contributors. (2020). Anthropogenic alteration of nutrient supply increases. *Science Advance*, 6, eaaw2145.

- Taylor, S., Gilbert, P., Cooke, D., Deary, M., and Jeffries, M. (2019). High carbon burial rates by small ponds in the landscape, *Front Ecol Environ*, 17, pp.25-31.
- 15 Gilbert, P., Scott, T., Cooke, D., Deary, M. and Jeffries, M. (in press). Quantifying organic carbon storage in temperate pond sediments. *Journal of Environmental Management.*
- 16 Holgerson, M. and Raymond, P. (2016). Large contribution to inland water CO2 and CH4 emissions from very small ponds, *Nature Geoscience*. 9, pp.222-226.
- 17 Powell, E.B., Krause, J.R., Martin, R.M., and Watson, E.B., (2020). Pond Excavation Reduces Coastal Wetland Carbon Dioxide Assimilation, *JBR Biogeosciences*, 125, e2019JG005187.
- 18 Biggs, J., Williams, P., Whitfield, M., Nicolet, P. and Weatherby, A. (2005). 15 years of pond assessment in Britain: results and lessons learned from the work of Pond Conservation. Aquatic Conservation, 15, pp.693-714
- 19 Walton, R., Sayer, C., Bennion, H. and Axmacher, J. (2020). Opencanopy ponds benefit diurnal pollinator communities in an agricultural landscape: implications for farmland pond management. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, doi: 10.1111/icad.12452.
- 20 Lewis-Phillips, J., Brooks, S., Sayer, C., Patmore, I., Hilton, G., Harrison, A., Robson, H. and Axmacher, J. (2020). Ponds as insect chimneys: Restoring overgrown farmland ponds benefits birds through elevated productivity of emerging aquatic insects. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108253.
- 21 Marx, A., Dusek, J., Jankovec, J., Sanda, M., Vogel, T., van Geldern, R., Hartmann, J. and Barth, J. (2017). A review of CO2 and associated carbon dynamics in headwater streams: A global perspective. *Review of Geophysics*, 55, pp.560-585.
- 22 Clow, D., Stackpoole, S., Verdin, K., Butman, D., Zhu, Z., Krabbenhoft, D. and Striegl, R. (2015). Organic Carbon Burial in Lakes and Reservoirs of the Conterminous United States. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 49, pp.7614-7622.
- 23 Anderson, N., Bennion and H. Lotter, A. (2014). Lake eutrophication and its implications for organic carbon sequestration in Europe. *Global Change Biology*, 20, pp.2741-2751.
- 24 Anderson N., Dietz, R. and Engstrom, D. (2013). Land-use change, not climate, controls organic carbon burial in lakes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 20131278.
- 25 Heathcote, A. and Downing, J. (2012). Impacts of Eutrophication on Carbon Burial in Freshwater Lakes in an Intensively Agricultural Landscape. *Ecosystems*, 15, pp.60-70.
- Downing, J., Cole, J., Middelburg, J., Striegl, R., Duarte, C., Kortelainen, P., Prairie, Y. and Laube, K. (2008).
 Sediment organic carbon burial in agriculturally eutrophic impoundments over the last century. *Glob. Biogeochem.* 22, GB1018.
- 27 Pretty, J., Mason, C., Nedwell, D., Hine, R., Leaf, S. and Dils, R. (2003). Environmental costs of freshwater eutrophication in England and Wales. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 37, pp.201-208.
- 28 Smith, V., Tilman, G. and Nekola, J. (1999). Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*, 100, pp.179-196.
- 29 Beaulieu, J., DelSontro, T. and Downing, J. (2019). Eutrophication will increase methane emissions from

lakes and impoundments during the 21st century. *Nature Communications*, 10, pp.1375.

- 30 Reed, D., Dugan, H., Flannery, A. and Desai, A. (2018). Carbon sink and source dynamics of a eutrophic deep lake using multiple flux observations over multiple years. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, 3, pp.285–292.
- 31 Sobek, S., Durisch-Kaiser, E., Zurbruegg, R., Wongfun, N., Wessels, M., Pasche, N. and Wehrli, B. (2009). Organic carbon burial efficiency in lake sediments controlled by oxygen exposure time and sediment source. *Limnology* and Oceanography, 54, pp.2243-2254
- 32 Schiff, S., Aravena, R., Trumbore, S. and Dillon P. (1990). Dissolved Organic Carbon Cycling in Forested Watersheds: A Carbon Isotope Approach. *Water Resources Research*, 12, pp.2949-2957.
- 33 Benoy, G., Cash, K., McCauley, E. and Wrona, F. (2007). Carbon dynamics in lakes of the boreal forest under a changing climate. *Environmental Reviews*, 15, pp.175-189.
- 34 Natural England and RSPB. (2020). Climate Change Adaptation Manual – Evidence to support nature conservation in a changing climate. [online] York: Natural England. Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.</u> org.uk/publication/5679197848862720 [accessed 10 Jan 2021].
- 35 Addy, S., Cooksley, S., Dodd, N., Waylen, K., Stockan, J., Byg, A. and Holstead, K. (2016). River Restoration and Biodiversity: Nature-based solutions for restoring rivers in the UK and Republic of Ireland. [online] IUCN NCUK and CREW. Crew reference: CRW2014/10. Available at: <u>https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/ documents/2016-064.pdf</u> [accessed 20 Jan 2021].
- HM Government (2016). National Flood Resilience Review.
 [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>publications/national-flood-resilience-review</u>. [Accessed: 24 December 2020].
- 37 Kay, A., Old, G., Bell, V., Davies, H. and Trill, E. (2019). An assessment of the potential for natural flood management to offset climate change impacts. *Environment Research Letters*, 14, 044017.
- 38 Dadson, S., Hall, J., Murgatroyd, A., Acreman, M., Bates, P., Beven, K., Heathwaite, L., Holden, J., Holman, I., Lane, S., O'Connell, E., Penning-Rowsell, E., Reynard, N., Sear, D., Thorne, C., and Wilby, R. (2017). A restatement of the natural science evidence concerning catchment-based 'natural' flood management in the UK. Proceedings of the Royal Society A, 473, 20160706.
- 39 Lane, S. (2017). Natural flood management. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water, 4, e1211.
- 40 Burgess-Gamble, L., Ngai, R., Wilkinson, M., Nisbet, T., Pontee, N., Harvey, R., Kipling, K., Addy, S., Rose, S., Maslen, S., Jay, H., Nicholson, A., Page, T., Jonczyk, J. and Quin, P. (2017). Working with Natural Processes – Evidence Directory. [online] Bristol: Environment Agency. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/</u> government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/681411/Working_with_natural_processes_evidence_ directory.pdf [accessed 15 Jan 2021].
- 41 Spray, C., Ball, T and Rouillard, J. (2009). Bridging the water law, policy, science interface: flood risk management in Scotland. *Journal of Water Law*, 20, pp.165-174.
- 42 Environment Agency. (2015). Long term land use changes and flood risk: multiscale experimentation, monitoring and analysis. [online] Environment Agency: Bristol. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>publications/long-term-land-use-changes-and-flood-risk-</u> <u>multiscale-experimentation-monitoring-and-analysis.</u> [accessed: 24 December 2020].
- 43 MacDonald, M. (2020). Integrating natural capital into flood risk management appraisal. [online] Melrose:

Report to Tweed Forum, Melrose. Available at: <u>https://</u><u>northsearegion.eu/media/15157/integrating-natural-</u>capital-into-flood-risk-management-appraisal-report-v3. pdf [accessed 10 Feb 2021].

- 44 Committee on Climate Change. Infographic: Future flood risk in the UK. [Online] 2016. Available at: <u>https://www. theccc.org.uk/2016/01/15/infographic-future-flood-risk-inthe-uk</u> [accessed 21 Oct 2020].
- 45 Environment Agency, (2018). Estimating the economic costs of the 2015 to 2016 winter floods. [online] Bristol: Environment Agency. Available at: <u>https://assets.</u> <u>publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/</u> <u>uploads/attachment_data/file/672087/Estimating_the_</u> <u>economic_costs_of_the_winter_floods_2015_to_2016.pdf</u> [accessed 15 Sep 2020].
- 46 Dittrich, R., Ball, T., Wreford, A., Moran, D. and Spray, C. (2019). A cost-benefit analysis of afforestation as a climate change adaptation measure to reduce flood risk. *Journal* of *Flood Risk Management*, 12, pp.1-11.
- 47 Joseph, R., Proverbs, D., and Lamond, J. (2015). Assessing the value of intangible benefits of property level flood risk adaptation (PLFRA) measures. *Natural Hazards*, 79, pp.1275–1297.
- 48 Peh, K., Balmford, A., Field, R., Lamb, A., Birch, J., Bradbury, R., Brown, C., Butchart, S., Lester, M., Morrison, R., Sedgwick, I., Soans, C., Stattersfield, A., Stroh, P., Swetnam, R., Thomas, D., Walpole, M., Warrington, S. and Hughes, F. (2014). Benefits and costs of ecological restoration: Rapid assessment of changing ecosystem service values at a U.K. wetland. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4, pp.3875-3886.
- 49 Eftec. (2015). The Economic Case for Investment in Natural: Land Use Appendix. [online] London: Natural Capital Committee. Available at: <u>https://assets.</u> <u>publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/</u> <u>uploads/attachment_data/file/517008/ncc-research-invest-</u> <u>natural-capital-land-use-appendix.pdf</u> [accessed 10 Nov 2020].
- 50 Faivre, N., Fritz, M., Freitas, T., de Boissezon, B. and Vandewoestijne, S. (2017). Nature-Based Solutions in the EU: Innovating with nature to address social, economic and environmental challenges. *Environmental Research*. 159, pp.509-518.
- 51 Carrick J., Rahim, M., Adjei, C., Kalee, H., Banks, S., Bolam, F., Luna, I., Clark, B., Cowton, J., Domingos, I., Golicha, D., Gupta, G., Grainger, M., Hasanaliyeva, G., Hodgson, D., Lopez-Capel, E., Magistrali, A., Merrell, I., Oikeh, I., Othman, M., Mudiyanselage, T., Samuel, C., Sufar, E., Watson, P., Zakaria, N. and Stewart, G. (2018). Is planting trees the solution to reducing flood risks?. *Journal of Flood Rick Management*, 12, e12484.
- 52 Stratford, C., Miller, J., House, A., Old, G., Acreman, M., Duenas-Lopez, M., Nisbet, T., Newman, J., Burgess-Gamble, L., Chappell, N., Clarke, S., Leeson, L., Monbiot, G., Paterson, J., Robinson, M., Rogers, M. and Tickner. D. (2017). Do trees in UK-relevant river catchments influence fluvial flood peaks?. [online] Wallingford:NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology. Available at: <u>http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/</u> <u>id/eprint/517804</u>/ [accessed 10 Feb 2021].
- 53 Archer, N., Bonnell, M., Coles, N., MacDonald, A., Autun, C. and Stevenson, R. (2013). Soil characteristics and land cover relationships on soil hydraulic conductivity at a hillslope scale: a view towards local flood management. *Journal of Hydrology*, 497, pp.208-222.
- 54 Iacob, O., Rowan, J., Brown, I. and Ellis, C. (2014). Evaluating wider benefits of natural flood management strategies: an ecosystem-based adaptation perspective. *Hydrological Research.* 45, pp.774-787.
- 55 Dittrich, R., Ball, T., Wreford, A., Moran, D. and Spray, C. (2019). A cost-benefit analysis of afforestation as a climate change adaptation measure to reduce flood risk. *Journal*

of Flood Risk Management, 12, pp.1-11.

- 56 Perez, K. (2012). Eddleston Water stream restoration and potential land use modification assessment on flood risk reduction and other ecosystem services. MSc Hydro-informatics and Water Management, University of Newcastle.
- 57 Spray, C., Tharme, A. and Robson, D. (2014). *Scottish Borders pilot Regional Land Use Framework*. Scottish Borders Council.
- 58 Welsh Government. (2017). National Natural Resource Policy. [online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/naturalresources-policy</u> [Accessed 12 Feb 2021].
- 59 The Woodland Trust. (2020). Emergency Tree Plan for the UK. [online] Lincolnshire: Woodland Trust. Available at: <u>https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/47692/</u> emergency-tree-plan.pdf [Accessed 20 Feb 2021].
- 60 Black, Peskett, Macdonald, Young, Spray, Ball, Thomas and Werrity (in review). Natural flood management, lag time and catchment scale: results from an empirical nested catchment study. *J Flood Risk Management*.
- Hankin et al (2020). How can we plan resilient systems of nature-based mitigation measures in larger catchments for flood risk reduction now and in the future?
 FLOODrisk 2020. 4th European Conference on Flood risk Management, Budapest.
- 62 Archer, N., Bonell, M., Coles, N., MacDonald, A. Auton, C. and Stevenson, R. (2013). Soil characteristics and land cover relationships on soil hydraulic conductivity at a hillslope scale: a view towards local flood management. *Journal of Hydrology*, 497, pp.208-222.
- 63 Spray et al (2017). *Eddleston Water project report.* Melrose: Report to Tweed Forum.
- 64 Addy, S. and Wilkinson, M. (2016). An assessment of engineered log jam structures in response to a flood event in an upland gravel-bed river. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 41, pp.1658–1670.
- 65 Nicholson, A., O'Donnell, G., Wilkinson, M., and Quinn, P. (2019). The potential of runoff attenuation features as a Natural Flood Management approach. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, 13, e12565.
- 66 National Trust (2015) From Source to sea: the Holnicote experience. [online]. Available at: <u>https://nt.global.ssl.</u> <u>fastly.net/holnicote-estate/documents/from-source-to-sea-</u>--natural-flood-management.pdf [sccessed 15 Dec 2020].
- 67 Addy, S. and Wilkinson, M. (2019.) Representing natural and artificial in-channel large wood in numerical hydraulic and hydrological models. *WIREs Water*, 6, e1389.
- 68 Metcalfe, P., Beven, K., Hankin, B. and Lamb, R. (2018). Simplified representation of runoff attenuation features within analysis of the hydrological performance of a natural flood management scheme. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22, pp.2589-2605.
- Gaywood, M., Stringer, A., Blake, D., Hall, J., Hennessy, M., Tree, A., Genney, D., Macdonald, I., Tonhasca, A., Bean, C., McKinnell, J., Cohen, S., Raynor, R., Watkinson, P., Bale, D., Taylor, K., Scott, J. and Blythl, S. (2015). Beavers in Scotland: a report to the Scottish Government. [online] Inverness: Scottish Natural Heritage. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/beavers-scotland-reportscottish-government</u> [accessed 25 Jan 2021].
- 70 Brazier, R., Elliot, M., Andison, E., Auster, R., Bridgewater, S., Burgess, P., Chant, J., Graham, H., Knott, E., Puttock, A., Sansum, P. and Vowles, A. (2020). River Otter Beaver Trial: Science and Evidence Report. [online] University of Exeter. Available at: <u>https://www.exeter.ac.uk/creww/</u> <u>research/beavertrial/</u> [accessed 20 Dec 2020]..
- 71 Puttock, A., Graham, H., Cuncliffe, A., Elliot, M. and Brazier, R. (2017). Eurasian beaver activity increases water storage, attenuates flow and mitigates diffuse pollution from intensively-managed grasslands. *Science of*

the Total Environment. 576, pp.430-443.

- 72 Law, A., Gaywood, M., Jones, K., Ramsay, P. and Wilby, N. (2017). Using ecosystem engineers as tools in habitat restoration and rewilding: beavers and wetlands. *Science* of the Total Environment, 605, pp.1021-1030.
- 73 Lazar, J., Addy, K., Welsh, M., Gold, A. and Groffman, P. (2014). Resurgent Beaver Ponds in the Northeastern United States: Implications for Greenhouse Gas Emissions. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 43, 6.
- 74 Scottish National Heritage. (2020). SNH Beaver licensing summary report 1st May to 31st December 2019. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/sites/ default/files/2020-05/SNH%20Beaver%20Licensing%20 summary%20-%201st%20May%20to%2031st%20 December%202019.pdf</u> [accessed 12 Dec 2020].
- Hannah, D. and Garner, G. (2015). River water temperature in the United Kingdom: Changes over the 20th century and possible changes over the 21st century. Progress in Physical geography: *Earth and Environment*, 39, pp.68-72.
- 76 Pohle, I., Helliwell, R., Aube, C., Gibbs, S., Spencer, M. and Speza, L. (2019). Citizen science evidence from the past century shows that Scottish rivers are warming. *Science* of the Total Environment, 659, pp.53-65.
- 77 Elliott, J., and Elliott, J. (2010). Temperature requirements of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar, brown trout Salmo trutta and Arctic charr Salvelinus alpinus: predicting the effects of climate change. *Journal of fish biology*, 77, pp.1793-1817.
- 78 Forseth, T., Hurley, M., Jensen, A., and Elliott, J., (2001). Functional models for growth and food consumption of Atlantic salmon parr, Salmo salar, from a Norwegian river. *Freshwater biology*, 46, pp.173-186.
- 79 Larsson, S. (2005). Thermal preference of Arctic charr, Salvelinus alpinus, and brown trout, Salmo trutta– implications for their niche segregation. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 73, pp.89-96.
- 80 Jonsson, B. and Jonsson, N. (2009). A review of the likely effects of climate change on anadromous Atlantic salmon Salmo salar and brown trout Salmo trutta, with particular reference to water temperature and flow. *Journal of fish biology*, 75, pp.2381-2447.
- 81 Marine Scotland. (2019). Summer 2018 River Temperatures. [online] Marine Scotland Topic Sheet 143, Scottish Government. Available at: <u>https://</u><u>www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/</u> publications/factsheet/2019/11/marine-scotlandtopic-sheets-freshwater/documents/summer-2018river-temperatures-october-2019/summer-2018-rivertemperatures-october-2019/govscot%3Adocument/ <u>summer-2018-river-tempratures.pdf</u> [accessed 10 Feb 2021].
- 82 Hrachowitz, M., Soulsby, C., Imholt, C., Malcolm, I. and Tetzlaff, D. (2010). Thermal regimes in a large upland salmon river: a simple model to identify the influence of landscape controls and climate change on maximum temperatures. *Hydrological Processes*, 24, pp.3374-3391.
- 83 Jackson, F., Fryer, R., Hannah, D., Millar, C. and Malcolm, I. (2018). A spatio-temporal statistical model of maximum daily river temperatures to inform the management of Scotland's Atlantic salmon rivers under climate change. *Science of the Total Environment*, 612, pp.1453-1558.
- Bowler, D., Mant, R., Orr, H., Hannah, D. and Pullin, A.,
 (2012). What are the effects of wooded riparian zones on stream temperature? *Environmental Evidence*, 1, 3.
- 85 Carlson, A., Taylor, W., Schlee, K., Zorn, T., and Infante, D. (2017). Projected impacts of climate change on stream salmonids with implications for resilience?based management. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 26, pp.190-204.
- 86 Torgersen, C., Ebersole, J., and Keenan, D. (2012). Primer for identifying cold-water refuges to protect and restore

thermal diversity in riverine landscapes. [online] Seattle: Environmental Protection Agency. Available at: <u>http://</u>faculty.washington.edu/cet6/pub/Torgersen_etal_2012_ cold_water_refuges.pdf [accessed 12 Dec 2020].

- 87 Brewitt, K., and Danner, E. (2014). Spation temperature variation influences juvenile steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) use of thermal refuges. *Ecosphere*, 5, pp.1-26.
- 88 Torgersen, C., Price, D., Li, H., and McIntosh, B. (1999). Multiscale thermal refugia and stream habitat associations of chinook salmon in northeastern Oregon. *Ecological Applications*, 9, pp.301-319.
- 89 May, L. and Spears, B. (2012). Loch Leven: 40 years of Scientific Research. *Hydrobiologia*, 681, pp.3-9.
- 90 Anderson, D., Moggridge, H., Warren, P. and Shucksmith, J. (2015). The impacts of 'run?of?river' hydropower on the physical and ecological condition of rivers. *Water and Environment*, 29, pp.268–276.
- 91 Defra. (2018). The UK National Adaptation Programme and the Third Strategy for Climate Adaptation Reporting: Making the country resilient to a changing climate. [online]. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.</u> <u>gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/727252/national-adaptation-programme-2018.pdf</u> [Accessed 15 Dec 2020].
- 92 Joint Nature Conservation Committee. (2015). UK Terrestrial & Freshwater Habitat Types: Freshwater Habitat descriptions. [online]. Available at: <u>https://data.</u> jncc.gov.uk/data/b0b5e833-7300-4234-8ae5-bdbf326e854c/ habitat-types-freshwater.pdf [accessed 15 Jan 2021].
- 93 Natural England. (2008). State of the Natural Environment Report. [Online]. Available at: <u>http://publications.</u> <u>naturalengland.org.uk/publication/31043</u> [accessed 15 Jan 2021].
- Mainstone, C., Hall, R. and Hatton-Ellis, T., Boon, P., Bean, C., and Lee, A. (2018). Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Part 2: Detailed Guidelines for Habitats and Species Groups. Chapter 6 Freshwater habitats. [online] Peterborough: JNCC. Available at: <u>https://hub.jncc. gov.uk/assets/3e03b1ee-a9ba-4437-90f7-782a49af9cfd</u> [Accessed 20 Dec 2020].
- 95 Ormerod, S., Durance, I., Hatton-Ellis, T. and Cable, J. (2011). Landscape Connectivity of Freshwater Ecosystems: Strategic Review and Recommendations. CCW Contract Science Report No. 932. Bangor: CCW, pp.117.
- 96 Williams, P., Biggs, J., Stoate, C., Szczur, J., Brown, C. and Bonney, S. (2020). Nature based measures increase freshwater biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Biological Conservation*, 244, 108515.
- Hayhow, D., Eaton, M., Stanbury, A., Burns, F., Kirby, W., Bailey, N., Beckmann, B., Bedford, J., Boersch-Supan, P., Coomber, F., Dennis, E., Dolman, S., Dunn, E., Hall, J., Harrower, C., Hatfield, J., Hawley, J., Haysom, K., Hughes, J., Johns, D., Mathews, F., McQuatters-Gollop, A., Noble, D., Outhwaite, C., Pearce-Higgins, J., Pescott, O., Powney, G. and Symes, N. (2019). The State of Nature 2019. [online] The State of Nature partnership. Available at: <u>https://nbn. org.uk/stateofnature2019</u>/ [accessed 15 Jan 2021].
- 98 Dunk, R. and Mossman, H. (unpublished data). Manchester Metropolitan University
- 99 Lawrence, P. (2018) How to create a saltmarsh: understanding the roles of topography, redox and nutrient dynamics. Doctoral thesis (PhD). [online] Manchester Metropolitan University. Available at: <u>https://e-space.</u> <u>mmu.ac.uk/620851/</u> [accessed 15 sep 2020].
- 100 Scott, J., Pontee, N., McGrath, T., Cox, R. and Philips, M. (2015) Delivering large habitat restoration schemes: lessons from the Steart Coastal Management Project.

Coastal Management 2015, Changing Coast, Changing Climate, Changing Minds, 7 - 9 September.

- 101 da Silva, L., (2014). Ecosystem services assessment at Steart Peninsula, Somerset, UK. *Ecosystem Services*, 10, pp.19-34.
- 102 Smallshire, D., Smallshire, S., Swash, A., Swash, G. and Stamp, C. (2019). Steart Marshes WWT – Odonata Survey Report.
- 103 Wall, S. and Cockram, J. (2019). Winter Waterbird Usage of WWT Steart Marshes (2018-2019) Report.
- 104 de Bell, S., Graham, H., Jarvis, S. and White, P. (2017). The importance of nature in mediating social and psychological benefits associated with visits to freshwater blue space. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 167, pp.118-127.
- 105 Pasanen, T., White, M., Wheeler, B., Garrett, J. and Elliott, L. (2019). Neighbourhood blue space, health and wellbeing: The mediating role of different types of physical activity. *Environment International*, 131, 105016.
- 106 The Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. (2020). Natural Mitigation of Flood Risk. UK Parliament POSTNOTE 623. [online] London: UK Parliament Post. Available at: <u>https://post.parliament.uk/researchbriefings/post-pn-0623/</u> [accessed 10 Jan 2021].
- 107 Scheliga, B, Tetzlaffa, A., Nuetzmann,G. and Soulsby, C. (2018). Groundwater dynamics at the hillslope–riparian interface in a year with extreme winter rainfall. *Journal of Hydrology*, 564, pp.509-528
- 108 Ó Dochartaigh, B., Archer, N., Peskett, L., MacDonald, A., Black, A., Auton, C., Merritt, J., Gooddy, D., and Bonell, M. (2018). Geological structure as a control on floodplain groundwater dynamics. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 27, pp.703–716.
- 109 Rouillard, J. and Spray, C. (2017). Working across scales in integrated catchment management: lessons learned for adaptive water governance from regional experiences. *Regional Environmental Change*, 17, pp.1869-1880.

COASTAL AND MARINE SYSTEMS

Authors:

Rick Stafford¹ Matthew Ashley² Laura Clavey³ Luciana S. Esteves¹ Natalie Hicks⁴ Audrey Jones⁵ Paul Leonard⁶ Tiziana Luisetti⁷ Angela Martin⁸ Ruth Parker⁷ Siân Rees² Michaela Schratzberger⁷ Richard Unsworth⁹

- 1 Bournemouth University.
- 2 University of Plymouth.
- 3 British Ecological Society.
- 4 University of Essex.
- 5 Sussex Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority.
- 6 Independent.
- 7 Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science.
- 8 Centre for Coastal Research, University of Agder.
- 9 Swansea University.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. Marine and coastal ecosystems can contain and absorb significant amounts of carbon, especially given the large area some habitats occupy. There is significant restoration potential for habitats such as seagrass and saltmarsh, given the historic loss of these habitats through pollution and development.
- 2. Saltmarsh and seagrass are important carbon sinks which can be managed or restored through NbS as part of a national carbon budget. Continental shelf sediments, while having lower sequestration rates, show great potential for carbon sequestration due to covering a large area, but more uncertainties exist in the data. Kelp and other seaweeds are likely to have a role in carbon sequestration, however research into this role is still in its infancy.
 - Saltmarsh: typical UK sequestration rate of 4.40–5.50 t.CO₂/ha/yr
 - Seagrass: average sequestration rate of $5.06 \pm 1.39 \text{ t.CO}_2/\text{ha/yr}$ (specific UK figures not available)
 - Continental shelf sediments: sequestration rate of 0.06 t.CO₂/ha/yr
 - Kelp and other seaweeds: initial estimated sequestration rate of 1.47 t.CO₂/ha/yr
- 3. Sequestration rates are calculated differently than in terrestrial habitats, so direct comparison to terrestrial NbS in terms of climate change mitigation is difficult.
- 4. Marine fauna and flora play a large role in ocean carbon cycles and will influence the carbon flux in and out of oceans. Quantifying the direct role of fauna, and indirectly of fisheries, on carbon cycles is uncertain but is an area for further research.
- 5. As well as providing climate change mitigation services, coastal ecosystems provide protection from storm waves and alleviate coastal flooding. The potential for saltmarsh creation when addressing coastal defence issues is high. Coastal ecosystems also have high biodiversity, contribute to ecosystem services, especially as nursery grounds for fish, and provide human wellbeing benefits. Therefore, investment in NbS that restore or protect coastal environment is an effective mechanism of achieving a range of co-benefits with few trade-offs.
- 6. Protecting and enhancing NbS in marine and coastal habitats requires consideration of fisheries regulations, particularly gear types which disturb the substrate, as well as effective management of marine protected areas for vulnerable habitats and dedicated restoration of habitats (saltmarsh and seagrass especially).
2. INTRODUCTION

The oceans absorb around 30% of anthropogenically produced carbon globally, as well as converting between 50-70% of carbon dioxide (CO_2) into oxygen via algal photosynthesis^{1,2,3}. United Kingdom (UK) waters (not including overseas territories) are ~3.5 times greater in area than the land mass⁴, meaning NbS in the ocean could play a very significant role as a carbon sink in the UK's carbon budget. This chapter reviews the carbon sequestration potential of marine habitats (often referred to as Blue Carbon), alongside the benefits to adaptation and biodiversity that they bring. It considers threats and appropriate management measures to ensure these benefits are maintained and maximised in the future.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

Carbon sequestration in marine systems is usually calculated differently to terrestrial systems, making direct comparisons between habitats difficult. Within marine systems, sequestration is calculated from the rate at which carbon is buried in sediments⁵, whereas biomass increases or direct flux measurement are important in terrestrial systems such as forests⁶. The assumption that non-buried organic matter is eaten or decomposed and respired is highly possible, given the high consumer to producer biomass ratio in marine systems⁷ but more work is needed to adequately compare marine and terrestrial systems.

3.1. SEAGRASS AND SALTMARSH

3.1.1. OVERVIEW

Seagrass and saltmarsh are well established marine habitats for carbon sequestration. Currently their geographical extent is limited, and reduced from historic levels, but restoration is possible. However, restored habitats may take time to achieve the same carbon sequestration benefits as established areas.

3.1.2. DETAIL

The capacity of seagrasses to both store and sequester carbon is well established, however, the extent of storage and sequestration is highly variable, related to environmental conditions and life history differences between species⁸. A global study of carbon storage in seagrass sediments over the first one metre of depth finds carbon stocks to vary from 23 to 352 tonnes of carbon per hectare $(t.C/ha)^9$, with values from the UK falling approximately within the ranges 98 to 380 t.C/ ha¹⁰. The sequestration rate of this carbon also varies, but data and understanding are much more limited. On average $5.06 \pm 1.39 t.CO_2/ha/year$ (yr) (mean \pm standard error, range = 1.65-6.97) is stored. The large range reflects environmental and species differences¹¹.

The extent of seagrass in the UK has recently been estimated at 8,493 ha¹². There is considerable potential to restore recently lost seagrass (see Case Study 2), with estimates showing that existing seagrass beds have declined by up to 50% in the last 25 years¹³ and potentially up to 92% of historic seagrass has been lost in the UK¹². Although there are no UK values for restored seagrass beds at present, lower sequestration rates of 1.32 t.CO₂/ha/yr were recorded in newly restored meadows of common eelgrass (Zostera marina) in Chesapeake Bay, United States of America (US)¹⁴. A high proportion of the carbon stored in seagrass meadows is thought to have originated outside the marine system (e.g. transported by rivers), reflecting the high capacity of these systems to trap particles from terrestrial and coastal ecosystems. This is particularly the case for common eelgrass $(>50\%)^9$. The long-term storage

of carbon is highly stable, possibly remaining intact for many thousands of years, however human disturbance can destabilise this storage and release greenhouse gasses¹⁵. Costs of restoration from projects around the world are estimated at ~ 100,000/ha (~ f.70,000/ha)¹⁶.

Saltmarshes have been identified as important coastal NbS^{17,18}, due to their ability to sequester more carbon per unit area than many other coastal habitats. Sequestration rates in UK saltmarsh range from 2.35 to 8.07 t.CO₂/ha/yr, with typical figures around 4.40–5.50 t.CO₂/ha/yr¹⁹. Saltmarsh habitats are often under-represented in carbon budgets due to their lower total area compared to habitats such as woodland or grassland (estimates at ~ 46,000 ha²⁰) but knowledge of their importance as carbon sources and sinks is rapidly expanding¹⁸. Saltmarshes provide an ideal carbon store, with typically high plant productivity, slow organic deposition in anaerobic sediments²¹, and a low energy environment which traps a lot of organic matter²².

Newly restored areas, often created through managed realignment projects (see Section 4), have carbon sequestration rates of up to 3.81 t.CO₂/ha/ yr during the first 20 years, slowing to a steady rate of around 2.38 t.CO₂/ha/yr thereafter²³. This is lower than typical rates from natural habitats, likely due to different community composition of restored systems²⁴, however total carbon storage at around 65-70 t.C/ha of both restored and natural saltmarshes is assumed to be equivalent after approximately 100 years²³. There is large potential for future saltmarsh creation. Over 3000 ha has been created in the UK through managed realignment between 1990 and 2015²⁵, although it is noted that this potential is more restricted in Scotland²⁶. Shoreline Management Plans, which set the strategic policy direction for coastal management taking into consideration the risks, set a target of 6,200 ha of saltmarsh by 2030 within England²⁷. The average rate of habitat creation between 2000 and 2016 has been around 130 ha per year and would need to triple to meet this target²⁷ (see Case Study 3 for further detail).

The cost of restoration is relatively high but can be cost-effective when considering climate adaptation benefits of reduced coastal protection costs (see Section 4). The Environment Agency generally works to a guideline figure of £10,000 /ha (2006 price levels). However, the costs can run to over twice this figure, particularly when significant engineering is required²⁵, with figures of \$67,000 /ha ($\sim \pm 50,000$ /ha) reported from projects occurring worldwide²⁸.

3.2. MARINE SEDIMENTS

3.2.1. OVERVIEW

Sediments including sand and mud trap organic matter, and comprise the majority of the seabed, both in UK waters and worldwide. Vegetated habitats growing in sediments, such as seagrass, sequester considerably more carbon per unit area than nonvegetated sediments, however, all sediments will play a role³⁵. There is a growing and established evidence base that continental shelf sediments sequester and store high quantities of carbon. While this rate per unit area is significantly lower than vegetated coastal habitat such as seagrass or saltmarsh, the geographical extent of these habitats is very large, making them an important carbon sink.

3.2.2. DETAIL

Continental shelf sediments cover approximately 9% of the UK Exclusive Economic Zone waters²⁹, the equivalent of seven million ha, which is over 130 times greater an area than seagrass and saltmarsh combined. There is growing consensus that shelf sediments are an important carbon store^{30,31,32,33}. For example, it is suggested shelf sediments currently store 205 million tonnes of carbon and can sequester 388,667 t.CO₂/yr, or 0.06 t.CO₂/ha/yr²⁹. While this is lower per unit area than saltmarsh and seagrass, it is in total a far greater amount of carbon (Luisetti et al. 2019 report 135,667 t.CO₂/yr from saltmarsh and 9,167 t.CO₂/ yr from seagrass²⁹). However, significant evidence gaps remain in understanding the full CO₂ storage and sequestration services provided by these continental shelf carbon sink habitats, especially sedimentation rates and release through seabed disturbance such as trawling. More research is required to improve their role in contributing to carbon sequestration³⁴.

3.3. MACROALGAE

3.3.1. OVERVIEW

There is growing evidence on the importance of macroalgae in sequestering carbon, although at present, the magnitude of the effect is hard to evaluate.

3.3.2. DETAIL

Kelp, likely the most important algae in the carbon cycle, is estimated to cover around 200,000 ha in Scotland (the only UK location where habitat extent has been calculated)³⁵. Given its high prevalence in Scottish waters including sea lochs, and the lack of suitable substrate for kelp growth around much of south-eastern England, it is unlikely that the total amount would exceed 400,000 ha throughout UK waters, although it is suggested there is scope for restoration to two million ha (including waters in the Republic of Ireland)³⁶. The cost of restoration is largely unknown.

Kelp is highly productive and has a rapid growth rate. Most kelp growth is eaten by grazers, and ultimately turned back into CO_2 through respiration. However, new evidence suggests that around 5% of kelp could be sequestered and stored in marine sediments^{37,38,39,40,41,42,43}. Based on productivity figures for Scottish kelp beds³⁵, this could equate to 1.47 t.CO₂/ha/yr in UK waters. However, there is great uncertainty in this estimate.

Data for kelp are more developed than for other macroalgae communities including intertidal algae. Kelp also shows faster growth than many other algal species. It is likely that other macroalgae contribute further to these figures, but as indicated above, there is already considerable uncertainty in the data. Nevertheless, research into the fate of macroalgal carbon is an important area for future research, and marine algae has potential to be considered as a NbS.

3.4. ROLE OF MARINE FAUNA

3.4.1. OVERVIEW

There is emerging evidence that carbon cycling can be greatly affected by marine fauna, and that fishing may have detrimental effects on the carbon budget. While there is low certainty and the extent has not been quantified, it could have large effects due to the area and volume of habitat covered.

3.4.2. DETAIL

Marine fauna, especially fish, make up around 80% of marine biomass⁷. The population sizes of even sustainable fish stocks are typically only 30% of natural levels⁴⁴, so any effect of fishing on faunal driven natural carbon cycles is potentially large. Fauna influence carbon cycles in three ways. Firstly, direct respiration produces CO₂, and larger total biomass of animals which could be caused through removal of predators (typically commercially fished species), are likely to increase overall respiration rates⁴⁵. Secondly, fish excrete carbon in various forms, which can sink into the deep ocean. This includes carbon-rich faeces⁴⁶ and gut carbonates⁴⁷. Fish that vertically migrate can efficiently transfer carbon from surface to depths through both respiration⁴⁸ and food webs⁴⁹. Thirdly, fauna can influence nutrient cycles and affect phytoplankton growth through transporting nutrients from depth to surface layers^{50,51,52}.

At a worldwide scale, phytoplankton fix between 128 and 138 billion tonnes of carbon per year¹, accounting for 50 to 70% of photosynthesis². Of this carbon fixed by photosynthesis, around 1 to 1.7% is maintained in a fixed state (sequestered) by biological and microbial carbon pumps⁵³. As such, while the evidence is currently relatively sparse, and the magnitude of the effect is uncertain, there is a potential that recovery of fish and marine mammal stocks (ideally well above maximum sustainable yield^[1] values) will also have potentially large net benefits to carbon sequestration in coastal and open waters^{45,44}.

[1] The maximum level at which a natural resource can be routinely exploited without long-term depletion.

3.5. LESS ESTABLISHED MITIGATION HABITATS

There is considerable uncertainty in the role of many habitat types, including biogenic reefs and molluscan shellfish formation as a carbon source or sink^{2,54}. However, in the UK (specifically Scotland) it has been suggested that processes such as oyster reef formation will contribute little to sequestration overall³⁵. Maerl beds and cold-water coral reefs also store carbon (0.5 million tonnes of inorganic carbon in Scottish waters), where the majority of these habitats are found in the UK³⁵. However, the sequestration rate is low as they are slow growing, but they do act as a storage mechanism for carbon over geological timeframes.

3.6. ADDITIONS TO THE CARBON BUDGET FROM MARINE ECOSYSTEMS

Recent research has also investigated production of methane and nitrogen oxides by coastal habitats. The research is still developing and does not provide a clear picture for the UK, however, methane production by coastal ecosystems is likely to occur at low rates but could be important given that methane has a 25 times higher global warming potential than CO_2 . Typically, seagrass has the lowest rate at $1.5*10^{-6}$ t.C/ha/yr and saltmarsh around four times higher at $6*10^{-6}$ t.C/ha/ yr ⁵⁵. These values are several orders of magnitude lower than the sequestration rates of the habitats.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Coastal habitats, including seagrass and kelp, play an important role in protecting the coast from storm damage, for example, by reducing wave action on coastlines. In the US, the provision of coastal protection by marine habitats were estimated to be between two and five times more cost-effective at lowering wave heights and increasing water depths compared to engineered structures across 52 coastal defence projects⁵⁶, and in West Sussex, UK, natural capital associated with coastal protection from restoring kelp forests were estimated to have a value of over £1.2 million⁵⁷. There is a strong synergy between mitigation and adaptation, with restoration or protection of habitats such as seagrass or kelp (as opposed to bar sediment or algal turfs) enhancing both climate change mitigation and adaptation. Saltmarsh provides the greatest adaptation potential to climate change, and as such forms the focus of this section.

Saltmarshes contribute to coastal protection through dissipation of wave energy. Field monitoring has shown wave energy dissipation over a saltmarsh as significantly higher (at an average of 82%) than over the adjacent, seaward

sand flat (average 29%)⁵⁸. In experiments, generated storm surge wave heights have been shown to be reduced by 12 - 20%, with 60% of this reduction being attributable to the presence of saltmarsh vegetation⁵⁹. Saltmarshes also store floodwaters and thus reduce peak water depths during storm surges, although little data exist to quantify these benefits⁶⁰. Managed realignment (the (re-)creation of saltmarsh between old, seaward defence lines and new defences to landward) is a strategy to protect areas of the coast under risk from rising sea levels. This normally involves allowing sea defences to be breached in certain areas⁶¹. This newly created habitat also provides the climate mitigation benefits described above. However, the amount of managed realignment currently occurring is well below recommendations in Shoreline Management Plans⁶² (see Case Study 3).

In 2015, it was found that the one-off high costs of a five-fold increase in managed realignment (approximately £50,000) are offset by saved flood spending, reduced damage risks and ecosystem services values, resulting in a benefit-cost ratio of 1.4^{63} . In addition, the Environment Agency's 450 ha Medmerry Managed Realignment Scheme has saved on recurring coastal protection expenditure, which averaged £300,000 per year, along a formally intact two kilometre shingled beach and it is likely to have helped avoid large damages during the 2013/14 winter storms⁶³. The assessed benefits are calculated at £90 million compared to the project cost of £28 million⁶³.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

Marine habitats which increase structural complexity of the seabed are normally considered highly biodiverse habitats with good evidence that saltmarsh, seagrass and macroalgae will result in enhanced biodiversity compared to bare sediment and algal turf communities^{64,65}. Therefore, through careful management or restoration of habitats, the climate mitigation, climate adaptation and biodiversity benefits are enhanced. Seagrasses are habitats for ecologically and economically important species such as scallops, shrimps, crabs and juvenile fish, providing both refuge from predators and food sources⁶⁶. Seagrass is also a necessary habitat for flagship conservation species such as UK seahorse species⁶⁷. Kelp provides important nursery grounds for many commercial fish and shellfish, as well as habitat for lobsters and edible crabs^{57,68}. Saltmarshes provide habitat for species that are important for tourism, recreation, education and research and due to their complex plant structure, provide protection and shelter for the increased growth and survival of young fishes, shrimp and shellfish⁶⁹. Bird biodiversity is also enhanced, even on newly created saltmarsh⁷⁰. Habitat services (genetic and nursery services) provided by coastal systems and coastal wetlands have been valued at \$375 and \$17,138 ha/yr respectively (2007 prices levels)⁷¹.

6. HUMAN WELL-BEING VALUE

There is considerable evidence of the well-being effects of the sea and beaches⁷², and habitats such as rocky shores have been shown to be important areas for relaxation and recreation as a result of their biodiversity⁷³. Recent analysis of the role of seagrass meadows as social-ecological systems indicates that they help promote well-being through environmental amelioration, fisheries and recreational value⁷⁴. While some habitats, such as saltmarsh, provide important habitats for animals such as birds, which may further contribute to well-being for specific groups, there are few direct links to well-being largely due to lack of public awareness regarding these habitats⁷⁵.

7. THREATS AND MANAGEMENT

Threats to non-intertidal marine systems mainly comprise harmful fishing practices, climate change, other development activities and pollution⁷⁶. Poor practices in anchoring and mooring of boats can also harm seagrass beds. Climate change can affect growth and recruitment of some species of UK kelp and affect the carbon dynamics and other ecosystem services, such as fish stocks and changes in the species composition of fisheries catches^{77,78}. Climate change can also facilitate the successful establishment and spread of non-native species and change community composition of habitats⁷⁹. Fishing can directly change macrofaunal communities⁸⁰, but the main effect of fishing in coastal habitats is through habitat damage from fishing gears⁸¹. Trawling and other activities such as marine renewable developments, infrastructure installation, and oil & gas exploration and decommissioning can disturb sediment (such as coastal shelf sediment) which may affect stored carbon rates (see Section 3). Pollution, especially that of nitrates and phosphates, can create eutrophication processes which can degrade habitats that rely on photosynthesis such as seagrass beds⁸². Many marine systems actively recover if pressures or threats are removed, but for some, particularly seagrass and saltmarsh, active restoration will be needed to realise their full potential as NbS. Policy measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, reduce fishing or prevent damaging fishing gear in sensitive habitats, prevent nutrients entering coastal waters (i.e. through better land-use management) and create effective marine protected areas around key habitats (with management measures to prevent further disturbance to the habitats) will help maintain these habitats as climate mitigation, adaptation and highly biodiverse areas.

Coastal ecosystems such as saltmarsh, while providing adaptation benefits from reducing erosion caused by rising seas and increased storms, are also, themselves, affected by rising seas, as well as additional pressures such as overgrazing. Coastal development also plays a large role, either directly on reclaimed habitat or through altered sediment budgets, causing potential retreat of saltmarshes^{83,84,85}. There are considerable differences in the magnitude of saltmarsh retreat^{29,86,87}. At present, newly created saltmarsh through managed realignment is not thought to keep up with loss of habitat²⁵, and sequestration rates from new habitat are likely lower than those from existing saltmarsh (see Section 3.1). Policy developments, investment and management measures to reduce the use of hard coastal defences and increase managed realignment will prevent some degradation of saltmarshes through sedimentation changes as well as creating new habitat.

CASE STUDY 1 — NORTH DEVON PIONEER

In the North Devon Marine Pioneer (NDMP), a natural capital approach was used to assess the role that marine habitats have in the balance and maintenance of the chemical composition of the atmosphere and the oceans by marine living organisms⁸⁸. The Pioneer constructed a Natural Capital Asset Register to demonstrate the potential flows and location of habitats that support a healthy climate. Saltmarsh, intertidal reef communities (with algae assemblages) and shallow subtidal (infralittoral) reef (kelp) communities provide the greatest contribution to carbon sequestration within NDMP with estimates of 20.53, 16.50 and 228.07 t.CO₂/yr respectively, based on an assumption that there are no pressure constraints on the ecological functions of these habitats⁸⁹. As noted above in the macroalgae section, algal estimates are subject to considerable uncertainty.

The estimate for contribution of offshore subtidal sediments was not included in this calculation, but potentially could add an additional 43,000 t.C/yr due to the large extents that these habitats cover. A Risk Register was developed to determine if current management of the marine habitats was underpinning the benefits of a healthy climate⁹⁰. Current marine management through Marine Protected Areas, land and fisheries management are not sufficient to reverse decline in the degraded saltmarsh or reef habitats, leading to an 'amber' risk of loss of the role these habitats have in supporting a healthy climate. A conclusion of this case study is that NbS must go beyond current efforts and enable restoration and repair of essential marine habitats⁹⁰.

CASE STUDY 2 – SEAGRASS RESTORATION IN WEST WALES

In many parts of the world marine restoration is an active part of the tool kit available to marine and coastal conservation managers. For example, in the Chesapeake Bay in the US after decades of fish declines, increasingly polluted waterways and large-scale habitat destruction a basin wide programme to reverse those declines was put in place. Over a 30-year period this has resulted in the restoration of over 1,000 ha of seagrass (initially sequestering around 1,320 t.CO₂/yr, but with potential for ~5,500 t.CO₂/yr when habitats mature)⁹¹. In the UK until recently habitat restoration had not been considered a viable means of creating marine ecosystem recovery. Following four years of research and development work by Swansea University and Project Seagrass, the UK's biggest ever marine restoration project was launched in Dale in West Wales as a collaboration with World Wildlife Fund and Sky Ocean Rescue with the aim of restoring

two ha of seagrass. The techniques used built on those successfully employed in Chesapeake Bay⁹². One million seeds are being planted using lines of small hessian bags in order to overcome the high tidal currents, abundance of seed predators and sediment stability. Due to the large-scale historic loss of seagrass in the UK and North Atlantic area there remains huge opportunities to restore these once abundant meadows. Recent studies have revealed that UK seagrass meadows may have lost up to 92% of their historic distribution¹², this equates to thousands of hectares of potential future restoration areas and therefore 100s of thousands of tonnes of potential future carbon sequestration and storage. Our ability to conduct such restoration relies on reducing the per hectare costs of these activities through the design of methods and equipment able to increase the automation of key aspects of this work.



Diver © Lewis Jefferies / WWF-UK

Seeds © Joseph Gray / WWF-UK

CASE STUDY 3 — MANAGED REALIGNMENT IN ENGLAND

In the UK, managed realignment has been implemented to restore or create intertidal habitat, mostly to compensate for the loss of saltmarsh and/or mudflats. This has been a preferred coastal management approach for providing multiple benefits, such as sustainable flood and erosion risk management in light of climate change and loss of other ecosystem services⁶¹. Most often, managed realignment restores tidal inflow into embanked land through planned breaching of coastal defences or installation of sluices (called regulated tidal exchange in the UK). Shoreline Management Plans in England envisage managed realignment projects creating over 6,200 ha of habitat by 2030 and 11,500 ha by 2060²⁷. The 69 managed realignment projects implemented in the UK (from early 1990s to date) are potentially creating about 2,600 ha of habitat (Figure 1). If the average rate of habitat creation between 2005 and 2018 (150 ha/yr) is unchanged, 4,500 ha would be created by 2030. This rate would need to double between 2018 and 2030 for the 6.200 ha vision to be realised.

Very few studies quantify the carbon accumulation in managed realignment sites in the UK²³. A crude assessment of the carbon stock of existing sites can be made considering the age of the sites, the average carbon sequestration rates estimated²³ (up to 3.81 t.CO₂/ha/yr during the first 20 years and 2.38 t.CO₂/ha/yr thereafter) and the arbitrary assumption that saltmarshes occupy half of the site area. The 2,600 ha of existing managed realignment sites would have sequestered roughly 102,667 t.CO, by 2030. Rather than comparing to natural saltmarshes, it would be more pertinent to assess gained benefits in relation to the type of habitats that were substituted, which may include former farmland, freshwater habitat and conversion of intertidal habitats (mudflats into saltmarshes and vice-versa). It is also relevant to consider the longevity of these newly created habitats as most sites are small and confined by realigned coastal protection, and coastal squeeze may resume with continued sea level rise⁹³.



Figure 1. Cumulative area of (potential) habitat created by managed realignment (1991-2018) and projections to 2030 based on current rate (2005-2018) and rate required to create 6,200 ha.

REFERENCES

- Falkowski, P. and Wilson, C. (1992). Phytoplankton productivity in the North Pacific ocean since 1900 and implications for absorption of anthropogenic C0₂. *Nature*, 358, pp.741-743.
- 2 Howard, J., Sutton-Grier, A., Herr, D., Kleypas, J., Landis, E., Mcleod, E., Pidgeon, E. and Simpson, S. (2017). Clarifying the role of coastal and marine systems in climate mitigation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 15, pp.42-50.
- Friedlingstein, P., O'Sullivan, M., Jones, M., Andrew, R., 3 Hauck, J., Olsen, A., Peters, G., Peters, W., Pongratz, J., Sitch, S., Le Quéré, C., Canadell, J., Ciais, P., Jackson, R., Alin, S., Aragão, L., Arneth, A., Arora, V., Bates, N., Becker, M., Benoit-Cattin, A., Bittig, H., Bopp, L., Bultan, S., Chandra, N., Chevallier, F., Chini, L., Evans, W., Florentie, L., Forster, P., Gasser, T., Gehlen, M., Gilfillan, D., Gkritzalis, T., Gregor, L., Gruber, N., Harris, I., Hartung, K., Haverd, V., Houghton, R., Ilyina, T., Jain, A., Joetzjer, E., Kadono, K., Kato, E., Kitidis, V., Korsbakken, J., Landschützer, P., Lefèvre, N., Lenton, A., Lienert, S., Liu, Z., Lombardozzi, D., Marland, G., Metzl, N., Munro, D., Nabel, J., Nakaoka, S., Niwa, Y., O'Brien, K., Ono, T., Palmer, P., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Resplandy, L., Robertson, E., Rödenbeck, C., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., Skjelvan, I., Smith, A., Sutton, A., Tanhua, T., Tans, P., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., van der Werf, G., Vuichard, N., Walker, A., Wanninkhof, R., Watson, A., Willis, D., Wiltshire, A., Yuan, W., Yue, X. and Zaehle, S. (2020). Global Carbon Budget. Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 12, pp.3269-3340.
- 4 JNCC, (2020). *UK Marine Protected Area network statistics*. [online] Available at: https://jncc.gov.uk/ our-work/uk-marine-protected-area-network-statistics/ [Accessed 11 Dec. 2020].
- 5 Mcleod, E., Chmura, G., Bouillon, S., Salm, R., Björk, M., Duarte, C., Lovelock, C., Schlesinger, W., and Silliman, B. (2011). A blueprint for blue carbon: toward an improved understanding of the role of vegetated coastal habitats in sequestering CO2. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9, pp.552-560.
- 6 Petrokofsky, G., Kanamaru, H., Achard, F., Goetz, S., Joosten, H., Holmgren, P., Lehtonen, A., Menton, M., Pullin, A. and Wattenbach, M. (2012). Comparison of methods for measuring and assessing carbon stocks and carbon stock changes in terrestrial carbon pools. How do the accuracy and precision of current methods compare? A systematic review protocol. *Environmental Evidence*, 1, pp.1-21.
- 7 Bar-On, Y., Phillips, R. and Milo, R. (2018). The biomass distribution on Earth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115, pp.6506-6511.
- 8 Fourqurean, J., Kendrick, G., Collins, L., Chambers, R. and Vanderklift, M. (2012). Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus storage in subtropical seagrass meadows: examples from Florida Bay and Shark Bay. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 63, pp.967-983.
- 9 Röhr, M., Holmer, M., Baum, J., Björk, M., Boyer, K., Chin, D., Chalifour, L., Cimon, S., Cusson, M., Dahl, M. and Deyanova, D. (2018). Blue carbon storage capacity of temperate eelgrass (Zostera marina) meadows. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 32, pp.1457-1475.
- 10 Green, A., Chadwick. M. and Jones, P. (2018). Variability of UK seagrass sediment carbon: Implications for blue carbon estimates and marine conservation management. *PLoS ONE*, 13, e0204431.
- 11 Kennedy, H., Beggins, J., Duarte, C., Fourqurean,

J., Holmer, M., Marbà, N. and Middelburg, J. (2010). Seagrass sediments as a global carbon sink: Isotopic constraints. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 24, GB4026.

- 12 Green, A., Unsworth, R., Chadwick, M., and Jones, P. (2021). Historical analysis exposes catastrophic seagrass loss for the United Kingdom. *Front. Plant Sci.*, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.629962
- 13 Hiscock, K., Sewell, J. and Oakley, J. (2005). *The marine health check 2005: a report to gauge the health of the UK's sea life.* Godalming, UK: WWF-UK..
- Greiner, J., McGlathery, K., Gunnell, J., McKee, B. (2013). Seagrass Restoration Enhances "Blue Carbon" Sequestration in Coastal Waters. *PLoS ONE*, 8, e72469.
- 15 Miyajima T. and Hamaguchi, M. (2019). Carbon Sequestration in Sediment as an Ecosystem Function of Seagrass Meadows. In: Kuwae T. and Hori M., ed., *Blue Carbon in Shallow Coastal Ecosystems*. Singapore: Springer.
- 16 Bayraktarov, E., Saunders, M., Abdullah, S., Mills, M., Beher, J., Possingham, H., Mumby, P. and Lovelock, C. (2016). The cost and feasibility of marine coastal restoration. *Ecological Applications*, 26, pp.1055-1074.
- 17 Nellemann, C., Corcoran, E., Duarte, C., Valdrés, L., Young, C., Fonseca, L. and Grimsditch, G. (2009). Blue Carbon: The Role of Healthy Oceans in Binding Carbon. UN Environment, GRID-Arendal.
- 18 Duarte, C.M. (2017). Reviews and syntheses: Hidden forests, the role of vegetated coastal habitats in the ocean carbon budget. *Biogeosciences*, 14, pp.301–310.
- 19 Beaumont, N., Jones, L., Garbutt, A., Hansom, J. and Toberman, M. (2014). The value of carbon sequestration and storage in coastal habitats. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 137, pp.32-40.
- 20 JNCC, (2004). Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Saltmarsh Habitat. [online] Peterborough:Joint Nature Conservation Committee. Available at: <u>http://data.jncc.</u> <u>gov.uk/data/7607ac0b-f3d9-4660-9dda-0e538334ed86/</u> CSM-SaltmarshHabitats-2004.pdf [Accessed 10 Dec. 2020].
- 21 Mueller, P., Granse, D., Nolte, S., Do, H, Weingartner, M., Hoth, S. and Jensen, K. (2017). Top2down control of carbon sequestration: grazing affects microbial structure and function in salt marsh soils. *Ecological Applications*, 27, pp.1435-1450.
- 22 Mueller, P., Ladiges, N., Jack, A., Schmiedl, G., Kutzbach, L., Jensen, K. and Nolte, S. (2019). Assessing the longterm carbon-sequestration potential of the semi-natural salt marshes in the European Wadden Sea. *Ecosphere*, 10, e02556. 10.1002/ecs2.2556.
- 23 Burden, A., Garbutt, A. and Evans, C.D. (2019). Effect of restoration on saltmarsh carbon accumulation in Eastern England. *Biol. Lett.*, 15, 20180773.
- 24 Mossman, H., Davy, A. and Grant, A. (2012). Does managed coastal realignment create saltmarshes with 'equivalent biological characteristics' to natural reference sites?. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 49, pp.1446-1456.
- 25 Boorman, L. and Hazelden, J. (2017). Managed realignment; a salt marsh dilemma?. Wetlands Ecol Manage. 25, pp.387–403.
- Haynes, T. (2016). Scottish saltmarsh survey national report. [online] Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report, No. 786. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/</u> sites/default/files/2017-05/Publication%202016%20
 -%20SNH%20Commissioned%20Report%20786%20
 -%20Scottish%20saltmarsh%20survey%20national%20
 report%20%28A2215730%29.pdf [accessed 7 Mar 2021].

- 27 Committee on Climate Change, (2013). *Managing the land in a changing climate: Adaptation Sub-Committee*
- Progress Report 2013. [online] London. Available at: https:// www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/ASC-2013-Book-singles_2.pdf [Accessed 11 Dec 2020].
- 28 McLeod, I., Boström-Einarsson, L., Johnson, C., Kendrick, G., Layton, C., Rogers, A. and Statton, J. (2018). The role of restoration in conserving matters of national environmental significance in marine and coastal environments. [online] Marine Biodiversity Hub. Available at: <u>https://www.nespmarine.edu.au/ system/files/McLeod%20et%20al%20The%20role%20</u> of%20restoration%20in%20conserving%20MNES%20 in%20marine%20and%20coastal%20environments_ <u>Milestone%203%20RPv4%202018.pdf</u> [Accessed 10 Jan. 2021].
- 29 Luisetti, T., Turner, R., Andrews, J., Jickells, T., Kröger, S., Diesing, M., Paltriguera, L., Johnson, M., Parker, E., Bakker, D. and Weston, K. (2019). Quantifying and valuing carbon flows and stores in coastal and shelf ecosystems in the UK. *Ecosystem services*, 35, pp.67-76.
- 30 Diesing, M., Kröger, S., Parker, R., Jenkins, C., Mason, C., and Weston K. (2017). Predicting the standing stock of organic carbon in surface sediments of the North–West European continental shelf. *Biogeochemistry*, 135, pp.183-200.
- 31 Sharples, J., Mayor, D., Poulton, A., Rees, A. and Robinson, C. (2019). Shelf Sea Biogeochemistry: Nutrient and carbon cycling in a temperate shelf sea water column. *Progress in Oceanography*, 177, 102182.
- 32 Smeaton, C. and Austin, W. (2019). Where's the Carbon: Exploring the Spatial Heterogeneity of Sedimentary Carbon in Mid-Latitude Fjords. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 7, pp.269.
- 33 Smeaton, C., Austin, W., and Turrell, W. (2020). Reevaluating Scotland's sedimentary carbon stocks. *Scottish Marine and Freshwater Science*, 11, pp.16.
- 34 MacReadie P., Anton A., Raven J., Beaumont N., Connolly R., Friess D., Kelleway J., Kennedy H., Kuwae T., Lavery P., Lovelock C., Smale D., Apostolaki E., Atwood T., Baldock J., Bianchi T., Chmura G., Eyre B., Fourqurean J., Hall-Spencer J., Huxham, M., Hendriks I., Krause-Jensen D., Laffoley D., Luisetti T., Marbà N., Masque P., McGlathery K., Megonigal P., Murdiyarso D., Russell B., Santos R., Serrano O., Silliman B., Watanabe K. and Duarte C. (2019). The future of Blue Carbon science, *Nature Communications*, 10, pp.3998.
- 35 Burrows, M., Kamenos, N., Hughes, D., Stahl, H., Howe, J. and Tett, P. (2014). Assessment of carbon budgets and potential blue carbon stores in Scotland's coastal and marine environment - Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report No. 761. [online] Scottish National Heritage. Available From: <u>https://www.nature. scot/sites/default/files/Publication%202014%20-%20</u> <u>SNH%20Commissioned%20Report%20761%20-%20</u> <u>Assessment%20of%20carbon%20budgets%20and%20</u> <u>potential%20blue%20carbon%20stores%20in%20</u> <u>Scotland%27s%20coastal%20and%20marine%20</u> <u>environment.pdf</u> [Accessed 11 Dec. 2020].
- 36 Yesson, C., Bush, L., Davies, A., Maggs, C., and Brodie, J. (2015). The distribution and environmental requirements of large brown seaweeds in the British Isles. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 95, pp.669–680.
- 37 Duarte, C., Middelburg, J., and Caraco, N., (2005). Major role of marine vegetation on the oceanic carbon cycle. *Biogeosciences*, 2, pp.1–8.
- 38 Krause-Jensen, D. and Duarte, C. (2016). Substantial role of macroalgae in marine carbon sequestration. *Nature Geosci*, 9, pp.737–742.

- 39 Filbee-Dexter, K., Wernberg, T., Norderhaug, K., Ramirez-Llodra, E. and Pedersen, M. (2018). Movement of pulsed resource subsidies from kelp forests to deep fjords. *Oecologia*, 187, pp.291-304.
- 40 Kokubu, Y., Rothäusler, E., Filippi, J., Durieux, E. and Komatsu, T., (2019). Revealing the deposition of macrophytes transported offshore: evidence of their longdistance dispersal and seasonal aggregation to the deep sea. *Sci. Rep.*, 9, pp.1–11.
- 41 Ortega, A., Geraldi, N., Alam, I., Kamau, A., Acinas, S., Logares, R., Gasol, J., Massana, R., Krause-Jensen, D. and Duarte, C. (2019). Important contribution of macroalgae to oceanic carbon sequestration. *Nat. Geosci.*, 12, pp.748– 754.
- 42 Queirós, A., Stephens, N., Widdicombe, S., Tait, K., McCoy, S., Ingels, J., Rühl, S., Airs, R., Beesley, A., Carnovale, G. and Cazenave, P. (2019). Connected macroalgal?sediment systems: blue carbon and food webs in the deep coastal ocean. *Ecological Monographs*, 89, p.e01366.
- 43 Filbee-Dexter, K. and Wernberg, T. (2020). Substantial blue carbon in overlooked Australian kelp forests. *Sci Rep*, 10, 12341.
- 44 Stafford, R. (2019). Sustainability: A flawed concept for fisheries management?. *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene*, 7, pp.1-15.
- 45 Spiers, E., Stafford, R., Ramirez, M., Izurieta, D., Cornejo, M. and Chavarria, J. (2016). Potential role of predators on carbon dynamics of marine ecosystems as assessed by a Bayesian belief network. *Ecological informatics*, 36, pp.77-83.
- 46 Saba, G. and Steinberg, D. (2012). Abundance, Composition and Sinking Rates of Fish Fecal Pellets in the Santa Barbara Channel. *Sci Rep*, 2, pp.1-6.
- 47 Wilson, R., Millero, F., Taylor, J., Walsh, P., Christensen, V., Jennings, S. and Grosell, M., (2009). Contribution of Fish to the Marine Inorganic Carbon Cycle. *Science*, 323, pp.359-362.
- 48 Belcher, A., Saunders, R. and Tarling, G. (2019). Respiration rates and active carbon flux of mesopelagic fishes (Family Myctophidae) in the Scotia Sea, Southern Ocean. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser.*, 610, pp.149-162.
- 49 Anderson, T., Martin, A., Lampitt, R., Trueman, C., Henson, S. and Mayor, D. (2019). Quantifying carbon fluxes from primary production to mesopelagic fish using a simple food web model. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 76, pp.690-701.
- 50 Nicol, S., Bowie, A., Jarman, S., Lannuzel, D., Meiners, K. and Van Der Merwe, P. (2010). Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill. *Fish and Fisheries*, 11, pp.203-209.
- 51 Roman, J. and McCarthy, J. (2010). The whale pump: marine mammals enhance primary productivity in a coastal basin. *PloS one*, 5, p.e13255.
- 52 Trueman, C., Johnston, G., O'Hea, B. and MacKenzie, K. (2014). Trophic interactions of fish communities at midwater depths enhance long-term carbon storage and benthic production on continental slopes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20140669.
- 53 Polimene, L., Sailley, S., Clark, D., Mitra, A. and Allen, J. (2017). Biological or microbial carbon pump? The role of phytoplankton stoichiometry in ocean carbon sequestration. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 39, pp.180-186.
- 54 Solan, M., Bennett, E., Mumby, P., Leyland, J. and Godbold, A. (2019). Benthic-based contributions to climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc B*, 375, 20190107.
- 55 Al@Haj, A. and Fulweiler, R. (2020). A synthesis of methane emissions from shallow vegetated coastal ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 26, pp.2988-3005.

- 56 Seddon, N., Chausson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C., Smith, A., and Turner, B. (2020). Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B.*, 375, 20190120
- Williams, C. and Davies, W. (2019). Valuing the ecosystem service benefits of kelp bed recovery off West Sussex.
 [online] London:New Economics Foundation. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/335978121</u>
 Valuing the ecosystem service benefits of kelp bed recovery off West Sussex [accessed 10 Jan. 2021].
- 58 Möller, I.,Spencer, T., French, J., Leggett, D. and Dixon, M. (1999). Wave Transformation Over Salt Marshes: A Field and Numerical Modelling Study from North Norfolk, England. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 49, pp.411-426.
- 59 Möller, I., Kudella, M., Rupprecht, F., Spencer, T., Paul, M., van Wesenbeeck, B., Wolters, G., Jensen, K., Bouma, T., Miranda-Lange, M., and Schimmels, S. (2014). Wave attenuation over coastal salt marshes under storm surge conditions. *Nature Geosci*, 7, pp.727–731.
- 60 Natural England, (2014). Climate Change Adaptation Manual - Evidence to support nature conservation in a changing climate (NE546). Chapter 27 -Saltmarsh. [online] York: Natural England. Available from: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u> <u>publication/5629923804839936</u> [accessed 10 Dec. 2020].
- 61 Esteves, L. and Williams, J. (2017). Managed realignment in Europe: a synthesis of methods, achievements and challenges. In: Bilkovic, D., Mitchell, M., Toft, J. and La Peyre. M., eds., *Living Shorelines: The Science and Management of Nature-based Coastal Protection.* CRC Press/Taylor & Francis Group, pp.157-180.
- 62 Committee on Climate Change, (2018). *Managing the coast in a changing climate*. [online] London. Available from: <u>https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2018/10/Managing-the-coast-in-a-changing-</u> <u>climate-October-2018.pdf</u> [accessed 12 Dec. 2020].
- 63 Economics for the Environment Consultancy, (2015). *The Economic Case for Investment in Natural: Land Use Appendix.* [online] Natural Capital Committee. Available from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/</u> <u>government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/</u> <u>file/517008/ncc-research-invest-natural-capital-land-use-</u> <u>appendix.pdf</u> [accessed 26 Nov. 2020].
- 64 Bruno, J. and Bertness, M. (2001). Positive Interactions, Facilitations and Foundation Species. In: Bertness, M., Gaines, S., Hay, M., eds., *Marine Community Ecology*. Sunderland Massachusetts: Sinauer Associates.
- 65 Duffy, J. (2006). Biodiversity and the functioning of seagrass ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 311, 233-250.
- 66 Bertilli, C. and Unsworth, R. (2014). Protecting the hand that feeds us: Seagrass (*Zostera marina*) serves as commercial juvenile fish habitat. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 83, pp.425-429
- 67 Garrick-Maidment, N., Trewhella, S., Hatcher, J., Collins, K. and Mallinson, J. (2010). Seahorse Tagging Project, Studland Bay, Dorset, UK. *Marine Biodiversity Records*, 3, e73.
- Furness, E and Unsworth, R. (2020). Demersal Fish
 Assemblages in NE Atlantic Seagrass and Kelp. *Diversity*, 12, 366.
- 69 Barbier, E., Hacker, S., Kennedy, C., Koch, E., Stier, A. and Silliman, B. (2011). The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. *Ecological Monographs*, 81, pp.169-293
- 70 Elliott, S. (2015). Coastal Realignment at RSPB Nigg Bay Nature Reserve. [online] RSPB. Available at: <u>http://ww2.rspb.org.uk/Images/</u> CoastalRealignmentatRSPBNiggBaynaturereserve_tcm9-

406978.pdf [accessed 10 Mar 2021].

- 71 de Groot, R., Brander, L., van der Ploeg, S., Costanza, R., Bernard, F., Braat, L., Christie, M., Crossman, N., Ghermandi, A., Hein, L., Hussain, S., Kumar, P., McVittie, A., Portela, R., Rodriguez, L., ten Brink, P. and van Beukering, P. (2012). Global estimates of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. *Ecosystem Services*, 1, pp.50-61.
- 72 Nichols, W. (2015). Blue Mind: The Surprising Science That Shows How Being Near, In, On, or Under Water Can Make You Happier, Healthier, More Connected, and Better at What You Do. New York: Bay Back Books.
- 73 Wyles, K., Pahl, S. and Thompson, R. (2014). Perceived risks and benefits of recreational visits to the marine environment: Integrating impacts on the environment and impacts on the visitor. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 88, pp.53-63.
- Cullen-Unsworth, L., Nordlund, L., Paddock, J., Baker,
 S., McKenzie, L. and Unsworth, R. (2014). Seagrass meadows globally as a coupled social–ecological system: Implications for human wellbeing. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 83, pp.387-397.
- 75 McKinley, E., Pages, J., Ballinger, R. and Beaumont, N. (2020). Forgotten landscapes: Public attitudes and perceptions of coastal saltmarshes. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 187, 105117.
- 76 Stafford, R. and Jones. P. (2019). Viewpoint Ocean plastic pollution: A convenient but distracting truth?. *Marine Policy*, 103, pp.187-191.
- 77 Smale, D., Burrows, M., Evans, A., King, N., Sayer, M., Yunnie, A. and Moore, P. (2016), Linking environmental variables with regional-scale variability in ecological structure and standing stock of carbon within UK kelp forests. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 542, pp.79-95.
- 78 Pessarrodona, A., Moore, P., Sayer, M. and Smale, D. (2018). Carbon assimilation and transfer through kelp forests in the NE Atlantic is diminished under a warmer ocean climate. *Global Change Biology*, 24, pp.4386-4398.
- 79 Elliot, P. (2006). Impacts of Climate Change on Non-Native Species. In: Buckley, P., Dye, S. and Baxter, J., Eds., Marine Climate Change Impacts Annual Report Card 2006. Lowestoft: MCCIP.
- Worm, B., Sandow, M., Oschlies, A., Lotze, H. and Myers, R. (2005). Global patterns of predator diversity in the open oceans. *Science*, 309, pp.1365-1369.
- 81 Dayton, P., Thrush, S. and Coleman, F. (2002). Ecological Effects of Fishing. [online] Arlington: Pew Oceans Commission. Available from: https://cresli.org/@creslior/ cresli/pdf%20documents/POC_EcoEffcts_Rep2.pdf. [accessed 15 Dec. 2020].
- 82 Duarte, C. (2002). The future of seagrass meadows. Environmental conservation, 29, pp.192-206.
- 83 Horton, B., Shennan, I., Bradley, S., Cahill, N., Kirwan, M., Kopp, R. and Shaw, T. (2018). Predicting marsh vulnerability to sea-level rise using Holocene relative sealevel data. *Nature communications*, 9, pp.1-7.
- 84 Taylor, B., Paterson, D. and Baxter, J. (2019). Sediment dynamics of natural and restored Bolboschoenus maritimus saltmarsh. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 237.
- Legge, O., Johnson, M., Hicks, N., Jickells, T., Diesing, M., Aldridge, J., Andrews, J., Artioli, Y., Bakker, D., Burrows, M. and Carr, N. (2020). Carbon on the northwest European shelf: Contemporary budget and future influences. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, 143.
- 86 French P. (1997). *Coastal and Estuarine Management*. Routledge
- 87 Nottage, A. and Robertson, P. (2005). *The Salt Marsh Creation Handbook: A Project Managers Guide to the*

Creation of Salt Marsh and Intertidal Mudflat. RSPB Management Guides.

- 88 Ashley, M., Rees, S. and Cameron, A. (2018) North Devon Marine Pioneer Part 1: State of the art report of the links between the ecosystem and ecosystem services in the North Devon Marine Pioneer. A report to WWF-UK by research staff the Marine Institute at Plymouth University, pp.103.
- 89 Rees, S., Ashley, M. and Cameron, A. (2019). North Devon Marine Pioneer Report 2: A Natural Capital Asset and Risk Register. A SWEEP/WWF-UK report by research staff the Marine Institute at Plymouth University.
- 90 Rees, S., Ashley, M., Cameron, A., Mullier, T., Ingle, C., Oates, J., Lannin, A. and Attrill, M. (2020). Marine Natural Capital Asset and Risk Register – Towards securing the benefits from marine systems. *Submitted to the Journal of Applied Ecology*.
- Orth, J., Lefcheck, J., McGlathery, K., Aoki, L., Luckenbach, N., Moore, K., Oreska, M., Snyder, R., Wilcox, D. and Lusk, B. (2020). Restoration of seagrass habitat leads to rapid recover of coastal ecosystem services. *Applied Ecology*, 6, eabc6464.
- Unsworth, R., Bertelli, C., Cullen-Unsworth, L., Esteban, N., Lilley, R., Jones, B., Lowe, C., Nuuttila, H. and Rees, S. (2019). Sowing the seeds of seagrass recovery using hessian bags. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 311.
- 93 Esteves, L. (2014). Managed realignment: a viable longterm coastal management strategy?. In: Esteves, L. and Williams, J., Eds., *Changes in coastal sediment dynamics due to managed realignment*. San Diego, USA: Coastal Sediments 2015.

NATURE-BASED Solutions and the Built environment

Authors:

Marc W. Cadotte¹ Elana Bader² Bethany Chamberlain³ Mark A. Goddard⁴ J. Scott MacIvor¹

Contributors:

Tiffany Ki⁵

- 1 University of Toronto-Scarborough.
- 2 NatureScot.
- 3 British Ecological Society.
- 4 Northumbria University.
- 5 University of East Anglia.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. The novelty of nature-based solutions (NbS) for cities lies in a focus on the cost-effective provision of multiple co-benefits for many urban residents.
- 2. A participatory placemaking approach to equitable co-design, co-creation and co-management of NbS that include multiple stakeholders and beneficiaries has the potential to maintain or improve biodiversity while simultaneously addressing societal issues such as climate change and other socio-environmental inequalities across both spatial and temporal scales.
- 3. NbS harnesses blue and green infrastructure, such as sustainable drainage systems (SuDS), green roofs, rivers, urban trees and community green spaces, which support significantly higher levels of biodiversity than constructed 'grey' infrastructure. These features can also help urban areas adapt to increased and more extreme temperature and rainfall events associated with climate change whilst delivering important environmental, social and economic benefits.
- 4. Due to the multidisciplinary nature of NbS, its implementation in cities is inherently complex and at odds with many siloed governance structures, largely due to knowledge and skills gaps and the lack of coordination across sectors or departments, particularly at local authority level.

2. INTRODUCTION

In the United Kingdom, 83% of people live in urban areas¹. Urbanisation brings a range of intertwined sustainability and resilience challenges. These can include local environmental issues such as poor air quality², susceptibility to water pollution and flooding³, excessive noise⁴, and urban heat islands⁵. These impacts ultimately limit the ability of a city to support urban biodiversity and respond to climate change, while also degrading human health and wellbeing, and liveability⁶.

Urban areas also provide key opportunities for the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals^{7,8}. Nature-based solutions (NbS) are a tool for enhancing sustainability of urbanisation while simultaneously improving the environment and human wellbeing⁹. As in non-urban areas, the effective implementation of NbS in urban areas has great potential for climate adaptation and mitigation¹⁰, along with a suite of co-benefits such as the enhancement of place attractiveness, of health and quality of life, and creation of green jobs¹¹. Socio-economic and socio-cultural challenges frequently drive urban priorities, create partnerships, and unlock financing, and are therefore key to the effective and lasting design, delivery, and maintenance of NbS in the built environment.

Key to the successful implementation of NbS in cities is the recognition that environmental drivers, including biodiversity conservation and climate change mitigation and adaptation, cannot be addressed in isolation. Coordinated efforts and inter-disciplinary partnerships are needed to simultaneously address the complex interactions between environmental, economic and social stressors. The COVID-19 lockdowns in the UK altered how we move around our towns and cities and interact with nature. Restrictions on travel underline the importance of local spaces for connecting with nature and enhancing health and wellbeing. Urban NbS strategies should build off this renewed appreciation for accessible greenspace, and we must also take this opportunity to ensure that the benefits of NbS are distributed fairly and equitably among urban communities.

There are many definitions of NbS, with the IUCN and the European Union providing the most widely accepted expositions. This chapter focuses largely on the ecological aspects of NbS for climate change and biodiversity in the built environment. Wellbeing, health, social inequality and educational attainment, for example, are all relevant issues for NbS to address more widely; however, these have not been analysed in depth here. Therefore, to be effectively implemented and maintained in the long-term, NbS interventions should be embedded holistically within a wider framework that results in multi-functional outcomes. An inclusive, placebased approach accommodates the interplay between these environmental, social and economic elements which together provide NbS.

3. CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

There are significant opportunities in urban environments for NbS to tackle the causes of climate change and help meet global goals for greenhouse gas emission (GHGs) reductions to mitigate climate change.

3.1 BROWNFIELD SITES

Brownfield sites (defined as land which has previously been developed, the term covers contaminated, vacant or derelict land or land occupied by an unused building, for example¹²) in urban areas have significant potential to act as NbS for carbon seguestration, which can be combined with other interventions to achieve multi-functionality across outcomes including biodiversity and health and wellbeing (see sections 5 and 6). Research in north-east England showed that the retention of fine material derived from demolition on urban brownfield land promotes calcite precipitation in soils and resultant carbon sequestration with no detrimental effect on drainage¹³. Providing a source of calcium in the form of crushed concrete or other sources to just 1% of the UK's urban and suburban soils, could remove up to 1 million tonnes carbon dioxide annually $(t.CO_2/yr)^{13}$.

3.2 URBAN TREES

Urban trees also have substantial potential for carbon sequestration, alongside their climate adaptation and biodiversity benefits. For example, the city of Leicester covers approximately 0.03% of Britain's land area but accounts for approximately 0.2% of Britain's aboveground carbon store with around 231,521 tonnes of carbon stored¹⁴. Approximately 97.3% of this is attributable to trees.

However, aboveground vegetation is not a permanent sink, thus:

- Tree species need to be chosen and located with care to ensure a long, productive life¹⁵.
- Management activities (e.g. chainsaws for tree maintenance) should be altered to minimise fossil fuel consumption¹⁴.
- Tree species should be assessed based on future climate resilience as well¹⁶.
- 4. Policies should support a net increase in the number of trees over time.

Increasing tree cover on grassland and maintaining this for the long term can increase a city's carbon sink. For example, this study has also shown a 10% increase in tree cover in Leicester, UK, would correspond to a 12% increase in the city's existing vegetation carbon stock¹⁴. However, possible tradeoffs for this action would include negative social impacts such as increased traffic safety concerns due to obscured lines of sight, loss of biodiversity associated with other habitat types (e.g. species-rich grassland), and the loss of grassland recreation space which would have to be carefully managed. As such, those responsible for tree planting will require the knowledge to adequately assess the appropriate tree for the local conditions, driven by the right reasons and accounting for both temporal and spatial considerations.

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION POTENTIAL

Built environments are facing a unique set of climate change challenges that will test traditional infrastructure and disrupt the daily functioning of cities. Alongside the mitigation potential of NbS in urban areas, NbS are also important in helping urban areas adapt to climate change effects that we know are already starting to take place.

4.1 WATER AND FLOODING

Widespread flooding events have revealed that traditional piped sewer systems and channelised urban waterways cannot be easily adapted to deal with increased rainfall due to the high costs and time associated with maintenance and installation¹⁷. Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS), which include components such as raingardens, permeable pavements, swales and wetlands, are designed to manage surface water in a way that mimics natural drainage processes as well as providing biodiversity and amenity benefits¹⁸.

A network of inter-connected SuDS integrated into grey infrastructure can reduce costs associated with infrastructure maintenance and water management¹⁹. Adaptation of existing 'grey' infrastructure will require expensive upgrades to cope with climate change impacts. As such, an expansion and better integration of NbS into cities and new developments will reduce these adaptation costs, mitigate dependency, and reduce redundancy. Green roofs provide stormwater management in highly urbanised environments, which will be important for mitigating the impacts of flooding and adapting these areas to the increased rainfall associated with climate change. Research on green roofs indicates that average water volume retention is 34% and so it can be inferred that each green roof could reduce annual runoff rates in many parts of the UK by 300mm, compared to conventional roof runoff²⁰. Near coastal towns and cities, saltmarsh restoration can play an important role in protection from rising sea levels (see the Chapter 7: Coastal and Marine Systems).

4.2 TEMPERATURE

Due to the 'urban heat island effect', cities experience average day and night temperatures 1.0 to 3.0 degrees Celsius (°C) warmer than surrounding natural and agricultural areas²¹, which can adversely impact both human wellbeing and biodiversity. In addition to overall warming, the frequency of extreme heat events in the UK is projected to increase, becoming the norm between 2030 and 2050²². Energy demands for cooling will increase markedly unless better building design and NbS – such as street trees, green roofs and other urban greening - can mitigate these temperature impacts through a cooling effect through shading and evaporation for example.

Urban blue and green infrastructure (BGI) offer significant potential in moderating increased summer temperatures and should be protected and enhanced where possible. For example, the current greenspace in Greater London (approximately 47%) of its area) was estimated to cool air temperatures by $>0.5^{\circ}$ C on clear, still and warm nights²³. In the Glasgow and Clyde Valley region, a 20% increase in green cover was projected to be able to reduce future average summer temperatures by 0.3°C, which is a third of the additional warming expected by 2050²⁴. Green roofs, whilst managing stormwater, also contribute to urban cooling and greater thermal efficiency of buildings^{25,26}. Even small urban green spaces, for example community gardens, can help to tackle the heat island effect and have a cooling influence²⁷. For full benefits to be realised, it is important that NbS consider a rich variety of horizontal and vertical BGI. There are still knowledge gaps regarding species selection and the optimum design of greenspaces for cooling and further research is needed²⁸.

4.3 AIR QUALITY

Cities are focal points for the production of air pollutants and particulate matter, of which nitrogen dioxide and carbon dioxide comprise the main air pollutants. As a result, air quality tends to be lower in cities than elsewhere in the UK²⁹. Other climate-sensitive air pollutants include ground level ozone and aeroallergens such as pollen. Increases in temperature as the climate changes will, for example, lead to changes in the chemistry and chemical reactions associated with these pollutants, e.g., ozone formation, as well as dispersal and deposition that could lead to secondary pollutants with additional consequences³⁰. Even short-term exposure to ground-level ozone and particulate matter increases mortality as well as respiratory diseases, lung cancer and cardiovascular hospital admissions.

Air pollution has been deemed the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK with 40,000 premature deaths each year attributable to exposure to outdoor air pollution³¹, affecting people with underlying health conditions and those from deprived communities the most. The health effects associated with air pollution also directly impact worker productivity, resulting in over six million sick days a year in the UK³¹. We know that weather and climate influences pollen production, but it remains unknown how allergies will be affected by higher temperatures, high concentrations of carbon dioxide, and different patterns of rainfall and humidity that may be associated with extended growing seasons²².

Vegetation and trees can absorb or intercept airborne particulate matter (PM) and other aerial emissions, as well as sequestering carbon dioxide. PM is intercepted by trees through a number of processes, including 'dry deposition' in which the particulate matter is deposited on the surface of leaves and some of this is permanently incorporated into leaf wax or cuticle³². Modelling shows that current tree cover in Glasgow removes three per cent of the primary PM_{10}^{33} . The extent to which trees remove PM is inconsistent and influenced by a number of factors, including tree species identity. Tree species should be carefully selected to avoid species that are known to be high emitters of biogenic volatile organic compounds as these compounds can lead to negative impacts on air quality³³. Additionally, the choice of plant species which are known sources of aeroallergens should be avoided³³.

Trees can also play a role in removing ultrafine particles (UFP) which are believed to contribute to the toxicity of PM, although the magnitude of this is currently uncertain³⁴. The choice of tree species is also important in this context and evidence has shown that silver birch was the most effective species at removing UFP, closely followed by yew and elder³⁵. Young silver birch trees along roads were also associated with major reductions (60–80%) in adjacent indoor concentrations of PM³⁴.

5. BIODIVERSITY VALUE

Achieving biodiversity goals in urban areas will require a greater focus on the species and genetic elements of biodiversity conservation and restoration, including monitoring for early detection of invasive species. It will also require the engagement of local people and communities on biodiversity objectives. Protecting remnant urban green spaces will also be important for biodiversity, in addition to reducing habitat fragmentation through appropriate placemaking and planning decisions, and conservation of existing green space to maximise connectivity. For some taxa, especially birds, beetles, butterflies and mammals, diversity is greatly reduced by intense urbanisation, while moderately built environments can support higher diversity of some groups^{36,37,38,39}. For example, bee species richness in UK cities appears higher than in surrounding farmlands and equivalent to nature reserves⁴⁰. Built environments typically harbour high plant diversity through the landscapes and novel habitats created by humans⁴¹, though abundances of native species are often quite reduced^{42,43}, and cities frequently struggle with invasive species impacts⁴⁴. Large green spaces provide indispensable habitat for species, buffering diversity against the direct and indirect urban drivers of biodiversity change 45,46,47 .

Artificial habitats incorporating natural features, such as SuDS and green roofs support significantly higher levels of biodiversity than constructed 'grey' infrastructure (e.g. roadside culverts, asphalt roofs), but not as high levels as remnant natural areas in cities (e.g. ponds, urban meadows) which should be retained⁴⁸. For example, research highlights the potential biodiversity benefits that green roofs can provide, including habitat provision for black redstarts, as seen in London²⁰. NbS should be integrated throughout existing urban green spaces thereby improving connectivity for wildlife movement (e.g. insects⁴⁹).

Brownfield sites could also offer an opportunity to support biodiversity conservation by providing analogous conditions to natural habitats and for example helping maintain populations of some rare and scarce species⁵⁰. As a result of the importance to biodiversity, 'open mosaic habitats on previously developed land' is recognised as a UK BAP (Biodiversity Action Plan) priority habitat. This priority habitat typically consists of some bare ground, vegetation which can be in the process of transitioning from one vegetation type to another⁵¹ and more established grassland. Brownfields can mimic many of the traditional habitats used by rare butterflies which have declined in the countryside. Additionally, many brownfield sites can support plentiful amounts of larval foodplants. In terms of managing sites specifically for biodiversity, rotational disturbance in scattered areas around a brownfield site is one example of a method that can help encourage a successional mosaic with diverse vegetation, which can benefit scarce bumblebees and butterflies⁵².

Retaining suitable brownfield sites or areas thereof as managed areas of conservation has the potential to have multiple beneficial impacts on urban biodiversity and human wellbeing, provided it is feasible, appropriate, and integrated within a holistic, community-oriented NbS approach and does not exacerbate or ignore existing socioenvironmental inequalities.

6. HUMAN WELLBEING VALUE

Urbanisation is one of the most significant health issues of the twenty-first century (see section 4). The increasingly built environment affects our ability to access and connect to nature. Interactions with nature are largely driven by opportunity (for example access to quality and quantity greenspace) as well as peoples' orientation to nature (for example through participation in activities in nature, or regular outdoor play as children)^{53,54}.

Some NbS in urban environments have the potential to provide multiple health and wellbeing benefits. Street trees provide habitat for animals that capture people's fascination, like songbirds, mammals and butterflies, and make for more pleasant neighbourhoods that encourage people to walk or cycle and engage more directly and frequently with their local green space. It has been shown that the presence of a healthy urban forest reduces cardiovascular and pulmonary illness⁵⁵.

Research demonstrates the remarkable range of beneficial health outcomes from exposure to

nature⁵⁶, but there is a trend of declining nature experiences in urban populations^{57,53}. Moreover, the most deprived communities often have less access to green space⁵⁸ and exposure to biodiversity^{59,60}. Not only is this a significant environmental justice and equity problem (discussed further in the Chapter 9: Embedding NbS in Strategic Spatial *Planning*) but given the positive association between exposure to nature and pro-environmental behaviour demonstrated through studies in England, these patterns could be hindering the realisation of sustainability targets⁶¹. The values that people hold, which therefore influence behaviours such as consumption and issues of governance and accountability, have been recognised as one of the indirect drivers of biodiversity loss, and is thus central to solving the direct drivers of biodiversity loss⁶².

Urban areas often include brownfield sites, particularly in areas of higher deprivation⁶³. Communities near brownfield sites tend to have poorer health and life expectancy, increased crime and antisocial behaviours, environmental and health impacts of contaminated land, economic costs of remediation, and multiplier effects of visible and clustered brownfield sites, with the health and wellbeing impacts disproportionate in areas of multiple deprivation⁶⁴. Through working with local communities, these sites have the potential to become resilient, accessible, and useable assets with considerable health, economic, climate and biodiversity benefits across local and regional spatial scales. One of the Sustainable Development Goals is to reduce inequality, so the hidden drivers that lead to "green gentrification" – the exclusion and displacement of disenfranchised communities or increasing land values – must be accounted for in order to avoid further compounding existing socio-environmental inequalities⁶⁵.

7. NBS TO IMPROVE THE ECONOMY

NbS can provide substantial economic benefits including increased population health and wellbeing, reduced costs associated with climate change impacts, the creation of green jobs, reduced social, environmental and economic costs of brownfield sites, and increased lifespan of essential urban infrastructure⁶⁶. Further, accessible and multifunctional NbS can serve as a form of local investment that can spur economic growth and community revitalisation.

Climate change poses the greatest long-term risk to traditional grey infrastructure performance. Flooding already accounts for significant losses in infrastructure services, with outages tending to last longer than other weather-related hazards (usually several days or even weeks). The growing risks from heat, water scarcity and slope instability caused by severe weather can lead to a reduction in a standard of protection: concrete infrastructure deteriorates faster if subjected to more frequent and extreme periods of freeze-thaw, while prolonged hot dry periods are likely to accelerate desiccation of surface soils on earth embankments, affecting stability²².

NbS can reduce the significant costs associated with adapting grey infrastructure to climate change, as well as the comparative management and maintenance costs, whilst simultaneously providing multiple social and environmental cobenefits that grey infrastructure is not designed to provide. In general, neither the short- nor longterm economic benefits of NbS have been fully quantified. The value of urban trees provides perhaps the most comprehensive assessment of benefits. What is clear from these assessments is that urban trees provide immense value in direct and cost-saving benefits⁶⁷. Attempts to account for the monetary value of ecosystem benefits have shown that natural systems add millions of pounds of value to cities⁶⁸. For example, Birmingham, in one of the first attempts to produce a comprehensive valuation of urban habitats, valued its ecosystem services at £11.66 million per year, but also recognised that this was a substantial undervaluation⁶⁹.

For the City of London, the annual economic contribution of its eight million trees was estimated to be £132.7 million annually, or about £15 per tree⁷⁰. Economic benefits include the evaporative cooling provided by the trees and how this increases air-conditioning unit efficiency, as modelled in three UK urban areas (Edinburgh, Wrexham and London). This cooling from urban trees was predicted to save up to £22 million in annual energy consumption across inner London alone⁷¹. Many other intangible benefits that are difficult to monetise result from interaction with urban trees and these are increasingly valued among people and society^{72,73}.

8. CHALLENGES

The implementation of NbS in cities is inherently complex because of multiple, sometimes competing views on the design of urban space⁷⁴. This complexity is compounded by the fact that NbS require the consideration of multiple benefits across environmental, ecological, societal, economic and community dimensions. The multidisciplinary nature of NbS is at odds with most governance structures and the lack of coordination across sectors or departments, particularly at local authority level, and so this is a challenge that actively needs to be addressed⁷⁵.

Interdisciplinary partnership working is needed to deliver NbS that meet multiple outcomes in urban areas. A lack of capacity in many organisations and local authorities, and skills gaps, particularly around designing and adapting NbS to local conditions, need to be addressed. Further, the declining budgets available to local authorities to invest in and manage urban green infrastructure (including large municipal parks and Country Parks)⁷⁶ also needs addressing. Given the particular socio-economic and socio-cultural challenges facing some urban communities, it is particularly important to integrate a participatory placemaking approach to equitable co-design, co-creation and co-management of NbS that include multiple stakeholders and beneficiaries, with the social impacts of NbS explicitly considered.

Integrating multiple forms of NbS and allowing for mixed-use planning on larger sites, whilst moving away from singular outcomes towards multiple outcomes is, therefore, particularly important. Better and long-term monitoring and evaluation are needed to produce stronger evidence that captures the broad values and benefits associated with NbS, including how impacts differ across different social groups.

CASE STUDY 1: A DIVERSE RESEARCH AND INNOVATION AGENDA FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS AND RE-NATURING CITIES

Given the complex nature of urban NbS and that design, implementation and management can include different actors and objectives, there have been a high diversity of project started across the world. Projects span the full gamut, from local grassroot community initiatives to re-nature a neighbourhood to international NGOs that provide guidance and recognise city NbS initiative. Here we highlight five example projects to highlight the multi-actor and multiple dimensions of NbS implementation.

¹https://ec.europa.eu/research/environment/ index.cfm?pg=nbs

²<u>https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/news/nature-based-solutions-are-helping-address-urban-challenges</u>

Example projects ²

 NATURVATION aims at developing the understanding of what NbS can achieve in cities, examine how innovation can be fostered in this domain, and contribute to realising the potential of NbS for responding to urban sustainability challenges by working with communities and stakeholders. Six cities are partners in NATURVATION – Barcelona, Győr, Leipzig, Malmö, Newcastle and Utrecht (<u>https://naturvation.eu</u>)

- Connecting Nature forms a community of cities fostering peer-to-peer learning and capacity building among front runner cities that are experienced in delivering large scale NbS and fast follower cities that have the desire to implement large scale NbS but lack the expertise. The 11 cities participating in this project are: Glasgow, Genk, Poznan, La Coruna, Bologna, Burgas city, Ioannina, Malaga, Nicosia, Sarajevo and Pavlos Melas (https://connectingnature.eu/)
- GrowGreen aims to create climate and water resilient, healthy and liveable cities by investing in NbS. Demonstration projects are designed and implemented in four Frontrunner Cities – Manchester, Valencia, Wroclaw and Wuhan. These cities are paired

with Follower Cities: Brest, Zadar and Modena (<u>http://growgreenproject.eu</u>).

- UNALAB aims at addressing the challenges that cities around the world are facing today, by focusing on climate and water related issues through innovative NbS. With three demonstration cities (Tampere, Eindhoven and Genova) and seven replication cities (Cannes, Prague, Başakşehir, Castellón, Stavanger, as well as Buenos Aires and Hong Kong) (https://unalab.eu/).
- URBAN GreenUP aims at developing, applying and validating a methodology for Renaturing Urban Plans to mitigate the effects of climate change, improve air quality and water management through innovative NbS. The URBAN GreenUP consortium is comprised of eight partner cities - the front-runners (Izmir, Liverpool, Valladolid) and the followers (Chengdu, Ludwigsburg, Mantova, Medellin, OuyNhon) (<u>https://www. urbangreenup.eu/</u>)

CASE STUDY 2: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGIC INTERVENTION, SCOTLAND

Objectives

The Green Infrastructure Strategic Intervention (GISI) is a £15 million European Regional Development Fund programme in Scotland, led by NatureScot. The largest urban NbS intervention in Scotland, it targets areas with a deficit of good quality greenspace, multiple deprivation and an excess of vacant and derelict land.

It enables active and local solutions to clearly evidenced social, economic and environmental needs using green infrastructure (GI) and NbS to create multi-functional places, address inequalities, provide opportunities for better health, support a resilient economy, adapt to climate change, and create space for nature.

The GISI is using its projects as demonstration sites to showcase NbS in practice, exchange knowledge in Scotland and beyond, contribute to wider mainstreaming of green infrastructure and NbS, and influence policy, planning and funding decisions.

Projects

The GISI is funding 14 capital projects with up to 40% gap funding, or around £1 million per project, resulting in an overall programme investment of around £40 million. Projects are being delivered by a range and combination of grantees, including local authorities (LAs), housing associations, Scottish Canals, and the NHS. Each project is profiled on the GISI website. For a detailed example on Financing NbS, please see the Financing NbS Case Study in *Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment Options for Implementing Nature-based Solutions.*

Many projects include vacant and derelict land (V&DL) sites and as a result of stipulated outcomes, most include outdoor learning provision, community food growing, habitat creation or enhancement, flood management and sustainable drainage systems (SuDS), improved access and path or active travel networks, and active community involvement through, for example, "Friends of" groups.

Design

Crucially, each project entails co-design, co-creation and co-management with the local community. This 'co-co-co' approach helps local communities become more resilient to challenges such as the impacts of climate change. Using GI supports urban biodiversity and provides direct adaptation benefits, such as natural flood management and local cooling, whilst delivering important co-benefits.

Drivers

The GISI projects were conceptualised due to economic and social deprivation challenges, which are multiplied by impacts of climate change. Biodiversity in its own right did not provide a single driver for any project, however, it is one of the GISI's five required outcomes. Project drivers include, for example: health outcomes; harnessing GI to unlock derelict or contaminated site development; and surface and flood water management.

The projects will be complete by 2023, so monitoring and evaluation is ongoing, and the full extent of the projects' impacts will become apparent in time.

<u>Source: https://www.</u> greeninfrastructurescotland.scot/

REFERENCES

- 1 The World Bank, (2021). Urban population (% of total population) United Kingdom. [online] Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL. IN.ZS?locations=GB [accessed: 05/02/21].
- Shao, M., Zhang, Y., Zeng, L., Tang, X., Zhang, J., Zhong, L. and Wang, B. (2009). Ground-level ozone in the Pearl River Delta and the roles of VOC and NOx in its production. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90, 512-518.
- 3 Strosnider, H., Kennedy, C., Monti, M. and Yip, F. (2017). Rural and urban differences in air quality, 2008–2012, and community drinking water quality, 2010–2015—United States. MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 66, Page 1.
- 4 Zannin, P.H.T., Diniz, F.B. and Barbosa, W.A. (2002). Environmental noise pollution in the city of Curitiba, Brazil. *Applied Acoustics*, 63, 351-358.
- 5 Zhou, B., Rybski, D. and Kropp, J.P. (2017). The role of city size and urban form in the surface urban heat island. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1-9.
- 6 Martínez-Bravo, M. d. M., Martínez-del-Río, J. and Antolín-López, R. (2019). Trade-offs among urban sustainability, pollution and livability in European cities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 224, 651-660.
- 7 Sanchez Rodriguez, R., Ürge-Vorsatz, D. and Barau, A.S. (2018). Sustainable Development Goals and climate change adaptation in cities. *Nature Climate Change*, 8, 181-183.
- Elmqvist, T., Andersson, E., Frantzeskaki, N., McPhearson, T., Olsson, P., Gaffney, O., Takeuchi, L. and Folke, C. (2019). Sustainability and resilience for transformation in the urban century. *Nature Sustainability*, 2, 267-273.
- 9 Lafortezza, R., Chen, J., van den Bosch, C.K. and Randrup, T.B. (2018). Nature-based solutions for resilient landscapes and cities. *Environmental Research*, 165, 431-441.
- 10 Frantzeskaki, N., McPhearson, T., Collier, M.J., Kendal, D., Bulkeley, H., Dumitru, A., Walsh, C., Noble, K., van Wyk, E., Ordóñez, C., Oke, C. and Pintér, L. (2019) Nature-Based Solutions for Urban Climate Change Adaptation: Linking Science, Policy, and Practice Communities for Evidence-Based Decision-Making. *BioScience*, 69, 455-466.
- 11 Raymond, C.M., Frantzeskaki, N., Kabisch, N., Berry, P., Breil, M., Nita, M.R., Geneletti, D. and Calfapietra, C. (2017). A framework for assessing and implementing the co-benefits of nature-based solutions in urban areas, *Environmental Science & Policy*, 77, 15-24.
- 12 Scottish Government (2020). Scottish Planning Policy. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.gov.</u> scot/publications/scottish-planning-policy/ pages/11/#:~:text=Brownfield%20land,the%20 context%20of%20flood%20risk [accessed: 10/02/21]
- 13 Jorat, M.E., Goddard, M.A., Manning, P., Lau, H., Ngeow, S., Sohi, S.P. and Manning, D.A.C. (2020). Passive CO2 removal in urban soils: Evidence from brownfield sites. *Science of the Total Environment*, 703, 135573.
- 14 Davies, Z.G., Edmondson, J.L., Heinemeyer, A., Leake, J.R. and Gaston, K.J. (2011). Mapping an urban ecosystem service: quantifying above-ground carbon storage at a city-wide scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48, 1125-1134.
- 15 Nowak, D.J., Stevens, J.C., Sisinni, S.M. and Luley, C.J. (2002). Effects of urban tree management and species selection on atmospheric carbon dioxide. *Journal of Arboriculture*, 28, 113–122.
- 16 Roloff, A., Korn, S. and Gillner, S. (2009). The climatespecies-matrix to select tree species for urban habitats

considering climate change. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 8, 295–308.

- 17 Zhou, Q. (2014). A Review of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Considering the Climate Change and Urbanization Impacts, *Water*, 6, 976-992.
- 18 NatureScot, (2020). Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs). [online] Available at: <u>https://www.nature.</u> scot/professional-advice/placemaking-and-greeninfrastructure/green-infrastructure/sustainable-drainagesystems-suds [accessed: 05/02/21]
- 19 Ashley, R., Horton, B., Lavers, T. and McLaughlin, A. (2017). Sustainable Drainage Systems on new developments. Analysis of evidence including costs and benefits of SuDS construction and adoption. [online] Environmental Policy Consulting Ltd. Final Report for the Welsh Government, Pages 5-6. Available at: <u>https:// www.susdrain.org/files/resources/evidence/analysis_ of_evidence_including_costs_and_benefits_of_suds_ wg_2017_.pdf [accessed: 04/03/21].</u>
- 20 Stovin, V. (2010). The potential of green roofs to manage Urban Stormwater, *Water and Environment Journal*, 24, 192-199.
- Wong, E., Akbari, H., Bell, R. and Cole, D. (2011). *Reducing urban heat islands: compendium of strategies.* Environmental Protection Agency, retrieved May, 12, 2011.
- 22 ASC (2016) UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 Evidence Report – Summary for England. Adaptation Sub-Committee of the Committee on Climate Change, London.
- 23 Vaz Monteiro, M., Handley, P., Morison, J.I.L. and Doick, K.J. (2019). The role of urban trees and greenspaces in reducing urban air temperatures, Forest Research (Research Note). [online] Available at: <u>https://www. forestresearch.gov.uk/documents/7125/FCRN037.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].
- 24 Emmanuel, R. and Loconsole, A. (2015). Green infrastructure as an adaptation approach to tackling urban overheating in the Glasgow Clyde Valley Region, UK. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 138, 71–86.
- 25 Cascone, S., Gagliano, A., Poli, T. and Sciuto, G. (2019). Thermal performance assessment of extensive green roofs investigating realistic vegetation-substrate configurations. *Building Simulation*, 12, 379–393.
- 26 Coma, J., Pérez, G. and Cabeza, L.F. (2018) Chapter 3.2 - Green Roofs to Enhance the Thermal Performance of Buildings and Outdoor Comfort. In: Pérez, G. and Perini, K., editors, *Nature Based Strategies for Urban and Building Sustainability*. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann, Pages 109-17.
- 27 Oliveira, S., Andrade, H., and Vaz, T. (2011). The cooling effect of green spaces as a contribution to the mitigation of urban heat: a case study in Lisbon. *Building and Environment*, 46, 2186-2194.
- 28 Wang, X., Dallimer, M., Scott, C.E., Shi, W. and Gao, J. (2021). Tree species richness and diversity predicts the magnitude of urban heat island mitigation effects of greenspaces, *Science of The Total Environment*, 770, 145211.
- 29 Centre for Cities (2020). *Cities Outlook 2020*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/</u><u>uploads/2020/01/Cities-Outlook-2020.pdf</u> [accessed: 18/11/20].
- 30 DEFRA (2007). *Air Quality and Climate Change: A UK Perspective.* Air Quality Expert Group to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; Scottish

Government; Welsh Government; and Department of the Environment in Northern Ireland. [online] Available at: <u>https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/library/assets/documents/</u> <u>reports/ageg/fullreport.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].

- 31 Royal College of Physicians (2018). Reducing air pollution in the UK: Progress report 2018. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/news/reducing-airpollution-uk-progress-report-2018</u> [accessed: 18/11/20].
- 32 McDonald, R., Kroeger, T., Boucher, T., Longzhu, W., Salem, R., Adams, J., Bassett, S., Edgecomb, M. and Garg, S. (2016). Planting healthy air: a global analysis of the role of urban trees in addressing particulate matter pollution and extreme heat. *The Nature Conservancy*, 1–129.
- 33 Monks, P. et al. (2018a), Impacts of vegetation on urban air pollution. Air Quality Expert Group to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; Scottish Government; Welsh Government; and Department of the Environment in Northern Ireland. [online] Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/ cat09/1807251306 180509 Effects of vegetation on urban_air_pollution_v12_final.pdf [accessed: 10/03/21]
- 34 Monks, P. et al. (2018b). Ultrafine Particles (UFP) in the UK. Air Quality Expert Group to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; Scottish Government; Welsh Government; and Department of the Environment in Northern Ireland. [online] Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/ cat09/1807261113_180703_UFP_Report_FINAL_for_ publication.pdf [accessed: 10/03/21]
- 35 Wang, H., Maher, B.A., Ahmed, I.A.M. and Davison, B. (2019). Efficient Removal of Ultrafine Particles from Diesel Exhaust by Selected Tree Species: Implications for Roadside Planting for Improving the Quality of Urban Air, Environmental Science and Technology, 53, 6906-6916.
- 36 Parsons, A.W., Forrester, T., Baker-Whatton, M.C., McShea, W.J., Rota, C.T., Schuttler, S.G., Millspaugh, J.J. and Kays, R. (2018). Mammal communities are larger and more diverse in moderately developed areas. *ELife*, 7, e38012.
- 37 Saito, M. and Koike, F. (2013). Distribution of wild mammal assemblages along an urban–rural–forest landscape gradient in warm-temperate East Asia. *PloS one*, 8, e65464.
- 38 Ahrne, K., Bengtsson, J. and Elmqvist, T. (2009). Bumble bees (Bombus spp) along a gradient of increasing urbanization. *PloS one*, 4, e5574.
- Kaltsas, D., Panayiotou, E., Chatzaki, M. and Mylonas, M. (2014). Ground spider assemblages (Araneae: Gnaphosidae) along an urban-rural gradient in the city of Heraklion, Greece. *European Journal of Entomology*, 111, 59.
- 40 Baldock, K.C., Goddard, M.A., Hicks, D.M., Kunin, W.E., Mitschunas, N., Osgathorpe, L.M., Potts, S.G., Robertson, K.M., Scott, A.V. and Stone, G.N. (2015). Where is the UK's pollinator biodiversity? The importance of urban areas for flower-visiting insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 282, 20142849.
- 41 Singh, A.K., Singh, H. and Singh, J.S. (2018). Plant diversity in cities: call for assessment and conservation. *Current Science*, 110, 428-435.
- Hope, D., Gries, C., Zhu, W., Fagan, W.F., Redman, C.L., Grimm, N.B., Nelson, A.L., Martin, C. and Kinzig, A. (2003). Socioeconomics drive urban plant diversity. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, 100, 8788-8792.
- 43 Aronson, M. F. J., F. A. La Sorte, C. H. Nilon, M. Katti, M. A. Goddard, C. A. Lepczyk, P. S. Warren, N. S. G. Williams, S. Cilliers, B. Clarkson, C. Dobbs, R. Dolan, M. Hedblom, S. Klotz, J. L. Kooijmans, I. Kühn, I. MacGregor-Fors, M. McDonnell, U. Mörtberg, P. Pyšek, S. Siebert, J. Sushinsky,

P. Werner and M. Winter (2014). A global analysis of the impacts of urbanization on bird and plant diversity reveals key anthropogenic drivers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281. 20133330.

- 44 Cadotte, M.W., Yasui, S.L.E., Livingstone, S. and MacIvor, J.S. (2017). Are urban systems beneficial, detrimental, or indifferent for biological invasion? *Biological Invasions*, 19, 3489-3503.
- Muratet, A., Machon, N., Jiguet, F., Moret, J. and Porcher, E. (2007). The role of urban structures in the distribution of wasteland flora in the greater Paris area, France. *Ecosystems*, 10, 661.
- 46 Gortat, T., Barkowska, M., Tkowska, A.G.-S., Pieniążek, A., Kozakiewicz, A. and Kozakiewicz, M. (2014). The effects of urbanization—small mammal communities in a gradient of human pressure in Warsaw city, Poland. *Polish Journal of Ecology*, 62, 163-173.
- 47 Meffert, P.J. and Dziock, F. (2012). What determines occurrence of threatened bird species on urban wastelands? *Biological Conservation*, 153, 87-96.
- 48 Filazzola, A., Shrestha, N. and MacIvor, J.S. (2019). The contribution of constructed green infrastructure to urban biodiversity: A synthesis and meta@analysis. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56, 2131-2143.
- 49 Braaker, S., Ghazoul, J., Obrist, M. and Moretti, M. (2014). Habitat connectivity shapes urban arthropod communities: the key role of green roofs. *Ecology*, 95, 1010-1021.
- 50 Eyre, M.D., Luff, M.L. and Woodward, J.C. (2003). Beetles (Coleoptera) on brownfield sites in England: An important conservation resource? *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 7, 223-231.
- 51 NatureScot (n.d.). Priority Habitat Open Mosaic Habitats On Previously Developed Land. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/priority-habitat-open-mosaic-habitats-previously-developed-land</u> [accessed: 18/11/20].
- 52 Buglife (n.d.). *Managing scarce bumblebees.* [online] Available at: <u>https://cdn.buglife.org.uk/2020/01/</u> <u>Managing-brownfields-for-scarce-bumblebees.pdf</u> [accessed: 18/12/20].
- 53 Cox, D. T. C., Hudson, H. L., Shanahan, D.F., Fuller, R.A. and Gaston. K.J. (2017) The rarity of direct experiences of nature in an urban population. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 160, 79-84.
- 54 Soga, M., and Gaston. K.J. (2020). The ecology of humannature interactions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287, 20191882.
- 55 Donovan, G.H., Butry, D.T., Michael, Y.L., Prestemon, J.P., Liebhold, A.M., Gatziolis, D. and Mao, M.Y. (2013). The relationship between trees and human health: evidence from the spread of the emerald ash borer. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 44, 139-145.
- 56 Twohig-Bennett, C. and Jones, A. (2018). The health benefits of the great outdoors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health outcomes. *Environmental Research*, 166, 628-637.
- 57 Soga, M., and Gaston, K. J. (2016). Extinction of experience: the loss of human-nature interactions. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14, 94-101.
- 58 Ferguson, M., Roberts, H.E., McEachan, R.R.C. and Dallimer, M. (2018). Contrasting distributions of urban green infrastructure across social and ethno-racial groups. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 175, 136-148.
- 59 Leong, M., Dunn. R.R. and Trautwein M.D. (2018). Biodiversity and socioeconomics in the city: a review of the luxury effect. *Biology Letters*, 14, 20180082.
- 60 Kuras, E.R., Warren, P.S., Zinda, J.A., Aronson, M.F.J., Cilliers, S., Goddard, M.A., Nilon, C.H. and Winkler, R. (2020). Urban socioeconomic inequality and biodiversity

often converge, but not always: A global meta-analysis. Landscape and Urban Planning, 198, 103799.

- 61 Alcock, I., White, M.P., Pahl, S., Duarte-Davidson, R. and Fleming, L.E. (2020). Associations between proenvironmental behaviour and neighbourhood nature, nature visit frequency and nature appreciation: Evidence from a nationally representative survey in England. *Environment International*, 136, 105441.
- 62 IPBES (2019). Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S. and Ngo, H.T. (editors). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany.
- 63 Maantay, J (2013). The Collapse of Place: Derelict Land, Deprivation and Health Inequality in Glasgow, Scotland. *Cities and the Environment (CATE)*, 6, Article 10.
- 64 Mantaay, J. and Maroko, A. (2015). 'At-risk' places: inequities in the distribution of environmental stressors and prescription rates of mental health medications in Glasgow, Scotland. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10, 115003.
- 65 Maia, A., Calcagni, F., Connolly, J., Anguelovski, I. and Langemeyer, J. (2020). Hidden drivers of social injustice: uncovering unequal cultural ecosystem services behind green gentrification. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 112, 254-263.
- 66 Faivre, N., Fritz, M., Freitas, T., de Boissezon, B., and Vandewoestijne, S. (2017). Nature-Based Solutions in the EU: Innovating with nature to address social, economic and environmental challenges. *Environmental Research*, 159, 509-518.
- 67 Liekens, I., De Nocker, L., Broekx, S., Aertsens, J. and Markandya, A. (2013). Chapter 2 - Ecosystem services and their monetary value. In: *Ecosystem Services*, 1st ed. Elsevier, Pages 13-28.
- 68 Gómez-Baggethun, E. and Barton, D.N. (2013). Classifying and valuing ecosystem services for urban planning. *Ecological Economics*, 86, 235-245.
- 69 Hölzinger, O., Horst, D.v.d. and Sadler, J. (2014). City-wide Ecosystem Assessments—Lessons from Birmingham. *Ecosystem Services*, 9, 98-105.
- 70 Rogers, K., K. Sacre, J. Goodenough and K. Doick (2015). Valuing London's urban forest. Results of the London i-Tree eco project. London: Treeconomics. [online] Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/</u> <u>government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/</u> <u>file/723230/LONDONI-TREEECOREPORT151202.pdf</u> [accessed: 10/03/21].
- 71 Moss, J.L., Doick, K.J., Smith, S. and Shahrestani, M. (Forthcoming). Influence of evaporative cooling by urban forests on cooling demand in cities. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*. [cited Vaz Monteiro *et al.*, 2019]
- 72 Shackleton, S., Chinyimba, A., Hebinck, P., Shackleton, C. and Kaoma, H. (2015). Multiple benefits and values of trees in urban landscapes in two towns in northern South Africa. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 136, 76-86.
- 73 Blicharska, M. and Mikusiński, G. (2014). Incorporating social and cultural significance of large old trees in conservation policy. *Conservation Biology*, 28, 1558-1567.
- 74 Apfelbeck, B., Snep, R.P.H., Hauck, T.E., Ferguson, J., Holy, M., Jakoby, C., Scott MacIvor, J., Schär, L., Taylor, M.and Weisser, W.W. (2020). Designing wildlife-inclusive cities that support human-animal co-existence. *Landscape* and Urban Planning, 200, 103817.
- 75 Frantzeskaki, N., Vandergert, P., Connop, S., Schipper, K., Zwierzchowska, I., Collier, M. and Lodder, M. (2020). Examining the policy needs for implementing naturebased solutions in cities: Findings from city-wide transdisciplinary experiences in Glasgow (UK), Genk (Belgium) and Poznań (Poland). Land Use Policy, 96,

104688.

76 Heritage Lottery Fund (2016). State of UK Public Parks. [online] Available at: https://www.heritagefund.org. uk/sites/default/files/media/attachments/state_of_uk_ public_parks_2016_final_for_web%281%29.pdf [accessed: 02/03/21]

SECTION 2: **EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION AND DELIVERY OF NATURE-BASED** SOLUTIONS

EMBEDDING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS IN STRATEGIC SPATIAL PLANNING

Authors: Colm Bowe¹ Alister Scott² Alison Smith³ Bethany Chamberlain⁴ Laura Clavey⁴

- 1 Liverpool John Moores University.
- 2 Northumbria University^[1].
- 3 Environmental Change Institute, University of Oxford.
- 4 British Ecological Society.
- Scott's contribution recognises support and data from the NERC Mainstreaming Green Infrastructure Project Award Number NE/R00398X/1

1. WHY IS SPATIAL PLANNING IMPORTANT FOR DELIVERING SUCCESSFUL NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS?

Land in the United Kingdom (UK) is under intense pressure to meet growing demands for housing, infrastructure, food, timber, biofuel, fresh water, recreation, and carbon storage and sequestration, while also trying to make space for nature and reverse the decline in biodiversity. Nature-based solutions (NbS) can help to meet these multiple needs at low cost, but only if they are integrated into a strategic spatial planning approach which can balance these competing demands at landscape scale. Effective spatial planning can optimise land use, exploiting synergies where possible and managing the inevitable trade-offs. This will deliver the right NbS in the right places, and ensure that the land-use system as a whole can meet local, regional, national and international needs. Bad planning, or lack of planning, can result in poor outcomes or even in decisions that do more harm than good. Some examples of good and bad planning of NbS are given in Box 1.

BOX 1: EXAMPLES OF GOOD AND BAD SPATIAL PLANNING FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Good planning

- \checkmark $\,$ Use of spatial planning to locate
 - new green space close to deprived communities, to maximise health and wellbeing benefits.
 - woodland strips and hedges between transport infrastructure and houses or schools to act as air pollution and noise barriers.
 - Place new trees in areas which contain a lot of hard surfaces such as city and town centres to mitigate the effects of high summer temperatures
- ✓ Using a landscape/catchment planning approaches to place woodlands for flood and erosion protection on steep, erodible slopes upstream of flood zones, informed by hydrological modelling to avoid synchronisation of flood peaks.
- ✓ Embedding NbS within Nature Recovery Networks and Strategies and choosing a diverse mix of native species and habitats that will support local wildlife and be resilient to future change.

Bad planning

- Poorly planned afforestation driven largely by numerical targets, that results in planting trees on scarce semi-natural grassland or heathland habitats, thus destroying rare species, or on peaty soils which will dry out resulting in more carbon emissions.
- Conversion of high-quality farmland to other uses such as woodland or green space, resulting in displaced impacts as more land is used to produce food elsewhere.
- Afforestation which does not consider the right species/variety mix in the right place or focuses solely on planting monocultures of non-native tree species. This may fail to deliver biodiversity and other benefits and stands could be vulnerable to climate change, pests and diseases.

The planning systems in the UK suffer from fragmentation, with multiple policies and actors governing different sectors within the same geographic space. While approaches differ between the countries and some recent attempts have been made to partly address this², this is largely the case across the UK. For example, in England the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) for town and country planning; the forthcoming Environmental Land Management scheme (ELMS) for agriculture; regulators such as Water Services Regulation Authority, Office of Gas and Electricity Markets, Office of Communication and Office of Rail or Road for water, energy, communication and transport infrastructure; Natural England, the Forestry

Commission and the Environment Agency for biodiversity, forests, air and water quality; and the Building Regulations Advisory Committee and the National Infrastructure Commission overseeing built infrastructure. Each system has its own governance, limiting the development of holistic solutions which can deliver better environmental, social and economic outcomes. The relevant legislation, agencies, goals and objectives across these sectors at national and local level need to be better synchronised^{1,2}. In this chapter we show that mainstreaming NbS into spatial planning policy can help to address this disintegration, by developing landscape-wide plans that transcend different sectors and bring all relevant stakeholders together to jointly agree on a spatial vision.

2. HOW TO PLAN SPATIALLY COHERENT NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

A variety of landscape-level planning approaches relevant to NbS exist or are emerging, including the Ecosystem Approach³, Local Plans, Local Natural Capital Plans, Catchment Management Plans, Landscape Enterprise Networks, Nature **Recovery Networks and Nature Recovery** Strategies, Local Nature Partnerships (LNPs), Regional Land Use Partnerships and Farmer Clusters. These approaches are generally participatory, interdisciplinary and evidence-based. They aim to balance conservation of biodiversity and the sustainable use of natural resources with fair and equitable sharing of the benefits, using negotiation to resolve any trade-offs, and using an adaptive management approach to monitor and learn from the outcomes. Early engagement across sectors and disciplines is vital, bringing stakeholders together to jointly determine priorities for strategic land-use investments rather than developing sector specific plans and strategies, and transcending traditional environment, health, economy and housing silos. Figure 1 suggests how such an approach could be applied to planning NbS - starting with jointly defining a vision for the area, then developing an evidence base, prioritising opportunities for NbS to meet stakeholder needs,

and finally delivering, managing and monitoring NbS as part of a process of adaptive management which can respond to future change. In the following sections we discuss each of these stages in turn, illustrating them with case studies.

2.1. BRINGING STAKEHOLDERS TOGETHER AND DEVELOPING A VISION

NbS planning should be grounded in the local context and should reflect stakeholder priorities, to gain local support and avoid conflict⁴. It is important to identify and bring together all stakeholders - policy-makers, landowners, practitioners implementing the schemes, and beneficiaries - to identify their goals, values and priorities and develop a joint vision for the area. Engaging stakeholders and communities in this process also facilitates understanding of the institutional and emotional perspectives of spatial planning⁵. For example, the Green Infrastructure and the Health and Wellbeing Influences on an Ageing Population (GHIA) value tool uses an online

[2] The Wellbeing of Future Generation Act in Wales requires public bodies to consider a single set of goals and act in a long-term and integrated way.

VISION	 Identify all relevant stakeholders and bring together in a participatory forum Consult with local communities to identify local views and values
	 Identify local, regional, national and international challenges, goals, priorities and drivers of change
	 Map existing natural capital assets and their ability to deliver ecosystem services
EVIDENCE	 Identify local Nature Recovery Networks and Nature Recovery Strategies
	• Who and where are the beneficiaries?
OPPORTUNITIES	 Identify gaps between supply and demand. How can NbS maximize socio-economic benefits?
	 How can NbS be integrated into Nature Recovery Networks and Strategies?
	 How can local, regional and international priorities, challenges/drivers of change be considered in NbS decison making?
	 Plan at landscape scale to maximize synergies, minimize trade-offs and ensure all needs are met
	 Identify and prioritise a pipeline of investment-ready projects
DELIVERY	 Identify and create frameworks to develop sustainable flows of investment funds
	 Implementation, monitoring and adaptive management of NbS

Figure 1. Strategic spatial planning for NbS, following a participatory ecosystem management approach.

survey to map the values that residents in Greater Manchester place on their green and blue spaces⁶, and similar surveys have been carried out in Bicester⁷ and Sheffield⁸.

As well as consulting with local communities to identify local views and values and understand local priorities, it is important to consider regional priorities (e.g. for flood protection or water supply at the catchment scale), national priorities (e.g. for food security), and global goals (e.g. for climate change mitigation). Synergies between goals can be identified, for example by integrating NbS with Nature Recovery Networks, and supporting locally important species and habitats. The vision-setting process may identify potential conflicts and tradeoffs between goals; these can often be minimised by careful planning. For example, conflicts with food production could be reduced by avoiding the conversion of high-grade agricultural land to other uses, while also implementing NbS such as buffer strips, species-rich field margins and creating hedgerows to reduce adverse impacts on the surrounding environment.

There are many collaborative groups across the country that bring together stakeholders to support and implement NbS. For example the Liverpool City Region's LNP, 'Nature Connected', has a dedicated Natural Capital Working Group with partners from the third sector, local government, business and academia, that has had success in policy advocacy, resourcing and evidence generation for spatial planning of NbS^{9,10}. Case Study 1 illustrates how different organisations have worked together to implement an integrated approach in Greater Manchester.

CASE STUDY 1. STAKEHOLDER PLANNING FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS IN GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY (GMCA)

The Greater Manchester Natural Capital Group (NCG) was established in 2013 as a result of UK government's 2011 'Natural Environment White Paper', acting as the LNP for the city region. The strategic planning process has been built on a natural capital narrative. The work is underpinned by a robust evidence base building on a natural capital assessment undertaken across the whole area¹¹, including opportunity maps for ecosystem services¹². This was enabled via the Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) pioneer programme and European Union funding, which allowed them to test out new approaches to the delivery and mainstreaming of natural capital.

NCG has an action plan with clear targets and accountabilities, and reports to the Green City Partnership Board on delivery of those actions. Actions show who delivers across stakeholder partners and the progress they are making. The Green City Region Partnership Board, in turn, reports to GMCA. Each leader of the ten local authorities has a portfolio on these different groups, forging a strong partnership approach with political leadership. Securing the early and active support and championing of Andy

2.2. BUILDING THE EVIDENCE BASE

NbS plans need to be informed by good evidence. This includes the location and quality of existing natural capital assets and the ability of these assets to deliver ecosystem services. The location of potential beneficiaries for each ecosystem service, the demand for these services, and any gaps between supply and demand allow identification of opportunities for NbS to meet the needs of beneficiaries. Understanding how the natural assets form ecological networks and the movements of species across them is also key. Spatial analysis helps to understand where existing high value natural assets need to be protected, and where to avoid NbS interventions that might lead to perverse outcomes, for instance, through the substitution of a higher value habitat.

Burnham as Mayor was also critical, with a Five Year Environment Plan launched in 2019¹³ and a commitment to be carbon neutral by 2038. A "Call to Action" enabled a partnership approach to flourish, with task groups established for each priority area in the Five Year Environment Plan. The results from this include:

- Strategic policy natural environment firmly embedded within actions set out in the Five Year Environment Plan
- Biodiversity net gain commitment in emerging Greater Manchester Spatial Framework for 10% net gain, with Salford Council the first to include as part of their local plan consultation
- Securing €5m for the IGNITION project to support the delivery of NbS business models
- Production of a natural capital investment plan and development of a Greater Manchester environment fund
- Communication and engagement value of natural environment firmly embedded as part of Greater Manchester natural environment vision, and engagement toolkit recently launched

Effective mapping also helps to provide a robust baseline for monitoring change.

There are a number of spatial natural capital datasets available at national level in England (see Wigley et al 2020^{14} and Dales et al 2014^{15}), Wales (see Emmett et al 2017¹⁶) and Scotland (see McKenna 2019¹⁷). While these national assessments utilise different approaches they are not designed for or are too coarse for local planning. Some regions in the UK have been developing finer scale spatial maps of natural capital assets, ecosystem service flow and in some cases ecosystem service demand often aimed at informing local spatial planning (e.g. Holt et al 2019¹⁸, Smith 2019¹⁹, see Case Study 2). These methods draw on nationally available data (including Ordnance Survey data and Natural England priority habitat data), in some cases supplemented with local habitat data provided by Local Environmental Record Centres or other local sources.

Local habitat data or ground-truthing surveys can considerably improve the accuracy of the maps. For example, ground-truthing of a map of the Dane Catchment, Cheshire, using only nationally available data, found that 78% of habitat land parcels were identified correctly²⁰, while a comparison for the Oxford-Cambridge Arc found that local habitat data identified an additional 20,000 hectares (ha) of semi-natural grassland that was missing from maps generated using only national datasets²¹. However, collecting this data can be time consuming and requires a level of resource not often available to local or regional government. Local Environmental Record Centres across the UK play a key role in coordinating and training citizen science volunteers, and verifying the collection of such data, but need

increased funding to expand this in a systematic and comprehensive way. Software applications can also help with the verification process. This could build on the success of tools such as the I-naturalist which have been shown to be viable in assisting citizen science species identification and recording alongside expert verification²². Citizen science activities and apps have the potential to help gather data on habitats condition and the influence of land management, which is usually neglected due to lack of data. For example, the LandApp tool is being developed for farmers to map the habitats and management approaches on their farms, in order to inform design of farm management plans to develop NbS interventions that provide public goods²³.

CASE STUDY 2. NATURAL CAPITAL MAPPING AND TREESCAPES IN OXFORDSHIRE

In Oxfordshire, there is an urgent need to map existing natural capital assets in order to help guide plans for large scale housing and infrastructure development, with plans to double the number of houses in just 30 years. A relatively quick and simple method of mapping natural capital was developed and tested with stakeholders, based on a matrix of scores for the ability of different habitats to deliver each of 18 different ecosystem services¹⁹. The maps reveal networks of strategic high value natural capital assets that need to be protected from inappropriate development, especially along river valleys, and these overlap to a large extent with the Nature Recovery Networks for Oxfordshire.

This method has now been extended to inform the development of local natural capital plans across the Oxford-Cambridge Arc²¹ (see https:// www.oxcamlncp.org/). It is also informing the development of a new Tree Opportunity Map (see https://www.oxtrees.uk/mapping) which aims to develop county-wide guidelines based on delivering the 'right trees in the right place', ensuring a balanced mix of 'Treescapes' for timber, carbon, flood protection, recreation and nature across the county.



© Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100025252. Ancient tree data is provided by the Woodland Trust. This map incorporates biodiversity data provided by the Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC) which is copyright to TVERC and its partners.

Figure 2. Natural capital assets in Oxfordshire¹⁹. Darker shades of green indicate higher value for regulating and cultural services (maximum score for any regulating or cultural service), while orange indicates high value areas for food production. Reproduced with permissions from Alison Smith.

$british \, ecological \, society. org$

2.3. IDENTIFYING AND PRIORITISING OPPORTUNITIES FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Having defined a vision and mapped existing assets, the next step is to identify opportunities for NbS to meet stakeholder needs. This can be done by assessing the demand for the benefits and services that NbS can deliver (or in other words, the problems that NbS need to address), and then comparing this with the maps of ecosystem service supply to identify any gaps which signal an unmet need. Demand maps can be developed by combining different factors such as data on deprivation level, health needs, population size, areas at risk of flooding, sources of pollution, or access to greenspace. There is considerable evidence to indicate that health and wellbeing inequalities are exacerbated by poor access to high quality environments including those that provide NbS²⁴. Identifying "pinch point" areas where demand for NbS is high but provision is low can help to highlight areas of environmental inequality (see Case Study 3). For example, NbS such as new urban parks or community orchards could be located close to disadvantaged communities in order to maximize health and socio-economic benefits and create green jobs.

CASE STUDY 3. ADDRESSING SOCIAL JUSTICE AGENDAS FOR INVESTMENT IN NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS: BIRMINGHAM

There has been a lack of attention to the impact of NbS on social justice. Many new schemes involving NbS help to embed nature in new housing developments but while neglecting existing vulnerable and deprived communities who lack access to nature²⁵. This case study shows how Birmingham City Council built an innovative evidence base using demand and supply maps of core ecosystem services which, when combined with the index of multiple deprivation, provides a powerful spatial priority map for new investment in NbS. Six ecosystem services were mapped: aesthetics and mobility, flood risk, local climate, education, recreation and biodiversity. These were translated into supply and demand maps showing areas of need and overprovision. These six maps were then superimposed into a single multi-layered challenge map for Birmingham (Figure 3). The dark areas of red signify the priority areas where there is a combined ecosystem service deficit. Significantly, these areas also map onto places with a high index of multiple deprivation that also suffer a ten-year reduced life expectancy. Tools such as the community infrastructure levy and biodiversity net gain may provide some scope for retrofitting NbS into these deprived spaces.

Figure 3. Ecosystem Service Challenge Map for Birmingham; reproduced from Scott *et al.* (2018)²⁶ (under CC BY 4.0 license).



Benefits for nature can be maximized by integrating NbS into Nature Recovery Networks and Strategies, drawing on ecological network analysis to optimize the connectivity of networks of different habitat types. For example, Rouquette (2018) considered both need for ecosystem services and ecological connectivity to identify potential

new sites for NbS for woodland, wet grassland and semi natural grassland in Northampton and Peterborough²⁷. In Glasgow and Clyde, ecological networks were integrated with green active transport routes to deliver health and well-being benefits for people, alongside benefits to nature from new habitat creation (see Case Study 4).

The Existing Strategic Access Network

MILES OF ACCESS NETWORK

Green Route

40%

500

60%-

CASE STUDY 4. IMPROVING CONNECTIVITY AND NETWORKS IN NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS: **GLASGOW AND CLYDE VALLEY GREEN NETWORK**

The Glasgow and Clyde Valley Green Network helped to deliver improved strategic planning through NbS thinking²⁸ (Figure 4). By focussing on improving connectivity, they have enhanced their strategic Green Network for the benefit of the people, economy and wildlife in Glasgow City Region. There are two components: an Access Network; facilitating the off-road movement of people between communities through greenspace, and a Habitat Network; facilitating the movement of wildlife through

Greenspace

0

the landscape. The Strategic Access Network is comprised of more than 200 routes over 500 miles, but only 60% of the routes are within the Green Network. The resultant Blueprint identifies opportunities to address the on-road sections of the network²⁸.

The habitat network comprised nearly 40% of wildlife habitat, but these habitats are not well connected. The Blueprint identifies nearly 800 targeted opportunities to better connect Habitat Networks



Figure 4: The Blueprint: Glasgow Clyde Valley Green Network^{28,29}. Reproduced with permission from GCV Green Network Partnership.

Planning NbS may involve decisions about what type of habitat to restore or create in a given location. In cases where more than one habitat type could be created in a certain location, some form of prioritisation is necessary. This could consider the rarity of habitats at landscape scale: for example, if there is 10% woodland but only 1% heathland and 2% lowland meadow in a region, then heathland or meadow creation could be prioritised rather than woodland on sites that are suitable for all three habitat types. The Nature Networks Evidence Handbook³⁰ provides 'rules of thumb' to aid practitioners, including a suggested hierarchy of actions to improve core wildlife sites; increase the size of core sites; increase the number of core sites; improve the 'permeability' of the surrounding landscape for the movement of wildlife; and create corridors of connecting habitat, as well as developing several Large Nature Areas (5-12,000 ha) across the country. Other actions to maximise biodiversity benefits include using a diverse mix of native species wherever possible, and including natural regeneration as well as active interventions such as planting trees.

Considering wider socio-economic factors may also play a part in identifying areas for NbS. Spatial data which provide locations such as areas designated for major development, brownfield sites or former mining sites may assist in narrowing down sites for NbS. Consideration of major policy changes or challenges may also have an influence. The Environment and Rural Affairs Monitoring & Modelling Programme (ERAMMP) explored the effects of three different Brexit scenarios on changes in land use in Wales¹⁶. Based on these scenarios, they identified land where the use may change from agricultural production to NbS such as restored peatland or tree planting due to economic drivers (see Case Study 5).

When evaluating different options, it is important to consider the full range of potential benefits that NbS can deliver, and to actively identify conflicts or trade-offs and decide how to manage them. When individual opportunities for NbS have been identified, the overall impacts should be assessed at landscape scale to ensure that a balanced mix of NbS is delivered to meet all needs.

CASE STUDY 5. CONSIDERING MAJOR CHANGES AND CHALLENGES IN NATURE-BASED SOLUTION DECISION MAKING

Recent work for Welsh Government under the ERAMMP modelled the impacts of plausible agricultural changes due to Brexit on the environment (e.g. water and air quality, greenhouse gas emissions, woodland carbon sequestration) nationally at high spatial resolution¹⁶. This work also explored regional variation in the potential for agri-environment schemes to deliver ecosystem services and

2.4. DELIVERING, MANAGING AND MONITORING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Having identified potential opportunities to deliver NbS to meet societal and environmental challenges, the next step is to evaluate the different options to ensure spatial coherence, equitable delivery and cost-effectiveness. Various evaluation tools exist; these generally compare asset maps before and after interventions, and economic benefits to society under these changes. This gave added consideration to enhanced opportunity for recreation and improvements to human health from better air quality. These issues are being further explored for Welsh Government using an Integrated Modelling Platform to model ecosystem services outcomes (including valuation) for policy scenarios at national scale.

estimate the change in the capacity for ecosystem service delivery either as a score, a percentage change or a biophysical or monetary value (see Case Study 6). Such approaches also allow scenario analysis to test future policy approaches driven by different planning objectives, e.g. a trade-off between the developers' desire for place making close to the development against the need for large scale investment in flood regulation upstream of the urban conurbations. Approaches that allow assessment of changes at both the site level and across wider geographical boundaries (i.e. ward, local authority) can also inform on how the NbS is contributing to net gain or loss across areas which can inform cases of investment to achieve equitable provision of benefits^{10,18,20}.

Having identified potential NbS opportunities, these can be prioritised to form a pipeline of investment-ready projects. This paves the way for developing sustainable flows of investment funds. NbS need to be planned and implemented across policy areas (environment, planning, transport, business etc.) and draw on a variety of mechanisms (net gain, local plan policies, nature recovery networks, brownfield registers) to gain the benefits from policy drivers and optimise potential investment streams.

Following implementation, ongoing monitoring and evaluation is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of NbS interventions, and to enable adaptive management (if necessary) in response to change. Projects should include a budget for long term management and monitoring of NbS, and should ensure that maintenance and management staff have appropriate training.

CASE STUDY 6. ENVIRONMENTAL LAND MANAGEMENT SCHEME TEST & TRIAL: MAPPING THE EFFECTS OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS BASED AGRI-ENVIRONMENT INTERVENTIONS IN THE DANE CATCHMENT CHESHIRE

As part of a DEFRA ELMS test and trial in the Dane Catchment, Cheshire, the impact of landscape scale NbS based agri-environment interventions derived by a local farm advisor were evaluated using EcoservR (see https://ecoservr. github.io/EcoservR/). Changes in ecosystem service due to the interventions were measured at farm, landscape and catchment scale. The approach has been tested with farm advisors and farmers for its use in developing land management plans and could be used to test various options for NbS interventions across the farm and landscape scale²⁰.



Figure 5 – Landscape agri-environment interventions on an asset map of part of the Dane catchment, Cheshire, and resultant change maps and percentage changes in ecosystem services across farms, landscape and catchment extent²⁰. Adapted from Angers-Blondin *et al.* (2020)²⁰.
3. HOW CAN SPATIAL PLANNING POLICY DELIVER BETTER OUTCOMES FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS?

For NbS to deliver their potential benefits, a strategic spatial planning approach needs to be embedded within wider local and national policies. Here we present three examples at the local and regional level:

- The South Downs Local Plan embeds ecosystem services as one of four core policies that apply to all developments (Case Study 7)
- The Liverpool City region is seeking to embed a Natural Capital Approach into planning and decision making including the Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) and Local Industrial Strategy (Case Study 8)
- The Swansea Green Infrastructure Strategy is using the Green Factor Score approach to mandate inclusion of high-quality green infrastructure into new urban developments (Case Study 9)

At a national level while a spatial strategic planning approach is not fully embedded in policy there are signs of a positive direction of travel.

In **England**, for example, the introduction of mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain and the requirement for Nature Recovery Networks through the Environment Bill and encouragement of Environmental Net Gain in the NPPF Guidance³¹ endorses a strategic and spatial approach. The recent Planning White Paper's³² focus on "digital first" and various mentions of the net gain principle also supports this. The White Paper does however herald a significant shift towards zoning systems where areas are identified for development, regeneration and protection within local plans with codes used to provide standards for approval. This presents both challenges and opportunities for spatial planning within a stronger plan led system.

In **Scotland** there is an emerging National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4)³³ which continues the strong spatial planning approach to development. The November 2020 position statement acknowledging the need to go further in securing positive effects for biodiversity from development, helping to address the global challenge of biodiversity loss in line with a new statutory outcome for NPF4. It also recognises an opportunity space to "Expanding green infrastructure, biodiversity and natural spaces to make our places greener, healthier and more resilient to the impacts of climate change". In this regard, NPF4 will benefit from support in the new Infrastructure Investment Plan for Scotland, which includes nature in its formal definition of infrastructure.

In Wales there is a strong framework for spatial planning emerging. The (draft) National Development Framework (NDF)³⁴ is a new 20-year national spatial strategy, with development plan status. It sets out the Welsh Government's policies on development and land use in a spatial context. The NDF is required under the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and must be reviewed every five years. Of most relevance is Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure, which aims "to ensure the enhancement of biodiversity, the resilience of ecosystems and the provision of green infrastructure". Under the framework the Welsh Government will identify areas for habitat creation and protection for ecological networks and opportunities where existing and potential green infrastructure could be maximised, requiring the use of NbS. Planning authorities should then include these areas and/or opportunities in their development plan strategies and policies.

CASE STUDY 7. SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK: DEVELOPING ROBUST SPATIAL PLANNING POLICIES WITHIN WHICH NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS CAN FLOURISH

The South Downs National Park Authority took a strategic decision to embed nature and ecosystem services at the heart of their Local Plan³⁵. Following a series of iterative workshops with planners and the Park Board, they created a policy on ecosystem services (Figure 6) which is one of four core policies that must be met in all development decisions. Developers must detail both the positive and negative impacts of any developments on a specified list of ecosystem services, and must actively seek out ways of enhancing ecosystem services to help secure planning permission, thus framing the

Core Policy SD2: Ecosystem Services

- 1. Development proposals will be permitted where they have an overall positive impact on the ability of the natural environment to contribute goods and services. This will be achieved through the use of high quality design, and by delivering all opportunities to:
 - a) Sustainably manage land and water environments;
 - b) Protect and provide more, better and joined up natural habitats;
 - c) Conserve water resources and improve water quality;
 - d) Manage and mitigate the risk of flooding;
 - e) Improve the National Park's resilience to, and mitigation of, climate change;
 - f) Increase the ability to store carbon through new planting or other means;

NbS narrative as part of a business case. This is supported by mapping to identify ecosystem service priorities and impacts for any potential development location. The policy is underpinned by dedicated guidance for householders and developers, and explicitly addresses viability, trade-offs and net gain potential. It is effective as a negotiation tool to enable planners to explicitly embed biodiversity and wider environmental net gains in developments at any scale, showing how statutory planning policies can provide an important catalyst for the delivery of NbS.

- g) Conserve and enhance soils, use soils sustainably and protect the best and most versatile agricultural land;
- h) Support the sustainable production and use of food, forestry and raw materials;
- i) Reduce levels of pollution;
- j) Improve opportunities for peoples' health and wellbeing; and
- k) Provide opportunities for access to the natural and cultural resources which contribute to the special qualities.
- 2. Development proposals must be supported by a statement that sets out how the development proposal impacts, both positively and negatively, on ecosystem services.

Figure 6: South Downs National Park Core Policy SD2, on Ecosystem Services. Reproduced from *South Downs Local Plan 2014 - 2033*³⁵.

CASE STUDY 8. EMBEDDING NATURAL CAPITAL IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has proposed a policy in its recent SDS Consultation³⁶ which seeks to embed a Natural Capital Approach into planning and decision making. This draws on a spatial evidence base, the Liverpool City Region Natural Capital Baseline¹⁸, to prioritise and identify strategic opportunities for Green Infrastructure and habitat provision or improvement, and act as a consistent measure for achieving environmental net gain from new development. The SDS policy is supported by the draft Local Industrial Strategy, which refers to protecting and enhancing Natural Capital as a key strategic objective across a range of policies such as placemaking, climate change and air quality, informed by the baseline³⁷.

CASE STUDY 9. SWANSEA SPONGE CITY: SECURING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS IN AN URBAN CITY REGENERATION SCHEME USING THE GREEN SPACE FACTOR (GSF) SET WITHIN WIDER STRATEGIC PLANNING

An innovative green infrastructure strategy was developed for Central Swansea in February 2019, with extensive public and stakeholder consultation³⁸. The strategy is designed to support the Local Development Plan and emerging Supplementary Planning Guidance on Green Infrastructure. It contributes to Natural Resources Wales and

Swansea Council's duties under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, and supports the delivery of the Statutory Sustainable Drainage (SuDS) Standard 2019 and the Swansea Public Service Board's 'Working with Nature' Objective. The strategy helped reframe the central area of Swansea as a 'sponge city'. It provides an exemplar of cross disciplinary working and agency partnership, championing the ecosystem approach to introduce nature-based solutions including green roofs, rain gardens and pocket parks into a dense urban area requiring redevelopment. The aim was to change the culture of urban development planning and design, and make development control and planning easier for the Local Planning Authority, by using the GSF - a tool for measuring the quantity and multifunctionality of green infrastructure proposed as part of planning applications. The GSF encourages developers to include more and higher quality green infrastructure, such as green roofs and living walls, to meet the

required score of 0.3 for predominantly commercial developments and 0.4 for predominantly residential developments. For example, the Biophilic Living, Swansea development (Figure 7) easily meets the required threshold, with a score of 0.6, highlighting how high quality green infrastructre can be factored into urban developments.





Figure 7: Biophilic Living development, Central Swansea, with a Green Factor Score of 0.6. Consultant: Green Infrastructure Consultancy, CGI image by iCreate, Plan image by Powell Dobson Architects, ©Hacer Developments, reproduced with permission from David Dolman³⁸.

4. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this chapter we have set out a strategic approach to spatial planning to inform good decisions about delivering the right NbS in the right places, illustrated by examples that show how elements of this approach are being implemented throughout the UK. Strategic planning approaches are also beginning to be integrated into wider policy and decision making in several regions. Here we suggest a number of recommendations for policymakers, to ensure such processes become mainstream.

- Support stakeholder partnerships to create strategic and coherent plans. Stakeholder participation, collaborative action and the community voice are vital in planning NbS to equitably meet multiple needs (Section 2.1).
 Financial and technical support needs to be provided for LNPs and similar groups (e.g. Catchment Management Partnerships, Farmer Clusters and Neighbourhood Plans) so that they can help deliver a diverse mix of well-planned NbS that optimise synergies and manage tradeoffs at landscape scales.
- Develop and maintain the evidence base to inform a strategic spatial planning approach to NbS. This requires technical capacity within relevant teams (i.e. local and regional government), access tools for spatial analysis, and freely available spatial natural capital data, including both national level datasets and local data on habitat type, condition and management (Section 2.2). Currently, many key datasets are not freely available (particularly to those outside the public sector), so natural capital maps developed by researchers cannot be shared with all stakeholders. It is important that government continues to develop free access to data, including via support for Ordnance Survey. Key to local data availability is developing a mechanism to fund Local Environmental Records Centres, so that they can continue to manage the volunteers who collect local data, and to enable them to make the habitat and species monitoring data

collected freely available where appropriate. Support for the development of citizen science software applications will also play a role here.

- Invest in approaches and tools for analysing landscape level trade-offs and prioritising NbS. There is a need to support, develop and test approaches for designing NbS at landscape scale, taking into account trade-offs between different benefits. While approaches are emerging, there is a need to ensure these can assess the benefits and trade-offs for a range of intervention types.
- Integrate NbS into planning and wider policies. NbS need to be integrated within wider policies across local and national government bodies and other key organisations (see Section 3).
- Embed spatial planning which protects existing habitat networks and other high value natural capital assets. It takes many decades to reach peak values for delivering services to people.

REFERENCES

- Scott, A., Carter, C., Reed, M., Larkham, P., Adams, D., Morton, N., Waters, R., Collier, D., Crean, C., Curzon, R., Forster, R., Gibbs, P., Grayson, N., Hardman, M., Hearle, A., Jarvis, D., Kennet, M., Leach, K., Middleton, M., Schiessel, N., Stonyer, B. and Coles, R. (2013). Disintegrated development at the rural-urban fringe: Reconnecting spatial planning theory and practice. *Progress in Planning*, 83, pp. 1-52.
- Scott, A., (2019). Mainstreaming the environment in planning policy and decision making. In: Davoudi, I., Cowell, R., White, I. and Blanco, H. The Routledge Companion to Environmental Planning. London: Routledge.
- Convention on Biological Diversity. (2021). Ecosystem Approach. [online] Convention on Biological Diversity. Available at: <u>https://www.cbd.int/ecosystem/</u> [accessed 3 Mar 2021].
- 4 Giordano, R., Pluchinotta, I., Pagano, A., Scrieciu, A. and Nanu, F. (2020) Enhancing nature-based solutions acceptance through stakeholders' engagement in cobenefits identification and trade-offs analysis. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 713, 136552.
- 5 Carter, C., Durant, L. and Scott A. (in press) A Framework to Enable New Ways of Landscape Scale Thinking and Practice. In: Moore, K., Albans, A., Nikologianni, A. and Cureton, P., eds., The Landscape of Our Lives; Section 2 'New Ways of Thinking'.
- 6 GHIA. (2019) *GHIA Value Tool*. [online] University of Manchester. Available at: <u>http://maps.humanities.</u> <u>manchester.ac.uk/ghia-web/value/</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 7 Smith, A., Mason, H., Berry, P., Thompson, J. and Dunford, R. (2018). *The value of green space in Bicester to local people*. [online] Environmental Change Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/</u> <u>ecosystems/bio-clim-adaptation/downloads/bicester-</u> <u>public-value-green-space.pdf</u> [accessed 4 Mar 201].
- 8 IWUN. (n.d.). Improving Wellbeing through Urban Nature. [online]. Available at: <u>http://iwun.uk/</u> [accessed 4 March 2021].
- 9 Liverpool City Region Natural Working Group. (2019). A Natural Capital Baseline for the Liverpool City Region. [online]. Available at: <u>http://www.natureconnected.org/ wp-content/uploads/2020/06/LCR Baseline 4 pager</u> <u>Final.pdf</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 10 Busdieker, K., Angers-Blondin, S., Rouquette, J., Holt, A. and Bowe, C. (2020). *Quantifying environmental* (natural capital) net gain and loss - Urban development demonstration : Liverpool City Region.
- 11 Environment Agency and Nature Greater Manchester. (2019). The Natural Capital Approach in Greater Manchester. [online]. Available at: https:// naturegreatermanchester.co.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2019/03/GM-Natural-Capital-Accounts-Summary-March-2019_Digital-1.pdf [accessed 10 Mar 2021].
- 12 GMCA and Salford City Council. (2019). *GMODIN*. [online] MappingGM. Available at: <u>https://mappinggm.org.uk/</u> gmodin/?lyrs=v_tep_ecosystem_services_2019#os_maps_ light/14/53.5715/-2.4335 [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- Greater Manchester Combined Authority. (2019). 5 Year Environment Plan for Greater Manchester 2019-2024.
 [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].

- Wigley, S., Paling, N., Rice, P., Lord, A. and Lusardi, J. (2020) National Natural Capital Atlas. [online] Natural England Commissioned Report Number 285. Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u> publication/4578000601612288 [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 15 Dales N., Brown N. and Lusardi, J. (2014). Assessing the potential for mapping ecosystem services in England based on existing habitats. [online] Natural England. Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u> <u>publication/5280919459987456</u> [accessed 10 Mar 2021].
- 16 Emmett, B. and the GMEP team. (2017). Glastir Monitoring & Evaluation Programme. Final Report to Welsh Government - Executive Summary (Contract reference: C147/2010/11). NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (CEH Projects: NEC04780/NEC05371/ NEC05782).
- 17 McKenna T. 2019 Scotland's Natural Capital Asset Index 2019 Summary https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/ files/2019-11/Scotland%27s%20Natural%20Capital%20 Asset%20Index%20-%202019%20Update%20summary.pdf
- 18 Holt A., Rouquette, J., Bowe, C., Busdieker, K. and Angers-Blondin S. (2020) Baseline natural capital assessment for the Liverpool City Region. [online] Natural Capital Solutions Limited. Available at: <u>https://www. liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCR-Natural-Capital-Baseline-Report.pdf</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 19 Smith, A. (2019). Natural Capital in Oxfordshire: Short Report. [online] Research report, Environmental Change Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/ ecosystems/bio-clim-adaptation/downloads/bicester-Natural-capital-mapping-in-Oxfordshire-Short-report-V2. pdf [accessed 4 Mar 2021].</u>
- 20 Angers-Blondin, S., Pimblett, J., Bellamy, C., Rouquette, J., Holt, A., Varley, M. and C. Bowe. (2021). *EcoservR: a natural capital mapping tool for measuring public goods*. ELM Test and Trial 074. Final report presented to Defra, January 2021. Available from: <u>https://ecoservr.github.io/</u> <u>EcoservR/files/LJMU_TT_ELMS_Jan2021.pdf</u> [accessed 07/04/21]
- 21 Smith, A. and Lister, K. (2020). *Local Natural Capital Plan Ecosystem Services Baseline for the Oxford-Cambridge Arc.* Report by the University of Oxford and TVERC for the Environment Agency (not yet published).
- 22 Aristeidou, M., Herodotou, C., Ballard, H., Young, A., Miller, A., Higgins, L. and Johnson, R. (2021). Exploring the participation of young citizen scientists in scientific research: The case of iNaturalist. *PLoS ONE*, 16, e0245682.
- 23 Phelps, J. (2020). Creating a baseline and mechanism for investment for Natural Capital Recovery. [online] Land Management 2.0 webinar series 9th April 2020. Available at: <u>https://landmanagement20.squarespace.com/</u> webinars/event-two-xmp7w-8f7fw [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 24 Marmot, M., Allen, J., Boyce, T., Goldblatt, P. and Morrison, J. (2020) *Health equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 years on.* London: Institute of Health Equity.
- 25 Wolch, J., Byrne, J. and Newell, J. (2014). Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 135, pp.224-234.
- 26 Scott, A., Carter, C., Hardman, M., Grayson, N. and Slaney, T. (2018). Mainstreaming ecosystem science in spatial planning practice: Exploiting a hybrid opportunity space. *Land Use Policy*, 70, pp.232-246

- 27 Rouquette, J. (2018). Habitat Opportunity Mapping in Northamptonshire and Peterborough. [online] Natural Capital Solutions. Available at: <u>http://</u> www.naturalcapitalsolutions.co.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2018/05/HOM_project_final_report_ FINALcompressed.pdf [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 28 GCV Green Network. (2020). *Glasgow and Clyde Valley Green Network*. [online] Green Cities for a Sustainable Europe. Available at: <u>https://uk.thegreencity.eu/</u> <u>best_practices/glasgow-and-clyde-valley-green-network/</u> [accessed 10 Mar 2021].
- 29 GCV Green Network (2019) *Our Blueprint*. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.gcvgreennetwork.gov.uk/what-we-do/our-blueprint</u> [accessed 8 Apr 2021].
- Crick, H., Crosher, I., Mainstone, C., Taylor, S., Wharton, A., Langford, P., Larwood, J., Lusardi, J., Appleton, D., Brotherton, P., Duffield, S. and Macgregor, N. (2020). Nature Networks Evidence Handbook. [online] Natural England Research Report NERR081. Available at: <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/</u> <u>publication/6105140258144256</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 31 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. (2019). Natural Environment Guidance. [online] gov. uk. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/naturalenvironment</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 32 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. (2020). Planning for the future. [online] White Paper August 2020. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.</u> <u>service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/958420/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf [accessed 4 Mar 2021].</u>
- 33 Scottish Government. (2020). Scotland's Fourth National Planning Framework Position Statement. [online]. Available at:<u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlandsfourth-national-planning-framework-position-statement/</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- Welsh Government. (2019). National Development Framework 2020-2040 consultation draft. [online].
 Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/draft-nationaldevelopment-framework-0</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 35 South Downs National Park Authority. (2019). South Downs Local Plan 2014 - 2033. South Downs National Park.
- 36 Liverpool City Region. (n.d.). Spatial Development Strategy. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www. liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/lcr-our-places/</u> [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 37 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. (2020). Local Industrial Strategy Draft. [online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/ LCRCA_LIS_March_2020.pdf [accessed 4 Mar 2021].
- 38 Grant, G., Gedge, D., Rolfe, F. and Gruffydd, P. (2019). Swansea Central Area - Regenerating Our City for Wellbeing and Wildlife Consultation Draft. [online] Green Infrastructure Consultancy, Natural Resource Wales. Available at: <u>https://www.swansea.gov.uk/ greeninfrastructurestrategy</u> [accessed 10 Mar 2021].

DELIVERING NATURE-BASED Solutions

Authors:

Camilla Morrison-Bell¹ Bethany Chamberlain¹ Michael Morecroft² Daniela Russi¹ Olly Watts³

Contributors:

Dr Geoff Radley⁴ Kaley Hart⁵ Dr Stephen Chaplin²

- 1 British Ecological Society.
- 2 Natural England.
- 3 RSPB.
- 4 Independent.
- 5 Institute for European Environmental Policy.

1. CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter discusses how nature-based solutions (NbS) can be delivered across the United Kingdom. Section two provides a brief discussion of the need to integrate and coordinate NbS across a range of sectoral policies. It also identifies the kind of mechanisms that have most potential to effectively deliver NbS. Section three discusses the elements that are necessary to design, implement and evaluate NbS, including governance processes, initiatives to provide and share knowledge and build social capital, inspection and enforcement activities, and monitoring. Section four discusses the need to secure long-term funding for NbS, including for the research that is crucial to ensure their effectiveness.

This chapter makes nine key recommendations to help UK governments effectively address the current challenges of the NbS approach and integrate NbS into relevant existing policies, rather than recommending a new standalone NbS policy. Our recommendations to improve future NbS delivery across the UK include:

- Integrate across all relevant policies and 'mainstream' NbS: As a relatively new multisector approach with both biodiversity and societal objectives, NbS require greater profile and traction in all the policy areas they can benefit.
- A comprehensive and fit for purpose assessment framework: An effective NbS assessment framework is required that enables transparent assessments at multiple spatial scales and can be utilised by all key stakeholders. It needs to be able to account for the multiple benefits of the NbS initiative for both nature and climate over time, in line with defined objectives, standards, criteria and metrics.
- A novel approach to governance: NbS require a multi-stakeholder governance framework that ensures integration and coordination across all relevant spatial and temporal scales. Such a framework could help overcome existing resource and skill deficits by combining public and private sector input, and should ensure independence of assessments.
- Facilitation of advice and knowledge exchange: Methods to share knowledge (including local knowledge) and advice need to be built into the fabric of NbS initiatives. This is especially important when NbS are innovative practices that require new skills. Meaningful collaboration will be key to NbS and a coordinator may be instrumental in this for larger projects.
- Comprehensive monitoring: The multi-stakeholder governance framework needs to incorporate carefully designed monitoring systems, with a strong foundation of baseline data, in order to determine if the ambitions of the project are being met. This will require the inclusion of biodiversity and carbon, as well as human wellbeing metrics.
- **Continued refinement to carbon accounting and standards**: More research and data gathering are necessary to improve carbon monitoring, in order to increase reliability and decrease costs. It is also important to ensure an independent examination of carbon accounting.
- **Long-term financial support for NbS initiatives:** This will be required for initiatives and the bodies which deliver them. It will also be important to ensure that research relevant to the design, implementation and monitoring of NbS is adequately funded.

2. POLICIES FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

2.1. NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS BENEFIT A RANGE OF SECTORAL POLICIES

Across the UK and within each of the four nations, no individual policy or strategy exists that solely focuses on NbS and ensures they are delivered in a planned and coordinated way. However, many policies are relying on NbS to enable them to meet their targets. For example, the UK Climate Change Committee's *Land use: Policies for a Net Zero UK* 2020 identifies woodland creation and peatland restoration (amongst others) as key components for reaching a Net Zero emissions target.

The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) encourages NbS to be considered an 'umbrella concept that covers a whole range of ecosystem-related approaches' and highlights that these approaches mostly pre-date the emergence of NbS¹. This helps to explain why NbS relevant policies are so fragmented – and the wide range of opportunities for NbS across many sectors for both climate mitigation and adaptation.

If NbS are to be adopted on the scale required to enhance national biodiversity and contribute to climate change mitigation and adaptation, it is vital that NbS are 'mainstreamed' and integrated across all relevant policies, including environmental, health, economic and infrastructure policies and land/marine planning systems. Currently, a barrier to the delivery of NbS is that policies are often developed and delivered in silos.

In addition, where environmental and other policies compete in the same location, the environment is seldom the overriding priority. In contrast, where NbS are utilised effectively, they can align the implementation of diverse policy objectives and deliver benefits across different sectors (e.g., transport, water, agriculture, forestry, energy, and human health). With such demonstrable benefits, there is a greater chance of adoption and successful completion, both from the financial aspect of raising necessary funds but also by directly addressing conflicts and competing priorities.

The recent departure of the UK from the European Union provides an opportune time for addressing some of the issues with delivering NbS across the UK as new policies such as for agriculture, environmental conservation and land use are being developed.

Recommendation: Nature-based solutions should be 'mainstreamed' and integrated across all relevant policies.

2.2. DELIVERY MECHANISMS FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

The widespread deployment of NbS will require the coordinated use of a combination of different mechanisms operating as a coherent policy mix. Joined up thinking will be critical to this along with the 'mainstreaming' of NbS across strategies. Two groups of delivery mechanisms will be central to NbS delivery in order to ensure outcomes are achieved at the scales required to effectively contribute to tackling climate change and biodiversity loss. These are: the land use planning system and the use of financial incentives.

Land use planning. The land use planning system is an open, democratically accountable system with a strong legislative underpinning. The importance of spatial planning, as a key component in the delivery of NbS, has been addressed in *Chapter* 9: Embedding NbS in Strategic Spatial Planning which highlights the importance of a strategic spatial planning approach to balance competing demands on land at a landscape scale. This chapter, however, considers how the design of large-scale NbS projects, such as at the landscape or catchment level, requires effective frameworks, assessments and standards to ensure that when interventions are implemented at the local site level, they are properly coordinated and will deliver multiple benefits across sectors. This is not to ignore the value that small scale NbS interventions, such as green roof installations, contribute to tackling the climate change, biodiversity and wellbeing crises nor the importance of empowering and building support for NbS at personal and local levels.

Financial incentives are widely used across the UK to promote environmental land management, tree planting and woodland/forestry management. Land management agreements are already used to promote NbS to climate change and have the potential to be more widely used in future, particularly if the UK administrations take advantage of the current opportunities to redesign their future agricultural payment systems to focus on the delivery of environmental and climate goals. Important financial incentives that can be used to promote NbS include payments to land managers^[1], permit/credit markets^[2] and green tax incentivises^[3]. Conservation covenants^[4] also have potential as a mechanism for delivering NbS, complementing financial support for land managers by giving assurance of long-term stability in management. Additionally, dedicated Government funds, such as the £640 million Nature for Climate Fund to restore peatlands and fund tree planting in England, will be instrumental in NbS delivery.

It is worth noting the value for money and returns on expenditure that can be associated with NbS initiatives. For example, the managed realignment of the shoreline at Medmerry, Sussex, cost approximately £28 million but has generated around £90 million in direct economic benefit as well as providing 1,000 times better coastal flooding protection than the previous defence system in the area². Investment in NbS could also form part of a 'green' approach to economic recovery in the wake of COVID-19, through helping to stimulate employment and support economic growth^{3,4} (see *Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment Options for Implementing Naturebased Solutions* for further discussion).

Ultimately, no one delivery mechanism provides the answer to securing NbS at the scale required in the future. A mix of different mechanisms is required, appropriate to particular desired benefits, working as part of a coherent package with an extended reach of NbS into other sectors such as infrastructure and water management. As noted above, there is a significant opportunity currently available to all four UK administrations through the redesign of the frameworks for agricultural support as the UK leaves the EU, which provides the potential to reorient public financial support towards positive incentives for land managers to deliver public goods and support NbS.

3. ENABLING Nature-based solutions

For NbS to deliver both environmental and socioeconomic benefits via the mechanisms described in *section 2*, they need to have clear objectives for both. They also need to be supported by mechanisms for building nature and social capital, and for providing advice and support, backed up by monitoring and regulation. These mechanisms need to be deployed within an effective framework of governance and adjusted in the light of monitoring and evaluation. The following sections explore these elements in more detail.

^[1] Payments to land managers can be publicly funded or funded privately (e.g. water companies that aim to improve water quality and carbon offsetting schemes).

 ^[2] This mechanism delivers environmental benefits though a regulated or voluntary permit or credit market. Examples of environmental credit markets include the Woodland Carbon Code and Peatland Code in the UK, which provide a standard for habitat creation/restoration projects that can be used to verify the amount of carbon sequestered. This can then be used as a basis for trade in carbon credits and is a mechanism to attract carbon funding to support woodland creation or peatland restoration projects.
 [3] Green taxes aim to discourage environmentally damaging activities.

^[4] A conservation covenant is a voluntary, legally binding private agreement between a landowner and a 'responsible body' (usually a public body or conservation charity).

3.1 GOVERNANCE FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTION IMPLEMENTATION

The use of NbS to achieve environmental and societal objectives will require good governance^[5] at a variety of spatial scales to be effective. They will need to be coordinated at the national (and ideally international) level, may need to be enabled by national legislation and will need to be implemented regionally and/or locally. Governance of implementation can be top-down, where a central or regional body works out the spatial requirements and targets measures appropriately or bottom-up, where sectoral interests (e.g. land and marine managers, communities, responsible bodies) decide for themselves what environmental and societal objectives to pursue and where.

The overarching approach to NbS needs to be coordinated and strategically assessed by UK or devolved administrations (and where appropriate across national borders) but will need to be designed, planned, assessed, and implemented regionally and locally. There is also the need to balance central coordination to meet national policy with empowering local ownership of issues and drawing on local knowledge.

The most appropriate form of governance may vary depending on the local delivery instrument, but a system that can combine elements of the top-down (to help ensure consistency, alignment with national policy priorities and incorporation of scientific evidence and practical experience into action) as well as bottom-up approaches (to account for local conditions, achieve buyin, equality and social capital) has the potential to combine the best features of both. NbS, therefore, require collaborative governance and a collaborative approach to their planning and implementation⁵ involving multiple institutional scales and/or actors. There also needs to be flexibility in how governance arrangements (as well as business models and modes of financing) are developed and implemented⁶ to reflect local, and changing, situations. In addition, it will be important to define quantified, measurable targets for nature and for societal outcomes from

NbS deployment. These need to accommodate the range in temporal scales associated with NbS initiatives (i.e., some need a long amount of time before being effective).

Recommendation: Nature-based solutions require a multi-stakeholder policy framework that ensures integration and coordination across all relevant spatial and temporal scales. The framework should also include mechanisms for effective assessment at the full spatial range, ensure inclusive participation, co-creation of delivery mechanisms, collaboration, effective monitoring, accountability, enforcement, and transparency.

3.2 ASSESSMENT

A comprehensive NbS assessment framework is an important component to ensuring properly planned and designed NbS initiatives that will deliver the desired multi-benefits. Existing assessment frameworks, such as the Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations and the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations, as well as planning systems, should be evaluated and adapted to ensure they are fit for the purpose for assessing NbS initiatives.

Establishing clear objectives for nature and society is a key part of defining and delivering NbS, and is vital in optimising the co-benefits that NbS have the potential to deliver. As identified within some of the habitat-based chapters of this report, without clear objectives for both nature and societal benefits, NbS can end up being poorly planned and designed, resulting in poor outcomes and (at worst) environmental damage. For example, woodland creation on unsuitable habitats such as peatlands, or carbon-rich organo-mineral soils with inappropriate ground preparation and inadequate greenhouse gas assessment can lead to net emissions rather than sequestration of carbon. Inappropriate choice of tree species could also reduce biodiversity. In contrast, well-planned NbS with clear objectives for both climate and nature have great potential to tackle the two defining crises of our age.

^[5] In the context of this chapter, the meaning of a governance framework is to provide a system that supports (either through regulation and/or through non-legally binding mechanisms) the collective and coordinated actions across different government departments, organisations and local groups as relevant to achieve the implementation of a well-designed NbS, optimally suited to the location.

The IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions helps address the risk of adverse outcomes and recommends that NbS actions directly respond to evidence-based assessments of the current state of the ecosystem and prevailing drivers of degradation and loss as well as options for net improvements. The baseline assessment needs to be broad enough to characterise the ecological state, making use of both local knowledge and scientific understanding where possible⁷. It also needs to be comprehensive enough to allow for meaningful monitoring and evaluation of the NbS initiative over time (see *section 3.4*).

Finally, given the multi-sector approach of NbS, strategic and detailed assessments will require professional and specialist knowledge and input (in addition to incorporating local and non-specialist knowledge). This will require an increase in national capacity for this sort of work in both public and private sectors. An appropriate multi-stakeholder governance framework (as further discussed in *section 3.1*) can potentially help to make best use of resource and skills by combining facilities of the public and private sectors.

Recommendation: An effective naturebased solutions assessment framework should be adopted that enables transparent assessments for nature and society at multiple spatial scales, and can be utilised by all key stakeholders. It should also facilitate the gathering of baseline data in order to enable monitoring, assessment and comparison of the multiple values and benefits of the NbS initiative over time, in line with defined standards, criteria and metrics, such as the Peatland Code and Woodland Carbon Code.

3.3 KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS

It is important that all those implementing the mechanism have the necessary knowledge and skills to properly implement nature-based solutions and are motivated to do so. A series of mechanisms that can help achieve this are described below. Advice and information. Providing sufficient advice and information is critical when implementing novel nature conservation tools such as NbS. Understanding the different benefits provided by NbS will be important to ensure buy in and a wide uptake.

Collaboration. NbS initiatives should empower collaborative management of land/marine/ cityscapes that ensure the right actions are undertaken in the right place through using local knowledge, aligning to local concerns and needs, as well as through including any marginalised voices. NbS can also be the vehicle to bring frequently disconnected actors, sectors, and government institutions together, all in pursuit of a common goal to increase landscape resilience⁸ to climate change, improve ecosystem health and human wellbeing. Current governance frameworks that implement NbS do not effectively support collaboration⁹.

Meaningful collaboration that is accountable, inclusive, and transparent will help partnerships thrive and continue to function into the future¹⁰, providing the long-term support for NbS projects as required. In addition, collaboration among all the involved stakeholders will decrease litigation and conflict, increase capacity to accomplish work¹⁰, help address trade-offs and ensure a higher likelihood of implementation⁶.

Knowledge exchange. Experience from evaluating agri-environment scheme implementation found a positive correlation between incorporating the agreement holder's knowledge and achieving environmental outcomes^{11,12}. Platforms to integrate locally specific knowledge to increase the ecological understanding of the landscape and local sites need to be developed.

Coordination. A project coordinator can be an effective addition for NbS delivery (particularly at the landscape scale) to ensure collaboration, coordination and communication between multiple stakeholders and the multi-level governance structure. This may require funding^{13.} However, in other situations, such as working with individual land managers, a trusted advisor might be the more appropriate approach. Southern *et al.* (2011) identified the need for a coordinator to help form key partnerships, with a long-term stakeholder driven vision and address the mix of policies, institutions, and delivery mechanisms⁹.

Coordinators can also liaise with government and other bodies to arrange support payments, monitoring, training, information exchange and other aspects of the land/marine/city-scape management.

Recommendation: Methods and platforms to facilitate advice and knowledge exchange (local knowledge is key) need to be built into the fabric of NbS initiatives. This is especially important when NbS are innovative practices that require new skills. Meaningful collaboration helps initiation and longevity of NbS projects and reduces potential conflict. A coordinator can be instrumental in this for larger projects.

3.4 MONITORING AND EVALUATION

Monitoring and evaluation are vital parts of project delivery. Without them it is not possible to know whether a mechanism is effective in practice and to make informed decisions about future policy.

The IUCN Global Standard for NbS recommends that clear and measurable outcomes for both biodiversity conservation and climate change response are identified, benchmarked and periodically assessed⁶. Monitoring will be needed to assess the effectiveness of measures at a particular NbS site, ensuring the specific intended outcomes for both nature and society are being met, in addition to allowing for adjustments to be made if the intended outcomes are not progressing as planned or not being achieved. Monitoring should also include assessments of unintended consequences, both positive and adverse, on nature⁶ and societal benefits, and needs to account for natural changes (for example, ecological succession) and other changes (such as different weather patterns resulting from climate change, or societal changes). Measuring what constitutes success in climate change adaptation for ecosystems needs particularly careful attention¹⁴.

Site-level monitoring will need appropriate resourcing and to be incorporated into and analysed at a broader level, such as at the catchment level, to evaluate the effectiveness of the delivery mechanism as a whole. Evaluating the full extent of benefits delivered within the wider landscape context is particularly important for ensuring appropriate results-based payments associated with a NbS project.

Outputs should be easy to monitor so they can provide early feedback on the performance of a policy mechanism. Crucially both result and outcome monitoring will need good baseline data. Results require site-based monitoring and outcomes may be informed by national programmes of sample monitoring and/or surveillance. Although the data takes time and resource to collect, monitoring of results and outcomes will be essential for evaluating the effectiveness of policy mechanisms delivering NbS.

The monitoring and evaluation of a delivery mechanisms environmental and societal outcomes should ideally be accompanied by economic and social evaluations of that mechanism to build up a holistic picture of its effectiveness, value for money and sustainability¹⁵.

It is important to note that NbS can have greatly varied timescales for delivering their benefits. Some might be immediately effective; some may take years and others decades. This temporal variation is something that needs to be addressed in terms of monitoring, evaluating, and funding. Collaboration and participation can be the key components of the monitoring and evaluation framework. For example, the EU H2020 NAture Insurance value: Assessment and Demonstration (NAIAD) project found that the development and deployment of a 'community-based monitoring system' enhanced both the knowledge and participation of local stakeholders^{6,16}. Such community participation may also enhance people's connectedness and engagement with nature, which in turn could help increase the likelihood of NbS implementation.

As a relatively new approach to nature and climate change it may also be useful to monitor the uptake of NbS schemes. Assessing the extent of NbS delivery for a range of key objectives for biodiversity and climate change mitigation and adaptation would track progress and inform the development of policy and funding to fulfil the potential of NbS.

Recommendation: The assessment of NbS requires carefully designed monitoring systems, with a strong foundation of baseline data, to determine if objectives are being met.

Monitoring and measuring carbon flux.

Carbon accounting is a field that is still under development, with a number of methodological challenges and data gaps. At present, some elements (e.g. carbon stored in biomass above ground) are easier to measure than others (e.g. changes in the carbon content of the soil¹⁷). In the next few years, the ongoing effort on carbon accounting methodologies and data gathering for carbon accounting will allow us to estimate, with increasing precision, changes in emissions and carbon storage resulting from NbS projects, while reducing the costs of monitoring.

In general, there are several difficulties in measuring the realised climate change mitigation benefit from different NbS and comparing the outcomes across different temporal and spatial scales and habitat types¹¹. For managed NbS, the net carbon balance depends on the goals, costs implementation and end-of-life phases (e.g. if timber is used for building materials or becomes paper) and, whilst there may be promising estimates regarding carbon sequestration, the net balance will be impacted by the materials used and type of management (e.g. fossil fuel free)¹⁸.

The appropriate frequency of repeat monitoring needs to be defined, funded and delivered based on the NbS project aims. Given the relative novelty of delivering NbS at scale, an adaptive management approach will be necessary¹⁹. (Carbon credits and the peatlands and woodland codes are discussed in *Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment Options for Implementing Naturebased Solutions*).

It is important to note that, as recommended by the Climate Change Committee, an emission governance system should be transparent and should ensure robust monitoring and verification through independent auditing'²⁰.

Recommendation: The approach to carbon accounting needs to be refined, as NbS will form an increasing part of carbon reduction towards Net Zero goals. Systematic and independent verification of carbon accounting will help to ensure trust among the relevant stakeholders.

3.5 FUNDING

In order to mainstream the implementation of NbS across multiple relevant policies, it is important that governments earmark public funding for NbS, as well as provide support and guidance for funding instruments.

Funding and investment support need to be guaranteed for longer timeframes than is currently normal for environmental management, as it can take decades rather than years before some NbS become effective and during this period management and monitoring may be required. For NbS that require a long time to provide the desired outcomes, the best option is generally to link the payment to a set of pre-defined management actions that are designed to result in the desired outcomes. Conversely, for NbS whose outcomes occur faster and are more easily measurable, the payment can be linked to the result of the incentivised action, such as e.g. in result-based agri-environment schemes^[6].

Successful financing of NbS will likely come from a diverse number of public and private sources. It is, therefore, important to gather the evidence on the cost-effectiveness of NbS so that this can be used to help trigger both public and private finance and investments mechanisms, and to include NbS as a means of delivering societal benefits from current funding streams. Financing of NbS is a topic covered in detail in *Chapter 11*.

Funding local delivery of NbS. Resourcing of government bodies such as Natural England, National Parks, NatureScot, Scottish Environmental Protection Agency, Natural Resources Wales and Northern Ireland's Department for Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs has been declining over recent years^{21,22,23,24}. Many of these bodies play a central role in planning, assessing, advising, providing support, regulating, and helping form partnerships, which are all key components for the successful delivery of NbS projects.

Volunteer groups and NGOs also provide an important avenue for locally delivering NbS across all urban, peri-urban and rural settings. Yet financial support, particularly from government, for these important networks and organisations has been declining in recent years (coinciding with the cuts to government departments).

[6] See some examples here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/results-based-agri-environment-payment-scheme-rbaps-pilot-study-in-england

Without guaranteed long-term support, be that of payment mechanisms through policies such as agri-environment schemes for site specific NbS measures, or of organisations, the local implementation of NbS risks being undermined.

Funding research. The use of NbS to reach climate and biodiversity objectives is still an innovative approach, and therefore research is still needed to ensure the design, implementation and monitoring of NbS is carried out in an increasingly costeffective way. To date research funding for NbS projects has tended to come via EU streams such as Horizon 2020. It will therefore be critical to ensure that in future the same level of funding is

4. CONCLUSION

As identified in this chapter, there are number of steps that need to be taken to ensure the successful and long-term implementation of NbS across the UK's four nations.

Given the multiple actors that need to be involved in the governance of NbS, the challenges of working across policy silos as well as generating effective partnerships, we recommend that **approaches to NbS should be included across policy both within devolved administrations and, as far as possible, between them. The latter might be facilitated by a working group or groups to assess both opportunities and existing policy and governance frameworks to deliver NbS.**

In addition, we recommend the need for initial assessments to be carried out to identify the existing gaps, shortfalls, strengths, and best practice of NbS delivery across the four UK nations^[7]. The results from the initial assessment should then help address the challenges identified within this report. Including, for example, designing an approach to NbS delivery that:

- Identifies the range of opportunities for NbS for climate change adaptation and mitigation as well as biodiversity enhancement.
- Incorporates these opportunities across all relevant policies.
- Defines multi-stakeholder objectives and enables adaptative governance structures.

provided across the UK national budgets after the current arrangement that allows UK university access to Horizon Europe (the successor of Horizon 2020) ends.

Recommendation: Securing long-term financial support for NbS initiatives and the bodies which deliver them will be necessary for the UK to tackle our climate change, biodiversity and wellbeing crises. It will also be important to ensure that research relevant to the design, implementation and monitoring of NbS is adequately funded.

- Engages communities and stakeholders to enable collaborative decision-making.
- Develops governance processes and forms of investment that are appropriate to the competing demands for land use and long-term delivery of NbS benefits.
- Develops monitoring standards and frameworks to assess the effectiveness of the NbS for nature enhancement and societal benefits, including carbon sequestration (particularly within a changing climate) and adaptation to climate change.
- Develops standard methodologies for assessing the benefits delivered by NbS.

We recommend commissioning an analysis of NbS interventions to ascertain which are the most effective NbS to implement and where, in order to provide optimal benefits for biodiversity and climate change together with other benefits for people.

NbS is an evolving approach with great potential to benefit both nature and people. With the UK being in a phase of (re)drafting policies and programmes since leaving the EU, it is an opportune time to deliver the frameworks and plans needed to underpin the successful delivery of NbS. As showcased throughout this report, the benefits and challenges of NbS are many and varied, and require a multi-sectoral, multi-governance approach with

^[7] This has in part been addressed by the discussion paper from the Climate Change Interest Groups of the European Network of the Heads of Environment Protection Agencies (EPA Network) and Heads of European Nature Conservation Agencies (ENCA) on the Recommendations for overcoming barriers to mainstreaming the delivery of Nature-based Solutions. https://epanet.eea.europa.eu/reports-letters/reports-and-letters/nature-based-solutions_interest-group-climate-change-and-adaptation.pdf/view

true and comprehensive collaboration throughout all stages of NbS design and implementation. This poses a policy challenge. However, with the right frameworks in place to underpin NbS, the much-needed ambitious goals of the NbS approach can be achieved. Long-term policies, goals and government commitments are necessary to support long-term investment, research, monitoring of functionality of NbS, and their deliverability. This would also help safeguard NbS initiatives from unexpected shifts in political support¹¹ and ensure continuity of NbS projects to deliver benefits across the timescales required.

REFERENCES

- 1 IUCN. Nature-based Solutions. IUCN. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-</u> ecosystem-management/our-work/nature-based-solutions [accessed: 25/03/21]
- 2 McAlinden, B. (2015). Managed realignment at Medmerry, Sussex. Institution of Civil Engineers. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.ice.org.uk/knowledge-and-resources/</u> <u>case-studies/managed-realignment-at-medmerry-sussex</u> [accessed: 18/03/21].
- 3 Hallegatte, S. and Hammer, S. (2020) Thinking ahead: For a sustainable recovery from COVID-19 (Coronavirus). [online] World Bank Blogs. Available at: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/climatechange/ thinking-ahead-sustainable-recovery-covid-19coronavirus</u> [accessed: 23/10/20].
- 4 Cook, J. and Taylor, R. (2020). Nature is An Economic Winner for COVID-19 Recovery. [online] World Resources Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.wri.org/ news/coronavirus-nature-based-solutions-economicrecovery</u> [accessed 21 Oct 2020].
- 5 Frantzeskaki, N. (2019) Seven lessons for planning naturebased solutions in cities. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 93, 101-111.
- 6 IUCN (2020). Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions. A user-friendly framework for the verification, design and scaling up of NbS. First edition. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.
- 7 Rouillard, J.J. and Spray, C.J. (2017). Working across scales in integrated catchment management: lessons learned for adaptive water governance from regional experiences. *Journal of Regional Environmental Change*, 17, 1869-1880.
- 8 Shackleton, S., Favretto, N., Gordon, C., Methner, N., Outa, G., Sola, P., Sallu, S.M., Sikutshwa, L. and Williams, P.A. (Eds) (2020). Collaboration and Multi-Stakeholder Engagement in Landscape Governance and Management in Africa: Lessons from Practice. [Special Issue] *Land* (ISSN 2073-445X).
- 9 Southern A, Lovett A, O'Riordan A and Watkinson A. (2011). Sustainable landscape governance: Lessons from a catchment based study in whole landscape design. Landscape and Urban Planning, 101, 179–189.
- 10 McIntyre, K.B. and Schultz, C.A. (2020). Facilitating collaboration in forest management: Assessing the benefits of collaborative policy innovations. *Land Use Policy*, 96, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. landusepol.2020.104683
- 11 Seddon, N., Chasson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C.A.J., Smith, A., and Turner, B. (2020). Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B Biological Sciences*, 375, 20190120.
- 12 NatureScot (2020) Innovative farming pilot could replace traditional EU payment schemes. [online] Available at: https://presscentre.nature.scot/news/innovative-farmingpilot-could-replace-traditional-eu-payment-schemes [accessed: 14/02/21].
- 13 Helm, D. (2020) Floods, water company regulation and catchments: time for a fundamental rethink. [online] Available at: <u>http://www.dieterhelm.co.uk/naturalcapital/water/floods-water-company-regulation-andcatchments-time-for-a-fundamental-rethink/</u> [accessed: 14/02/21].
- Morecroft, M. D., Duffield, S., Harley, M., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Stevens, N., Watts, O. and Whitaker, J. (2019).
 Measuring the success of climate change adaptation and mitigation in terrestrial ecosystems. *Science*, 366(6471).

- 15 Radley, G. (2005) Evaluating agri-environment schemes in England. In OECD (2005) Evaluating agri-environmental policies – design, practice and results. Paris: OECD Publishing, ISBN 92-6401010-6. Pages 161 – 175.
- 16 CORDIS (2021). Horizon 2020 NAture Insurance value: Assessment and Demonstration. [online] Available at: <u>https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/730497</u> [accessed: 26/03/21].
- 17 Gregg, R, Adams, J, Alonso, I., Crosher, I., Muto, P. and Morecroft, M. (2021) Carbon Storage and Sequestration by Habitat: A Review of the Evidence (Second Edition). York, Natural England.
- 18 Somarakis, G., Stagakis, S. and Chrysoulakis, N. (Eds.). (2019). ThinkNature Nature-Based Solutions Handbook. ThinkNature project funded by the EU Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 730338. doi:10.26225/ jerv-w202
- 19 Raadgever, G.T., Mostert, E., Kranz, N., Interwies, E. and Timmerman, J.G. (2008). Assessing Management Regimes in Transboundary River Basins: Do They Support Adaptive Management? *Ecology and Society*, 13, 1.
- 20 Committee on Climate Change. Net Zero: The UK's contribution to stopping global warming (2019). Available from: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/ [accessed: 23/09/20].
- 21 The National Biodiversity Network. (2019). State of Nature 2019 Report. [online] Available at: <u>https://nbn.org.uk/</u><u>wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf</u> [accessed: 26/03/21].
- 22 Emmerson, C., Pope, T. and Zaranko, B. (2019). The outlook for the 2019 Spending Review. [online] Institute for Fiscal Studies, Briefing Note BN243. Available at: <u>https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN243.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed: 26/03/21].
- 23 Campaign for National Parks (2015). Impact of Grant Cuts on English National Park Authorities. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.cnp.org.uk/sites/default/</u>files/uploadsfiles/Final%20national%20Stop%20the%20 Cuts%20briefing%20July%202015.pdf [accessed: 26/03/21].
- 24 Scottish Environment LINK (2019). Funding the Nature and Climate Emergency: reversing a decade of austerity for the environment. [online] Available at: <u>https://www. scotlink.org/funding-the-nature-and-climate-emergencyreversing-a-decade-of-austerity-for-the-environment/</u> [accessed: 26/03/21].

ECONOMIC VALUATION **AND INVESTMENT OPTIONS FOR** IMPLEMENTING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Authors:

Laura Clavey¹ Rick Stafford² Ruth Waters³ Camilla Morrison-Bell¹ Martin Faulkner⁴ Elana Bader⁴

Contributors:

Stephen Chaplin³

- 1 British Ecological Society.
- 2 Bournemouth University.
- 3 Natural England.
- 4 NatureScot.

1. KEY POINTS

- 1. NbS provide multiple benefits related to climate mitigation and adaptation, biodiversity conservation and enhancement and wellbeing. Some of these ecosystem services can be valued monetarily to inform decision making, while others can be assessed in quantitative and qualitative terms.
- 2. Because of the complexities of valuing all the ecosystem service flows and benefits over time and space, qualitative approaches to recognise value where it cannot be quantified can help inform decisions. Currently valuation of NbS is partial which may lead to undervaluation.
- 3. NbS are effective mechanisms to create jobs and contribute to green recovery following the economic crisis caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.
- 4. Governments are, and will remain, key financial investors in natural assets and their sustainable use, given the societal benefits of such investments.
- 5. However, the private sector can play an important role in complementing public investments in NbS. For private finance to occur, NbS must be of appropriate scale and provide sufficient return on private investment.
 - » Lack of evidence of financial return is a major barrier to private investors. For this reason, it is important to create and disseminate information on the profitability of NbS for private investors.
 - » Innovative funding mechanisms can be used to encourage private investment, including payments for ecosystem services, catchment markets, habitat banks, regional aggregation brokers and debt instruments.
 - » Changes to regulation also have the potential to encourage private investment in NbS, for example, by requiring consideration of the use of NbS for flood mitigation, biodiversity no net-loss / net gain regulations, or make green roofs compulsory in new buildings.
 - » The role of private investment in terms of environmental outcomes and cost-effectiveness should be monitored and evaluated.
- 6. The revenues generated from fiscal instruments like taxes, fees and charges can be used to finance NbS, thereby representing an additional financial source.

2. INTRODUCTION

There is considerable recent work on economic analysis of and financial solutions to climate change and biodiversity loss, many of which focus on overconsumption of natural resources and ways to reduce this. Approaches to economic reform range from increased taxation through to 'degrowth' strategies^{1,2,3,4,5,6}. Nature-based solutions (NbS) sit somewhat apart from these discussions over economic reform, utilising different processes and policies for protecting biodiversity and reducing the net accumulation of greenhouse gases (GHG)s in the environment⁷. Nevertheless, implementation of NbS requires investment, for example, for necessary land acquisition, labour related to creation or maintenance of NbS and the costs of integrating NbS into infrastructure. This chapter is written in light of the Dasgupta review⁸ and other recent work, to provide an overview of the valuation of NbS and the different financial mechanisms available for its establishment and long-term maintenance.

3. VALUING THE BENEFITS OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Society and the economy derive value from nature through the provision of natural resources, the regulation of ecosystem processes (e.g. carbon and nutrient cycles) and the contribution to human health and wellbeing.

The ecosystem service framework, which describes and quantifies the benefits from nature, is a useful framework for economic valuation^{8,9}. This approach can be successfully applied to NbS. For example, a study of river restoration in Europe found net social economic benefits over unrestored rivers of €1,400 ± 600 per hectare per year associated with an increase in cultural and regulating services (including carbon sequestration), while provisioning services remained the same¹⁰. However, the economic valuation of nature and ecology is a complex process, and some services are difficult to value. Most valuations undertaken are therefore only partial and do not capture the full range of benefits to society. Contingent valuation methods traditionally used, such as willingness to pay, are known to undervalue ecosystems. This suggests that our current best estimates to value NbS are likely an undervaluation¹¹. Other methods to estimate value derived from NbS include calculating avoided costs resulting from a solution and have reasonable precision¹¹. Carbon offsetting can also provide

market level detail to the valuation of mitigation benefits of NbS¹². However, as seen throughout this report, carbon sequestration is highly variable, and calculation methods may not be fully comparable across different habitats. As such, more work is needed before accurate economic values for carbon sequestration can be provided. The recent Dasgupta review has focussed on the economics of biodiversity, highlighting the importance of valuation to ensure nature is captured in all decision making, while recognising that valuing biodiversity is likely to be imperfect and partial⁸.

A large advantage of NbS is that they provide co-benefits and multiple ecosystem services¹³. These services may be provided globally and/ or locally, for example carbon sequestration can have global benefits, whilst improved water quality may provide a local benefit. In addition, time scales over which ecosystem services are derived may vary. For example, a benefit of urban greening can be improved air quality, which may take many years to produce financial savings to the healthcare system¹⁴. These many factors increase the complexity of valuing NbS, but also highlight that even when valuation is imperfect and partial, NbS often provide good value for money for society due to the multiple benefits produced. The current report provides many examples of the multiple benefits of NbS, including areas where valuation figures are attributed to different benefits. Full economic valuation of NbS is limited, but in general benefits outweigh the costs⁸. H M Treasury's 'Green Book'¹⁵ sets out approaches to evaluation and appraisal of policies, programmes and projects to include natural capital and ecosystem services to enable the inclusion of these values in in decisions about public resources, although recent evidence suggests the approach is rarely achieved⁸.

3.1. VALUE OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS AS A RESPONSE TO THE ECONOMIC CRISIS

Investment in NbS could form an effective part of a "green" approach to economic recovery in the wake of the economic crisis resulting from Covid-19, by helping to stimulate employment in the short term and support economic growth in the medium term^{16,17}. Jobs can involve little training or require little other capital investment and can provide good returns on investment. For instance, it was estimated that 7-40 jobs are created per \$1 million invested in environmental restoration in the United States of America (US)¹⁸ and the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 created an average of 17 jobs for every million dollars spent on restoring coastal habitat, which was much higher than traditional industries such as coal, gas, and nuclear energy generation 19 .

NbS can also have a direct impact on consumer behaviour, helping to stimulate expenditure²⁰. Hedonic pricing methods, which capture consumers' willingness to pay for perceived environmental differences that add or detract from the value of assets, have shown that street trees on a high street can increase consumers' willingness to spend by 10-50%²⁰ and that public green spaces boost house prices, with detached houses attracting a 1.9% premium if they are within 100 metres of a public green space (although other forms of housing, such as flats have a lower premium)²¹. In addition, studies have shown that high-quality green spaces can build a good business image and improve reputation, encouraging inward investment and employment in an area²⁰.

To highlight the economic and 'green recovery' credentials of NbS in the UK, a recent report from the RSPB has estimated that investing in peatlands as an NbS will have a cost-benefit ratio of 1:4.6 and create 112,000 job years of employment over the next 100 years, while woodland figures are slightly lower (1:2.8 cost:benefit, 7,500 temporary jobs and an additional 1,800 job years over a 100-year period)²². Other habitats are less certain. Although these figures are an acknowledged undervaluation of full ecosystem service benefits, it is clear that NbS can provide net economic benefit and aid with immediate and long-term employment prospects.

4. INVESTMENT IN NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

Despite growing opportunities for private investment most funding for NbS comes from public money, either directly or through subsidies. For example, the revenue generated from fiscal instruments like taxes, fees and charges can be channelled into managing, maintaining, and restoring NbS²³. It is estimated that almost 75% of funding is public within urban settings in Europe²⁴. Research into sustainable development and climate funding has indicated that state funding is often the most effective solution, both in terms of outcomes and cost-effectiveness²⁵. However, pressures on public spending and government debt are high following the Covid-19 pandemic, meaning public funding may be limited.

The financial system has the potential to significantly increase the funding available for NbS and complement public sources of financing. Nevertheless, many of the finance mechanisms required to implement NbS at larger scales are relatively new or are still being developed, meaning investment, especially from the private sector, remains low²⁶. There is a large mismatch in terms of apparent funding (that is predicted to be available) for sustainable development and climate projects from private investment compared to actual funding²⁵, which needs to be considered when establishing the potential for private investment. Specifically with regard to NbS, it is necessary to consider longer-term management and maintenance beyond the initial capital investment²⁴.

Both public and private financial actors have important roles to play to ensure there are increasing financial flows invested in NbS. There are a range of mechanisms through which public and private finance can support NbS including nature positive subsidies, taxes, payments for ecosystem services (PES, see Box 2) and offsetting programmes amongst others. There are opportunities to increase green finance through initiatives such as blended finance, where public money is invested alongside private finance to reduce the risk of investment for private actors. Recent work on protected area governance has highlighted the requirement for multi-level stakeholders, which can include local communities, industry and the state working together²⁷. In the right conditions and with the right regulations and governance structures in place, co-funded NbS may provide optimal benefits and-cost effectiveness.

4.1. NATURE-RELATED FINANCIAL RISKS

Both public and private finance actors are subject to a range of nature-related risks, for example loss of ecosystem goods and services that support supply chains, risks to infrastructure from environmental degradation (such as flooding) or reputational/legal risks resulting from damaging natural assets (see Figure 1). Understanding, reporting and directing funds to addressing these nature-related risks by finance actors could unlock greater financial flows into conservation and restoration of ecosystems and NbS²⁸. The recently formed Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosures - which aims to build awareness and capacity on nature dependencies, impacts, and financial risks among financial institutions indicates a growing understanding of this area and is encouraging²⁹.



Figure 1. Nature-related finance risks. Figure taken from The Dasgupta Review⁸ under Creative Commons licence CCBY2.0

4.2. OVERCOMING BARRIERS TO PRIVATE INVESTMENT

4.2.1. SCALE AND UNCERTAINTY

Barriers to high levels of investment in NbS from the private sector revolve around the scale, transparency and certainty of projects²⁶. In general, small NbS projects are less attractive to major investors²⁶ and the return on investment is often not as clear (beyond the small-scale net gain examples) as for other green investments, such as sustainable transport or renewable energy³⁰. As a result, investors tend to favour the implementation of engineering solutions instead of NbS.

Overcoming this uncertainty will require building confidence in NbS as an investment opportunity. This will require evidence of successful delivery at both geographic and investment scales²⁶. This includes, for example, disseminating information on NbS projects that can provide and successfully sell multiple co-benefits, having a sufficient pipeline of projects available for investors and having enough certainty for experts to assess the asset class and risks²⁶. Directing funding to address research gaps can also help increase confidence in investing in NbS. Areas requiring further research include:

- Generating concrete data and evidence that is in the right form for investors and demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of NbS, as well as showcasing the solutions and benefits ecosystems have to offer^{14,31}.
- Developing a comprehensive understanding of the nature and scale of NbS benefits in different contexts and modes of implementation.
 Quantification of at least part of these benefits in monetary terms will be valuable for developing business cases and models¹⁴.
- Trialling and evaluating the development of business cases and models for the implementation of NbS projects¹⁴.
- Developing a clear and consistent set of metrics that can be used to track progress of NbS projects and measure success against specified targets, and ensuring that they are tested for wider applicability and agreed³².

4.2.2. MECHANISMS AND INCENTIVES

Another barrier to increased private investments in NbS is a lack of coherence between regulatory processes, public funding mechanisms and incentives²⁶. For private investment in NbS, corporate social responsibility may fall at one end of the spectrum of investment, requiring little or no return on investment directly²⁶ and compliance with regulations (such as net gain or net zero emissions) is at the other end ²⁶, generally causing additional costs for business and industry. Other types of private investment include those made to obtain a financial return, as well as acknowledgment of the opportunities for investment in NbS to provide economic benefits by securing high quality natural resources. For example, payments of private mineral water companies to farmers in exchange for management practices that ensure clean water³³. These different types of private investment require effective mechanisms, regulations and incentives in order to be encouraged.

A recent report by the European Commission highlighted the following as mechanisms to encourage private investment in NbS¹⁴:

- Encouraging development and greater use of financial instruments such as green bonds and blended finance for NbS (see Box 2 for further details).
- Adopting regulatory requirements that embed NbS in decision-making, such as a requirement to demonstrate that NbS options were explored in decision-making on flood mitigation measures, urban biodiversity no net-loss / net gain-regulations, or compulsory green roofs in new buildings.
- Developing governance mechanisms that allow for coordinated funding of NbS.
- Developing and applying knowledge tools that offer indicators, evidence, transparency and monitoring of NbS.
- Actively engaging the (re-)insurance sector as an option to reduce societies' vulnerability to natural hazards and protect ecosystem services through improving disaster risk reduction and loss prevention.
- Increasing the cost effectiveness of NbS investments by integrating them into planned infrastructure and real estate projects.

Another mechanism which has been proposed by business groups is the provision of environmental credits from investment in NbS (for example, habitat banks discussed further in Box 2)²⁶. These credits can then be 'offset' elsewhere, for example against construction projects. Care would be needed to ensure positive environmental outcomes of such a scheme, however, it could be a big improvement for wildlife and nature compared to species relocation schemes, which generally have low success rates^{34,35}.

It should be noted that, in most cases, private investment in NbS is contingent on co-funding from government sources in the form of tax breaks, subsidies, grants or other funding mechanisms. Environmental subsidies can play a key role in financing NbS, for example subsidies for forest management and reforestation, organic and regenerative agriculture, land management and biodiversity conservation. In addition, the role of private investment in terms of environmental outcomes and cost-effectiveness should be monitored and evaluated over time.

BOX 1: POTENTIAL FUNDING FOR NBS — THE SHARED PROSPERITY FUND

As a member of the EU, the UK received structural funding of approximately £2.1. billion per year. Now that this funding is no longer received, the UK Government pledged to set up a Shared Prosperity Fund to replace it. Very few details on the operation of the Fund had been published at the time of writing, although some were released as part of the 2020 Spending Review³⁶, which made it clear that the emphasis of the Fund was to operate at the UK level. This has created uncertainty as to where replacement funding will come from and what the allocations may be. As EU structural funding were of relevance to NbS (see an example in the Case Study below), uncertainty around how this gap will be filled may impact the potential for NbS development. In addition, changes to Structural Funds often take time for investors to adapt to, and without complete clarity the uncertainty and risks to investors could prevent private investment and finance in NbS initiatives. It is expected that the investment framework governing the Fund will be announced in spring 2021, and that information will be provided about the share of the Fund that will be allocated to the places 'most in need'³⁶. Given the cross-sector nature of NbS (health, environment, and economy for example) this could bode well for funding access. Until more detail is known, it is hard to predict the impact this important fund will have for financing NbS.

BOX 2: INNOVATIVE FUNDING MECHANISMS

Paired alongside existing forms of funding from government or local authority budget allocations, philanthropic grants, corporate and individual donations, private investment can support the creation of a long-term sustainable funding base for NbS³⁷. However, at present, appetite to invest in NbS by the private sector is limited compared to investment received by the public sector, despite growing interest from the financial sector in green bonds and environmental, social and governance investments¹⁴.

Accelerating private investment in NbS will require significant public funding for project development, aggregation and market development. Public funding will need to de-risk private investment until markets for the full range of environmental services are established, and NbS are a familiar asset class for private investment and finance, in addition to business models for market development being well established²⁶. Innovative funding mechanisms to enable private investment in NbS are discussed below.

Innovative Funding Mechanisms for Encouraging Private Investment

 PES schemes are market-based mechanisms which involve payments to the managers of land or other natural resources in exchange for the provision of specified ecosystem services³⁸. Payments are made by the beneficiaries of the services, which may include individuals, communities, businesses or governments. In order for schemes to work, they must represent a win for both buyers and sellers and it is critical to put safeguards in place to prevent unintended consequences, such as creating perverse incentives. For example, land managers paid to sequester carbon may be incentivised to plant nonnative tree species that sequester carbon at a higher rate than native species, but may have destructive biodiversity impacts (see Chapter 1). To be successful, schemes will require an assessment of the risks, opportunities and unintended consequences, as well as ongoing monitoring, evaluation and audit³⁹. An example of a successful PES scheme is the Scottish Rural Development program Agri-Environment and Climate Scheme⁴⁰.

 Catchment markets are markets where land managers sell multiple ecosystem services produced in a catchment area (e.g. nutrient and biodiversity credits), to organisations that want to offset their environmental impacts²⁶. Catchment markets allow land managers to potentially generate more revenues than traditional funding opportunities, because they can sell different environmental credits to a variety of buyers interested in different types of ecosystem services.

- Habitat banks involve investing in projects that generate biodiversity benefits in order to obtain biodiversity credits that can be used to offset environmental impacts. A marketplace is established where developers can purchase the biodiversity credits they need to meet planning approval conditions. Private investment opportunities include initial funding to establish the habitat banks with return paid for by the sale of credits and purchasing the rights to sell biodiversity credits²⁶.
- Regional aggregation brokers bring together businesses, government and communities to agree on challenges facing regions and agree

on priorities and opportunities to address these challenges. This can involve developing consortia to deliver specific nature-based projects. Investment opportunities include lending to project proponents or directly investing in on-ground projects²⁶.

 Green bonds are fixed-income instruments used specifically to raise money for climate and environmental projects. They are typically structured in the same way as investment grade (or low risk) bonds in order to maintain low levels of risk and therefore encourage investor confidence. However, green include a "use of proceeds" clause that states that the financing will be used for green investments (including NbS)⁴¹.

FINANCING NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS — A CASE STUDY: SMART CANAL REGENERATION, NORTH GLASGOW

The Smart Canal is a phased programme using NbS to regenerate areas in the north of Glasgow, and 2021 is approximately halfway through the programme. The area ranks among the lowest in Scotland according to multiple deprivation indicators.



Blended Capital Finance		
Public (United Kingdom)	City Deal, Vacant & Derelict Land Fund, Regeneration and Capital Grant Fund, NHS Scotland, Sustrans Scotland	
Public (European)	Green Infrastructure Fund (European Regional Development Fund)	
Private Finance	Bigg Regeneration	
Third Sector	Housing Association private sales	

The amount of capital funding of the different financing streams ranged from £100,000 to >£66 million. The inclusion of public funding reduced the risk to the private investor in investing in an innovative method of managing storm water.

Stacked Finance

The project has a number of environmental and social benefits. Firstly, the cost of the project amounted to approximately £10 million, whereas the cost of a comparable grey infrastructure would have costed c.£40 million and may not have received funding. The NbS provided by the project are not only far cheaper, but they are also enabling large scale investment in an otherwise derelict area, with a wider range of co-benefits. For example, the Claypits Local Nature Reserve, which is included in the project, is a green space that can be used for recreation, but also includes a large attenuation basin and habitat for five species of herptiles. In addition, the NbS approach adopted by the project saves c.2,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent $(t.CO_{2ea})$ during construction, and c.500 t.CO_{2eq} per annum during the design life of the sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). Moreover, the project creates safe travel routes, with the potential for better health outcomes and reduced CO₂ emissions from commuting. Other positive environmental outcomes include daylighting of streams, and creation of new wetlands.

Funders have different motivations to invest in the project, but all their objectives can be linked to an inner-city regeneration agenda in response to a changing climate. In particular:

 There is a shortage of affordable housing in Glasgow. The combined sewer system is already at capacity, and climate change is predicted to result in more frequent extreme rainfall events. The Green Infrastructure
 Fund neither funds housing nor grey infrastructure to solve these problems, but it did fund the "Smart Canal Regeneration" project because it was a NbS.

- Poor access to good quality greenspace has a negative impact on health and well-being, which in turn impacts on employment chances. NHS Scotland funded a link path between the local health centre and the Claypits local nature reserve to enable green prescribing (i.e. medical advice to be physically active outside).
- Sustrans (a UK charity that aims to promote walking and cycling) was able to fund a bridge across a canal, enabling easier green prescribing.

Top Down and Bottom Up

The project has both top-down policy support because it ensures the regeneration of vacant and derelict land and bottom-up support from the local community because of its positive impacts related to urban regeneration and access to better greenspace. A key part of the success of the project has been the various master-planning exercises with the local community, followed up by continued involvement of all the relevant stakeholders, including the construction company.

Mixed Governance

Public maintenance of assets is under financial strain and is likely to remain so. Enabling the local community to influence and manage the local greenspaces relieves some of that strain and increases a sense of ownership. This is happening particularly in the Firhill and Hamiltonhill areas.

Benefits

Glasgow Caledonian University led a long-term study into the impacts of regeneration of the Forth & Clyde Canal. The study showed that after 20 years of regeneration there had been an annual 3% improvement in life expectancy within 500 metres either side of the canal.

As the first phase of the project gained funding, it created positive feedback. For example, building carried out in the first phase was one of the explicit reasons the Green Infrastructure Fund decided to fund work at Queen's Cross Housing Association development.

The biodiversity benefits arising from the project attracted further funding beyond the project area, with the Scottish Biodiversity Challenge Fund installing vegetation rafts.

Regenerating brownfield sites near the city centre decreases the pressure on more natural areas at the outside of the city.

Challenges

Such a large and complex project inevitably presents challenges:

- The reporting requirements for the different funds were on different reporting cycles and had varied levels of detail required.
- The timescales of public funds were different.
- The European funding could not be matched against private investment that would result in a profit to private firms, so additional non-private investment was needed.
- The Covid-19 pandemic restrictions halted construction for some months in 2020 and added unexpected security and heavy-plant hire costs. The social distancing regulations also increased costs.

Reference for further information: ⁴²



Image © Martin Faulkner

REFERENCES

- 1 Green New Deal for Europe. (2019). *Blueprint for Europe's Just Transition*. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.gndforeurope.com/</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 2 Elliott, L., Hines, C., Leggett, J., Lucas, C., Murphy, R., Pettifor, A., Secrett, C., Simms, A. and Tily, G. (2019). *The Green New Deal: A Bill to Make It Happen*. [online] London: The Green New Deal Group. Available at: <u>https://greennewdealgroup.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2019/09/GND_A Bill_To_Make_It_Happen.pdf</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 3 Fischer-Kowalski, M., Swilling, M., von Weizsäcker, E., Ren, Y., Moriguchi, Y., Crane, W., Krausmann, F., Eisenmenger, N., Giljum, S., Hennicke, P., Romero Lankao, P.,Siriban Manalang, A. and Sewerin, S. (2011). Decoupling Natural Resource Use and Environmental Impacts From Economic Growth. [online] Paris: United Nations Environment Program. Available at: https://www. resourcepanel.org/file/112/download?token=3YG2-b7u [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 4 Raworth, K. (2017). *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st Century Economist.* London: Random House.
- 5 Sandberg, M., Klockars, K. and Wilén, K. (2019). Green growth or degrowth? Assessing the normative justifications for environmental sustainability and economic growth through critical social theory. J. Clean. Prod., 206, pp.133–141.
- 6 Stafford, R. and Jones, P. (2019). How to Stop Climate Change: Six Ways to Make the World a Better Place. [online] The Conversation. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>theconversation.com/how-to-stop-climate-change-six-</u> <u>ways-to-make-the-world-a-better-place-115944</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 7 Stafford, R., Croker, A., Rivers, E., Cantarello, E., Costelloe, B., Ginige, T., Sokolnicki, J., Kang, K., Jones, P., McKinley, E. and Shiel, C. (2020). Evaluating optimal solutions to environmental breakdown. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 112, pp.340-347.
- 8 Dasgupta, P. (2021). *The Economics of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta Review*. [online] London: HM Treasury, Available at:
- 9 TEEB. (2010) The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB. [online]. Available at: <u>http:// www.teebweb.org/wp-content/uploads/Study%20</u> and%20Reports/Reports/Synthesis%20report/TEEB%20 Synthesis%20Report%202010.pdf
- 10 Vermaat, E., Wagtendonk, A., Brouwer, R., Sheremet, O., Ansink, E., Brockhoff, T., Plug, M., Hellsten, S., Aroviita, J., Tylec, L., Giełczewski, M., Kohut, L., Brabec, K., Haverkamp, J., Poppe, M., Böck, K., Coerssen, M., Segersten, J. and Hering, D. (2015). Assessing the societal benefits of river restoration using the ecosystem services approach. *Hydrobiologia*, 769, pp.121-135.
- 11 Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburh, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R., Pauelo, J., Raskin, R., Sutton, P. and van den Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature*. 387, pp.253–260.
- 12 Sapkota, Y. and White, J. (2020). Carbon offset market methodologies applicable for coastal wetland restoration and conservation in the United States: A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 701, 134497.

- 13 World Economic Forum. (2020) Consultation: Nature and Net Zero. [online] Geneva, Switzerland. Available at: <u>http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Consultation_Nature_and_Net_Zero_2021.pdf</u> [accessed 25 Jan 2021].
- European Commission. (2020) Nature-based Solutions State of the Art in EU-funded Projects. [online]
 Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/news/new-publication-what-nature-based-solutions-can-do-us-2020-jul-16 en</u> [accessed 15 Feb 2021].
- 15 Natural Capital Committee. (2020). The Green Book Guidance: embedding natural capital into public policy appraisal – November 2020 update. [online]. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/937652/nccgreen-book-advice.pdf [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 16 Cook, J. and Taylor, R. (2020). Nature is An Economic Winner for COVID-19 Recovery. [Online] World Resources Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.wri.org/news/</u> <u>coronavirus-nature-based-solutions-economic-recovery</u> [accessed 21 Oct 2020].
- Hallegatte, S. and Hammer, S. (2020) Thinking ahead: For a sustainable recovery from COVID-19 (Coronavirus). [Online] World Bank Blogs. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>blogs.worldbank.org/climatechange/thinking-ahead-</u> <u>sustainable-recovery-covid-19-coronavirus</u> [accessed 23 Oct 2020].
- 18 BenDor, T., Lester, T., Livengood, A., Davis, A. and Yonavjak, L. (2014). Exploring and Understanding the Restoration Economy. [online] UNC's Center for Urban & Regional Studies. Available at: <u>https://curs.unc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/400/2013/05/BenDor-and-Lester-Exploring-and-Understanding-the-Restoration-Economy. pdf [accessed 10 Feb 2021].</u>
- 19 Edwards, P. and Sutton-Grier, A. (2013). Investing in nature: Restoring coastal habitat blue infrastructure and green job creation. *Marine Policy*, 38, pp.65-71.
- 20 Winch, R., Hartley, S. and Lane, J. (2020). Nature-based solutions to the climate emergency: the benefits to business and society. [online] The Ignition project. Available at: <u>https://www.ukgbc.org/wpcontent/</u> <u>uploads/2020/08/Nature-based-solutions-to-the-climateemergency.pdf</u> [accessed 15 Feb 2021].
- 21 Office for National Statistics. (2019). Urban green spaces raise nearby house prices by an average of £2,500. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/</u> environmentalaccounts/articles/urbangreenspacesr aisenearbyhousepricesbyanaverageof2500/2019-10-14#:~:text=Public%20green%20space%20boosts%20 the.expensive%20than%20those%20further%20away [Accessed 9 Mar 2021].
- 22 Dicks, J., Dellaccio, O. and Stenning, J. (2020). *Economic costs and benefits of nature-based solutions to mitigate climate change*. Cambridge: RSPB and Cambridge Econometrics.
- 23 OECD. (2019). Biodiversity: Finance and the Economic and Business Case for Action. [online] Report prepared for the G7 Environment Ministers' Meeting. 5-6 May 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.oecd.org/env/resources/ biodiversity/biodiversity-finance-and-the-economic-andbusiness-case-for-action.htm</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 24 Connecting Nature. (n.d.). Innovation in Financing and Business Models for NBS. Why?. [online] Connecting Nature. Available at: <u>https://connectingnature.eu/</u> <u>financing-and-business-models</u> [accessed 7 Mar 2021].

- 25 Clark, R., Reed, J. and Sunderland, T. (2018). Bridging funding gaps for climate and sustainable development: Pitfalls, progress and potential of private finance. *Land Use Policy*, 71, pp.335-346.
- 26 Young, D., Lockhart-Mummery, E. and Thompson, G. (2020). Accelerating private investment in naturebased solutions: A proposal for the Government to support a Green Recovery. [online] Broadway Initiative. Available at: <u>https://www.iema.net/preview-document/</u> accelerating-private-investment-in-nature-based-solutions [accessed 12 Dec 2020].
- 27 Jones, P. and Long, S. (In Press). Analysis and discussion of 28 recent marine protected area governance (MPAG) case studies: Challenges of decentralisation in the shadow of hierarchy. *Marine Policy*.
- 28 Trémolet S. et al. (2019). Investing in Nature for Europe Water Security. [online] London: The Nature Conservancy, Ecologic Institute and ICLEI. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.org/content/dam/tnc/nature/en/documents/ Investing in Nature for European_Water_Security.pdf</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 29 TNFD. (2020). *Taskforce on Nature-related Financial Disclosure*. [online] WWF. Available at: <u>https://wwf.</u> <u>panda.org/discover/our_focus/finance/?666111/Global-</u> <u>Call-for-a-Taskforce-on-Nature-related-Financial-</u> <u>Disclosure-TNFD</u> [accessed 11 Mar 2021].
- 30 McQuaid, S. and Fletcher, I. (2020). Financing and Business Models Guidebook. [online] Connecting Nature. Available at: <u>https://connectingnature.eu/sites/default/</u>files/images/inline/Finance%20and%20Business%20 Models%20Guidebook.pdf [accessed 12 Jan 2021].
- 31 van Ham C. and Klimmek H. (2017). Partnerships for Nature-Based Solutions in Urban Areas – Showcasing Successful Examples. In: Kabisch N., Korn H., Stadler J., Bonn A., ed., Nature-Based Solutions to Climate Change Adaptation in Urban Areas. Theory and Practice of Urban Sustainability Transitions. Springer, Cham.
- 32 Wendling, L., Rinta-Hiiro, V., Jemakka, J., Fatima, Z., zu-Castell, R., Ascenso, A., Miranda, A., Roebeling, P., Martins, R. and Mendonça, R. (2019). *Performance and Impact Monitoring of Nature-Based Solutions*. [online] Urban Nature Labs. Available at: <u>https://unalab.eu/ system/files/2020-02/d31-NbS-performance-and-impactmonitoring-report2020-02-17.pdf</u> [accessed 15 Feb 2021].
- 33 DEFRA. (2013). Payments for Ecosystem Services: A Best Practice Guide. [online] London. Available at: <u>https://</u> www.cbd.int/financial/pes/unitedkingdom-bestpractice. pdf [accessed 22 Mar 2021].
- 34 Griffith, B., Scott, J., Carpenter, J. and Reed, C. (1989). Translocation as a species con- servation tool: Status and strategy. *Science*, 245, pp.477- 480.
- 35 Dodd, C. and Seigel, R. (1991). Relocation, Repatriation, and Translocation of Amphibians and Reptiles: Are They Conservation Strategies That Work? *Herpetologica*, 47, pp.336-350. 6
- 36 House of Commons Library. (2021) The UK Shared Prosperity Fund. [online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-<u>8527/</u> [accessed 15 feb 2021].
- 37 Finance Earth and Economics for the Environment Consultancy. (2021). Facilitating Local Natural Capital Investment: Literature Review. [online] NatureScot Research Report No.1260. Available at: <u>https://www. nature.scot/naturescot-research-report-1260-facilitatinglocal-natural-capital-investment-literature-review</u> [accessed 10 Dec 2020].

- 38 Smith, S., Rowcroft, P., Everard, M., Couldrick, L., Reed, M., Rogers, H., Quick, T., Eves, C. and White, C. (2013). *Payments for Ecosystem Services: A Best Practice Guide.* [online] Defra: London. Available at: <u>https://www.cbd.int/financial/pes/unitedkingdom-bestpractice.pdf</u> [accessed 9 Mar 2021].
- 39 Kuhfuss, L., Rivington, M. and Roberts, M. (2018). The 'Payment for Ecosystem Services' approach – relevance to climate change. [online] James Hutton Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.climatexchange.org.uk/media/3271/</u> payment-for-ecosystem-services.pdf [accessed 9 Mar 2021].
- 40 Scottish Government. (2021). Agri-Environment Climate Scheme. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.</u> <u>ruralpayments.org/publicsite/futures/topics/all-schemes/</u> <u>agri-environment-climate-scheme/</u> [accessed 9 Mar 2021].
- 41 Stockholm Environment Institute. (2020) *Green bonds: a mechanism for bridging the adaptation gap?*. [online] Stockholm. Available at: <u>https://libguides.ioe.ac.uk/c.</u> <u>php?g=482485&p=3299835</u> [Accessed 15 Feb 2021]
- 42 NatureScot. (2020). Canal and North Gateway: Transforming the canal corridor between Firhill and Port Dundas. [online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/</u><u>funding-and-projects/green-infrastructure-strategic-</u> intervention/projects/gi-fund-projects/canal-and-north-<u>gateway</u> [accessed 26 Feb 2021].

APPENDICES

174 Nature-based solutions in the UK

APPENDIX 1: TABLE OF CHAPTER SUMMARIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

SECTION 1: HABITAT SPECIFIC NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS: A REVIEW OF THE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE.

Chapter 1: Woodlands	1.	The UK's forests currently store around 1.09 billion tonnes of carbon and sequester about 4.6% of the country's total emissions. The UK government's commitment to plant over 30,000 extra hectares of woodland per year by 2025 offers significant opportunities to mitigate climate change through carbon sequestration, although the full benefits will not be felt before 2050. Depending on the choice of site, species and establishment method, these new woodlands could also benefit biodiversity and deliver multiple ecosystem services.
	2.	Large-scale afforestation should avoid peatlands, productive agricultural lands and habitats of high conservation value, focussing instead on poor-quality grazing land of which there is more than enough to fulfil government planting commitments. However, this loss of grasslands would reduce the UK's capacity to produce meat and dairy products unless other regions were further intensified. This could do more harm than good, unless we switch to more vegetable-based diets, if tropical forests were destroyed to create pastures which supply the UK with imported meat.
	3.	Small-scale establishment of native woodlands within agricultural landscapes would provide opportunities to reconnect fragments of ancient woodland, protect wildlife, and better connect people with nature if made accessible. Natural establishment of woodlands should be encouraged, where appropriate.
	4.	Non-native conifer plantations provide timber and other wood products, reducing the UK's international environmental footprint. Conifer plantations can be damaging for nature, but careful planning can reduce that impact and even benefit some species. In order for plantations to meet their potential, adaptation of woodlands and forestry to future hazards is essential. This includes ensuring diversity is increased in plantations, pests and diseases are controlled, and creating complex canopy structure.
	5.	Selective harvesting of trees in "neglected" native woodlands provides a source of fuelwood (i.e. a renewable energy that substitutes for fossil fuels) and other wood products. Some species thrive in selectively-logged woodlands, but felling large, old trees and clearing deadwood is harmful to birds, bats, lichens, invertebrates and fungi that are woodland specialists, so these should be avoided. They are also important carbon stores. The UK would require damaging levels of wood extraction to meet its energy demands through home-grown fuelwood.
	6.	Past grant schemes aiming to support woodland creation have rarely met annual planting targets due to social factors including bureaucracy, traditional perceptions of land management, and financial viability. Local, and regional participatory approaches are needed to negotiate around different objectives and build collective power for brokering public payments for nature-based solutions (NbS).
Chapter 2: Heathlands	1.	Heathlands are successional habitats that store high levels of carbon, mainly in the soil. Most types of heathlands require regular management to maintain their structure, function and characteristic assemblage of species which can conflict with climate mitigation initiatives (e.g. planting trees or allowing natural succession).
	2.	Soil disturbance as a result of management actions can increase carbon emissions from the soil stock, thus soil conservation and minimal disturbance is the best mitigation tool against carbon emissions from heathland ecosystems.

	 Heathlands undergoing shrub or tree encroachment may release carbon into the atmosphere from the soil, which will not be offset by the growing shrubs or trees for decades.
	4. Removing conifers from afforested heathland may result in some carbon emissions but will benefit the soil carbon stores and heathland biodiversity in the long term.
	5. Creating heathland from ex-arable land will result in increased carbon sequestration in soils and vegetation.
	6. Some grazing can have a positive effect on habitat quality, but it can increase greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions depending on the species and breeds. In the uplands a reduction in grazing levels on heathlands and more careful targeting of habitats suitable for burning would result in increased carbon sequestration.
	7. Restoring degraded heathland (e.g. overgrazed and transformed into grassland), will result in increased carbon sequestration in soils and vegetation.
	8. Any active climate mitigation initiatives within heathlands need to consider the resulting changes in biodiversity, including losses of heathland specialists and other open ground species.
Chapter 3:	1. Peatlands are the most carbon-dense terrestrial systems globally.
Peatlands	2. Peatlands are home to rare species and support a highly distinctive biodiversity. Many birds, mammals, invertebrates and plants found in them are specialised to some degree, and therefore dependent on the existence of these habitats.
	3. The United Kingdom's peatlands contain around 3,000 million tonnes of carbon. However, much of the UK's 2.6 million hectares of peatland is no longer actively sequestering carbon and estimates suggest that UK peatlands could be emitting 23 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) annually.
	4. It is possible to return a proportion of these degraded areas to peat-accumulating habitats, through restoration processes, which involves rewetting and revegetation. Improvement of peatlands in this way is a permitted practice for reducing GHG emissions in any national GHG accounting systems agreed by the International Panel on Climate Change.
	5. Restoration and revegetation can slow the flow of water during some storm events and regulate catchment water flows during dry periods. Peatlands can also act as a NbS for improved drinking water quality.
	6. Trade-offs need negotiating between current land-uses and re-establishing and maintaining peatland ecosystems.
Chapter 4: Grasslands	 Over 40% of land cover in the UK is grassland. Currently, only 2% of the UK's grassland comprises biodiverse carbon rich semi-natural grassland. Protecting this grassland is of high importance for biodiversity and avoided emissions.
	2. Acid grasslands, predominantly found in the uplands, contain around 30% more soil carbon per unit area than other grassland types. Neutral (semi-improved) grasslands, richer in species than improved grasslands, also contain marginally more soil carbon in the top 15cm of soil. Maintaining and improving species diversity in neutral grassland is critical for mitigating GHG emissions and increasing wider biodiversity.

	3. Restoring permanent grassland via reversion from improved grassland or arable land, including the restoration of wet or chalk grasslands as part of a varied (mosaic style) landscapes, can significantly positively impact biodiversity and reduce GHG emissions.
	4. Figures from the UK Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry GHG inventory indicate that conversion of arable land to grassland has the potential for removing 8.72 million tonnes of CO2 per hectare per year (t.CO2/ha/yr) across the UK. In contrast, conversion of grassland to arable land can result in net emissions of 14.29 million t.CO2/ha/yr.
	5. Further research is needed to identify optimal sward composition and structure and associated grazing practices for GHG mitigation and enhanced grassland biodiversity which fit with production needs on intensively managed grassland. Continuous set stocking, may result in reduced carbon sequestration and biodiversity and associated impacts on ecosystem services, including water- holding capacity.
	6. Some types of grassland may be suitable for carefully selected tree planting with native species, e.g. for agroforestry or wood pasture. Agroforestry has the potential to mitigate climate change through increased carbon sequestration in vegetation and soils, storing up to 63 tonnes of carbon per hectare (t.C/yr) in temperate regions. However, a good understanding of site characteristics including vegetation communities, soil carbon at depth and hydrology is essential to avoid perverse outcomes.
	7. As well as decreasing animal numbers overall, grazing by a diverse range of animals (e.g. sheep, cattle, horse, goats, alpaca) on the same pastures can also have positive effects on grassland sward diversity and resultant GHG emissions. Shifts in grazing patterns, for example the adoption of rotational or mixed grazing, can also reduce emissions compared to continuous grazing.
Chapter 5: Arable Systems	 Arable land is under very active management and therefore offers many opportunities to introduce NbS that enhance natural capital. The UK is at a pivotal moment in the future design of our agricultural systems as new agricultural policies will have to be designed outside the EU Common Agricultural Policy.
	2. Hedgerows are already a very important nature-based solution in arable landscapes with current estimated stocks of up to 100 t.C/ha in established hedge networks. Planting of hedges and hedgerow trees along with rejuvenation of hedges through placing them back in management cycles and are a low trade-off options for addressing climate change and enhancing biodiversity in arable systems.
	3. Field margins taken out of production benefit wildlife, leading to increased numbers of many wild species, including those that deliver important ecosystem services such as pollination and pest regulation. Soil carbon is 37% higher in soil beneath a grass margin than beneath an annual crop. Field margins can also prevent erosion and water pollution.
	4. Conservation biological control, or natural pest regulation, has the potential to reduce the need for pesticide use which could help reduce the approximate 8,300 tonnes CO2e involved in the manufacturing of pesticides.
	 Agroforestry has the potential to mitigate climate change through increased carbon sequestration in vegetation and soils (up to 63 t.C/ha in temperate regions). It can also improve the climate change resilience of arable landscapes whilst increasing biodiversity and wider landscape diversity.

 Further research is required to fully understand the extent of benefits for climate mitigation and biodiversity of conservation biological control, cover crops and intercropping.
 Freshwater ecosystems hold high biodiversity. They will be particularly affected by climate change, with changing rainfall patterns increasing the risk of flooding and drought, and rising water temperatures impacting biodiversity. Along with improved water resource management, creating habitat resilience to climate change is a high priority and requires a "wholescape" approach of linked natural environmental and socio-economic systems from uplands to the sea.
2. Freshwater habitats play a critical role in the carbon cycle through high rates of respiration and sequestration. This is a complex area that requires further research to determine how the mitigation potential can be optimised through NbS. With the correct management, ponds are demonstrated effective carbon sinks, and should be an investment priority as they can be easily implemented across a wide scale in the UK.
3. Planting trees to shade and cool rivers can help to protect biodiversity, and the extension of riparian forests into headwater streams can create thermal refuges and moderate temperature changes.
4. NbS can be combined in a catchment-wide approach to manage flood risk, including tree planting, installation of log structures, creation of temporary storage ponds, removal of flood embankments and re-meandering. The current evidence base indicates solutions are effective, however most research has focused on small catchments and relied on modelling for upscaling. There is a need for consistent, large-scale empirical research in this area.
5. Cost-benefit analyses of the use of NbS to reduce flood risk have shown potential for high net positive returns. Many of these result from complementary ecosystem services rather than avoided costs of flood damage alone. Therefore, project appraisals should consider the multiple ecosystem services provided by NbS.
6. Changing floodplain connectivity results in potentially conflicting impacts, with some ecosystem services being synergistic whilst others conflict, and tree planting at scale may result in displacing other land uses and disturbing existing carbon stocks.
1. Marine and coastal ecosystems can contain and absorb significant amounts of carbon, especially given the large area some habitats occupy. There is significant restoration potential for habitats such as seagrass and saltmarsh, given the historic loss of these habitats through pollution and development.
 Saltmarsh and seagrass are important carbon sinks which can be managed or restored through NbS as part of a national carbon budget. Continental shelf sediments, while having lower sequestration rates, show great potential for carbon sequestration due to covering a large area, but more uncertainties exist in the data. Kelp and other seaweeds are likely to have a role in carbon sequestration, however research into this role is still in its infancy. Saltmarsh: typical UK sequestration rate of 4.40–5.50 t.CO2/ha/yr Seagrass: average sequestration rate of 5.06 ± 1.39 t.CO2/ha/yr (specific UK figures not available) Continental shelf sediments: sequestration rate of 0.06 t.CO2/ha/yr Kelp and other seaweeds: initial estimated sequestration rate of 1.47 t.CO2/ha/yr

	3. Sequestration rates are calculated differently for marine habitats compared to terrestrial habitats, so direct comparison to terrestrial NbS in terms of climate change mitigation is difficult.
	4. Marine fauna and flora play a large role in ocean carbon cycles and will influence the carbon flux in and out of oceans. Quantifying the direct role of fauna, and indirectly of fisheries, on carbon cycles is uncertain but is an area for further research.
	5. As well as providing climate change mitigation services, coastal ecosystems provide protection from storm waves and alleviate coastal flooding. The potential for saltmarsh creation when addressing coastal defence issues is high. Coastal ecosystems also have high biodiversity, contribute to ecosystem services, especially as nursery grounds for fish, and provide human wellbeing benefits. Therefore, investment in NbS that restore or protect coastal environment is an effective mechanism of achieving a range of co-benefits with few trade-offs.
	6. Protecting and enhancing NbS in marine and coastal habitats requires consideration of fisheries regulations, particularly gear types which disturb the substrate, as well as effective management of marine protected areas for vulnerable habitats and dedicated restoration of habitats (saltmarsh and seagrass especially).
Chapter 8: Built Environment	1. The novelty of NbS for cities lies in a focus on the cost-effective provision of multiple co-benefits for many urban residents.
Environment	2. A participatory placemaking approach to equitable co-design, co-creation and co-management of NbS that include multiple stakeholders and beneficiaries has the potential to maintain or improve biodiversity while simultaneously addressing societal issues such as climate change and other socio-environmental inequalities across both spatial and temporal scales.
	3. NbS harnesses blue and green infrastructure, such as sustainable drainage systems, green roofs, rivers, urban trees and community green spaces, which support significantly higher levels of biodiversity than constructed 'grey' infrastructure. These features can also help urban areas adapt to increased and more extreme temperature and rainfall events associated with climate change whilst delivering important environmental, social and economic benefits.
	4. Due to the multidisciplinary nature of NbS, its implementation in cities is inherently complex and at odds with many siloed governance structures. This is largely due to knowledge and skills gaps and the lack of coordination across sectors or departments, particularly at local authority level.

SECTION 2: EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION AND DELIVERY OF NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS.

Chapter 9: Embedding Nature-based Solutions in Strategic Spatial Planning	1. Spatial planning can used to inform decisions about delivering the right NbS in the right places. Strategic planning approaches are beginning to be integrated into wider policy and decision making in several regions. Actions can be taken by policymakers to ensure such processes become mainstream.
	2. Stakeholder partnerships should be supported to create strategic and coherent plans. Stakeholder participation, collaborative action and the community voice are vital in planning NbS to equitably meet multiple needs. Financial and technical support needs to be provided for Local Nature Partnerships and similar groups (e.g. Catchment Management Partnerships, Farmer Clusters and Neighbourhood Plans) so that they can help deliver a diverse mix of well-planned NbS that optimise synergies and manage trade-offs at landscape scales.
	3. An evidence base should be developed and maintained to inform a strategic spatial planning approach to NbS. This requires technical capacity within relevant teams (i.e. local and regional government), access tools for spatial analysis, and freely available spatial natural capital data, including both national level datasets and local data on habitat type, condition and management.
	4. Currently, many key datasets are not freely available (particularly to those outside the public sector), so natural capital maps developed by researchers cannot be shared with all stakeholders. It is important that government continues to develop free access to data, including via support for Ordnance Survey. Key to local data availability is developing a mechanism to fund Local Environmental Records Centres, so that they can continue to manage the volunteers who collect local data, and to enable them to make the habitat and species monitoring data collected freely available where appropriate. Support for the development of citizen science software applications will also play a role here.
	5. Investment is required in approaches and tools for analysing landscape level trade- offs and prioritising NbS. There is a need to support, develop and test approaches for designing NbS at landscape scale, taking into account trade-offs between different benefits. While approaches are emerging, there is a need to ensure these can assess the benefits and trade-offs for a range of intervention types.
	6. NbS should be integrated into planning and wider policies across local and national government bodies and other key organisations.
	 Spatial planning which protects existing habitat networks and other high value natural capital assets should be embedded in the planning system. It takes many decades to reach peak values for delivering services to people.
Chapter 10: Delivering Nature-based	1. NbS should be 'mainstreamed' and integrated across all relevant policies. As a relatively new multi-sector approach with both biodiversity and societal objectives, NbS require greater profile and traction in all the policy areas they can benefit.
Solutions	2. A comprehensive and fit for purpose assessment framework is required that enables transparent assessments at multiple spatial scales and can be utilised by all key stakeholders. It needs to be able to account for the multiple benefits of the NbS initiative for both nature and climate over time, in line with defined objectives, standards, criteria and metrics.
	3. Methods to share knowledge (including local knowledge) and advice need to be built into the fabric of NbS initiatives. This is especially important when NbS are innovative practices that require new skills. Meaningful collaboration will be key to NbS and a coordinator may be instrumental in this for larger projects.

	4. The multi-stakeholder governance framework needs to incorporate carefully designed monitoring systems, with a strong foundation of baseline data, in order to determine if the ambitions of the project are being met. This will require the inclusion of biodiversity and carbon, as well as human wellbeing metrics.
	5. There is a need for continued refinement to carbon accounting and standards. More research and data gathering are necessary to improve carbon monitoring, in order to increase reliability and decrease costs. It is also important to ensure an independent examination of carbon accounting.
	6. Long-term financial support will be required for NbS initiatives and the bodies which deliver them. It will also be important to ensure that research relevant to the design, implementation and monitoring of NbS is adequately funded.
	 Commitment to NbS research is required from UK governments to fund the necessary cross-disciplinary and cross-institution research centres for applied research that will be key for NbS innovation and evaluation.
Chapter 11: Economic Valuation and Investment	1. NbS provide multiple benefits related to climate mitigation and adaptation, biodiversity conservation and enhancement and wellbeing. Some of these ecosystem services can be valued monetarily to inform decision making, while others can be assessed in quantitative and qualitative terms.
Options for Implementing Nature-based Solutions	2. Because of the complexities of valuing all the ecosystem service flows and benefits over time and space, qualitative approaches to recognise value where it cannot be quantified can help inform decisions. Currently valuation of NbS is partial which may lead to undervaluation.
	3. NbS are effective mechanisms to create jobs and contribute to green recovery following the economic crisis caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.
	4. Governments are, and will remain, key financial investors in natural assets and their sustainable use, given the societal benefits of such investments.
	5. However, the private sector can play an important role in complementing public investments in NbS. For private finance to occur, NbS must be of appropriate scale and provide sufficient return on private investment.
	 Lack of evidence of financial return is a major barrier to private investors. For this reason, it is important to create and disseminate information on the profitability of NbS for private investors.
	 Innovative funding mechanisms can be used to encourage private investment, including payments for ecosystem services, catchment markets, habitat banks, regional aggregation brokers and debt instruments.
	 Changes to regulation also have the potential to encourage private investment in NbS, for example, by requiring consideration of the use of NbS for flood mitigation, biodiversity no net-loss / net gain regulations, or make green roofs compulsory in new buildings.
	 The role of private investment in terms of environmental outcomes and cost- effectiveness should be monitored and evaluated.
	6. The revenues generated from fiscal instruments like taxes, fees and charges can be used to finance NbS, thereby representing an additional financial source.

APPENDIX 2: RESEARCH GAPS IDENTIFIED IN THE REPORT

CROSS-CUTTING RESEARCH GAPS

Cross-cutting; carbon accounting There is a need to standardise carbon sequestration estimates across different habitats, to ensure measurements are compatible. For example, woodland sequestration rates are calculated using biomass estimates as a large percentage of the final value. Aquatic habitats tend to focus more on carbon buried in sediments. Without this standardisation, any attempt at carbon accounting across different habitats could be flawed.

Further research into refining carbon accounting and monitoring is required to allow for effective habitat comparisons to be made.

SECTION 1: HABITAT SPECIFIC NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS: A REVIEW OF THE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE

CHAPTER 1: WOODLANDS

Woodlands; timber production; climate change mitigation

Woodlands; climate change mitigation; carbon sequestration Calculating the abatement potential of managed woodlands requires complex carbon accounting that transcends industrial sectors and tracks the persistence of harvested products through time.

Further research to create a more robust evidence base is required as these accounts are currently rarely available.

The mitigation potential of UK forests is affected by three poorly quantified phenomena. First, conifer plantations absorb more solar radiation than deciduous broadleaf forests, and thereby warm the atmosphere. The large-scale transformation of Europe's broadleaved forests to conifer plantations over the past three centuries has contributed to global warming, largely counteracting the climate benefits of locking additional carbon in forest biomass and soils. Secondly, tree planting can reduce soil carbon stocks. About 70% of forest carbon is held in the soil, and site preparation typically releases carbon from stores, creating an initial "carbon debt" which needs to be repaid before management delivers any climate benefit. Trees also alter the quality of soil organic matter as they grow with long-term consequences for carbon storage. Thirdly, the removal of carbon from forest ecosystems via stream-water transport , is poorly quantified.

drawdown associated with woodland establishment and management.

CHAPTER 2: HEATHLANDS

Heathlands;
climate change
mitigation
potentialThe main studies looking at soil carbon content in the UK group together "moor
and heath". As a result, it is currently difficult to extrapolate the impact of
management on the carbon stores of particular soils.PotentialFurther studies comparing mineral and organic soils, across a range of
geographical locations, in the uplands and lowlands, would fill a significant
evidence gap.

Heathlands; carbon fluxes	There has been some research in the last two decades on the impact of management on the carbon fluxes of dwarf shrub heath habitats. However, the information available is still limited. Studies show a large range of results, a reflection of the heterogeneity of the habitat as a result of climate, geography, history, management and conservation status. Further research into carbon fluxes in dwarf shrub heath habitats is required.
Heathlands; management	Although the impact of management interventions in terms of carbon emissions or sequestration can be used to assess the likely impact, it is currently difficult to apply directly to specific sites. Further studies are needed that cover the range of the geographical distribution of heathlands in relation to effects of management interventions. In particular more experimental studies looking at vegetation on different soil types.

CHAPTER 3: PEATLANDS

Peatlands; natural flood management potential	Alongside acting as a major UK carbon store, peatlands can act as NbS to help adapt to a changing climate by acting as Natural Flood Management (NFM) systems. It is clear that restoring (including the blocking of drainage ditches) and revegetating (through the re-introduction of Sphagnum moss) can slow the flow of water during some storm events. More research needs to be conducted to evaluate the full potential of peatlands across different catchments.
Peatlands; peatland burning	Factors such as burn intensity, frequency, area covered, vegetation structure, time of year, and the degradation status of the peatland all play a part in the resulting changes to biodiversity and carbon sequestering ability of the peat following a burning programme. Further studies are required that take into account these aspects, need to be conducted to further understand the impacts of fire on a range of peatland habitats.

CHAPTER 4: GRASSLANDS

Grasslands; management; carbon storage	There is currently a lack of understanding about the processes leading to carbon storage at depth (below 15cm), its relationship with biodiversity above and below ground and how it is affected by field management practices needs to be addressed.
	Further research is required to gain a better understanding of these processes and how they relate to food production (both quantity and quality). Preferably this research would be developed alongside farmers as this will help to determine appropriate land management practices in relation to mitigating or reversing biodiversity loss and climate change impacts.
Grasslands; tree planting	Further research is required on approaches to planting trees on or around grassland for maximising grassland and biodiversity, whilst enhancing or minimising agricultural outputs, is already available. However, to mainstream these and other practices it is likely to be important to work with land managers to gather further evidence across a range of approaches and locations and to understand how to encourage/motivate farmers to take up novel practices.

Grasslands; national parks, AONBs	In areas of particular cultural interest (e.g. for tourism, recreation, inspiration etc.) such as the National Parks and AONB's, there is a particular challenge around how to enhance biodiversity and carbon storage whilst continuing to maintain/enhance these cultural ecosystem services which result in vital income for many of these areas, e.g. maintaining profitable livestock enterprises. Further research is required on how to enhance biodiversity and carbon storage whilst continuing to maintain and enhance the cultural benefit they provide.
Grasslands; sward composition	Continuous set stocking, may result in reduced carbon sequestration and biodiversity and associated impacts on ecosystem services, including water- holding capacity. Further research is needed to identify optimal sward composition and structure and associated grazing practices for GHG mitigation and enhanced grassland biodiversity which fit with production needs on intensively managed grassland.

CHAPTER 5: ARABLE SYSTEMS

Arable; general	There is a range of research on the economic costs and benefits of restoring degraded agricultural land, the results are varied and generalisable information that can be scaled up is not readily available. Further research on the economic costs and benefits of restoring degraded agricultural land is required.
Arable; general	Some studies on biodiversity decline in relation to agriculture indicate a more complex picture than a steady decline in biomass. Further investigation and research is needed in this area.
Arable; herbaceous field margins	The balance of the soil community is also important with regards to the climate mitigation potential of field margins, as soil biota are both involved with decomposition processes and the release of GHGs as well as formation of soil organic matter and carbon sequestration. The overall impact of biota on GHG cannot yet be quantified. Further research is needed to establish the overall impact of biodata on GHG emissions and sequestration to assess their effectiveness to act as a NbS for climate change mitigation.
Arable; conservation biological control	Potential benefits of conservation biological control can include yield gains and a reduced requirement for pesticides, indirectly reducing the GHG emissions associated with pesticide manufacturing (approximately 8,300 tonnes CO_2e) which are about 9% of the total associated with UK arable crop production . However, these benefits are not found in every circumstance. Further research into conservation biological control is required.
Arable; intercropping	The data available for intercropping is more equivocal and less certain. For intercrops, the limited studies available show mixed results regarding GHGs. Whilst the majority of information on cover crops comes from annual cash crops, information on intercropping derives from both agroforestry systems and from annual cash crops. There is some evidence that the value of intercropping comes from improved nitrogen use efficiency, especially when legumes and non-legumes are mixed , and the potential for reduced fertiliser inputs if legumes are used. More evidence is required across globally distributed sites to draw clear conclusions.
Arable; cover cropping	There is more variation on the effect of cover crops on the direct emission of greenhouse gases, especially carbon dioxide (CO_2) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) . Further research is needed to increase understanding.

Arable; trade-	More simple models are needed to elucidate the productivity of agroforestry systems.
offs; agroforestry	Further research to assess the productivity and create these models is required.
Arable;	Interventions can involve a reduction of arable activity and such trade-offs must be considered.
conclusion	Further research into the application of NbS in agricultural landscapes is required in order to establish both the direct and indirect impacts, positive and negative, of such interventions.

CHAPTER 6: FRESHWATER SYSTEMS

Freshwater; climate mitigation	The mitigation potential of freshwater habitats is a complex area. Despite covering less than 4% of the earth's surface, evidence suggests that freshwater systems play an important role in the carbon cycle. Whilst the limited data available indicates large mitigation potential, there is uncertainty. Further research is required to understand the full effects and how these can be optimised through the use of NbS.
Freshwater; ponds; carbon burial; carbon storage	Limited UK evidence indicates that the carbon burial and storage potential of ponds is promising when appropriate management practices are applied. One study reports an average carbon burial rate in typical lowland UK ponds (over 18-20 years) of 5.21 tonnes of carbon dioxide per hectare per year (t.CO2/ha/yr) (range 2.90–9.06) once the pond is over 2-3 years old and vegetated , but it is unclear how long such rates may be sustained, particularly at the landscape scale with shallow ponds subject to a range of pressures. Further research indicating the carbon burial and storage potential of ponds is required. Research indicating how long such burial rates are sustained is also required.
Freshwater; ponds; carbon storage	Recent evidence shows UK pond sediments store relatively high levels of organic carbon, for example a block of sediment one ha in area and 10 centimetre (cm) deep holds between 30 and 60 tonnes of carbon (t.C). Diverse vegetation appears to be the main factor driving higher storage, whilst surrounding land use is less important, suggesting that ponds could be effective across many different landscapes. There is limited evidence that the precise plant mix may be important, with common pond plants such as species of <i>Ranunculus</i> and <i>Sparganium</i> found to be beneficial. Further research into pond vegetation in this context is required.
Freshwater; ponds	It is important to understand the lifespan of ponds, which is potentially limited by changing agricultural practices and natural infilling, and the impact this may have on their long-term potential as NbS. Further research into the life cycle of ponds and how this might impact their long term potential as NbS is required.
Freshwater; rivers; streams	Inland rivers and streams play a significant role in the carbon cycle through moving carbon from the land to the ocean, where it can be absorbed, buried in sediments or released back into the atmosphere (see Chapter 7). However, rivers and streams are also a source of carbon . Further research into how this part of the carbon cycle can be optimised through NbS is required.

Freshwater; lakes	Enhanced carbon burial by lakes may be a positive side-effect of the otherwise negative impacts of eutrophication, which include increased water treatment costs, biodiversity loss, ecological change and loss of amenity value lakes. However, eutrophication also results in increased emissions of other greenhouse gases (e.g. methane). Further research is required to determine whether restoration of lakes to clear water would result in them being a source or sink overall, as well as the impact on other ecosystem services of lakes.
Freshwater; lakes	In lakes, increasing depth has a negative impact on the sequestration potential. Further research is required to determine why this happens.
Freshwater; lakes; carbon fluxes	Evidence suggests lake sediments may switch between being a carbon source and sink and, given the significance and scale of these fluxes, understanding this is essential to assessing the ultimate net effect of carbon processing and how this can be optimised through management. Further research is required as evidence is currently limited.
Freshwater; flood management	NbS can be combined in a catchment-wide approach to manage flood risk, including tree planting, installation of log structures, creation of temporary storage ponds, removal of flood embankments and re-meandering. The current evidence base indicates solutions are effective, however most research has focused on small catchments and relied on modelling for upscaling. There is a need for further research which is consistent, large-scale and empirical.
Freshwater; tree planting	Widespread woodland creation (by planting or natural colonisation) in the uplands and headwater gathering grounds can help to reduce runoff generation, though direct evidence shows an uncertain overall impact on flood flows. Further research us required to assess the impact of tree planting on flood flows.
Freshwater; flooding	Runoff attenuation features 'slow and filter' surface water runoff in the landscape; for example, placing engineered log structures in headwater stream channels has been shown to potentially decrease flooding downstream . Empirical results from the Eddleston study show the impact of in-stream log structures and temporary storage ponds in delaying the rise in peak flood waters for a catchment of at least 25 km. Along with the creation of soil, wood or stone barriers across flow paths, and the removal of river embankments to enable water to spill onto the floodplain, these NbS can be effective for small one in two year events in small catchments. However, there remain issues of how realistic modelling approaches are for upscaling this and there is currently limited empirical evidence to support this for greater flood events or across larger catchments. Further research is required in relation to greater flood events or event that happen across larger catchments.
Freshwater; lakes	Long-term studies on lake systems have shown significant temperature increases particularly in areas of shallow water during the summer, when flows are low. Whilst further work is required to assess the impact of catchment land use change (e.g. afforestation) on standing waters and this mostly applies to shallow, smaller waters, it is clear that creating and maintaining thermal refuges by, for example selectively increasing depth and introducing shading is an important response to temperature changes. Further research is required to assess the impact of catchment land use change on standing waters.
Freshwater; climate change	The effectiveness of NbS at addressing climate change and providing biodiversity benefits is variable between measures and across scale. Further research and evaluation is needed in this area.

CHAPTER 7: COASTAL AND MARINE SYSTEMS

Marine; kelp; carbon sequestration	Kelp and other seaweeds are likely to have a role in carbon sequestration, however research into this role is still in its infancy. Further research into the role kelp and seaweed have for carbon sequestration is required.
Marine; fauna	Ouantifying the direct role of fauna, and indirectly of fisheries, on carbon cycles is uncertain. Further research to quantify the role of fauna and fisheries on the carbon cycle is required.
Marine; carbon storage	A global study of carbon storage in seagrass sediments over the first one metre of depth finds carbon stocks to vary from 23 to 352 tonnes of carbon per hectare (t.C/ha), with values from the UK falling approximately within the ranges 98 to 380 t.C/ha. The sequestration rate of this carbon also varies, but data and understanding are much more limited. Further research into the carbon storage of seagrass sediments is required.
Marine; carbon storage; carbon sequestration	Significant evidence gaps remain in understanding the full CO ₂ storage and sequestration services provided by continental shelf carbon sink habitats, especially sedimentation rates and release through seabed disturbance such as trawling. More research is required to improve their role in contributing to carbon sequestration
Marine; kelp	The cost of restoring kelp habitat is largely unknown. Further research is required.
Marine; kelp	Kelp is highly productive and has a rapid growth rate. Most kelp growth is eaten by grazers, and ultimately turned back into CO ₂ through respiration. However, new evidence suggests that around 5% of kelp could be sequestered and stored in marine sediments. Based on productivity figures for Scottish kelp beds, this could equate to 1.47 t.CO2/ha/yr in UK waters. However, there is great uncertainty in this estimate. Further research into the productivity of kelp beds is required.
Marine; climate mitigation; macro algae	Data for kelp are more developed than for other macroalgae communities including intertidal algae. Kelp also shows faster growth than many other algal species. It is likely that other macroalgae contribute further to these figures, but as indicated above, there is already considerable uncertainty in the data. Research into the fate of macroalgal carbon is an important area for future research, and marine algae has potential to be considered as a NbS.
Marine; fauna; climate mitigation	There is a potential that recovery of fish and marine mammal stocks (ideally well above maximum sustainable yield values) will have potentially large net benefits to carbon sequestration in coastal and open waters. The evidence is currently relatively sparse, and the magnitude of the effect is uncertain. Further research into this area is required.
Marine; general	There is considerable uncertainty in the role of many habitat types, including biogenic reefs and molluscan shellfish formation as a carbon source or sink. Further research into this area is required.
Marine; emissions	Recent research has also investigated production of methane and nitrogen oxides by coastal habitats. The research is still developing and does not provide a clear picture for the UK, however, methane production by coastal ecosystems is likely to occur at low rates but could be important given that methane has a 25 times higher global warming potential than CO_2 . Further research is required into the production of methane by costal habitats.

CHAPTER 8: BUILT ENVIRONMENT

Built environment; urban; blue and green infrastructure	There are still knowledge gaps regarding species selection for blue and green infrastructure and the optimum design of greenspaces for cooling. Further research into this area is required.
Built environment; economy	In general, neither short long-term economic benefits of NbS have been fully quantified. Further research into the long term and short term economic benefits of NbS is required.
Built environment; challenges	Improved long-term monitoring and evaluation are needed to produce stronger evidence that captures the broad values and benefits associated with NbS, including how impacts differ across different social groups. Further research into long-term monitoring of NbS is required.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The British Ecological Society is grateful to the many people who contributed to this report and would like to thank the following individuals for their invaluable feedback and input:

Adrian Newton, Aideen McChesney, Alice Lord, Alistair Church, Alys Laver, Andreas Heinemeyer, Andrew Coupar, Andrew Crowe, Andrew McBride, Barbara Smith, Bobbie Hamill, Brendan Turvey, Cecile Smith, Claire Wansbury, Clara Alvarez Alonso, Clare Lawson, Clive Mitchell, Colin Armstrong, David Gowing, David Whiting, Eimear Reeve, Eleanor Tew, Emma Cavan, Emma Rothero, Gwen Bennett, Hannah Mossman, Helen Doherty, Honor Eldridge, Iain Sime, Ian Crosher, Ian Hodge, Irina Tatarenko, Jeanette Hall, Jeanette Whitaker, Jeannine McCool, Jenny Hawley, Jeremy Biggs, John Farren, Jonathan Spencer, Jonathan Wood, Jules Pretty, Karen Devine, Karen Rentoul, Keith Kirby, Kerry Turner, Laurence Jones, Linda May, Malcolm Ausden, Mark Hammond, Mark Reed, Martin Solan, Matthew Jordan, Michael Acreman, Neil Douglas, Nick Everett, Nick Ostle, Pat Corker, Patricia Rice, Paul Dolman, Paul Sinnadurai, Pete Frost, Pete Smith, Pippa Moore, Rebekka Artz, Renny McKeown, Richard Lindsay, Richard Weyl, Robert Fraser, Robin Pakeman, Saran Sohi, Tiffany Ki, Tim McGrath, Tom Spencer, Tracey Begg, Walters Nsoh, Wendy McKinley, Will Pearse and William Austin.

With special thanks to former British Ecological Society Policy Manager, Brendan Costelloe, for his early role in developing the report concept and framework.